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INTRODUCTION
by Howard Zinn

ne of the remarkable developments of the past two decades has

been the emergence of a new generation of Native-American
scholars who, by their deliberate self-thrust into the struggles of their
people, must be characterized as scholar-activists. Among these is
Ward Churchill, a Keetoowah Cherokee, whose writing—powerful,
eloquent, unsparing of cant and deception—has inspired so many
others of his people to join the fray, to take a stand. He has been a
prolific writer—books, essays, reviews—and what we have here is a
collection, bold and biting in his usual style, of some of his best work
of the past 10 years, material which s, as the title indicates, truly “from
a native son.”

The long attempt to annihilate physically the native people of this
continent was carried on by a succession of profit-seeking, expansion-
ist European powers, and finally by the English colonies of North
America. Great Britain, having expelled France from the continent,
and wanting to avoid endless war with the indigenous nations that
lay just beyond the colonies, proclaimed in 1763 that the colonists
could not settle beyond the Appalachian Mountains.

When the War for Independence was won (a more apt title than
“Revolutionary War” because separation from England did not bring
about a true social revolution), the colonists were free to move west-
ward, a matter they considered their “Manifest Destiny.” There fol-
lowed a century of warfare in which the superior military power of
the United States prevailed. Piece by piece, the land on which Indians
had lived for millennia was gobbled up until they were confined to
reservations comprising, in total, something less than 5 percent of
their original holdings.

The physical attack on and decimation of the native population,
as well as their expulsion from their lands, was accompanied by a
cultural assault. Under late 19th- and early 20th-century “assimila-
tion” policies, the vanquished were coerced by various means into

xvii



xviii FROM A NATIVE SON

emulating their conquerors, the idea being that identifiable remnants
of Indian societies would disappear. Another part of the process was
to keep secret from generations of Americans the cruelties that lay
behind the euphemism “Westward Expansion.” The secrets were
buried, never to appear in textbooks, popular entertainment, or gen-
eral histories of the country.

In the struggle of Native Americans to reclaim both their land and
their heritage, the unearthing of these secrets plays a crucial role. This is
the task Ward Churchill has set for himself, and which he fulfills with
overwhelming evidence and meticulous argument. His opening essay;,
“Deconstructing the Columbus Myth,” exemplifies his combination of
passion and substance, all with impressive documentation. He meets
head-on the complaint that it is wrong to compare the actions of Colum-
bus and his fellow Spaniards to the Holocaust under Hitler, and patiently
sifts through the evidence which justifies such comparisons.

For those in danger of getting lost in the complex history of indigenous
people in North America, Churchill provides, in his second essay, “Since
Predator Came,” a guide in the form of a brief survey of whathashappened
to the native populations of the continent from 1492 to the present.

Ward Churchill moves easily from colonial history to the present:
the current struggles of American Indians to regain control over their
land (“The Earth is Our Mother”), and to prevent the theft of valuable
mineral deposits under these lands (“Genocide in Arizona?” and
“Native North America: The Political Economy of Radioactive Colo-
nialism,” the latter written with Winona LaDuke). He also gives us a
chilling picture, in “Death Squads in the United States: Confessions
of a Government Terrorist,” of the manner in which federal agencies
like the FBI have sought to block such efforts: “death squads” setloose
on activists and supporters of the American Indian Movement.

Churchill’s critique takes us through what he calls the “intellec-
tual imperialism” of higher education in the United States, the “false
promises” he discerns in Marxian contributions to theories of indige-
nous liberation, the meaning of using Indian imagery in sports team
names and logos, as well as current “New Age” attempts to expropri-
ate native spiritual traditions for purposes of turning them into mar-
ketable commodities. His criticisms of the role of literature in the
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colonization of American Indians are useful and incisive. A bonus for
me in this collection is the devastating analysis of films, like Dances
With Wolves and Black Robe, purporting to “do right” by native people.
There are many other surprises in these pages, each of them testify-
ing to the breadth of the author’s interests and knowledge, an overall
outlook he calls “indigenism.” What Ward Churchill gives us here is an
unusual gift: a rich education, in one volume, in the history of the
European/Native encounter in North America. I am grateful to him for
this accomplishment, and I expect other readers will share my feeling.






DECONSTRUCTING THE
COLUMBUS MYTH

Was the “Great Discoverer” Italian
or Spanisll, Nazi or Jew?

Christopher Columbus was a genuine titan, a hero of history and of the
human spirit...To denigrate Columbus s to denigrate what is worthy in
human history and in us all.

—TJeffrey Hart, National Review, October 15, 1990

t is perhaps fair to say that our story opens at Alfred University,

where, during the fall of 1990, I served as distinguished scholar of
American Indian Studies for a program funded by the National
Endowment for the Humanities. Insofar as I was something of a
curiosity in that primarily Euroamerican staffed and attended institu-
tion, situated as it is within an area populated primarily by white folk,
it followed naturally that I quickly became a magnet for local journal-
ists seeking to inject a bit of color into their otherwise uniformly
blanched columns and commentaries. Given our temporal proximity
to the much-heralded quincentennial celebration of Christopher Co-
lumbus’ late 15th-century “discovery” of a “New World” and its
inhabitants, and that I am construed as being in some part a direct
descendant of those inhabitants, they were wont to query me as to my
sentiments concerning the accomplishments of the Admiral of the
Ocean Sea.

My response, at least in its short version, was (and remains) that
celebration of Columbus and the European conquest of the Western
hemisphere he set off is greatly analogous to celebration of the glories
of nazism and Heinrich Himmler. Publication of this remark in local
newspapers around Rochester, New York, caused me to receive,
among other things, a deluge of lengthy and vociferously framed
letters of protest, two of which I found worthy of remark.

The first of these was sent by a colleague at the university, an
exchange faculty member from Germany, who informed me that
while the human costs begat by Columbus’ navigational experiment
were “tragicand quite regrettable,” comparisons between him and the
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Reichsfiihrer SS were nonetheless unfounded. The distinction be-
tween Himmler and Columbus, his argument went, resided not only
in differences in “the magnitude of the genocidal events in which each
wasinvolved,” but in the ways in which they were involved. Himmler,
he said, was enmeshed as “a high-ranking and responsible official in
the liquidation of entire human groups” as “a matter of formal state
policy” guided by an explicitly “racialist” ideology. Furthermore, he
said, the enterprise Himmler created as the instrument of his geno-
cidal ambitions incorporated, deliberately and intentionally, consid-
erable economic benefit to the state in whose service he acted. None
of this pertained to Columbus, the good professor concluded, because
the “Great Discoverer” was ultimately “little more than a gifted
seaman,” an individual who unwittingly set in motion processes over
which he had little or no control, in which he played no direct part,
and which might well have been beyond his imagination. My juxta-
position of the two men, he contended, therefore tended to “diminish
understanding of the unique degree of evil” which should be associ-
ated with Himmler, and ultimately precluded “proper historical un-
derstanding of the Nazi phenomenon.”

The second letter came from a member of the Jewish Defense League
in Rochester. His argument ran that, unlike Columbus (whom he de-
scribed as “little more than a bit player, without genuine authority or
even much of a role, in the actual process of European civilization in the
New World which his discovery made possible”), Himmler was a “re-
sponsible official in a formal state policy of exterminating an entire
human group for both racial and economic reasons,” and on a scale
“unparalleled in all history.” My analogy between the two, he said,
served to “diminish public respect for the singular nature of the Jewish
experience at the hands of the Nazis,” as well as popular understanding
of “the unique historical significance of the Holocaust.” Finally he added,
undoubtedly as a crushing capstone to his position, “It is a measure of
your anti-semitism that you compare Himmler to Columbus” because
“Columbus was, of course, himself a Jew.”

I must confess the last assertion struck me first, and only partly
becausel’d neverbeforeheard claims that Christopher Columbus was
of Jewish ethnicity. “What possible difference could this make?” I
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asked in my letter of reply. “If Himmler himself were shown to have
been of Jewishextraction, would it then suddenly become anti-semitic
to condemn him for the genocide he perpetrated against Jews, Gyp-
sies, Slavs, and others? Would his historical crimes then suddenly be
unmentionable or even ‘okay’?” “To put it another way,” I continued,
“simply because Meyer Lansky, Dutch Schultz, Bugsy Siegel, and
Louis Buchlter Lepke were all Jewish ‘by blood,” is it a gesture of
anti-semitism to refer to them as gangsters? Is it your contention that
an individual’s Jewish ethnicity somehow confers exemption from
negative classification or criticism of his/her conduct? What are you
saying?” The question of Columbus’ possible Jewishness nonetheless
remained intriguing, not because I held it to be especially important
in its own right, but because I was (and am still) mystified as to why
any ethnic group, especially one which has suffered genocide, might
be avid to lay claim either to the man or to his legacy. I promised
myself to investigate the matter further.

A Mythic Symbiosis

Meanwhile, I was captivated by certain commonalities of argu-
ment inherent to the positions advanced by my correspondents. Both
men exhibited a near-total ignorance of the actualities of Columbus’
career; nor did they demonstrate any particular desire to correct the
situation. Indeed, in their mutual need to separate the topic of their
preoccupation from rational scrutiny, they appeared to have concep-
tually joined hands in a function composed more of faith than fact.
The whole notion of the “uniqueness of the Holocaust” serves both
psychic and political purposes for Jew and German alike, or so it
seems. The two groups are bound to one another in a truly symbiotic
relationship foundationed in the mythic exclusivity of their experi-
ence: one half of the equation simply completes the other in a perverse
sort of collaboration, with the result that each enjoys a tangible benefit.

For Jews, at least those who have adopted the zionist perspective,
a “unique historical suffering” under nazism translates into fulfill-
ment of a biblical prophecy that they are “the chosen,” entitled by
virtue of thedestiny of a special persecution to assume a rarified status
among—and to consequently enjoy preferential treatment from—the
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remainder of humanity. In essence, this translates into a demand that
the Jewish segment of the Holocaust’s victims must now be allowed
to participate equally in the very system which once victimized them,
and to receive an equitable share of the spoils accruing therefrom. To
this end, zionist scholars such as Irving Louis Horowitz and Elie
Wiesel have labored long and mightily, defining genocide in terms
exclusively related to the forms it assumed under nazism. In their
version of “truth,” one must literally see smoke pouring from the
chimneys of Auschwitz in order to apprehend that a genocide, per se,
is occurring.! Conversely, they have coined terms such as “ethnocide” to
encompass the fates inflicted upon other peoples throughout history.
Such semantics have served, not as tools of understanding, but as an
expedient means of arbitrarily differentiating the experience of their
people—both qualitatively and quantitatively—from that of any other.
Toapproach things in any other fashion would, it mustbe admitted, tend
to undercut ideas like the “moral right” of the Israeli settler state to
impose itself directly atop the Palestinian Arab homeland.

For Germans to embrace a corresponding “unique historical
guilt” because of what was done to the Jews during the 1940s is to
permanently absolve themselves of guilt concerning what they may
be doing now. No matter how ugly things may become in contempo-
rary German society, or so the reasoning goes, it can always be (and is)
argued that there has been a marked improvement over the “singular
evil which was nazism.” Anything other than outright nazification is,
by definition, “different,” “better, ” and therefore “acceptable” (“Bad
as they are, things could always be worse.”). Business as usual—
which is to say assertions of racial supremacy, domination and exploi-
tation of “inferior” groups, and most of the rest of the nazi agenda—is
thereby freed to continue in a manner essentially unhampered by
serious stirrings of guiltamong the German publicso long as it does not
adopt the literal trappings of nazism. Participating for profit and with
gusto in the deliberate starvation of much of the Third World is no
particular problem if one is careful not to goose step while one does it.

By extension, insofar as Germany is often seen (and usually sees
itself) as exemplifying the crowning achievements of “Western Civi-
lization,” the same principle covers all European and Euro-derived
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societies. No matter what they do, it is never “really” what it seems
unless it was done in precisely the fashion the nazis did it. Conse-
quently, the nazi master plan of displacing or reducing by extermina-
tion the population of the western USSR and replacing it with settlers
of “biologically superior German breeding stock” is roundly (and
rightly) condemned as ghastly and inhuman. Meanwhile, people
holding this view of nazi ambitions tend overwhelmingly to see
consolidation and maintenance of Euro-dominated settler states in
places like Australia, New Zealand, South Africa, Argentina, the
United States, and Canada as “basically okay,” or even as “progress.”
The “distinction” allowing this psychological phenomenon is that
each of these states went about the intentional displacement and
extermination of native populations, and their replacement, in a man-
ner slightly different in its particulars from that employed by nazis
attempting to accomplish exactly the same thing. Such technical dif-
ferentiation is then magnified and used as a sort of all purpose veil,
behind which almost anything can be hidden, so long as it is not
openly adorned with a swastika.

Given the psychological, sociocultural, and political imperatives
involved, neither correspondent, whether German or Jew, felt con-
strained to examine the factual basis of my analogy between Himmler
and Columbus before denying the plausibility or appropriateness of

‘the comparison. To the contrary, since the paradigm of their mutual
understanding embodies the a priori presumption that there must be
no such analogy, factual investigation is precluded from their postur-
ing. It follows that any dissent on the “methods” involved in their
arriving at their conclusions, never mind introduction of countervail-
ing evidence, must be denied out of hand with accusations of “over-
statement,” “shoddy scholarship,” “stridency,” and/or “anti-semi-
tism.” To this litany have lately been added such new variations as
“white bashing,” “ethnic McCarthyism,” “purveyor of political cor-
rectitude,” and any other epithet deemed helpful in keeping a “canon
of knowledge” fraught with distortion, deception, and outright fraud
from being “diluted.”
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Columbus as Protonazi

It is time to delve into the substance of my remark that Columbus
and Himmler, nazi lebensraumpolitik and the “settlement of the New
World,” bear more than a casual resemblance to one another. It is not,
as my two correspondents wished to believe, because of his “discov-
ery.” This does not mean that if this were “all” he had done he would
be somehow innocent of what resulted from his find, no more than is
the scientist who makes a career of accepting military funding to
develop weapons in any way “blameless” when they are sub-
sequently used against human targets. Columbus did not sally forth
upon the Atlantic for reasons of “neutral science” or altruism. He
went, as his own diaries, reports, and letters make clear, fully expect-
ing to encounter wealth belonging to others. It was his stated purpose
to seize this wealth, by whatever means necessary and available, in
order iv enrich buth his sponsors and himseit.” Piainiy, he prefigured,
both in design and by intent, what came next. To this extent, he not
only symbolizes the process of conquest and genocide which eventu-
ally consumed the indigenous peoples of America, but also bears the
personal responsibility of having participated in it. Still, if this were
all there was to it, I might be inclined to dismiss him as a mere thug
rather than branding him a counterpart to Himmler.

The 1492 “voyage of discovery” is, however, hardly all that is at
issue. In 1493 Columbus returned with an invasion force of 17 ships,
appointed at his own request by the Spanish Crown to install himself
as “viceroy and governor of [the Caribbean islands] and the main-
land” of America, a position he held until 1500. > Setting up shop on
the large island he called Esparfiola (today Haiti and the Dominican
Republic), he promptly instituted policies of slavery (encomiendo) and
systematic extermination against the native Taino population.® Co-
lumbus’ programs reduced Taino numbers from as many as eight
million at the outset of his regime to about three million in 1496.”
Perhaps 100,000 were left by the time of the governor’s departure. His
policies, however, remained, with the result that by 1514 the Spanish
census of the island showed barely 22,000 Indians remaining alive. In
1542, only 200 were recorded.® Thereafter, they were considered ex-
tinct, as were Indians throughout the Caribbean Basin, an aggregate
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population which totalled more than 15 million at the point of first
contact with the Admiral of the Ocean Sea, as Columbus was known.”

This, to be sure, constitutes an attrition of population in real
numbers every bit as great as the toll of 12 to 15 million—about half of them
Jewish—most commonly attributed to Himmler ’s slaughter mills. Moreover,
the proportion of indigenous Caribbean population destroyed by the Spanish
in a single generation is, no matter how the figures are twisted, far greater
than the 75 percent of European Jews usually said to have been exterminated
by the nazis. 1 Worst of all, these data apply only to the Caribbean Basin;
the process of genocide in the Americas was only just beginning at the
point such statistics become operant, not ending, as they did upon the
fall of the Third Reich. All told, it is probable that more than 100
million native people were “eliminated” in the course of Europe’s
ongoing “civilization” of the Western hemisphere.'!

It has long been asserted by “responsible scholars” that this
decimation of American Indians which accompanied the European
invasion resulted primarily from disease rather than direct killing or
conscious policy.lZ There is a certain truth to this, although starvation
may have proven just as lethal in the end. It must be borne in mind
when considering such facts that a considerable portion of those who
perished in the nazi death camps died, not as the victims of bullets
and gas, but from starvation, as well as epidemics of typhus, dysen-
tery, and the like. Their keepers, who could not be said to have killed
these people directly, were nonetheless found to have been culpable
in their deaths by way of deliberately imposing the conditions which
led to the proliferation of starvation and disease among them."
Certainly, the same can be said of Columbus’ regime, under which the
original residents were, as a first order of business, permanently
dispossessed of their abundant cultivated fields while being con-
verted into chattel, ultimately to be worked to death for the wealth
and “glory” of Spain."*

Nor should more direct means of extermination be relegated to
incidental status. As the matter is framed by Kirkpatrick Sale in his
book The Congquest of Paradise:

The tribute system, instituted by the Governor sometime in 1495, was a

simple and brutal way of fulfilling the Spanish lust for gold while
acknowledging the Spanish distaste for labor. Every Taino over the age
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of fourteen had to supply the rulers with ahawk’s bill of gold every three
months (or, in gold-deficient areas, twenty-five pounds of spun cotton);
those who did were given a token to wear around their necks as proof
that they had made their payment; those who did not were, as [Colum-
bus’ brother, Fernando] says discreetly, “punished”—by having their
hands cut off, as [the priest, Bartolomé de] Las Casas says less discreetly,
and left to bleed to death.”

It is entirely likely that upwards of 10,000 Indians were killed in
this fashion , on Esparfiola alone, as a matter of policy, during Colum-
bus’ tenure as governor. Las Casas’ Brevisima relacién, among other
contemporaneous sources, is also replete with accounts of Spanish
colonists (hidalgos) hanging Tainos en masse, roasting them on spits or
burning them at the stake (often a dozen or more at a time), hacking
their children into pieces to be used as dog feed and so forth, all of it
to instill in the natives a “proper attitude of respect” toward their
Spanish “superiors.”

[The Spaniards] made bets as to who would slit a manin two, or cut off
his head at one blow; or they opened up his bowels. They tore the babes
from their mother’s breast by their feet and dashed their heads against
the rocks...They spitted the bodies of other babes, together with their
mothers and all who were before them, on their swords."®

No SS trooper could be expected to comport himself with a more
unrelenting viciousness. And there is more. All of this was coupled to
wholesale and persistent massacres:

A Spaniard...suddenly drew his sword. Then the whole hundred drew
theirs and began to rip open the bellies, to cut and kill [a group of Tainos
assembled for this purpose]-men, women, children and old folk, all of
whom were seated, off guard and frightened...And within two credos, not
a man of them there remains alive. The Spaniards enter the large house
nearby, for this was happening at its door, and in the same way, with cuts
and stabs, began to kill as many as were found there, so that a stream of
blood was running, as if a great number of cows had perished.”

Elsewhere, I.as Casas went on to recount how:

In this time, the greatest outrages and slaughterings of people were
perpetrated, whole villages being depopulated...The Indians saw that
without any offense on their part they were despoiled of their kingdoms,
their lands and liberties and of their lives, their wives, and homes. As
they saw themselves each day perishing by the cruel and inhuman
treatment of the Spaniards, crushed to earth by the horses, cut in pieces
by swords, eaten and torn by dogs, many buried alive and suffering all
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kinds of exquisite tortures...[many surrendered to their fate, while the

survivors] fled to the mountains [to starve]."®

The butchery continued until there were no Tainos left to butcher.
One might well ask how a group of human beings, even those like the
Spaniards of Columbus’ day, maddened in a collective lust for wealth
and prestige, might come to treat another with such unrestrained
ferocity over a sustained period. The answer, or some substantial
portion of it, must lie in the fact that the Indians were considered by
the Spanish to be untermenschen, subhumans. That this was the con-
ventional view is borne out beyond all question in the recorded
debatesbetween Las Casas and the nobleman Francisco de Sepulveda,
who argued for the majority of Spaniards that American Indians, like
African Blacks and other “lower animals,” lacked “souls.” The Span-
iards, consequently, bore in Sepulveda’s estimation a holy obligation
to enslave and destroy them wherever they might be encountered.”
The eugenics theories of nazi “philosopher” Alfred Rosenberg, to
which Heinrich Himmler more or less subscribed, elaborated the
mission of the SS in very much the same terms.?’ It was upon such
profoundly racist ideas that Christopher Columbus grounded his
policies as initial governor of the new Spanish empire in America.*’

In the end, all practical distinctions between Columbus and
Himmler—at least those not accounted for by differences in available
technology and extent of sociomilitary organization—evaporate upon
close inspection. They are cut of the same cloth, fulfilling precisely the
same function and for exactly the same reasons, each in his own time and
place. If there is one differentiation which may be valid, it is that while
the specific enterprise Himmler represented ultimately failed and is now
universally condemned, that represented by Columbus did not and is
not. Instead, as Sale has observed, the model for colonialism and con-
comitant genocide Columbus pioneered during his reign as governor of
Espaiiola was to prove his “most enduring legacy,” carried as it was “by
the conquistadors on their invasions of Mexico, Peru, and La Florida.”?
The Columbian process is ongoing, as is witnessed by the fact that,
today, his legacy is celebrated far and wide.



10 FROM A NATIVE SON

The Emblematic European

This leaves open the question as to whom, exactly, the horror which
was Columbus rightly “belongs.” There is, as it turns out, no shortage of
contenders for the mantle of the man and his “accomplishments.” It
would be well to examine the nature of at least the major claims in order
to appreciate the extent of the mad scramble which has been undertaken
by various peoples to associate themselves with what was delineated in
the preceding section. One cannot avoid the suspicion that the spectacle
bespeaks much of the Eurocentric character.

Was Columbus Italian?

The popular wisdom has always maintained that Christopher
Columbus was born in Genoa, a city state which is incorporated into
what is now called Italy. Were this simply an historical truth, it might
be accepted as just one more uncomfortable fact of life for the Italian
people, who are—or should be—still trying to live down what their
country did to the Libyans and Ethiopians during the prelude to
World War II. There is much evidence, however, militating against
Columbus’ supposed Genoese origin. For instance, although such
records were kept at the time, there is no record of his birth in that
locale. Nor is there reference to his having been born or raised there
in any of his own written work, including his personal correspon-
dence. For that matter, there is no indication that he either wrote or
spoke any dialect which might be associated with Genoa, nor even the
Tuscan language which forms the basis of modern Italian. His own
writings—not excluding letters penned to Genoese friends and the
Banco di San Grigorio, one of his financiers in that city—were uni-
formly articulated in Castilian, with a bit of Portuguese and Latin
mixed in.? Moreover, while several variations of his name were
popularly applied to him during his lifetime, none of them was drawn
from a dialect which might be considered Italian. He himself, in the
only known instance in which he rendered his own fullname, utilized
the Greek Xpdual de Colén.?* Still, Genoa, Italy, and those of Italian
descent elsewhere in the world (Italoamericans, most loudly of all)
have mounted an unceasing clamor during the 20th century, insisting
he must be theirs. Genoa itself invested considerable resources into
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“resolving” the question during the 1920s, ultimately printing a 288-
page book assembling an array of depositions and other documents—
all of them authenticated—attesting that Columbus was indeed
Genoese. Published in 1931, the volume, entitled Christopher Colum-
bus: Documents and Proofs of His Genoese Origin, presents what is still
the best circumstantial case as to Columbus’ ethnic identity.”

Spanish?

Counterclaims concerning Columbus’ supposed Iberian origin
are also long-standing and have at times been pressed rather vocifer-
ously. These center primarily in the established facts that he spent the
bulk of his adult life in service to Spain, was fluent in both written and
spoken Castilian, and thathis mistress, Beatriz Enriquez de Arana, was
Spanish.?® During the 1920s, these elements of the case were bolstered
by an assortment of “archival documents” allegedly proving conclu-
sively that Columbus was a Spaniard from cradle to grave. In 1928,
however, the Spanish Academy determined that these documents had
been forged by parties overly eager to establish Spain’s exclusive
claim to the Columbian legacy. Since then, Spanish chauvinists have
had to content themselves with arguments that The Discoverer is
theirs by virtue of employment and nationality, if not by birth. An
excellent summary of the various Spanish contentions may be found
in Enrique de Gandia’s Historia de Cristobal Colon: analisis critico, first
published in 1942.7

Portuguese?

Portuguese participation in the fray has been less pronounced, but
follows basically the same course—sans forged documents—as that of
the Spanish. Columbus, the argument goes, was plainly conversant in
the language, and his wife, Felipa Moniz Perestrello, is lanown to have
been Portuguese. Further, the first point at which his whereabouts can be
accurately determined, was in service to Portugal, plying that country’s
slavetradealong Africa’s west coast for a period of four years. Reputedly,
he was also co-proprietor of a book and map shop in Lisbon and/or
Madeira for a time, and once sailed to Iceland on a voyage commissioned
by the Portuguese Crown. Portugal’s desire to extend a serious claim
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to Spain’s Admiral of the Ocean Sea seems to be gathering at least
some momentum, as is witnessed by Manuel Luciano de Silva’s 1989
book Columbus Was 100% Portuguese.*®

Iewish?

The idea that Columbus might have been a Spanish Jew is perhaps
best known for having appeared in Simon Weisenthal’s Sails of Hope
in 1973.% Therein, it is contended that the future governor of Espafiola
hid his ethnicity because of the mass expulsion of Jews from Spain
ordered by King Ferdinand of Aragon on March 30, 1492 (the decree
was executed on August 2 of the same year). Because of this rampant
anti-semitism, the Great Navigator’s true identity has remained
shrouded in mystery, lost to the historical record. Interestingly, given
the tenacity with which atleast some sectors of the Jewish community
have latched on to it, this notion is not at all Jewish in origin Rather,
it was initially developed as a speculationin a 1913 article, “Columbus
a Spaniard and a Jew?,” published by Henry Vignaud in the American
History Review.* It was then advanced by Salvador de Madariaga in
his unsympathetic 1939 biography, Christopher Columbus. Madariaga’s
most persuasive argument, at least to himself, seems to have been that
Columbus’ “great love of gold” proved his “Jewishness.” * This
theme was resuscitated in Brother Nectario Maria’s Juan Colén Was A
Spanish Jew in 1971.32 Next, we will probably be told that The Merchant
of Venice was an accurate depiction of medieval Jewish life, after all.
And, from there, that the International Jewish Bolshevik Banking
Conspiracy really exists, and has since the days of the Illuminati
takeover of the Masonic Orders. One hopes the JDL doesn't rally to
the defense of these “interpretations” of history as readily as itjumped
aboard the “Columbus as Jew” bandwagon.*®

Ot}:er Contenders

By conservative count, there are presently 253 books and articles
devoted specifically to the question of Columbus’ origin and na-
tional/ethnic identity. Another 300-odd essays or full volumes ad-
dress the same questions to some extent while pursuing other mat-
ters.* Claims to his character, and some imagined luster therefrom,
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have been extended not only by the four peoples already discussed,
but also by Corsica, Greece, Chios, Majorca, Aragon, Galicia, France,
and Poland.* One can only wait with bated breath to see whether or
not the English might not weigh in with a quincentennial assertion
that he was actually a Briton born and bred, sent to spy on behalf of
Their Royal British Majesties. Perhaps the Swedes, Danes, and Nor-
wegians will advance the case that Columbus was actually the descen-
dant of a refugee Viking king, or the Irish that he was a pure Gaelic
adherent of the teachings of Saint Brendan. And then there are, of
course, the Germans.

In the final analysis, it is patently clear that we really have no idea
who Columbus was, where he came from, or where he spent his
formative years. It may be that he was indeed born in Genoa, perhaps
of some “degree of Jewish blood,” brought up in Portugal, and ulti-
mately nationalized as a citizen of Spain, Province of Aragon. Perhaps
he also spent portions of his childhood being educated in Greek and
Latin while residing in Corsica, Majorca, Chios, or all three. Maybe he
had grandparents who had immigrated from what is now Poland and
France. It is possible that each of the parties now vying for a “piece of
theaction” in hisregard are to some extent correctin their claims. And,
to the same extent, it is true that he was actually of none of them in the
sense that they mean it. He stands, by this definition, not as an Italian,
Spaniard, Portuguese, or Jew, but as the quintessential European of
his age, the emblematic personality of all that Europe was, had been,
and would become in the course of its subsequent expansion across
the face of the earth.

As asymbol, then, Christopher Columbus vastly transcends him-
self. He stands before the bar of history and humanity, culpable not
only for his literal deeds on Espafiola, but, in spirit at least, for the
carnage and cultural obliteration which attended the conquests of
Mexico and Peru during the 1500s. He stands as exemplar of the
massacre of Pequots at Mysticin 1637, and of Lord Jeffrey Amherst’s
calculated distribution of smallpox-laden blankets to the members of
Pontiac’s confederacy a century and a half later. His spirit informed
the policies of John Evans and John Chivington as they set out to
exterminate the Cheyennes in Colorado during 1864, and it rode with
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the 7th U.S. Cavalry to Wounded Kneein December of 1890. It guided
Alfredo Stroessner’s machete-wielding butchers as they strove to
eradicate the Achépeople of Paraguayduring the 1970s,and applauds
the policies of Brazil toward the Jivaro, Yanomami, and other Amazon
Basin peoples at the present moment.

Also, the ghost of Columbus stood with the British in their wars
against the Zulus and various Arab nations, with the U.S. against the
“Moros” of the Philippines, the French against the peoples of Algeria
and Indochina, the Belgians in the Congo, the Dutch in Indonesia. He
was there for the Opium Wars and the “secret” bombing of Cambodia,
for the systematic slaughter of the indigenous peoples of California
during the 19th century and of the Mayans in Guatemala during the
1980s. And, yes, he was very much present in the corridors of nazi
power, present among the guards and commandants at Sobibor and
Treblinka, and within the ranks of the einsatzgruppen on the Eastern
Front. The Third Reich was, after all, never so much a deviation from
as it was a crystallization of the dominant themes—racial suprema-
cism, conquest, and genocide—of the European culture Columbus so
ably exemplifies. Nazism was never unique: it was instead only one
of an endless succession of “New World Orders” setin motion by “The
Discovery.” It was neither more nor less detestable than the order
imposed by Christopher Columbus upon Espafiola; 1493 or 1943, they
are part of the same irreducible whole.

The Specter of Hannibal Lecter

At thisjuncture, the entire planet is locked, figuratively, in aroom
with the sociocultural equivalent of Hannibal Lecter. An individual of
consummate taste and refinement, imbued with indelible grace and
charm, he distracts his victims with the brilliance of his intellect, even
while honing his blade. He is thus able to dinealone upon their livers,
his feast invariably candlelit, accompanied by lofty music and a fine
wine. Over and over the ritual is repeated, always hidden, always
denied in order that it may be continued. So perfect is Lecter’s
pathology that, from the depths of his scorn for the inferiors upon
whom he feeds, he advances himself as their sage and therapist, he
who is in comparably endowed with the ability to explain their
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innermost meanings, who professes to be their savior. His success
depends upon being embraced and exalted by those upon whom he
preys. Ultimately, so long as Lecter is able to retain his mask of
omnipotent gentility, he can never be stopped. The sociocultural
equivalent of Hannibal Lecter is the core of an expansionist European
“civilization” which has reached out to engulf the planet.

In coming to grips with Lecter, it is of no useful purpose to engage
in sympathetic biography, to chronicle the nuances of his childhood
and catalogue his many and varied achievements, whether real or
imagined. The recounting of such information is at best diversionary,
allowing him to remain at large just that much longer. More often, it
inadvertently serves to perfect his mask, enabling him not only to
maintain his enterprise, but also to pursue it with ever more arrogance
and efficiency. At worst, the biographer is aware of the intrinsic evil
lurking beneath the subject’s veneer of civility, but—because of mor-
bid fascination and a desire to participate vicariously—deliberately
obfuscates thetruthin order thathis homicidal activities may continue
unchecked. The biographer thus reveals not only a willing complicity
in the subject’s crimes, but also a virulent pathology of his or her own.
Such is and has always been the relationship of “responsible scholar-
ship” to expansionist Europe and its derivative societies.

The sole legitimate function of information compiled about Lecter
is that which will serve to unmask him and thereby lead to his
apprehension. The purpose of apprehension is not to visit retribution
upon the psychopath—he is, after all, by definition mentally ill and
consequently not in control of his more lethal impulses—but to put
an end to his activities. It is even theoretically possible that, once he is
disempowered, he can be cured. The point, however, is to understand
what he is and what he does well enough to stop him from doing it.
This is the role which must be assumed by scholarship vis-a-vis
Eurosupremacy, if scholarship itself is to have any positive and con-
structive meaning. Scholarship is never “neutral” or “objective”; it
always works either for the psychopath or against him, to mystify
sociocultural reality or to decode it, to make corrective action possible
or to prevent it.
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It may well be that there are better points of departure for
intellectual endeavors to capture the real form and meaning of Euro-
centrism than the life, times, and legacy of Christopher Columbus.
Still, since Eurocentrists the world over have so evidently clasped
hands in utilizing him as a (perhaps the) preeminent signifier of their
collective heritage, and are doing so with such an apparent sense of
collective jubilation, the point has been rendered effectively moot.
Those who seek to devote their scholarship to apprehending the
psychopath who sits in our room thus have no alternative but to use
him as a primary vehicle of articulation. In order to do so, we must
approach him through deployment of the analytical tools which allow
him to be utilized as a medium of explanation, a lens by which to shed
light upon phenomena such as the mass psychologies of fascism and
racism, a means by which to shear Eurocentrism of its camouflage,
exposing its true contours, revealing the enduring coherence of the
dynamics which forged its evolution.

Perhaps through such efforts we can begin to genuinely compre-
hend the seemingly incomprehensible fact that so many groups are
presently queuing up to associate themselves with a man from whose
very memory wafts the cloying stench of tyranny and genocide. From
there, it may be possible at last to crack the real codes of meaning
underlying the sentiments of the Nuremberg rallies, those spectacles
on the plazas of Rome during which fealty was pledged to Mussolini,
and that amazing red-white-and-blue, tie-a-yellow-ribbon frenzy
gripping the U.S. public much more lately. If we force ourselves to see
things clearly, we can understand. If we can understand, we can
apprehend. If we can apprehend, perhaps we can stop the psychopath
before he kills again. We are obligated to try, from a sense of sheer
self-preservation, if nothing else. Who knows, we may even succeed.
But first we must stop lying to ourselves, or allowing others to do the
lying for us, about who it is with whom we now share our room.
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SINCE PREDATOR CAME
A Survey of Native North America
Since 1492

History, history! We fools, what do we know or care? History begins for
us with murder and enslavement, not with discovery. No, we are not
Indians, but we are men of their world. The blood means nothing; the
spirit, the ghost of the land moves in the blood, moves the blood. It is
we who ran to the shore naked, we who cried “Heavenly Man!” These
are the inhabitants of our souls, our murdered souls thatlie...agh.

—William Carlos Williams

On October 12,1492, the day Christopher Columbus first washed
up on a Caribbean beach, North America was long-since en-
dowed with an abundant and exceedingly complex cluster of civili-
zations. Having continuously occupied the continent for at least
50,000 years, the native inhabitants evidenced a total population of
perhaps 15 million, cities as large as the 40,000-resident urban center
at Cahokia (in present-day Illinois), highly advanced conceptions of
architecture and engineering, spiritual traditions embodying equiva-
lents to modern ecoscience, refined knowledge of pharmacology and
holistic medicine, and highly sophisticated systems of governance,
trade, and diplomacy.' The traditional economies of the continent
were primarily agricultural, based in environmentally sound farming
procedures which originated well over half the vegetal foodstuffs now
consumed by peoples the world over.? By and large, the indigenous
societies demonstrating such attainments were organized along ex-
tremely egalitarian lines, with real property held collectively, and
matrifocality a normative standard.’ War, at least in the Euro-derived
sense in which the term is understood today, was virtually unknown.*

The “Columbian Encounter,” of course, unleashed a predatory,
five-century-long cycle of European conquest, genocide, and coloni-
zation in the “New World,” a process which changed the face of Native
America beyond all recognition. Indeed, over the first decade of
Spanish presence in the Caribbean, the period in which Columbus

21
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himself served as governor, the mold was set for all that would follow.
By 1496, the policies of slavery (encomiendo) and wanton slaughter
implemented by the “Great Discoverer” had, in combination with the
introduction of Old World pathogens against which they had no
immunity, reduced the native Taino population of just one island,
Espafiola (presently the Dominican Republic and Haiti), from as many
as eight million to fewer than three million. Six years later, the Tainos
had been diminished to fewer than 100,000, and, in 1542, only 200
could be found by Spanish census-takers.” Thereafter, the “Indians”
of Espafiola were declared extinct, along with the remainder of the
indigenous peoples of the Caribbean Basin, an overall body which
had numbered upwards of 14 million only a generation before.®
In North America, a similar dynamic was set in motion by the
1513 expedition of Ponce de Léon into Florida. The resulting smallpox
pandemic spanned the continent, and before it had run its course in
1524, it had destroyed about three-quarters of all indigenous peopie
north of the Rio Grande. This was only the beginning. Between 1520
and 1890, no fewer than 41 smallpox epidemics and pandemics were
induced among North American Indians. To this must be added
dozens of lethal outbreaks of measles, whooping cough, tuberculosis,
bubonic plague, typhus, cholera, typhoid, diphtheria, scarlet fever,
pleurisy, mumps, venereal disease, and the common cold.” The corre-
sponding attrition of native population by disease has usually been
treated as a tragic but wholly inadvertent and unintended by-product
of contact between Indians and Europeans. Such was certainly not the
case in all instances, however, as is attested to by the fact that the
so-called “King Philip’s War” of 1675-76, fought between the Wam-
panoag and Narragansett nations and English colonists, resulted
largely from the Indians’ belief that the latter had deliberately incul-
cated smallpox among them.®
That such perceptions of British tactics and intentions were hardly
far-fetched is amply borne out by written orders issuing from Lord
Jeffrey Amherst in 1763, instructing a subordinate, Colonel Henry Bou-
quet, to infect the members of Pontiac’s Algonquain confederacy “by
means of [smallpox contaminated] blankets as well as...every other
means to extirpate this execrable race.” A few days later, it was reported

to Ambherst that, “[W]e gave them two blankets and a handkerchief out
of the smallpox hospital. I hope it will have the desired effect.” It did. At
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a minimum, 100,000 Indians died in the epidemic brought on by Am-

herst’s resort to biological warfare.” In a similar instance, occurring in

1836, the U.S. Army knowingly distributed smallpox-laden blankets

among the Missouri River Mandans; the resulting pandemic claimed as

many as a quarter-million native lives.!

Beginning in the early 17th century, with establishment of Eng-
land’s Plymouth and Virginia colonies, and the Dutch toehold at New
Amsterdam, the eradication of North America’s indigenous popula-
tion also assumed much cruder forms. A classic example occurred on
the night of May 26, 1637, when the British surrounded the Pequot
town of Mystic (Connecticut), setitablaze,and thenslaughtered some
800 fleeing men, women, and children, hacking them to pieces with
axes and swords."" Such “incidents” occurred with ever-greater fre-
quency throughout most of the 18th century, a period which found
Britain and France engaged in the “French and Indian Wars,” a pro-
tracted series of struggles in North America to determine which
country would wield ultimate hegemony over the continent. While
the outcome of these contests eventually proved all but irrelevant to
the European colonial powers, given the subsequent revolt and de-
colonization of the initial 13 U.S. states, the nature of the fighting
created a context in which indigenous nations were increasingly
compelled to battle one another to the death. The reduction of indige-
nous population was thereby accelerated dramatically.'?

Enter The United States

For its part, the fledgling United States embarked almost imme-
diately uponacourse of territorialacquisition far moreambitious than
any exhibited by its Euro-colonial precursors. Although it renounced
rights of conquest and pledged to conduct its affairs with Indians in
“utmost good faith” via the 1789 Northwest Ordinance, the United
States comported itself otherwise from the outset.”®> From 1810-1814,
a sequence of extremely brutal military campaigns was conducted
against the followers of the Shawnee leader Tecumseh in the Ohio
River Valley, and against the Creek Confederacy further south.' With
native military capacity east of the Mississippi thus eliminated, the
government launched, during the 1820s and “30s, a policy of forced
relocation of entire indigenous nations to points west of that river,
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“clearing” the eastern United States more or less in toto for repopula-
tion by white “settlers.””® Attrition among the affected populations
was quite severe; more than half of all Cherokees, for example, died
along the 1,500-mile “Trail of Tears” over which they were marched
at bayonet-point.'® This federal “removal policy” was to find echoes,
of course, in the articulation of “lebensraumpolitik” by Adolf Hitler a
century later."”

To cast a veneer of legality over his government’s conduct, Chief
Justice of the Supreme Court John Marshall penned a series of high
court opinions during the 1820s and "30s, based inlarge part upon the
medieval Doctrine of Discovery. He remained on firm juridical
ground long enough to contend that the doctrine imparted a right to
the United States to acquire Indian territory by treaty, a matter which
led toratification of atleast 371 such nation-to-nation agreements over
the next four decades. In a bizarre departure from established princi-
ples of international law, however, Marshall also argued that the
United States possessed an inherently “higher” sovereignty than the
nations with which it was treating: Indians held no right not to sell
their land to the United States, in his view, at whatever price the
United States cared to offer. Within this formulation, any resistance by
“the savages” to the taking of their territories could thus be cast as an
“act of war” theoretically “justifying” a U.S. “response” predicated in
armed force.'® By 1903 the “Marshall Doctrine” had evolved—and the
indigenous ability to offer physical resistance had been sufficiently
crushed—to the point that the Supreme Court was confident in assert-
ing an “intrinsic” federal “plenary” (full) power over all Indians
within its borders, releasing the United States from any treaty obliga-
tions it found inconvenient while leaving the land title it purported
to have gained through the various treaty instruments intact. In
conjunction with this novel notion of international jurisprudence, the
high court simultaneously expressed the view that the government
enjoyed “natural” and permanent “trust” prerogatives over all resid-
ual native property.'

Meanwhile, having consolidated its grip on the eastern portion of
its claimed territoriality during the 1840s—and having militarily
seized “rights” to the northern half of Mexico as well—the United
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States proclaimed itself to be imbued with a “Manifest Destiny” to
expand westward to the Pacific.’® There being essentially no land
available within this conception for Indian use and occupancy, a
rhetoric of outright extermination was quickly adopted both by fed-
eral policymakers and by a sizable segment of the public at large.”’
These sentiments led unerringly to a lengthy chain of large-scale
massacres of Indians in the Great Plains and Basin regions by U.S.
troops. Among the worst were the slaughters perpetrated at the Blue
River (Nebraska, 1854), Bear River (Idaho, 1863), Sand Creek (Colo-
rado, 1864), Washita River (Oklahoma, 1868), Sappa Creek (Kansas,
1875), Camp Robinson (Nebraska, 1878), and Wounded Knee (South
Dakota, 1890).2 In 1894, the U.S. Census Bureau observed that the
United States had waged “more than 40” separate wars against native
people in barely a century, inflicting some number of fatalities “very
much greater” than its minimum estimate of 30,000 in the process.?

The indigenous death toll generated by “private actions” dur-
ing U.S. continental expansion was also, the Census Bureau admit-
ted, “quite substantial.” In all probability, it was far higher than that
stemming from formal military involvement, given that the native
population of the state of California alone was reduced from ap-
proximately 300,000 in 1800 to fewer than 20,000 in 1890, “chiefly
[because of] the cruelties and wholesale massacres perpetrated
by...miners and the early settlers.”** In Texas, to take another
prominent example, a bounty was placed upon the scalp of any
Indian brought to a government office, no questions asked: “The
facts of history are plain. Most Texas Indians [once the most diverse
population in North America] were exterminated or brought to the
brink of extinction by [Euroamerican civilians] who often had no
more regard for the life of an Indian than they had for that of a dog,
sometimes less.” % The story in other sectors of the western United
States, while sometimes less spectacular, reveals very much the
same pattern. As the indigenous population was liquidated—along
with the buffalo and other animal species consciously exterminated
in order to deny Indians a “commissary” once their agricultural
economies had been obliterated by the invaders—white settlers
replaced them on the vast bulk of their land.?®
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By 1890, fewer than 250,000 Indians remained alive within the
United States, a degree of decimation extending into the upper nine-
tieth percentile.27 The survivors were lodged on a patchwork of
“reservations” even then being dismantled through application of
what was called the “General Allotment Act.”?® Under provision of
this statute, effected in 1887, a formal eugenics code was utilized to
define who was (and who was not) “Indian” by U.S. “standards.”*’
Those who could, or were willing to, prove to federal satisfaction that
they were “of one-half or more degree of Indianblood,” and to accept
U.S. citizenship into the bargain, received a deed to an individual land
parcel, typically of 160 acres or less.>® Once each person with
sufficient “blood quantum” had received his or her allotment of
land, the remaining reservation land was declared “surplus” and
opened up to non-Indian homesteading, corporate acquisition, or
conversion into national parks and forests. Through this mecha-
nism, the best 100 million acres of the reserved native land base
were stripped away by 1930, the Indians ever more concentrated
within the 50 million arid or semi-arid acres—about 2.5 percent of
their original holdings—left to them.>’ The model was later bor-
rowed by the apartheid government of South Africa in developing
its “racial homeland” system of territorial apportionment.32

The Contemporary Era

Culmination of this trajectory in U.S. colonial administration of
Indian Country occurred during the mid-1950s, with the enactment
of a series of “termination” statutes by which the federal govern-
ment unilaterally dissolved more than a hundred indigenous
nations and their reservation areas.>> Concomitantly, legislation
was effected to “encourage” the relocation of large numbers of
Indians from the remaining reservations to selected urban cen-
ters, a strategy designed to preclude reemergence of social cohe-
sion within most land-based native communities.> Although it

. was suspended in the late 1970s, the federal relocation program
had by 1990 fostered a native diaspora which found more than
half of all indigenous people in the United States, a total of about
880,000 persons, scattered in the ghettos of cities.”
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The government’s termination and relocation policies coupled
quite well with other techniques employed by the Bureau of Indian
Affairs (BIA) to undermine the sociocultural integrity of native exist-
ence. Salient in this regard is a generations-long program of “blind
adoptions” in which Indian babies are placed for adoption with
non-Indian families, their birth records permanently sealed so they
can never know their true heritage.?(’ Similarly, beginning in the 1870s
and continuing into the present moment, the BIA administered a
system of boarding schools to which indigenous children were sent,
often for a decade or more without being allowed to return home,
speak their native languages, practice their religions, or otherwise
manifest their identity as Indians.®’ Encompassed under the benign-
sounding rubric of “assimilation,” both youth-oriented undertakings
are blatant violations of the provision of the 1948 Convention on
Punishment and Prevention of the Crime of Genocide which makes it
a crime against humanity for a government to engage in the system-
atic forced transfer of the children of a targeted racial or ethnic group
to another group.”® Contemporary violation of another provision of
the Genocide Convention may be found in a program of involuntary
sterilization imposed by the BIA’s “Indian Health Service” upon
approximately 40 percent of the female population of childbearing
age during the 1970s.*

Ironically, the final and complete dissolution of Native North
America seems to havebeen averted mainly by the fact that thebarren
areas left tonative habitation after allotment turned out to be inordi-
nately rich in mineral resources. Current estimates suggest that about
two-thirds of all US. domestic uranium deposits, a quarter of the
readily accessible low sulphur coal, a fifth of the oil and natural gas,
and substantial deposits of copper and other ores lie within reserva-
tion boundaries.*’ By 1920 government planners discovered certain
advantages in terms of their ability to control the pace and nature of
resource extraction, royalty rates, and the like, through exercise of
federal “trust responsibilities” over indigenous assets.’ The same
principle was seen to pertain to manipulations of water policy
throughout the arid West.*? Such options being unavailable to them
should Indian Country as a whole be converted into private property
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under state and local jurisdiction, it was found to be in the United
States’s interest that the majority of reservations be maintained as
discrete internal colonies.

To this end, the Indian Reorganization Act (IRA) was passed in
1934 to create a federally designed regulatory or “governing” body
on most reservations.*> Although the IRA boards were and are com-
posed exclusively of native people, their authority stems from—and
thus their primary allegiance adheres to—the United States rather
than their ostensible indigenous constituents; their major function
during the half-century of their existence has been to sow confusion,
providing an illusion of Indian consent to the systematic Euroameri-
can expropriation of native resources, and to vociferously denounce
any Indian audacious enough to object to the theft. They serve, in
effect, as American Indian Movement (AIM) leader Russell Means
once put it, as “Vichy Indians.”** For this reason, their position in
Indian Country has been steadily reinforced over the years by passage
of additional federal statutes, among them the Indian Civil Rights Act
of 1968 and the Indian “Self-Determination” and Educational Assis-
tance Act of 1975.%°

The results have embodied themselves in situations like the
“Hopi-Navajo Land Dispute” in northeastern Arizona, a scenario in
which the United States has been able to utilize the carefully tailored
pronouncements of two of its puppet governments to create the
impression of an inter-Indian conflict requiring federal interven-
tion/resolution as a means of “avoiding bloodshed.” Behind this
humanitarian facade resides a U.S. governmental/ corporate desire to
bring about the compulsory relocation of more than 10,000 traditional
Navajos from the contested area, a matter which will serve to clear the
way to the real objective: the strip mining of more than 20 billion tons
of high-quality coal.** Comparable circumstances have prevailed
with regard to the conversion of the Western Shoshone homeland
(Newe Segobia) in Nevada into a U.S. nuclear weapons testing area,
removal of more than 90 percent of the 1868 Fort Laramie Treaty
Territory from Lakota control, upcoming implementation of the
“Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act,” and elsewhere.*’
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Coherent efforts by native people to oppose such manipula-
tions—AIM'’s resistance during the mid-70s to IRA/government col-
laboration in a plan to transfer title over one-eighth of the Pine Ridge
Reservation to the National Forest Service, for example—have been
put down by application of outright counterinsurgency warfare tech-
niques (such as the use of death squads) similar in many respects to
the methods employed by U.S. agencies in Asia, Africa, and Latin
America.*® During the Pine Ridge “reign of terror” alone, the body count
came to about 70fatalities and nearly 350 serious physical assaults of AIM
members and supporters over a bare three-year period.*” This was
correlated to an outright military-style occupation of the reservation by
federal forces, a comprehensive government propaganda campaign di-
rected against the “insurgents,”and an extensive series of show trials,
such as those of the so-called “Wounded Knee Leadership” during
1974-75, and of the “RESMURS Defendants” (including AIM security
leader Leonard Peltier) in 1976-77.%°

For grassroots Indian people, the broader human costs of ongoing
U.S. domination are abundantly clear. The 1.6 million American Indi-
ans within theUnited States remain, nominally at least, the largest per
capita land owners in North America.”' Given the extent of resources
within their land base, Indians should by logical extension comprise
the wealthiest “ethnic group” in North American society. Instead,
according to the federal government’s own statistics, they are the
poorest, demonstrating far and away the lowest annual and lifetime
incomes, the highest rate of unemployment, lowest rate of pay when
employed, and lowest level of educational attainment of any North
American population aggregate. Correspondingly, they suffer, by
decisive margins, the greatest incidence of malnutrition and diabetes,
death by exposure, tuberculosis, infant mortality, plague disease, and
similar maladies.” These conditions, in combination with the general
disempowerment which spawns them, breed an unremitting sense of
rage, frustration, and despair, which is reflected by spiraling rates of
domestic and other forms of intragroup violence, alcoholism and
resulting deathby accident or fetal alcohol syndrome.53 Consequently,
the average life expectancy of a reservation-based Native American
male in 1980 was a mere 44.6 years, that of his female counterpart
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fewer than three years longer.54 Such a statistical portrait is obvi-
ously more indicative of a Third World environment than that
expected of people living within one of the world’s most advanced
industrial states.

Moving Forward

Plainly, all official polemics to the contrary notwithstanding, the
agony induced by 500 years of European/Euroamerican predation in
North America is anything but abated at this juncture. For the indige-
nous people of the continent it has become obvious that there are no
real alternatives but either to renew their commitment to struggle for
survival or to finally pass into the realm of extinction which has been
relentlessly projected for them since the predator’s arrival on their
shores. For everyone else, the situation is rapidly becoming—or in
some cases has already become—much the same. The time has arrived
when a choice must be made: non-Indians, in both the New World and
the Old, must decide whether they wish to be a willing part of the final
gnawing on the bones of their native victims, or whether they are at
last prepared to join hands with Native North America, ending the
wanton consumption of indigenous lands and lives which has
marked the nature of our relationship to date.

The sort of alliance at issue no longer represents, as it did in the
past, an exercise in altruism for non-Indians. Anti-imperialism, oppo-
sition to racism, colonialism, and genocide, while worthy enough
stances in and of themselves, are no longer the fundamental issues at
hand. Ultimately, the same system of predatory goals and values
which has so busily and mercilessly consumed the people of theland
these past five centuries has increasingly set about consuming the
land itself. Not only indigenous peoples, but also the land to which
they are irrevocably linked, is now dying. When the land itself dies, it
is a certainty that no humans can survive. The struggle which con-
fronts us—all of us—is thus a struggle to save our collective habitat,
to maintain it as a “survivable” environment, not only for ourselves,
but also for the generations to come. Self-evidently, this cannot be
approached either from the posture of the predator or from any other
position which allows the predator to continue with business as usual.
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Atlong last, we havearrived at the point where there is a tangible, even
overriding, confluence of interests between natives and non-natives.
The crux of the matter rests, not merely in resistance to the
predatory nature of the present Eurocentricstatus quo, but in conceiv-
ing viable sociocultural alternatives. Here, the bodies of indigenous
knowledge evidenced in the context of Native North America at the
point of the European invasion—large-scale societies which had per-
fected ways of organizing themselves into psychologically fulfilling
wholes, experiencing very high standards of material life, and still
maintaining environmental harmony—shine like a beacon in the
night. The information required to recreate this reality is still in place
in many indigenous cultures. The liberation of significant sectors of
Native America stands to allow this knowledge to once again be
actualized in the “real world,” not to recreate indigenous societies as
they once were, but to recreate themselves as they can be in the future.
Therein lies the model—the laboratory, if you will—from which a
genuinely liberatory and sustainable alternative can be cast for all
humanity. In a very real sense, then, the fate of Native North America
signifies the fate of the planet. It follows that it is incumbent upon
every conscious human—red, white, black, brown, or yellow, old or
young, male or female—to do whatever is within their power to
ensure that the next half-millennium heralds an antithesis to the last.
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THE EARTH IS OUR
MOTHER
Struggles for American Indian

Land and Liberation in the
Contemporary United States

The inhabitants of your country districts regard—wrongfully, itis true—
Indians.and forests as natural enemies which must be exterminated by
fire and sword and brandy, in order that they may seize their territory.
They regard themselves, and their posterity, as collateral heirs to all the
magnificent portion of land which God has created from Cumberland
and Ohio to the Pacific Ocean.

—Pierre Samuel Du Pont de Nemours,
letter to Thomas Jefferson, December 17, 1801

Of course our whole national history has been one of expansion...That
the barbarians recede or are conquered, with the attendant fact that peace
follows their retrogression or conquest, is due solely to the power of the
mighty civilized races which have not lost their fighting instinct, and
which by their expansion are gradually bringing peace into the red
wastes where the barbarian peoples of the world hold sway.

—Theodore Roosevelt, The Strenuous Life, 1901

ince theinception of the American republic, and before, control of

land and the resources within it has been the essential source of
conflict between the Euroamerican settler population and indigenous
nations. In effect, contentions over land usage and ownership have
served to define the totality of U.S./Indian relationships from the first
moment onward to the present day, shaping not only the historical
flow of interactions between invader and invaded, but also the nature
of ongoing domination of native people in areas such as governance
and jurisdiction, identification, recoghition, and education. The issue
of a proprietary interest of non-Indians in the American Indian land
base has also been and remains the fundament of popular (mis)con-
ceptions of who and what Indians were and are, whether they con-
tinue to exist, and even whether they ever “really” existed. All indica-
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tions are that these circumstances will continue to prevail over the
foreseeable future.

The situation prefigured from the period of planning which went
into Columbus’ first voyage, which—according to the “Great Discov-
erer’s” own journals—was never about discovery or scientific inquisi-
tiveness as such, but always about seizing wealth belonging to others for
his sponsors and himself.' But thisis not to imply that Columbus enjoyed
an entirely free hand. Contrary to contemporary orthodoxy, there were
even then laws concerning how such wealth, especially land, might be
legitimately acquired by mercenary adventurers like Columbus, and the
various European Crowns which fielded them. Primary among these
were the so-called “Doctrine of Discovery,” and pursuant “Rights of
Conquest.” Such elements of the “Laws of Nations” are much misunder-
stood in North America today, largely as a result of their systematic
misinterpretation over the past century by Eurocentric academics and
the U.S. Supreme Court. In its actual formulation, however, the Discov-
ery Doctrine never conveyed title to discoverers over any lands already
occupied at the time of the discovery?

[The doctrine’s] basic tenet—that the European nation which first “discov-

ered” and settled lands previously unknown to Europeans thereby gained

the right to acquire those lands from their inhabitants—became part of the

early body of international law dealing with aboriginal peoples...[Bly the

time Europeans settled in North America, it was well-established interna-
tional law that natives had property rights which could not be lawfully
denied by the discovering European nation...Theright of discovery served
mainly to regulate the relations between European nations. It did not limit

the powers or rights of Indian nations in their homelands; its major

limitation was to prohibit Indians from diplomatic dealings with all but

the “discovering” European nation... Moreover, the right of discovery gave

a European nation the right to extinguish Indian land title only when the

Indians consented to it by treaty.

Conquest rights were also quite restrictive, pertaining only to the
results of “Just Wars,” conflicts fought as the result of unprovoked
Indian aggression against their supposed discoverers.* Hence, al-
though the Laws of Nations were—as was certainly the case with
Columbus—plainly broken from time to time:

As a matter of both legal principle and practicality, European nations
dealt with Indian nations as they did other nations in the world. In
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general, Indian lands were acquired by agreement, through the use of

international diplomacy—specifically, through formal treaties of ces-

sion. Indian lands were seldom acquired by military conquest or fiat,

and thepractices of Spain, France, [England, Portugal] and the Nether-

lands did not differ in this regard.®

Therreality of colonial North America was thatindigenous nations
tended to be militarily superior to their would be colonizers, or at least
held the balance of military power between European states such as
England and France.” The matter was of such concern in London that,
in 1763, King George III—specifically to retain the allegiance of the
powerful Haudenosaunee (Iroquois) and Muskogee (Creek) Confed-
eracies vis-g-vis England’s French rivals—issued a proclamation pro-
hibiting acquisition of lands west of a line drawn along the Allegheny
and Appalachian mountain chains (see Map I).? This, probably more
than “taxation without representation,” was a major contributing
factor in sparking the extended decolonization struggle which re-
~ sulted in the independence of the original 13 U.S. states.” George
Washington, Thomas Jefferson, John Adams, James Madison, An-
thony Wayne, and numerous others among the “Founding Fathers”
all had considerable speculativeinvestments in westerly Indian lands
at the time the 1763 edict was handed down. The rank and file soldiers
who fought in their “revolutionary” army arguably did so, not for
abstractideals of “freedom” and “equality,” but because of promises
made by their leaders that their services would be rewarded with
grants of Indian land “in the West” after victory had been secured."’

U.S. Theory and Practice

As Vine Deloria, Jr., has observed, the United States emerged from
its successful war against the British Crown (perhaps the most serious
offense imaginable under prevailing law) as a pariah, an outlaw state
which was considered utterly illegitimate by almost all other coun-
tries and therefore shunned by them, both politically and economi-
cally. Survival of the new nation was entirely dependent upon the
ability of its initial government to change such perceptions and
thereby end its isolation. Desperate to establish itself as a respectable
entity, and lacking other alternatives with which to demonstrate its
sense of international legality, the government was virtually com-
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pelled to present the appearance of adhering to the strictest of proto-
cols in its dealings with Indians.™ Indeed, what the Continental
Congress needed more than anything at the time was for indigenous
nations—many of whose formal national integrity and legitimacy had
already been recognized by the European powers through treaties—to
convey a comparable recognition upon the fledgling United States by
entering into treaty relationships with it.

Consequently, both the Articles of Confederation and the Consti-
tution of the United States contain clauses reserving interactions with
Indian peoples, as recognized “foreign powers,” to the federal gov-
emmment. The United States also officially renounced, in the 1789
Northwest Ordinance and elsewhere, any aggressive intent vis-a-vis
these nations, especially with regard to their land base. As it was put
in the Ordinance:

The utmost good faith shall always be observed towards the Indian; their

land property shall never be taken from them without their consent; and

in their property, rights, and liberty, they shall never be invaded or

disturbed...but laws founded in justice and humanity shall from time

to time be made, for wrongs being done to them, and for preserving

peace and friendship with them.

Such lofty-sounding (and legally correct) rhetoric was, of course,
belied by the actualities of U.S. performance. As the first Chief Justice
of the Supreme Court, John Marshall, pointed out rather early on,
almost every white-held land title in “our whole country”—New
England, New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, and parts
of the Carolinas—would have been clouded had the standards of
international law truly been applied."? More, title to the pre-revolu-
tionary acquisitions made west of the 1763 demarcation line by the
new North American politico-economic elite would have been ne-
gated, along with all the thousands of grants of land in that region
bestowed by Congress upon those who’d fought against the Crown.
Not coincidental to Marshall’s concern in the matter was the fact that
he and his father had each received 10,000-acre grants of such land in
what is now West Vlrginia.13 Obviously, a country which had been
founded largely on the basis of a lust to possess native lands was not
about to relinquish its pretensions to “ownership” of them, no matter
what the law said. Moreover, the balance of military power between
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Indians and whites east of the Mississippi River began to change
rapidly in favor of the latter during the post-revolutionary period. It
was becoming technically possible for the United States to simply
seize native lands at will."*

Still, the requirements of international diplomacy dictated that
things seem otherwise. Marshall’s singular task, then, was to forge a
juridical doctrine which preserved the image of enlightened U.S.
furtherance of accepted international legality in its relations with
Indians, on the one hand, while accommodating a pattern of illegally
aggressive federal expropriations of Indian land on the other. This he
did in opinions rendered in a series of cases, beginning with Fletcher
v. Peck (1810) and extending through Johnson v. Mclntosh (1822) to
Cherokee Nation v. Georgia (1831) and Worcester v. Georgia (1832).° By
the end of this sequence of decisions, Marshall had completely in-
verted international law, custom, and convention, finding that the
Doctrine of Discovery imparted “preeminent title” over North Amer-
ica to Europeans, the mantle of which implicitly passed to the United
States when England quit-claimed its 13 dissident Atlantic colonies,
mainly because Indian-held lands were effectively “vacant” when
Europeans “found” them. The Chief Justice was forced to coin a whole
new politico-legal expression—that of “domestic, dependent na-
tions”—to encompass the unprecedented status, neither fish nor fowl,
he needed native people to occupy.'®

Within this convoluted and falsely premised reasoning, Indian
nations were entitled to keep their land, but only so long as the
intrinsically superior U.S. sovereignty agreed to their doing so. Given
this, Indians could legally be construed as committing “aggression”
whenever they resisted invasion by the United States, a matter which
rendered literally any military action the United States chose to pur-
sue against native people, no matter how unprovoked, a “Just War.”
With all this worked out, Marshall argued that the United States
should nonetheless follow accepted European practice wherever pos-
sible, obtaining by formal treaty negotiations involving purchase and
other considerations native “consent” to land cessions. This, he felt,
would complete the veneer of “reason and moderation” attending
international perceptions of federal expropriations of Indian land.
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Ultimately, Marshall’s position reduces to the notion that indigenous
nations inherently possess sufficient sovereign rights “for purposes of
treating” to hand over legal title to their territories, but never enough
to retain any tract of land the United States wants as its own.

The carefully balanced logical contradictions imbedded in the
“Marshall Doctrine,” which allowed the United States to pursue one
course of action with regard to Indian land while purporting to do the
exact opposite, formed the theoretical basis for the entire statutory
body of what is now called “Indian Law” in this country. Through a
lengthy series of subsequent “interpretive” decisions—especially Ex
Parte Crow Dog (1883), U.S. v. Kagama (1886), Lonewolf v. Hitchcock
(1903), Tee-Hit-Ton v. United States (1955), and Dann v. United States
(1985)—the Supreme Court extended Marshall’s unfounded concept
of native nations occupying a status of subordinate or “limited”
sovereignty to include the idea that the United States enjoyed an
inherent “plenary” (full and absolute) power over them in such crucial
domains as governance and jurisdiction.”” An aspect of this self-as-
signed power, articulated most clearly in Lonewolf, is that Congress
has the prerogative to unilaterally abrogate aspects of U.S. treaties
with Indian nations which it finds inconvenient or burdensome while
continuing to hold the Indians to those provisions of the treaties by
which they agreed to cede land.™

In these decisions, the high court also extended Marshall’s base-
less notion that self-sufficient ihdigenous nations were somehow
“dependent” upon the United States to include the idea that the
federal government thereby inherited a “trust responsibility” to Indi-
ans—actually control over their remaining property—in the “manage-
ment of their affairs.” While the “Trust Doctrine” has been used as a
device to offset and soften the impressions created by exercise of the
“Rights of Plenary Power” over indigenous people, it has in reality
served as an instrument through which that power is administered:

[Ulnder United States law, the government has no legal trusteeship

duties toward Indians except those it imposes upon itself. Stripped of its

legal trappings, the Indian trust relationship becomes simply an asser-

tion of unrestrained political power over Indians, power that may be

exercised without Indian consent and without substantial legal restraint.
An early twentieth century critic of the European colonial “trusteeship
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for civilization” [in Africa and Asial, which is closely related to the

American model, summed it up as “an impudent act of self assertion.”"

While the U.S. judiciary was thus busily collaborating with the
federal legislature in creating a body of “settled law” to serve as “the
perfect instrument of empire,” the federal government was also con-
sistently engaged in creating the physical fact of that empire, all the
while declaring itself in the most vociferous possible terms to be
devoutly anti-imperial. ®® This was done by the conducting of at least
40 “Indian Wars”?' —each of which was packaged as a campaign to
defend U.S. citizens against the “depredations” of “savage natives”
resisting the invasion of their homelands or comparable abuse—and
negotiation of several hundred treaties and agreements with native
nations.”” Together with an assortment of unilateral executive and
congressional actions, these wars and negotiated arrangements re-
sulted by the early 20th century in Native America being constricted
to about 2.5 percent of its original two-billion-acre land base within
the 48 contiguous states of the union (see Map 1.2 And federal control
over even this residue was virtually complete. Under such circum-
stances it is not difficult to see why Indians were viewed, often
hopefully, as a “vanishing race” during this period.**

The Indian Claims Commission

At the turn of the century, Indian efforts to maintain what little
real property was left to them, or to receive compensation for lands
which were still being arbitrarily seized by the government, were
ridiculed and largely dismissed out of hand.” Although native people
were supposedly entitled to due process through U.S. law after a
District Court in Nebraska recognized them as “persons” during the
1879 Standing Bear v. Crook case, the import was largely meaningless.?®
From 1881 to 1918, only 31 claims involving theillegal taking of native
land were accepted by federal courts; 14 resulted in recoveries of land
adding up to fewer than 10,000 acres.”’ In 1928, a government com-
mission termed even this degree of judicial recourse to be “burden-
some and unfair” to non-Indians.?® Meanwhile, some 100 million
acres—about two-thirds of all land native people had left at the
conclusion of the period of their military resistance—were stripped
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away under provision of the 1887 General Allotment Act.”’ Power and
possession, the rule of thugs, as it were, constituted all of the law in
North America where Indian land rights were concerned.

Throughout most of the first half of the 20th century, the United
States devoted itself to perfecting the mechanisms through which it
would administer the tiny residual fragments of Indian Country for its
own purposes. Nothing beyond the most pro forma gesture was made to
address the fact that a considerable proportion of the land which was
said to have passed from native ownership during the previous 150 years
had been transferred in direct contravention of every known form of
legality, including even the patently self-serving theories of U.S./Indian
property relations developed by the United States itself. In 1924, federal
courts accepted a mere five native land claims cases; in 1925, there were
seven;in 1926, therewere ten; in 1927, the total was fifteen. Most of these
were dismissed in the early stages; none resulted in land recovery or
payment of significant compensation.*® Things might have remained
locked firmly in this mode, were it not for geopolitical considerations
emerging in the context of World War II.

As part of an overall strategy to advance U.S. interests in its
planned postwar role as a hegemonic global power, the United States
set out to project an enhanced image of itself as a “white knight” to
the world’s oppressed peoples. At least temporarily, until its own
preferred style of neocolonialism could become entrenched as the
dominant force in international affairs, the United States needed to be
widely perceived as a beneficent and staunchly democratic alterna-
tive, not only to the “totalitarian impulse” represented by fascism and
communism, but also to the classic colonial orders maintained in
Third World locales by France, Great Britain, and other American
allies. A part of this ploy resided within President Franklin D.
Roosevelt’s wartime opposition to reconstitution of the old European
empires of the French and Dutch in Africa and Asia after the conclu-
sion of hostilities (this trend was shortly reversed by Roosevelt’s
successor, Harry Truman, as part of his Cold War policy of prioritizing
“containment of communism“above all else).*!

The centerpiece of the entire international public relations gambit,
however, rested in the U.S. assumption of the decisive role in formu-
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lating and implementing the Nuremberg Doctrine under which the
survivingleadership of nazi Germany was accused, tried, convicted,
and in most cases executed or imprisoned, for having engaged in
Crimes Against the Peace, Aggressive War, and Crimes Against Hu-
manity.’? The primary messages intended for popular consumption
in the United States performance against the nazi defendants were
that behavior such as that displayed by the nazis was considered
criminal and intolerable by all civilized peoples, and that the United
States first and foremost would stand as guarantor that all govern-
ments would be held accountable to the standards of comportment
established at Nuremberg. The nazi leaders were to stand forever as
the symbol of the principle that international aggression would be
punished, notrewarded (this is, of course, precisely the same line trot-
ted out by George Bush in explaining the rather interesting U.S. be-
havior against Iraq during 1990-91).%®

A primary flaw in this otherwise noble-seeming U.S. posture on
international human rights law was (and is) that no less prominent a
nazi than Adolf Hitler had long since made it quite clear he had based
many of his more repugnant policies directly on earlier U.S. conduct
against Native America. Hitler’s conception of lebensraumpolitik the
idea that Germans were innately entitled by virtue of their racial and
cultural superiority to land belonging to others, and that they were
thus morally free to take it by aggressive military action obviously
had much in common with the 19th-century American sense of Mani-
fest Destiny.** Further, his notion of how to attain this living room the
clearing of inferior racialstockfromitsland baseinorderthatvacated
areas might be settled by ethnic Germans followed closely from such
U.S. precedents as the 1830 Indian Removal Act and subsequent mili-
tary campaigns against the indigenous nations of the Great Plains,
Great Basin, and Sonora Desert regions. Even the nazi tactic of con-
centrating undesirables prior to their forced relocation or reduction
was drawn from actual U.S. examples, including internment of the
Cherokees and other Civilized Tribes during the 1830s, before the
devastatingly lethal Trail of Tears was forced upon them, and the
comparable experience of the Navajo people at the Bosque Redondo
during the period 1864-68.%°
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This potential embarrassment to U.S. pretensions abroad precipi-
tated something of a sea change in the country’s approach to indige-
nous issues. Seeking to distance its own history from comparison to
that of the Germans it was even then prosecuting and thus to stand ac-
cused of conducting an exercise in mere victor’s justice at Nuremberg
the federal government was for the first time prepared to admit
openly that unfortunate and sometimes tragic errors had been made
in the process of its continental expansion. Unlike nazi Germany, fed-
eral spokespersons intoned, the United States had never held aggres-
sive territorial intentions, against Indians or anyone else; the Indian
Wars notwithstanding, the United States had always bought, rather
than conquered, the land it occupied. As proof of this thesis, it was an-
nounced that a formal mechanism was being created for purposes of
resolving any lingering issues among Native Americans concerning
the legitimacy of U S. title to its territory.> The book, which had been
closed on Indian land claims for a full generation and more, was sud-
denly opened again.

What was ultimately established, on August 13, 1946, was a
quasi-judicial entity, dubbed the Indian Claims Commission, of the
sort long desired by those who had followed the wisdom of Chief Jus-
tice Marshall’s enjoinder that appearances demanded that a veneer of
legality, even one applied post hoc, be affixed to all U.S. expropria-
tions of nativeterritory. As early as 1910, Indian Commissioner Fran-
cis E. Leupp had suggested a special court, or the addition of a branch
to the present United States Court of Claims, to be charged with the
adjudication of Indian claims exclusively.”” He was followed by As-
sistant Commissioner Edgar B. Merritt, who recommended in 1913
that a special commission be empaneled to investigate the extent to
which native land had been taken without legal justification/ratio-
nalization, and what would be necessary to attain retroactive legiti-
mation in such instances 3¢ In 1928, the Merriam Commission had rec-
ommended a similar expedient.* Congress had persistently balked at
the ideas of acknowledging that the United States had effectively sto-
len much of its territoriality, and/or of belatedly making even token
payments for what had been taken.*’
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The new commission was charged with investigating all native
claims contesting U.S. title, to define precisely the territory involved
in each case, and to determine whether legal procedures not devolv-
ing on outright conquest had ever been applied to its transfer out of
Indian hands. In instances where it was concluded that there was no
existing legal basis for non-Indian ownership of contested lands, or
where the price originally paid for such lands was deemed “uncon-
scionably low,” the commission was responsible for fixing what might
have been a “fair market price” (according to the buyers, not the
sellers) at the time the land was taken. Corresponding sums were then
paid by Congress—$29.1 million (about 47 cents per acre) for the
entire state of California in the 1964 “Pit River Land Claim Settle-
ment,” for example—as “just compensation” to indigenous nations
for their loss of property.*! At the point such payment was accepted
by an Indian people, the title at issue in its land claim was said to be
“quieted” and “justice served.”

In reality, as Jack Forbes and others have pointed out, non-Indian
titles were being created where none had existed before.* As even the
Chair of the Senate Subcommittee on Indian Affairs, Henry M. Jack-
son, put it at the time: “[ Any other course of action would] perpetuate
clouds upon white men’s title that interfere with development of our
public domain.”* The stated presumptions underlying the commis-
sion’s mandate were simply a continuation of the Marshall Doctrine
that preeminent rights over Indian Country were inherently vested in
the United States, and that native nations had in any event always
wished to sell their land to the federal government. The unstated
premise, of course, was that Indians had no choice in the matter
anyway. Even if they had desired to convert their property into cash
by the late 1940s, the commission was not authorized other thanin a
very narrow range of circumstances to award payment interest in
retroactive land “sales,” although the “bills” owed by the government
were in many instances more than a century overdue.* In 0 event
was the commission authorized to return land to native claimants, no
matter how it had been taken from them.** Hence, during the 1950s,
the commission served as a perfect “liberal” counterpart to the more
extremist (“conservative”) federal termination policies.
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Nonetheless, the existence of the Claims Commission afforded na-
tivepeoplea forumin which they might clarify the factualnature of their
grievances for the first time. Consequently, by the end of 1951, more than
600 cases (only 26 of which were adjudicated at that point) had been
docketed.** Things continued to move grudgingly, a matter which
caused the process to be extended.” During the first 15 years of its
operations, the commission completed only 80 cases, dismissing 30
outright, and finding “validity” to only 15. Is& awards of monetary
compensation totalled only $17.1 million by 1959. The “civil rights era”
of the early '60s saw something of a surge in performance, with 250 cases
completed (another $111 million in awards) and 347 pending (of which
42 have still seen no action at all).*® During the early '70s, Indians began
increasingly to appeal the commission’s rulings to federal courts; of 206
such appeals filed by 1975, the commission was affirmed in 96, partially
affirmed on 31, and overruled on 79.* At the end of i#% life on September
30, 1978, the Claims Commission still had 68 docketed cases (plus an
indeterminate number of emerging appeals) still pending. These were
turned over to the U.S. Court of Claims.”

Cracks in the Empire

While it is clear that the Indian Claims Commission functioned
mainly as a subterfuge designed and intended to cast an undeserved
mantle of humanitarianism and legitimacy over U.S. internal territo-
rial integrity,”' it inadvertently served indigenous interests as well. As
a result of its lengthy exploration of the factual record, necessary toits
mission of nailing down federal land title in every area of the country,
the commission revealed the full extent to which the United States had
occupied areas to which it had no lawful title (even under its own rules
of the game). Indeed, one cumulative result of the commission’s
endeavor was to catalogue the fact that, according to the last known
U.S.judicial rulings and legislative actions in each respective instance,
legal title to more than 35 percent of the continental United States
remained in the hands of native nations (see Map I).

The fact is that about half the land area of the country was purchased by

treaty or agreement at an average price of less than a dollar an acre;

another third of a [billion] acres, mainly in the West, were confiscated
without compensation; another two-thirds of a [billion] acres were
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claimed by the United States without pretense or a unuateral action

extinguishing native title.”

Indians were quick to seize upon the implications of this, arguing
that the commission process had no bearing at all on land title other
than to resolve questions concerning who held title to precisely which
parts of the United States, and providing a means by which the
government could provide native owners with “back rent” on lands
which had been “borrowed” by the United States for generations. The
“underbrush of confusion as to who owns what” having been finally
cleared away, it is appropriate in this view for Indians inside the
United States to begin reasserting their national property rights over
the approximately 750 million acres of North America which remain
theirs by accepted legal definition.”® Such knowledge has fueled a
resurgent indigenous national “militancy” which, beginning in the
early 1970s with the emergence of the American Indian Movement
(AIM), has led to a series of spectacular extralegal confrontations over
land and liberty (several of them covered elsewhere in this volume)
with federal authorities. These, in turn, have commanded the very
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sort of international attention to U.S. territorial claims, and Indian
policy more generally, that the Claims Commission was supposed to
avert.

Beginning in the late ‘70s, the Native North Americans—spear-
headed by AIM'’s “diplomatic arm,” the International Indian Treaty
Council—were able to escalate this trend by establishing a place for
themselves within the United Nations structure, and entering annual
reports concerning the conduct of both the U.S. and Canadian govern-
ments vis-3-vis native peoples and their lands. In this changing con-
text, the federal government has once again begun to engage in
“damage control,” allowing a calculated range of concessions in order
to preserve what it seeks to project as its image abroad. Notably, in
1974, the U.S.Supreme Court announced for the first time that Indians
had a right to pursue actual recovery of stolen land through the federal
judiciary.” Although resort to the courts of the conqueror is hardly an
ideal solution to the issues raised by Indian nations, it does place
another tool in the inventory of means by which they can now pursue
their rights. And it has resulted in measurable gains for some of them
over the past 15 years.

Probably the best example of this is that of the suit, first entered
in 1972 under auspices of a sponsoring organization, of the basically
landless Passamaquoddy and Penobscot Nations in present-day
Maine regarding some 12 million acres acknowledged as being theirs
in a series of letters dating from the 1790s and signed by George
Washington.” Since it was demonstrated that no ratified treaty existed
by which the Indians had ceded theirland, U.S. District Judge Edward
T. Gignoux ordered a settlement acceptable to the majority of the
native people involved.”® This resulted in the recovery, in 1980, of
some 300,000 acres of land, and payment of $27 million in compensa-
tory damages by the federal government.”” In a similarly argued case,
the Narragansetts of Rhode Island—who were not previously recog-
nized by the government as still existing—were in 1978 able not only
to win recognition of themselves, but also to recover 1,800 acres of the
remaining 3,200 stripped from them in 1880 by unilateral action of the
state.”® In another example, the Mashantucket Pequot people of Con-
necticut filed suit in 1976 to recover 800 of the 2,000 acres comprising their
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original reservation, created by the Connecticut colony in 1686 but
reduced to 184 acres by the state of Connecticut after the American
Revolution. Pursuant to a settlement agreement arrived at with the
state in 1982, Congress passed an act providing funds to acquire the
desired acreage. It was promptly vetoed by Ronald Reagan on April 11,
1983.%° Only after the Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs con-
vened hearings on the matter did Reagan agree to a slight revision of the
statute, finally affixing his signature on October 18 of the same year.”"

Other nations, however, have not fared as well, even in an atmos-
phere in which the United States has sometimes proven more than
usually willing to compromise as a means to contain questions of
native land rights. The Wampanoags of the Mashpee area of Cape
Cod, for instance, filed suit in 1974 in an attempt to recover about
17.000—Ilater reduced to 11,000—of the 23,000 acres which were his-
torically acknowledged as being theire (the Commonwealth of Mas-
sachusetts having unilaterally declared their reservation a “towii-
ship” in 1870). At trial, the all-white jury, all of whom had property
interests in the Mashpee area, were asked to determine whether the
Wampanoag plaintiffs were “a tribe within the meaning of the law.”
After deliberating for 21 hours, the jury returned with the absurd
finding that they were not such an entity in 1790, 1869, and 1870 (the
years which were key to the Indians’ case), but that they were in 1834
and 1832 (years which it was important for them to have been “a tribe”
for purposes of alienating land to the government). Their claim was
then denied by District Judge Walter J. Skinner.”” Anappeal to the U.S.
First Circuit Court failed, and the U.S. Supreme Court refused to
review the case.®®

Still pending land claims cases include those of the presently
landless Schaghticoke and Mohegan peoples of Connecticut, each of
which is attempting to recover approximately 1,000 acres lost to
unilateral state actions during the 19th century.** Another case is that
of the Catawbas of South Carolina, who filed suit in 1980 for recovery
of their original 144,000-acre reservation, created by George Il in 1760
and 1763, and acknowledged by the fledgling United States before
being dissolved in a fraudulent treaty negotiated by the state and
ratified by the Senate.*® In 1981, the state, arguing that federal termi-
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nation of the Catawbas in 1959 invalidated their right to sue, asked
for and received a dismissal of the case. On appeal in 1983, however,
the Fourth Circuit reinstated the case.%

Given such mixed results, it is plain that justice in native land
claims cases in the United States cannot really be expected to accrue
through thefederal court system. Eventual resolution must inevitably
reside within bodies such as the United Nations Working Group on
Indigenous Populations (a subpart of the Commission on Human
Rights), which is even now engaged in drafting a new element of
international law entitled “The Universal Declaration of the Rights of
Indigenous Peoples,” and the World Court, which must interpret and
render opinions based in such law.” From there, it can be expected
that international scrutiny and pressure, as well as changed senti-
ments in a growing portion of the U.S. body politic, will serve to force
the United States to edge ever closer to a fair and equitable handling
of indigenous rights.

In the meantime, nearly every litigation of land claims within the
federal system adds to the weight of evidence supporting the interna-
tional case presented by native people: when they win, it proves they
were entitled to the land all along; when they lose, it proves that the
“due process rights” the United States insists protect their interests
are, at best, inconsistently available to them. Either way, these legalis-
tic endeavors force cracks in the ideological matrix of the American
empire. In combination withextralegal efforts such as refusal to leave
their homes by Indian traditionals and physical occupations of con-
tested areas by groups such as AIM, as well as the increasing extent
of international work by indigenous delegations, they comprise the
core of the ongoing land struggles which represent the future survival
of Native North America.

Current Land Strug’gles

Aside from those already mentioned, there is no shortage of
ongoing struggles for their land rights undertaken by native people
within the United States today, any or all of which are admirably
suited to illustrate various aspects of the phenomenon. In Florida, the
descendants of agroup of Seminole (Miccosukee) “recalcitrants,” who
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had managed to avoid forced relocation to Oklahoma during the
1830s by taking refuge in the Everglades, simply squatted in their
homeland for more than 130 years, never agreeing to a peace accord
withthe United States untilthemid-’60s. Because of their unswerving
resistance to moving, the state finally agreed to create a small reserva-
tion for these people in 1982, and the Congress concurred by statute in
1982.%8 In Minnesota, there is the struggle of Anishinabe Akeeng (Peo-
ple’s Land Organization) to reassert indigenous control over the re-
maining 20 percent 250,000 acres of the White Earth Chippewa reser-
vation, and to recover some portion of the additional million acres
reserved as part of White Earth under an 1854 treaty with the United
States but declared surplus through the General Allotment Act in
1906.%

In southern Arizona, the Tohono O’Odam (Papago) Nation con-
iinues its cfforts to secure the entirety of its sacred Baboquivari Moun-
tain Range, acknowledged by the government to be part of the
Papago reservation in 1916, but opened to non-Indian mineral devel-
opment interests especially those concerned with mining copper both
before and since.”” In the northern portion of the same state, there are
ongoing struggles by both the Hopis and Diné (Navajos) to block the
U.S. Forest Service’s scheme to convert San Francisco Peaks, a site sa-
cred to both peoples, into a ski resort complex.”! And, of course, there
is the grueling and government-instigated land struggle occurring
between the tribal councils of these same two peoples within what
was called the Navajo-HopiJoint Use Area. The matteris bound up in
energy developmentissues primarily the strip mining of an estimated
24 billion tons of readily accessible low sulphur coal and entails a pro-
gram to forcibly relocate as many as 13,500 traditional Diné whohave
refused to leave their land.”?

In Massachusetts, the Gay Head Wampanoags, proceeding
slowly and carefully so as to avoid the pitfalls encountered by their
cousins at Mashpee, are preparing litigation to regain control over an-
cestral lands.” In Alaska, struggles to preserve some measure of sov-
ereignindigenous (Indian, Aleut, and Inuit) control oversome
40 million oil-rich acres corporatized by the 1971 Alaska Na-
tive Claims Settlement Act are sharpening steadily.”* In
Hawai'i, the native owners of the islands, having rejected a prof-
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fered cash settlement for relinquishment of their historicland rights
in 1974,” are pursuing a legislative remedy which would both pay
monetary compensation for loss of use of their territory while restor-
ing a portion of it.”® The fact of the matter is that, wherever there are
indigenous people within the United States, land claims struggles are
occurring with increasing frequency and intensity.

In order to convey a sense of the texture of these ongoing battles
over land, it will be useful to consider a small selection of examples in
a depth not possible, given constraints upon essay length, in every
case which has been cited. For this purpose, the claims of the Iroquois
Confederacy in upstate New York, the Lakota Black Hills Land Claim
in South Dakota, and the Western Shoshone claims, primarily in Ne-
vada, should serve quite well. Although they are hardly unique in
many of their characteristics and are thus able to represent the gener-
alities of a broad range of comparable struggles they are among the
most sustained and intensively pursued of such efforts.

The Iroquois Land Claims

One of the longest fought and more complicated land claims
struggles in the United States is that of the Haudenosaunee, or Iro-
quois Six Nations Confederacy. While the 1782 Treaty of Paris ended
hostilities between the British Crown and its secessionist subjects in
the 13 colonies, it had no direct effect upon the state of war existing be-
tween those subjects and indigenous nations allied with the Crown.
Similarly, while by the treaty George III quitclaimed his property
rights under the Doctrine of Discovery to the affected portion of
North America, it was the opinion of Thomas Jefferson and others
thatthis had donenothing to vest title to these lands in thenewly born
United States.”” On both counts, the Continental Congress found it
imperative to enter into treaty arrangements with Indian nations as
expeditiously as possible. A very high priority in this regard was ac-
corded the Iroquois Confederacy, four members of which the Mo-
hawks, Senecas, Cayugas, and Onondagas had fought with the Brit-
ish (the remaining two, the Oneidas and Tuscaroras, having
remained largely neutral but occasionally providing assistance to the
colonists).78
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During October 1784, the government conducted extensive negotia-
tions with representatives of the Six Nations at Fort Stanwix, the result
being a treaty by which the Indians relinquished claim to alllands lying
west of a north-south line running from Niagara to the border of Penn-
sylvania—territory within the Ohio Valley (this was a provision rein-
forced in the 1789 Treaty of Fort Harmar)—and the land on which Fort
Oswego had been built. In exchange, the United States guaranteed three
of the four hostile nations the bulk of their traditional homelands. The
Oneida and Tuscarora were also “secured in the possession of the lands
on which they are now settled.” Altogether, the area in question came to
about six million acres, or half of the present state of New York (see Map
II). The agreement, while meeting most of the Indians’ needs, was quite
useful to the U.S. central government:

First...in order to sell [land in the Ohio River area] and settle it, the

Continental Congress needed to extinguish Indian title, including any

claims by the Iroquois [nations] of New York. Second, the commissioners

wanted to punish the...Senecas. Thus they forced the Senecas to surren-

der most of their land in New York [and Pennsylvania] to the United

States...Third, the United States...wanted to secure peace by confirming

to the [nations] their remaining lands. Fourth, the United States was

anxious to protect its frontier from the British in Canada by securing land

for forts and roads along lakes Erie and Ontario.”

New York state, needless to say, was rather less enthusiastic about
the terms of the treaty, and had already attempted, unsuccessfully, to
obtain additional land cessions from the Iroquois during meetings
conducted prior to arrival of the federal delegation at Fort Stanwix.*’
Further, such efforts by the state were barred by Article IX of the
Articles of Confederation—and subsequently by Article I (Section 10)
and the commerce clause of the Constitution—all of which combined
to render treaty-making and outright purchases of Indian land by
states illegal. New York then resorted to subterfuge, securing a series
of 26 “leases,” many of them for 999 years, on almost all native
territory within its boundaries. The Haudenosaunee initially agreed
to these transactions because of Governor Robert N. Clinton’s duplici-
tous assurances that leases represented a way for them to keep their
land, and for his government to “extend its protection over their
property against the dealings of unscrupulous white land specula-
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tors” in the private sector. The first such arrangement was forged with
the Oneidas. In a meeting begun at Fort Schuyler on August 28, 1788:

The New York commissioners...led them to believe that they had [al-
ready] lost all their land to the New York Genesee Company, and that
the commissioners were there to restore title. The Oneidas expressed
confusion over this since they had never signed any instruments to that
effect, but Governor Clinton just waved that aside...Thus the Oneidas
agreed to the lease arrangement with the state because it seemed theonly
way they could get back their land. The state received some five million
acres for $2,000 in cash, $2,000 in clothing, $1,000 in provisions, and $600
in annual rental. So complete was the deception that Good Peter [an
Oneida leader] thanked the governor for his efforts.®

Leasing of the Tuscaroras’ land occurred the same day, by a
parallel instrument.®? On September 12, the Onondagas leased almost
all their land to New York under virtually identical conditions.® The
Cayugas followed suit on February 25, 1789, in exchange for payment
of $500 in silver, plus an additional $1,625 the next June and a $500
annuity.* New York’s flagrant circumvention of constitutional restric-
tions on non-federal acquisitions of Indian land was a major factor in
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congressional tightening of its mechanisms of control over such ac-
tivities in the first of the so-called Indian Trade and Intercourse Acts
of 1790 (1 Stat. 37).3° Clinton, however, simply shifted to a different
ruse, back-dating his maneuvers by announcing in 1791 that the state
would honor a 999-year lease negotiated in 1787 by a private specu-
lator named John Livingston. The lease covered 800,000 acres of
mainly Mohawk land, but had been declared null and void by the state
legislature in 1788.%¢
Concerned that such dealings by New York might push the
Iroquois, the largely landless Senecas in particular, into joining the
Shawnee leader Tecumseh'’s alliance resisting further U.S. expansion
into the Ohio Valley, the federal government sent a new commission
to meet with the Haudenosaunee leadership at the principal Seneca
town of Canandaigua in 1794. In exchange for the Indians’ pledge not
to bear arms against the United States, their ownership of the lands
guaranteed them at Fort Stanwix was reaffirmed, the state’s leases
notwithstanding, and the bulk of the Seneca territory in Pennsylvania
was restored.” New York nonetheless began parceling out sections of
theleased landsin subleases to the very “unscrupulous whites” ithad
pledged to guard against. On September 15, 1797, the Holland Land
Company—in which many members of the state government had
invested—assumed control over all but 10 tracts of land, totalling 397
square miles, of the Fort Stanwix Treaty area. The leasing instrument
purportedly “extinguished” native title to the land.®® (See Map III)
Given the diminishing military importance of the Six Nations
after Tecumseh’s 1794 defeat at Fallen Timbers, Washington did noth-
ing to correct the situation despite Iroquois protests. New York was
thus emboldened to proceed with its appropriations of nativeland. In
1810, the Holland Company sold some 200,000 acres of its holdings in
Seneca and Tuscarora land to its accountant, David A. Ogden, at a
price of 50 cents per acre. Ogden then issued shares against develop-
ment of this land, many of them to Albany politicians. Thus capital-
ized, he was able to push through a deal in 1826 to buy a further 81,000
acres of previously unleased reservation land at 53 cents per acre. A
federal investigation into the affair was quashed by Secretary of War
Peter B. Porter, himself a major stockholder in the Ogden Land Com-
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pany, in 1828.%° Under such circumstances, most of the Oneidas re-
quested in 1831 that what was left of their New York holdings, which
they were sure they would lose anyway, be exchanged for a 500,000-
acre parcel purchased from the Menominees in Wisconsin. President
Andrew Jackson, at the time pursuing his policy of general Indian
removal to points west of the Mississippi, readily agreed.9°

In the climate of removal, Washington officials actively colluded
with the speculators. On January 15, 1838, federal commissioners
oversaw the signing of the Treaty of Buffalo Creek, wherein 102,069
acres of Seneca land were “ceded” directly to the Ogden Company.
The $202,000 purchase price was divided almost evenly between the
government (to be held “in trust” for the Indians) and individual
non-Indians seeking to buy and “improve” plots in the former reser-
vation area. At the same time, what was left of the Cayuga, Oneida,
Onondaga, and Tuscarora holdings were wiped out, at an aggregate
cost of $400,000 to Ogden.”’ The Iroquois were told they should
relocate en masse to Missouri. Although the Six Nations never con-
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sented to the treaty, and it was never properly ratified by the Senate,
President Martin Van Buren proclaimed it to be the law of the land on
April 4,1840.”

By 1841, Iroquois complaints about the Buffalo Creek Treaty were
being joined by increasing numbers of non-Indians outraged not so
much by the loss of land to Indians as by the obvious corruption
involved in its terms.” Consequently, in 1842, a second Treaty of
Buffalo Creek was negotiated. Under its provisions, the United States
again acknowledged the Haudenosaunee right to reside in New York
and restored small areas as the Allegheny and Cattaraugus Seneca
reservations. The Onondaga reservation was also reconstituted on a
7,300-acre land base, and the Tuscarora reservation on about 2,500
acres. The Ogden Company was allowed to keep the rest.”* The
Tonawanda Seneca Band immediately filed a formal protest of these
terms with the Senate, and, in 1857, received a $256,000 “award” of
their own money with which to “buy back” a minor portion of their
former territory from Ogden.*®

Beginning in 1855, the Erie Railway Company entered the picture,
setting out to lease significant portions of both Cattaraugus and
Allegheny. Sensing the depth of then-prevailing federal support for
railroad construction, the state judiciary seized theopportunity to cast
an aura of legitimacy upon all of New York’s other illicit leasing
arrangements:

Though the leases wereratified by New York, the state’s supreme court

in 1875 invalidated them. In recognition of this action, the New York

legislature passed a concurrent resolution [a century after the fact] that

state action was not sufficient to ratify leases because “Congress alone
possesses the power to deal with and for the Indians.” Instead of setting
aside the leases, Congress in 1875 passed an act authorizing [them]. The
state now made leases renewable for twelve years, and by an amend-
ment in 1890 the years were extended to ninety-nine. Later the Supreme

Court of New York deemed them perpetual.”’

As a result, by 1889, 80 percent of all Iroquois reservation land in
New York was under lease to non-Indian interests and individuals.
The same year, a commission was appointed by Albany to examine
the state’s “Indian Problem.” Rather than “suggesting that the leasing
of four-fifths of their land had deterred Indian welfare, the commis-
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sion criticized the Indians for not growing enough to feed them-
selves,” thereby placing an “undue burden” on those profiting from
theirland. Chancellor C.N. Sims of Syracuse University, a commission
member, argued strongly that only “obliteration of the tribes, confer-
ral of citizenship, and allotment of lands” would set things right.”
Washington duly set out to undertake allotment, but was stunned to
discover it was stymied by the “underlying title” to much of the
reserved Iroquois land it had allowed the Ogden Company to obtain
over the years. In 1895, Congress passed a bill authorizing a buy-out
of the Ogden interest (again at taxpayer expense), but the company
upped its asking price for the desired acreage from $50,000 to
$270,000. Negotiations thereupon collapsed, and the Six Nations were
spared the trauma (and further land loss) of the allotment process.”

Not that the state didn’t keep trying. In 1900, Governor Theodore
Roosevelt created a commission to reexamine the matter. This led to
the introduction of another bill (HR 12270) in 1902 aimed at allotting
the Seneca reservations (with 50,000 in all, they were by far the largest
remaining Iroquois land areas) by paying Ogden $200,000 of the
Indians’ “trust funds” to abandon his claims on Allegheny and Cat-
taraugus.'” The Senecas retained attorney John Van Voorhis to argue
that the Ogden claim was invalid because, for more than 100 years,
the company had not been compelled to pay so much as a nickel of
tax on the acreage it professed to “own.” By this, VanVoorhis con-
tended, both Ogden and the government had all along admitted—for
purposes of federal law—that the land was really still the property of
“Indians not taxed.” The new bill was withdrawn in some confusion
at this point, and allotment was again averted.®! In 1905, the Senecas
carried the tax issue into court in an attempt to clear their land title,
but the case was dismissed under the premise that they had “no legal
standing to sue” non-Indians.'®

A third attempt to allot the Six Nations reservations (HR 18735)
founderedin 1914, as did a New York state constitutional amendment,
proposed in 1915, to effectively abolish the reservations. Even worse,
from New York’s viewpoint, in 1919 the U.S. Justice Department for
the first time acted in behalf of the Iroquois, filing a suit which
(re)established a 32-acre “reservation” in the state for the Oneidas.'®®
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The state legislature responded by creating yet another commission,
this one headed by attorney Edward A. Everett, to conduct a compre-
hensive study of land title questions in New York and to make
recommendations as to how they might be cleared up across the
board, once and for all.'"™ After more than two years of hearings and
intensive research, Everett handed in a totally unanticipated conclu-
sion. The Six Nations still possessed legal title to all six million acres
of the Fort Stanwix treaty area:

He cited international law to the effect that there are only two ways to

take a country away from a people possessing it—purchase or conquest.

The Europeans who came here did recognize that the Indians were in

possession and so, in his opinion, thus recognized their status as na-

tions...If then, the Indians did hold fee to the land, how did they lose

it?...[Tlhe Indians were [again] recognized by George Washington as a

nation at the Treaty of 1784. Hence, they were as of 1922 owners of all

the land [reserved by] them in that treaty unless they had ceded it by a

treaty equally valid and binding."*®

Everett reinforced his basic finding with reference to the Treaties
of Fort Harmar and Canandaigua, discounted both Buffalo Creek
Treaties as fraudulent, and rejected both the leases of the state and
those taken by entities such as the Holland and Ogden Companies as
having no legal validity at all.'® The Albany government quickly
shelved the report rather than publishing it, but it couldn’t prevent its
implications from being discussed throughout the Six Nations. On
August 21, 1922, a council meeting was held at Onondaga for pur-
poses of retaining Mrs. Lulu G. Stillman, Everett’s secretary, to do
research on the exact boundaries of the Fort Stanwix treaty area.'?”’
The Iroquois land claim struggle had shifted from dogged resistance
to dispossession, to the offensive strategy of land recovery, and the
first test case, James Deere v. St. Lawrence River Power Company (32 F.2d
550), was filed on June 26, 1925, in an attempt to regain a portion of
the St. Regis Mohawk reservation taken by New York. The federal
government declined to intervene in the Mohawks’ behalf—as it was
its “trust responsibility” to do—and the suit was dismissed by a
district court judge on October 10, 1927. The dismissal was upheld on
appeal in April 1929.'%
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Things remained quiet on the land claims front during the 1930s,
as the Haudenosaunee were mainly preoccupied with preventing the
supplanting of their traditional Longhouse form of government by
“tribal councils” sponsored by the Bureau of Indian Affairs via the
Indian Reorganization Act of 1934. Probably as a means of coaxing
them into a more favorable view of federal intentions under the IRA,
Indian Commissioner John Collier agreed towards the end of the
decade that his agency would finally provide at least limited support
to Iroquois claims litigation. This resulted, in 1941, in the Justice
Department’s filing of U.S. v. Forness (125 F.2d 928) in behalf of the
Allegheny Senecas. The suit—ostensibly aimed at eviction of an indi-
vidual who had refused to pay his $4 per year rent to the Indians for
eight years—actually sought to enforce a resolution of the Seneca
Nation cancelling hundreds of low cost 99-year leases taken in the City
of Salamanca, on the reservation, in 1892. Intervening for the defen-
dants was the Salamanca Trust Corporation, a mortgage institution
holding much of the paper at issue. Although the case was ultimately
unsuccessful in its primary objective, it did clarify that New York law
had no bearing on Indian leasing arrangements.109

This was partly “corrected,” in the state view, on July 2, 1948, and
September 13, 1950, when Congress passed bills placing the Six Na-
tions under New York jurisdiction in first criminal and then civil
matters." Federal responsibility to assist Indians in pursuing treaty-
based land claims was nonetheless explicitly preserved.'"! Washing-
ton, of course, elected to treat this obligation in its usual cavalier
fashion, plunging ahead during the 1950s—while the Indians were
mired in efforts to prevent termination of their federal recognition
altogether—with the flooding of 130 acres of the St. Regis reservation
near Messena (and about 1,300 acres of the Caughnawaga
[Kahnawake] Mohawk reserve in Canada) as part of the St. Lawrence
Seaway Project."'? The government also proceeded with plans to flood
more than 9,000 acres of the Allegheny reservation as a by-product of
constructing the Kinzua Dam. Although studies revealed an alterna-
tive siting of the dam would not only spare the Seneca land from
flooding but also better serve “the greater public good” for which it
was supposedly intended, Congress pushed ahead."> The Senecas
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protested the project as a clear violation of the Fort Stanwix guaran-
tees, a position with which lower federal courts agreed, but the
Supreme Court declined to review the question and the Army Corps
of Engineers completed the dam in 1967."™*

Meanwhile, the New York State Power Authority was attempting
to seize more than half (1,383 acres) of the Tuscarora reservation, near
Buffalo, as a reservoir for the Niagara Power Project. In April 1958, the
Tuscaroras physically blocked access by construction workers to the
site and several were arrested (charges were later dropped). A federal
district judge entered a temporary restraining order against the state,
but the appellate court ruled that congressional issuance of a license
to the Federal Power Commission constituted sufficient grounds for
the state to “exercise eminent domain” over native property.115 The
Supreme Court again refused to hear the resulting Haudenosaunee
appeal. A “compromise” was then implemented in which the state
flooded “only” 560 acres, or about one-eighth of the remaining Tus-
carora land."®

By the early 1960s, it had become apparent that the Iroquois,
because their territory fell “within the boundaries of one of the origi-
nal thirteen states,” would be disallowed from seeking redress
through the Indian Claims Commission.”” The decade was largely
devoted to a protracted series of discussions between state officials
and various sectors of the Iroquois leadership. Agreements were
reached in areas related to education, housing, and revenue sharing,
but on the issues of land claims and jurisdiction, the position of
Longhouse traditionals was unflinching. In their view, the state holds
no rights over the Iroquois in either sphere.'® Their point was punc-
tuated on May 13, 1974, when Mohawks from St. Regis and Caugh-
nawaga [Kahnawake] occupied an area at Ganiekeh (Moss Lake), in
the Adirondack Mountains. They proclaimed the site to be sovereign
Mohawk territory under the Fort Stanwix Treaty—"[We] represent a
cloud of title not only to [this] 612.7 acres in Herkimer County but to
all of northeastern N.Y.”—and set out to defend it (and themselves)
by force of arms.™”

After a pair of local vigilantes engaged in harassing the Indians
were wounded by return gunfire in October, the state filed for eviction
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in federal court. The matter was bounced back on the premise that it
wasnot a federal issue,and theNew York attorney general—undoubt-
edly discomfited at the publicity prospects entailed in an armed
confrontation on the scale of the 1973 Wounded Knee siege-—let the
case die.'” Alternatively, the state dispatched a negotiating team
headed by future governor Mario Cuomo. In May 1977, the “Moss
Lake Agreement” was reached, and the Mohawks assumed perma-
nent possession of aland parcel at Miner Lake, in the town of Altona,
and another in the McComb Reforestation Area.'?! Mohawk posses-
sion of the sites remains ongoing in 1991, a circumstance which has
prompted others among the Six Nations to pursue land recovery
through a broader range of tactics and, perhaps, with greater vigor
than they might have otherwise (e.g., Mohawk actions taken in Can-
ada, concerning a land dispute at the Kanesatake territory bordering
on the town of Oka, near Montreal, during 1990).

As all this was going on, the Oneidas had, in 1970, filed the first
of the really significant Iroquois land claims suits. The case, Oneida
Indian Nation of New York v. County of Oneida (70-CV-35 (N.D.N.Y.)),
charged that the transfer of 100,000 acres of Oneida land to New York
via a 1795 lease engineered by Governor Clinton was fraudulent and
invalid on both constitutional grounds and because it violated the
1790 Trade and Intercourse Act. It was dismissed because of the usual
“Indians lack legal standing” argument, but reinstated by the Su-
preme Court in 1974.1* Compelled to actually examine the merits of
the case for the first time, the U.S. District Court agreed with the
Indians (and the Everett Report) that title still rested with the Oneidas.

The plaintiffs have established a claim for violation of the Noninter-

course Act. Unless the Act is to be considered nugatory, it must be

concluded that the plaintiffs’ right of occupancy and possession of the
land in question was not alienated. By the deed of 1795, the State

acquired no rights against the plaintiffs; consequently, its successors, the
defendant counties, are in no better position.'”

’

Terming the Oneidas a “legal fiction,” and the lower courts’
rulings “racist,” attorney Allan Van Gestel appealed to the Supreme
Court. On October 1, 1984, the high court ruled against Van Gestel and
ordered his clients to work out an accommodation, indemnified by
the state, includingland restoration, compensation, and rent on unre-
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covered areas.'” Van Gestel continued to howl that “the common

people” of Oneida and Madison Counties were being “held hostage,”
but as the Oneidas’ attorney, Arlinda Locklear, put it in 1986:

Onefinal word about responsibility for the Oneida claims. It is true that
the original sin here was committed by the United States and the state
of New York. It is also no doubt true that there are a number of innocent
landowners in the area, i.e., individuals who acquired their land withno
knowledge of the Oneida claim to it. But those facts alone do not end the
inquiry respecting ultimate responsibility. Whatever the knowledge of
the claims before then, the landowners have certainly been aware of the
Oneida claims since 1970 when the first suit was filed. Since that time,
the landowners have done nothing to seek a speedy and just resolution
of the claims. Instead, they have as a point of principle denied the
validity of the claims and pursued the litigation, determined to prove
the claims to be frivolous. Now that the landowners have failed in that
effort, they loudly protest their innocence in the entire matter. The
Oneidas, on the other hand, have since 1970 repeatedly expressed their
preference for an ocut of court resclution of their claims. Had the land-
owners joined with the Oneidas sixteen years ago in seeking a just
resolution, theclaims would no doubt be resolved today. For that reason,
the landowners share in the responsibility for the situation in which they
find themselves today.'?

Others would do well to heed these words because, as Locklear
pointed out, the Oneida case “paved the legal way for other Indian
land claims.” ' Not least of these are other suits by the Oneidas
themselves. In 1978, the New York Oneidas filed for adjudication of
title to the entirety of their Fort Stanwix claim—about 4.5 million
acres—a case affecting not only Oneida and Madison counties, but
Broome, Chenango, Cortland, Herkimer, Jefferson, Lewis, Onondaga,
Oswego, St. Lawrence, and Tiago counties as well (this matter was
shelved, pending final resolution of the first Oneida claims litiga-
tion).'?® In December 1979, the Oneida Nation of Wisconsin and the
Thames Band of Southgold, Ontario, joined in an action pursuing
rights in the same claim area, but naming the state rather than indi-
vidual counties as defendant.'” The Cayuga Nation, landless
throughout the twentieth century, have also filed suit against Cayuga
and Seneca counties for recovery of 64,015 acres taken during Clin-
ton’s leasing foray of 1789 (the Cayuga claim may develop into an
action overlapping with those of the Oneida; see Map ).
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The latter case, filed on November 19, 1980, resulted from at-
tempts by the Cayugas to negotiate some sort of land base and
compensation for themselves with federal, state, and county officials
from the mid-"70s onward. By August 1979, they had worked out a
tentative agreement that would have provided them with the 1,852-
acre Sampson Park area in southern Seneca County, the 3,629-acre
Hector Land Use Area in the same county, and an $8 million trust
account established by the Secretary of Interior (up to $2.5 million of
which would be used to buy additional land)."*! Although not one
square inch of their holdings was threatened by the arrangement, the
response of the local non-Indian population was rabid. To quote Paul
D. Moonan, Sr., president of the local Monroe Title and Abstract
Company: “The Cayugas have no moral or legal justification for their
claim.” Wisner Kinne, a farmer near the town of Ovid, immediately
founded the Seneca County Liberation Organization, premised on a
virulent anti-Indianism. SCLO attracted several hundred highly vocal
members from the sparsely populated county.

Abill to authorize the settlement subsequently failed due to this
“white backlash,” and so the Cayugas went to court to obtain a much
larger area, eviction of 7,000 county residents, and $350 million in
trespass damages. Attempts by attorneys for SCLO to have the suit
dismissed failed in 1982, as did a 1984 compromise offer initiated by
Representative Frank Horton. The latter, which might well have been
accepted by the Cayugas, would have provided them the 3,200-acre
Howland Game Management Reserve along the Seneca River, a 2,850-
acre parcel on Lake Ontario (owned by the Rochester Gas and Electric
Company), and a 2,000-acre parcel adjoining Sampson State Park.
Additionally, theCayugaswould have received “well in excess” of the
$8 million they’d originally sought. While SCLO appears to have
decided acquiescence was by this point the better part of valor, the
proposal came under heavy attack from non-Indian environmental-
ists “concerned about the animals in the Howland Reserve.” Ulti-
mately, it was nixed by Ronald Reagan in 1987, not because he was
concerned with area fauna, but because he was angry with Horton for
voting against Contra aid. The suit is therefore ongoing.132
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At the town of Salamanca, the leases to which expire at the end of
1991, the Allegheny Senecas also undertook decisive action during the
second half of the 1980s. Beginning as early as 1986, they stipulated
the intent not to renew, and to begin eviction proceedings against
non-Indian lease and mortgage holders in the area, unless the terms
of any new arrangement were considerably recast in their favor (i.e.,
clarification of Seneca title, shorter leasing period, fair rates for prop-
erty rental, and “preeminent jurisdiction” over both the land and cash
income derived from it).!* A further precondition to lease renewal
was that compensation be made for all non-payment and under-pay-
ment of fair rental values of Seneca property accruing from the last
lease. Although these demands unleashed a storm of protest from
local whites—who, as usual, argued vociferously that the Indian
owners of theland held norights toit—they were unsuccessful in both
court and Congress.'** At this juncture, all essential Seneca terms have
been met, and Congress has passed the Seneca Nation Settlement Act
of 1990, including a settlement award of $60 million (the cost of which
is to be shared by federal, state, and local non-Indian governments)
for rental monies they should have received over the past 99 years,
but didn’t."*®

The Black Hills Land Claim

A much more harshly fought struggle, at least in terms of physical
combat, has been the battle waged by the Lakota Nation (“Western
Sioux”) to retain their spiritual heartland, the Black Hills. In 1851, in
exchange for right-of-away to California and Oregon along what was
called the Platte River Road, the government entered into the first Fort
Laramie Treaty with the Lakota. The treaty recognized Lakota owner-
ship of and sovereignty within a vast area amounting to approxi-
mately five percent of the continental United States (see Map V)."** By
1864, however, silver had been discovered in Montana, and the United
States, seeking the shortest route to the mines, violated the treaty by
attempting to establish the “Bozeman Trail” directly through Lakota
territory. This led to the so-called Red Cloud War of 1866-68, in which
the Lakota formed a politico-military alliance with the Cheyenne and
Arapaho Nations, laid siege to U.S. military posts along the trail, and
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defeated the Army several times in the field. For the first time in its
history, the government sued for peace. All Lakota terms were agreed
to in a second Fort Laramie Treaty, signed during the spring of 1868,
in exchange for the United States being allowed to withdraw its
remaining soldiers without further damage.">’

The provisions of the 1868 Fort Laramie Treaty were clear and
unequivocal. All land from the east bank of the Missouri River west-
ward within the present boundaries of the state of South Dakota was
recognized by the United States as a “Great Sioux reservation,” exclu-
sively for Indian use and occupancy. Contiguous portions of North
Dakota and Montana and about a third of Wyoming were also recog-
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nized as being “Unceded Indian Territory” belonging to the “Greater
Sioux Nation,” and all of Nebraska north of the North Platte River
was perpetually reserved ashuntingterritory. Astipulationin the 1868
treaty acknowledged thatits terms would not impair any Lakota land
rights reserved under any earlier treaties, and the United States
pledged to use its military to prevent its citizens from trespassing
again in Lakota territory.”*® Finally, the way in which any future
transfer of Lakota title might occur was spelled out:

No [subsequent] treaty for cession of any portion of the reservation

herein described which may be held in common shall be of any

validity or force as against said Indians, unless executed and signed

by at least three-fourths of all adult male Indians, occupying or inter-

ested in the same."”

In 1863, a Catholic priest named Jean de Smet, after sojourning
illegally in the Black Hills, reported the presence of gold there. In short
order, this incentive proved sutticient to cause Washington to violate
the new treaty, sending Lt. Colonel George Armstrong Custer and his
elite 7th Cavalry Regiment (heavily reinforced) to explore the Hills.
When Custer, during the summer of 1874, reported that he too had
found gold, the government dispatched a commission to purchase the
region from the Lakotas, while developing contingency plans for a
military seizure in the event negotiations were unsuccessful."*’ Dur-
ing the fall of 1875, the commission reported failure, and “Sioux
Affairs” were shifted to the War Department.*! The latter announced
that all Lakotas who failed to congregate by mid-January at Army
posts—where they could be taken under military command—would
be henceforth considered “hostile” and subject to “punishment” the
following summer. In Washington, the refusal of most Lakotas to
comply with this presumption was publicized as an “Act of War”
against the United States.'*?

Seeking to compensate for its earlier humiliation at the hands of
these same Indians, the Army launched a huge three-pronged inva-
sion, involving several thousand troops, of the Powder River sector
of Unceded Indian Territory during the spring of 1876. The idea was
to catch all the “Sioux recalcitrants” in a giant vise, overwhelm them,
and then—with the Lakota military capacity destroyed—simply take
whatever land area the United States desired. Things did not work
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out so quickly or so easily. First, on June 17, the southern command (a
force of about 1,500 under General George Crook) was met and
decisively defeated along the Rosebud Creek by several hundred
warriors led by the Oglala Lakota Crazy Horse."*® Then, on June 25,
Custer and a portion of his 7th Cavalry (part of the eastern command)
were annjhilated in the valley of the Little Big Horn River by a
combined force of perhaps 1,000 led by Crazy Horse and Gall, a
Hunkpapa Lakota.'** The balance of the U.S. troops spent the rest of
the summer and fall chasing Indians they could never quite catch.'®*

In the end, the Army was forced to resort to “total war” expedi-
ents, pursuing a winter campaign of the type developed on the
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southern plains with the 1864 Sand Creek Massacre and Custer’s
massacre at the Washita River in 1868. An expert in such operations,
Colonel Ranald McKenzie, was imported for this purpose and spent
the snowy months of 1876-77 tracking down one village after another,
killing women, children, and ponies as he went.'*¢ By the spring of
1877, all Lakota groups other than a portion of the Hunkpapas led by
Sitting Bull and Gall, and a segment of the Oglalas led by Crazy Horse,
had surrendered. The Hunkpapas sought asylum in Canada, while
U.S. negotiators tricked Crazy Horse into standing down in May.'¥
The great Oglala leader was assassinated on September 5, 1877.14

With the Lakotas increasingly disarmed, dismounted, and under
guard, Congress felt confident in taking possession of the western-
most portion of the Great Sioux reservation, in which the Black Hills
were located. On August 15, 1876, it had passed an act (Ch. 289, 19
Stat. 176. 192) announcing the Lakota Nation had given up its claim
to the desired geography. Concerned that this appear to be alegitimate
transfer of title rather than outright conquest, however, the act was
written so as not to take effectuntil such time as Lakota “consent” was
obtained. Another commission, this oneheaded by George Manypenny,
was dispatched for this purpose. When even noncombatant Lakota men
refused to cooperate, rations for the captive people as a whole were
suspended. Ultimately, some 10 percent of all “adult Lakota males”
signed the cession instrument in order to feed their families. Although
this was a far cry from the 75 percent express written consent required
by the 1868 treaty to make the matter legal, Congress decided the gesture
was sufficient. Meanwhile, on February 28, 1877, thelegislators followed
up with another law (19 Stat. 254) stripping away the Unceded Indian
Territory. Since the 1851 treaty boundaries were simply ignored, the Great
Sioux Nation had shrunk, almost overnight, from approximately 134
million acres to fewer than 15 million.'*’

Beginning in 1882, the United States began to impose an “ Assimi-
lation Policy” upon the Lakota Nation, outlawing key spiritual prac-
tices such as the Sun Dance, extending its jurisdiction over Lakota
territory through the 1885 Major Crimes Act, and systematically
removing children to remote boarding schools at which their lan-
guage and cultural practices were not only prohibited, but replaced
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with those of their conquerors.'® As part of this concerted drive to
destroy the socio-cultural integrity of the Lakotas, allotment of the
Great Sioux reservation was undertaken, starting in 1889, with the
consequence that some 80 percent of the remaining Lakota land base
was declared surplus by unilateral action of the federal government
over the next 20 years. Resulting land losses—about seven million
acres—caused separation of the various Lakota bands from one an-
other for the first time, through emergence of a “complex” of much
smaller reservations (i.e., Pine Ridge for the Oglala, Rosebud for the
Sicangu [Briilé], Standing Rock for the Hunkpapa and Minneconjou,
and Cheyenne River for the Itazipco [Sans Arcs], Sihasapa [Blackfeet],
and Oohinunpa [Two Kettles]; see Map V).™!

By 1890, despair at such circumstances was so great among the
Indians that there was widespread adoption of the Ghost Dance
religion, a phenomenon entailing belief among its adherents that
performance of specified rituals would cause a return of the buffalo
and people killed by the Army, as well as disappearance of the
invaders themselves. Deliberately misconstruing the Ghost Dance as
evidence of “an incipient uprising,” local Indian agents seized the
opportunity to rid themselves of those most resistant to the new order
they were seeking to install. A special police unit was used to murder
Sitting Bull—who had returned from Canada in 1881—at his home on
December 15. On December 28, four companies of the reconstituted
7th Cavalry were used to massacre some 350 followers of Big Foot, a
Minneconjou leader, along Wounded Knee Creek. In Washington, it
was generally believed “the recalcitrant Sioux” and other “Indian
troublemakers” had finally “gotten the message” concerning the per-
manent and unconditional nature of their subordination.”* The gov-
ernment felt free to consolidate its grip over even the last residue of
land left nominally in native hands:

In 1891 anamendment was made to the General Allotment Act(26 Stat.

794) that allowed the secretary of interior tolease the lands of any allottee

who, in the secretary’s opinion, “by reason of age or other disability,”

could not “personally and with benefit to himself occupy or improve his
allotment or any part thereof.” In effect this amendment gave almost
dictatorial powers over the use of allotments since, if the local agent

disagreed with the use to which lands werebeing put, he could intervene
and lease the land to anyone he pleased.”
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During the early part of the 20th century, virtually every useful
parcel of land on the Lakota lands had been let in this fashion on
longterm, extremely lowcost leases ($1 per acre, per year for 99 years
being the typical arrangement).154 At the same time, however, Sioux
resistance surfaced in another form. A young Santee Dakota named
Charles Eastman began to publish books including, among other
things, accounts of the means by which the Black Hills had been
expropriated and his own experiences as part of a burial detail at
Wounded Knee. These were widely read in Europe.155 Hence, ques-
tions on such topics were posed to U.S. observers at the Geneva
convention of the newly founded League of Nations in 1919. (There
is a school of thought holding that Congress refused to allow formal
U.S. participation in the League because, at least in part, it was aware
that federal Indian policy would never stand up to international
scrutiny.) Always inclined to paste a patina of fairness and legality
over even its most murderous misdeeds, the United States responded
to this embarrassment with an act (41 Stat. 738) authorizing the Lakota
to file suit in federal court if they felt they’d been dealt with “less than
honorably.” The thinking was apparently that an “equitable settle-
ment”—consisting of a relatively minor amount of cash—would end
the matter.

No consideration at all seems to have been given to the possibility
that the Lakotas might have other ideas as to what “equity” might
look like. In 1923, they pitched a curve, entering the first Black Hills
case with the US. Court of Claims, premised on land restoration
rather than monetary compensation. Bewildered by this unexpected
turn of events, the claims court simply stalled for 19 years, endlessly
entertaining motions and counter-motions while professing to
“study” the matter. Finally, in 1942, when it became absolutely clear
the Lakota Nation would not accept cash in lieu of land, the court
simply dismissed the case, asserting that the situation was a “moral
issue” rather than a constitutional question over which it held juris-
diction.”®® In 1943, the U.S. Supreme Court refused to review the
claims court decision.'”’

Although the litigational route appeared stalemated at this point,
passage of the Indian Claims Commission Act in 1946 revived the
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Lakotas’ judicial strategy. A case was filed with the commission in
1950, but was deemed by the commissioners to have been “retired”
by the earlier claims court dismissal and Supreme Court denial of
certiorari. Thus, the commission also dismissed the case in 1954158
Undeterred, the Lakota entered an appeal, which was denied and
refiled. In 1958, the Black Hills claim was reinstated on the basis of a
ruling that the Lakota had been represented by “inadequate counsel”
during the 1920s and "30s. The Justice Department then attempted to
have the whole issue simply set aside, submitting a writ of mandamus
in 1961, which requested “extraordinary relief” from continued Lak-
ota litigation. The government’s argument was rejected by the court
of claims later in the same year.159 Hence, the claims commission was
compelled to actually consider the case.'®

After another long hiatus, the commission entered an opinion in
1974 that Congress had been merely exercising its “power of eminent
domain” in taking the Lakota land, and that such action was therefore
“justified.” On the other hand, the commission held, it was constitu-
tionally required that the Indians be “justly compensated” for their
loss.'®! The Justice Department responded immediately by filing an
appeal to minimize any cash award. This resulted, in 1975, in the
government’s securing of a res judicata prohibition against payment
of public funds “in excess of the value of said property at the time it
was taken.”¢2 By official estimation, thiscame toexactly $17.1 million,
against which the Department of Interior levied an “offset” of $3,484
for rations issued to its captives in 1877.'° The Lakota attempted an
appeal to the Supreme Court, but once again the justices declined to
review the matter.'®

As all this was going on, the frustrations of grassroots Lakotas
finally boiled over in such a way as to radically alter the extralegal
context in which their Black Hills claim was situated. Early in 1973,
traditionals on the Pine Ridge reservation requested assistance from
AIMin confronting the corrupt (and federally installed) tribal govern-
ment, in part to block another illegal land transfer. At issue was the
uranium-rich northwestern one-eighth of Pine Ridge—known as the
Sheep Mountain Gunnery Range—which the Department of Interior
wished to incorporate into the adjoining Badlands National Monu-
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ment. AIM’s physical intervention resulted in its being besieged for
71 days in the symbolic hamlet of Wounded Knee by massive federal
forces. By the time the spectacular armed confrontation had ended,
international attention was riveted on U.S. Indian affairs as never
before. In an attempt to contain the situation, the government fought
a veritable counterinsurgency war against AIM and the traditional
Oglalas of Pine Ridge during the three years following the Pine Ridge
siege.165

By the time the gunnery range was finally transferred in 1976, the
Oglalas—who had sustained at least 69 fatalities and nearly 350
serious physical assaults on their reservation during the period of
federal repression—were in no mood to accept further abuse.'® They
not only mounted a storm of protest which caused a partial reversal
of the transfer instrument, but also rallied the rest of their nation to
demand that the three-fourths express consent clause of the 1868
treaty (now including adult women as well as men) be applied to the
claims commission award. Organizing a referendum on the matter
under the slogan “The Black Hills Are Not For Sale,” the United Sioux
Tribes of South Dakota voted overwhelmingly in 1977 to refuse the
settlement.'®’ Meanwhile, AIM had created the International Indian
Treaty Council (IITC) and managed to have Lakota treaty issues (as
well as other indigenous rights questions) docketed with the United
Nations Commission on Human Rights.168

Under these circumstances, Congress once again backpedaled,
passing an act in 1978 which set aside all judicial decisions leading up
to the 1977 award amount, and ordering pro novo review by the claims
court on the question of how much the Lakota compensation package
should add up to0."® The following year, the court determined that 5
percent simple annual interest should pertain to the claims commis-
sion’s award of principal, a factor which upped the amount offered
the Lakota to $122.5 million.”® The Justice Department appealed this
outcome to the Supreme Court, a circumstance which prompted the
high court—after denying Indian requests to do the same thing for
nearly 40 years—to finally examine the Black Hills case.

In 1980, the Supreme Court, on writ of certiorarifromthe Court of Claims,

held that the 1877 act did not effecta “mere changeof form in investment
in Indian tribal property,” but, rather, effected a taking of tribal property
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which had been set aside by the treaty of Fort Laramie for the Sioux’s

exclusive occupation, whichtakingimplied an obligation on the govern-

ment’s part to make just compensation, including an award of interest,

to the Sioux. Justice Rehnquist filed a blistering dissenting opinion in

which he charged the majority had been led astray by “revisionist

historians.” !

The Lakota remained entirely unsatisfied. Opponents to mone-
tary settlement pointed out that Homestake Corporation alone had
removed about $18 billion in gold from one site near the Black Hills
towns of Lead and Deadwood since 1877. They also noted that a 1979
poll of the reservations showed that the great bulk of residents,
although being among the most impoverished people in North Amer-
ica, were no more willing to accept the new offer than they had been
the old one.'” In July 1980—while a week-long “Survival Gathering”
attended by 10,000 people was occurring justacross the fence from the
Strategic Air Command’s Ellsworth Air Force Base, 10 miles from the
Hills—the Oglalas filed a new suit demanding return of significant
acreage and $11 billion in damages.'”® Although the case was dis-
missed by a federal district judge in September of the same year on
the premise that “the matter has already been resolved,” and was
subsequently denied on appeal, the point had been made.'”*

It was punctuated in April 1981 when AIM leader Russell Means
led a group to an 880-acre site in the Black Hills about 13 miles outside
Rapid City, named it “Yellow Thunder Camp,”and announced it was
the first step in the physical reoccupation of “Paha Sapa,” as the Hills
are known in the Lakota language. The U.S. Forest Service, which
claimed the land on which Yellow Thunder Camp was situated, filed
suit for eviction, and requested thatthe federal marshals’ service carry
it out. When it became apparent that AIM was prepared to offer
physical resistance 4 la Wounded Knee, a federal judge in the state
capital of Pierre issued a restraining order on federal authorities.'”
During the following summer, several other occupation camps sprang
up, some of them sponsored by usually more timid tribal council
governments.'” Although they were mostly short-lived, the AIM
occupation was continuous for nearly five years.

While it was going on, the Forest Service eviction suit was liti-
gated before U.S. District Judge Robert O’Brien, with AIM counter-
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suing on the basis that the federal government was in violation of the
1868 treaty, the 1978 American Indian Religious Freedom Act (AIRFA),
and several of its own anti-discrimination statutes. In 1985, the gov-
ernment was stunned when O’Brien upheld AIM’s contentions, enter-
ing a potential landmark opinion that whole geographical areas rather
than specific locations might be considered “sacred lands” within the
meaning of AIRFA, and enjoining the Forest Service from further
harassing Yellow Thunder occupants.l77 The decision was reversed by
the Eighth Circuit Court in 1988, however, in the wake of the Supreme
Court’s decision in the Lyng case. By that time, the government had
deposited the Lakota settlement monies in an escrow account at an
Albuquerque bank, where it continues to draw interest (reportedly, it
now totals slightly more than $200 million, no Lakota having accepted
a disbursement check).”®

Throughout the first half of the 1980s, IITC reported develop-
ments in the Black Hills struggle annually to the UN Working Group
on Indigenous Populations, formed by the Human Rights Commis-
sion in 1982."”° The U.S. United Nations delegation was forced to file
formal responses to information provided through this medium, a
circumstance causing greater international exposure of the inner
workings of federal Indian policy than ever before. This, in combina-
tion with the persistence of Lakota litigation efforts and physical
confrontations, precipitated an unprecedented governmental initia-
tive to resolve the Black Hills issue during the late ‘80s. It took the
form of a bill, 5.1453, first introduced by New Jersey Senator Bill
Bradley in 1987, to “reconvey title”—including water and mineral
rights—over 750,000 acres of forest land within the Paha Sapa to the
Lakota Nation. Additionally, specified sacred sites adding up to sev-
eral thousand acres, and a 50,000-acre “Sioux Park,” would be retitled
without mineral rights. A “Sioux National Council,” drawn from all
Lakota reservations, would share jurisdictional and policymaking
prerogatives—as well as revenues from leasing, royalties, etc.—over
the balance of the original Great Sioux reservation with federal and
state authorities. Finally, the 1980 claims court award, plus sub-
sequently accrued interest, would be converted into compensation for
damages rather than payment for land per se.'®°
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Although the Bradley Bill hardly afforded a full measure of Lak-
ota rights to land and sovereignty, it was the sort of substantive
compromise arrangement which the bulk of Lakotas might have
accepted as workable. Certainly, Lakota support for the bill had
become pronounced by 1988, even as a local white backlash—
whipped up in part by South Dakota Senator Larry Pressler and
former governor William Janklow—mounted steadily. If enacted in
some form, it might have created a viable model for eventual indige-
nous land rights resolutions throughout North America. Unfortu-
nately, the bill was withdrawn by its sponsor in 1990, after a two-year
period of highly publicized anti-Bradley agitation by an individual
named Phil Stevens, previously unknown to the Indians but purport-
ing to be “Great Chief of all the Sioux.” (At present, Lakota land claim
efforts are primarily devoted to resuscitating the bill, or developing a
reasonable variant of it)."'

The Western Shoshone Land Claim

A differently waged, and lesser known, struggle for land has been
waged by the Western Shoshone, mainly in the Nevada desert region.
In 1863, the United States entered into the Treaty of Ruby Valley (13
Stat. 663) with the Newe (Western Shoshone) Nation, agreeing—in
exchange for Indian commitments of peace and friendship, willing-
ness to provide right-of-way through their lands, and the granting of
assorted trade licenses—to recognize the boundaries encompassing
the approximately 24.5 million acres of the traditional Western
Shoshone homeland, known in their language as Newe Segobia (see
Map VI)."8 The United States also agreed to pay the Newes $100,000
in restitution for environmental disruptions anticipated as a result of
Euroamerican “commerce” in the area. As researcher Rudolph C.
Ryser has observed:

Nothing in the Treaty of Ruby Valley eversold, traded or gaveaway any

part of the New Country to the United States of America. Nothing in this

treaty said that the United States could establish counties or smaller

states within New Country. Nothing in this treaty said the United States

could establish settlements of U.S. citizens who would be engaged in
any activity other than mining, agriculture, milling and ranching.'®
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Fromthesigning of the treaty until the mid-20th century,noaction
was taken by either Congress or federal courts to extinguish native
title to Newe Segobia.'® Essentially, the land was an area in which the
United States was not much interested. Still, relatively small but
steadily growing numbers of non-Indians did move into Newe terri-
tory, a situation which was generally accommodated by the Indians
so long as the newcomers did not become overly presumptuous. By
the late 1920s, however, conflicts over land use had begun to sharpen.
Things worsened after 1934, when the federal government installed a
tribal council form of government—desired by Washington but re-
jected by traditional Newes—under a provision of the Indian Reor-
ganization Act (IRA)."® It was to the IRA council heading one of the
Western Shoshone bands, the Temoak, that attorney Ernest Wilkinson
went with a proposal in early 1946.

Wilkinson was a senior partner in the Washington-based law firm
Wilkinson, Cragun, and Barker, commissioned by Congress toward
the end of World WarII to draft legislation creating the Indian Claims
Commission. The idea he presented to the Temoak council was that
his firm be retained to “represent their interests” before the claims
commission.'® Ostensibly, his objective was to secure the band’s title
to its portion of the 1863 treaty area. Much more likely, given sub-
sequent events, his purpose was to secure title for non-Indian interests
in Nevada, and to collect the 10 percent attorney’s fee he and his
colleagues had written into the Claims Commission Act as pertaining
to any compensation awarded to native clients."®” In any event, the
Temoaks agreed, and a contract between Wilkinson and the council
was approved by the Bureau of Indian Affairs in 1947.'® Wilkinson
followed up, in 1951, with a petition to the claims commission that his
representation of the Temoaks be construed as representing the inter-
ests of the entire Newe Nation. The commission concurred, despite
protests from the bulk of the people involved.'®

From the outset, Wilkinson'’s pleadings led directly away from
Newerights over the Ruby Valley Treaty Territory. As Glenn T. Morris
has framed the matter in what is probably the best article on the
Western Shoshone land struggle to date:
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In 1962, the commission conceded that it “was unable to discover any

formal extinguishment” of Western Shoshone title to lands in Nevada,

and could not establish a date of taking, but nonetheless ruled that the

lands were taken at some point in the past. It did rule that approximately

two millionacres of Neweland in California was taken on March 3, 1853

[contrary to the Treaty of Ruby Valley, which would have supplanted

any such taking], but without documenting what specific Act of Con-

gress extinguished thetitle. Without the consentof the Western Shoshone

Nation, on February 11, 1966, Wilkinson and the U.S. lawyers arbitrarily

stipulated that the date of valuation for government extinguishment of

Western Shoshone title to over 22 million acres of land in Nevada

occurred on July 1, 1872. This lawyers’ agreement, entered without the

knowledge or consent of the Shoshone people, served as the ultimate
loophole through which the U.S. would allege that the Newe had lost
their land."®

By 1872 prices, the award of compensation to the Newe for the
“historic loss” of their territory was calculated, in 1972, at $21,350,000,
an amountrevised upwards to $26,154,600 (against which the govern-
ment levied an offset of $9,410.11 for “goods” delivered in the 1870s)
and certified on December 19, 1979.”°! In the interim, by 1976, even
the Temoaks had joined the other Newe bands in maintaining that
Wilkinson did notrepresenttheir interests; they fired him, but the BIA
continued to renew his contract “in their behalf” until the claims
commission itself was concluded in 1980.12 Meanwhile, the Newes
had retained other counsel and filed a motion to suspend commission
proceedings with regard to their case. This was denied on August 15,
1977, appealed, but upheld by the U.S. Court of Claims. The basis was
that if the Newe desired “to avert extinguishment of their land claims,
they should go to Congress” rather than the courts for redress;
$26,145,189.89 was then placed in a trust account with the U.S. Treas-
ury Department in order to absolve the United States of further
responsibility in the matter.'”

One analyst of the case suggests that if the United States were
honest in its valuation date of the taking of Newe land, the date would
be December 19, 1979—the date of the ICC award—since the commis-
sion could point to no other extinguishment date. The United States
should thus compensate the Shoshone in 1979 land values and not
those of 1872. Consequently, the value of the land
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that would be more realistic, assuming the Western Shoshone were

prepared to ignore violations of the Ruby Valley Treaty, would be in the

neighborhood of $40 billion. On a per capita basis of distribution, the

United States would be paying each Shoshone roughly $20 million...The

[U.S.] has already received billions of dollars in resources and use from

Newe territory in the past 125 years. Despite this obvious benefit, the

U.S. government is only prepared to pay the Shoshone less than a penny

of actual value for each acre of Newe territory.!**

The Newes as a whole have refused to accept payment for their
land, under the premise articulated by Raymond Yowell, Chair of the
Western Shoshone Sacred Lands Association, that: “We entered into
the Treaty of Ruby Valley as co-equal sovereign nations...The land to
the traditional Shoshone is sacred. It is the basis of our lives. To take
away the land is to take away the lives of the people.”' Giving form
to this sentiment, two sisters—Mary and Carrie Dann—refused evic-
tion from their homes by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management, which
claimed by that poini io own property that had been in their family
for generations—and challenged all U.S. title contentions within the
Newe treaty area when the Bureau attempted to enforce its position
in court. The litigation has caused federal courts to flounder about in
disarray ever since.

In 1977, the federal district court for Nevada ruled that the Dann
sisters were “trespassers” because the claims commission had re-
solved all title questions. This decision was reversed on appeal to the
Ninth Circuit Court in 1978 because, in its view, the question of land
title “had not been litigated, and has not been decided.”**® On remand,
the district court waited until the claims commission award had been
paid into the Treasury, and then ruled against the Danns in 1980. The
court, however, in attempting to rationalize both its present decision
and its past reversal, observed that, “Western Shoshone Indians re-
tained unextinguished title to their aboriginal lands until December of
1979, when the Indian Claims Commission judgement became final
(emphasis added).”"” This, of course, demolished the basis for the
commission’s award amount. It also pointed to the fact that the
commission had comported itself illegally in the Western Shoshone
case insofar as the Indian Claims Commission Act explicitly disal-
lowed the commissioners (never mind attorneys representing the
Indians) from extinguishing previously unextinguished land titles.
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Thus armed, the Danns went back to the Ninth Circuit Court and
obtained another reversal.'*®

The government appealed the circuit court’s ruling to the Su-
preme Court and, entering yet another official (and exceedingly am-
biguous) estimation of when Newe title was supposed to have been
extinguished, the justices reversed the circuit court’s reversal of the
district court’s last ruling. Having thus served the government’s
interest on appeal, the high court declined in 1990 to hear an appeal
from the Danns concerning the question of whether they might retain
individual aboriginal property rights based on continuous occupancy
even if the collective rights of the Newe were denied.'” As of this
writing, despite their adverse experiences with the federal judiciary,
the Dann sisters remain on their land in defiance of federal authority.
Their physical resistance, directly supported by most Newes, forms
the core of whatever will come next.

One route open to them—and undoubtedly the locus of much of
the intensity with which the government has rejected their land
claims—restsin the fact that U.S. nuclear weapons testing facilities lie
squarely in the heart of Newe territory. According to geographer
Bernard Nietschmann, the US. detonation of 651 atomic weapons
there since 1963 makes Newe Segobia “the most bombed country in
the world.” 2° The Newe portion of Nevada was also the area speci-
fied for siting of the MX missile system, and, currently, the govern-
ment is planning to store a variety of nuclear wastes in repositories
bored into Yucca Mountain, in the southwestern sector of Newe treaty
land. For obvious reasons, the Newes oppose both testing and the
dumping of such wastes in their homeland. Given this opposition, it
may be possible that their land rights may be fruitfully pursued
through emergence of a broad coalition with non-Indian environ-
mental, anti-war, and anti-nuclear organizations. That such a poten-
tial is not furthest from the minds of Newe strategists is witnessed by
the wording of a permit issued to all protestors arriving to oppose
nuclear experiments at military bases in the area: “The Western
Shoshone Nation is calling upon citizens of the United States, as well
as the world community of nations, to demand that the United States
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terminate its invasion of our lands for the evil purpose of testing
nuclear bombs and other weapons of war.”?%!

Where Do We Go From Here?

The question which inevitably arises with regard to indigenous
land claims, especially in the United States, is whether they are
“realistic.” The answer, of course, is, “No, they aren’t.” Further, no
form of decolonization has ever been realistic when viewed within the
construct of a colonialist paradigm. It wasn't realistic at the time to
expect George Washington'’s rag-tag militia to defeat the British mili-
tary during the American Revolution. Just ask the British. It wasn't
realistic, as the French could tell you, that the Viethamese should be
able to defeat U.S.-backed France in 1954, or that the Algerians would
shortly be able to follow in their footsteps. Surely, it wasn't reasonable
to predict that Fidel Castro’s pitiful handful of guerrillas would
overcome Batista’s regime in Cuba, another U.S. client, after only a
few years in the mountains. And the Sandinistas, to be sure, had no
prayer of attaining victory over Somoza 20 years later. Henry Kissin-
ger, among others, knew that for a fact.

The point is thatin each case, in order to begin their struggles at
all, anti-colonial fighters around the world have had to abandon
orthodox realism in favor of what they knew (and their opponents
knew) to be right. To paraphrase Daniel Cohn-Bendit, they accepted
as their agenda—the goals, objectives, and demands which guided
them—a redefinition of reality in terms deemed quite impossible
within the conventional wisdom of their oppressors. And, in each
case, they succeeded in their immediate quest for liberation.*” The
fact that all but one (Cuba) of the examples used subsequently turned
out to hold colonizing pretensions of its own does not alter the truth
of this—or alter the appropriateness of their efforts to decolonize
themselves—in the least. It simply means that decolonization has yet
to run its course, that much remains to be done.

The battles waged by native nations in North America to free
themselves, and the lands upon which they depend for ongoing exist-
ence as discernible peoples, from the grip of U.S. (and Canadian) internal
colonialism are plainly part of this process of liberation. Given that their



THE EARTH IS OUR MOTHER 85

very survival depends upon their perseverance in the face of all
apparent odds, American Indians have no real alternative but to carry
on. They must struggle, and where there is struggle there is always
hope. Moreover, the unrealistic or “romantic” dimensions of our
aspiration to quite literally dismantle the territorial corpus of the U.S.
state begin to erode when one considers that federal domination of
Native North America is utterly contingent upon maintenance of a
perceived confluence of interests between prevailing governmen-
tal/ corporate elites and common non-Indian citizens. Herein lies the
prospect of long-term success. It is entirely possible that the consensus
of opinion concerning non-Indian “rights” to exploit the land and
resources of indigenous nations can be eroded, and that large numbers
of non-Indians will join in the struggle to decolonize Native North
America.

Few non-Indians wish to identify with or defend the naziesque char-
acteristics of US. history. To the contrary, most seek to deny it in rather
vociferous fashion. All things being equal, they are uncomfortable with
many of the resulting attributes of federal posture and—in substantial
numbers—actively oppose one or more of these, so long as such politics
do not intrudeinto a certain range of closely guarded self-interests.

This is where the crunch comes in the realm of Indian rights issues.
Most non-Indians (of all races and ethnicities, and both genders) have
been indoctrinated to believe the officially contrived notion that, in the
event “the Indians get their land back,” or even if the extent of present
federal domination is relaxed, native people will do unto their occupiers
exactly as has been done to them; mass dispossession and eviction of
non-Indians, especially Euroamericans, is expected to ensue.

Hence, even those progressives who are most eloquently inclined
to condemn U.S. imperialism abroad and/or the functions of racism
and sexism at home tend to deliver a blank stare or profess open
“disinterest” when indigenous land rights are mentioned. Instead of
attempting to come to grips with this most fundamental of all issues
on the continent upon which they reside, the more sophisticated
among them seek to divert discussion into “higher priority” or “more
important” topics like “issues of class and gender equity” in which
“justice” becomes synonymous with a redistribution of power and
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loot deriving from the occupation of Native North America even
while the occupation continues (presumably permanently). Some-
times, Indians are even slated to receive “their fair share” in the
division of spoils accruing from expropriation of their resources.
Always, such things are couched—and typically seen—in terms of
some “greater good” than decolonizing the .6 percent of the U.S.
population which is indigenous.?'03 Some marxist and environmental-
ist groups have taken the argument so far as to deny that Indians
possess any rights distinguishable from those of their conquerors.2**
AIM leader Russell Means snapped the picture into sharp focus when
he observed in 1987 that:

So-called progressives in the United States claiming that Indians are
obligated to give up their rights because a much larger group of non-In-
dians “need” their resources is exactly the same as Ronald Reagan and
Elliot Abrams asserting that the rights of 250 million North Americans
ontweigh the rights of a rnnplp million Nicaragnans Cnlonialist atti-

tudes are colonialist attitudes, and it doesn’t make one damn bit of
difference whether they come from the left or the right*®

Leaving aside the pronounced and pervasive hypocrisy permeating
these positions, which add up to a phenomenon elsewhere described as
“settler state colonialism,”*® the factis that the specter driving even most
radical non-Indians into lockstep with the federal government on ques-
tions of native land rights is largely illusory. The alternative reality posed
by native liberation struggles is actually much different:

o While government propagandists are wont to trumpet—as they did
during the Maine and Black Hills land disputes of the 1970s—that an
Indian win would mean individual non-Indian property owners
losing everything, the native position has always been the exact
opposite. Overwhelmingly, the lands sought for actual recovery have
been governmentally and corporately held. Eviction of small land
owners has been pursued only in instances where they have banded
together—as they have during certain of the Iroquois claims cases—
to prevent Indians from recovering any land at all, and to otherwise
deny native rights.

» Official sources contend this is inconsistent with the fact that all
non-Indiantitle to any portion of North America could be called into
question. Once “the dike is breached,” they argue, it’s just a matter
of time before “everybody has to start swimming back to Europe, or
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Africa, or wherever.” 207 Although there is considerable technical
accuracy to admissions that all non-Indian title to North America is
illegitimate, Indians have by and large indicated they would be
content to honor the cession agreements entered into by their ances-
tors, even though the United States has long since defaulted. This
would leave somewhere close to two-thirds of the continental United
States in non-Indian hands, with the real rather than pretended
consent of native people. The remaining one-third, the areas deline-
ated in Map II to which the United States never acquired title at all,
would be recovered by its rightful owners.

The government holds that, even at that, there is nolonger sufficient
land available for unceded lands, or their equivalent, to be returned.
In fact, the government itself still directly controls more than one-
third of the total U.S. land area, about 770 million acres. Each of the
states also “owns” large tracts, totalling about 78 million acres. It is
thus quite possible—and always hasbeen—for all native claims to be
met in fullwithout theloss to non-Indians of asingleacre of privately
held land. When it is considered that 250 million-odd acres of the
“privately” held total are now in the hands of major corporate
entities, the real dimension of the “threat” to small land holders (or,
more accurately, lack of it) stands revealed 2%

Government spokespersons have pointed out that the disposition of
public lands does not always conform to treaty areas. While this is
true, itinnoway precludessome process of negotiated land exchange
wherein the boundaries of indigenous nations are redrawn by mu-
tual consent to an exact, or at least a much closer conformity. All that
is needed is an honest, open, and binding forum—such as a new
bilateral treaty process—with which to proceed. In fact, numerous
native peoples have, for a long time, repeatedly and in a variety of
ways, expressed a desire to participate in just such a process.

Nonetheless, it is argued, there will still be at least some non-Indians
“trapped” within such restored areas. Actually, they would not be
trappedatall. Thefederally imposed genetic criteria of “Indian-ness”
discussed elsewhere in this book notwithstanding, indigenous na-
tions have the same rights as any other to define citizenry by alle-
giance (naturalization) rather than by race. Non-Indians could apply
for citizenship, or for some form of landed alien status which would
allow them to retain their property until they die. In the event they
could not reconcile themselves to living under any jurisdiction other



88 FROM A NATIVE SON

than that of the United States, they would obviously have the right
to leave, and they should have the right to compensation from their
own government (which got them into the mess in the first place).209

¢ Finally, and one suspects this is the real crux of things from the
government/ corporate perspective, any such restoration of land and
attendant sovereign prerogatives to native nations would resultina
truly massive loss of “domestic” resources to the United States,
thereby impairing the country’s economic and military capacities
(see “Radioactive Colonialism” essay for details). For everyone who
queued up to wave flags and tie on yellow ribbons during the United
States’ recent imperial adventure in the Persian Gulf, this prospect
may induce a certain psychic trauma. But, for progressives at least,
it should be precisely the point.

When you think about these issues in this way, the great mass of
non-Indians in North America really have much to gain, and almost
nothing to lose, from the success of native people in struggles to
reclaim the land which is rightfully ours. The tangible diminishment
of U.S. material power which is integral to our victories in this sphere
stands to pave the way for realization of most other agendas—from
anti-imperialism to environmentalism, from African-American lib-
eration to feminism, from gay rights to the ending of class privilege—
pursued by progressives on this continent. Conversely, succeeding
with any or even all these other agendas would still represent an
inherently oppressive situation if their realization is contingent upon
an ongoing occupation of Native North America without the consent
of Indian people. Any North American revolution which failed to free
indigenous territory from non-Indian domination would be simply a
continuation of colonialism in another form.

Regardless of the angle from which you view the matter, the
liberation of Native North America, liberation of the land first and
foremost, is the key to fundamental and positive social changes of
many othersorts. One thing, as they say, leads to another. The question
has always been, of course, which “thing” is to be first in the sequence.
A preliminary formulation for those serious about achieving (rather
than merely theorizing and endlessly debating) radical change in the
United States might be “First Priority to First Americans.” Putanother
way, this would mean, “U.S. Out of Indian Country.” Inevitably, the



THE EARTH IS OUR MOTHER 89

logic leads to what we’ve all been so desperately seeking: the United
States—at least as we’ve come to know it—out of North America
altogether. From there, it can be permanently banished from the
planet. In its stead, surely we can join hands to create something new
and infinitely better. That’s our vision of “impossible realism.” Isn’t it
time we all went to work on attaining it?
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GENOCIDE IN ARIZONAY
The “Navajo-Hopi Land Dispute”

in Perspective

Genocide is always and everywhere a political occurrence.

— Irving Louis Horowitz, Genocide

Tere are an estimated 20 billion tons of high grade, low-sulfur coal
underlying a stretch of Arizona desert known as Black Mesa. Rich
veins of the mineral rest so near the surface that erosion has exposed
them to suniightin many places. A veritable strip-miner’s delight, the
situation presents obviously lucrative potentials to the corporate in-
terests presently profiting from America’s spiraling energy consump-
tion. The only fly in the oil of commerce at this point is the fact that
the land which would be destroyed in extracting the “black gold” is
inhabited by a sizable number of people who will not—indeed, from
their perspective, cannot—leave. This problem has caused the federal
government to engage in one of the more cynical and convoluted
processes of legalized expropriation in its long and sordid history of
Indian affairs.

Historical Background

It all began in the 1860s when the army fought “The Kit Carson
Campaign,” a vicious war designed to eliminate the Diné (Navajo)
people of the Southwest as a threat to ranching and mining concerns.
The war featured a scorched earth policy directed against such targets
as the Diné sheep herds and the peach orchards which had been
carefully established over several generations at the bottom of Cafion
de Chelly, in northeastern Arizona. The plan was to starve the Indians
into submission, and it worked very well. The whole thing culminated
in the forced march of virtually the entire Diné people to a concentra-
tion camp at Bosque Redondo, in eastern New Mexico, a desolate
place where about a third of them died of disease and exposure in
barely two years." In 1868, hoping to avoid a scandal concerning its
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own treatment of a vanquished foe after having tried and convicted
officers of the Confederate Army for engaging in comparable atroci-
ties against U.S. troops at such prison camps as Andersonville, the
government entered into a treaty with the Diné. It acknowledged,
among other things, their right to a huge piece of barren land, mostly
in western New Mexico.?

Over the next decade, however, it was discovered that much of
the new reservation was usable as rangeland. Consequently, the gov-
ernment continually “adjusted” the boundaries westward, into Ari-
zona, until the territory of the Diné completely engulfed that of
another people, the Hopi. Still, there was no particular problem in
many ways. The Diné, whose economy was based on sheep herding,
lived dispersed upon the land, while the Hopi, agriculturalists, lived
clustered in permanent villages. Conflict was minimal; the Indians
coexisted in a sort of natural balance, intermarrying frequently
enough to create an interethnic entity cailed the Tobacco Clan.

This began to change in 1882, when President Chester A. Arthur,
in order to provide jurisdiction to J.H. Fleming, an Indian agent
assisting Mormon missionaries in kidnapping Hopi children (“to
educate them”), created a Hopi reservation within the area already
reserved for the Diné. Arbitrarily designated as being a rectangle of
one degreelongitude by one degree latitude, thenew reservation left
Moenkopi, a major Hopi village, outside the boundary. Conversely,
much Diné pasturage—and at least 300 Diné—was contained within
the area, a matter supposedly accommodated by stating that it would
be the territory of the Hopi and “such other Indians as the President
may select.”*

For nearly a generation equilibrium was maintained. Then, in
1919, a group of mining companies attempted to negotiate mineral
leases on Diné land. In 1920, the traditional Diné council of elders
(“chiefs”), a mechanism of governance drawn in equal proportions
from each of the clans comprising the nation, and which still held
undisputed power in such matters, unanimously rejected the idea.
The companies lobbied, and, in 1923, the federal government unilat-
erally replaced the traditional Diné government with a “Grand Coun-
cil” composed of individuals of its own choosing. Being made up of
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men compulsorily educated off-reservation rather than traditionals,
and owing their status to Washington rather than to the people they
ostensibly represented, the new council promptly signed the leasing
instruments. Thereafter, the council was the only entity recognized by
thefederal government as “legitimately” representing Diné interests.’

This experiment was such a success that an idea was shortly
hatched to replace all traditional Indian governments with modern
“democratic” forms, based on models of corporate management. In
1934, with passage of the so-called “Indian Reorganization Act” (IRA;
25 U.S.C.A. § 461), this concept became law. Indian resistance to the
IRA varied from place to place, a “rule of thumb” being that the more
“acculturated” the people, the greater the ease with which it was
accepted.® At Hopi, where the traditional Kikmongwe form of govern-
ment was/is still very much alive, 90 percent of all people eligible to
vote for or against reorganization simply refused to participate, boy-
cotting entirely a referendum required to garner at least the illusion
they had accepted reorganization. As BIA employee Oliver LaFarge
observed at the time:

[TThere were only 13 people in the [Hopi village of Hotevilla] willing to

go to the polls out of a potential voting population of 250, [a spiritual

leader] having announced he would have nothing to do with so un-Hopi

athing as areferendum. Here we also see the Hopi method of opposition

...abstention of almost the whole villageshould be interpreted as a heavy

opposition vote.”

The same situation prevailed in each of the Hopi villages. Indian
Commissioner John Collier overcame this “difficulty” by declaring all
abstentions as being “yes” votes, providing the appearance (to out-
siders, such as the American public) that the Hopis had all but
unanimously approved implementation of the IRA. Despite its clear
rejection of Washington’s governmental formula, Hopi was then
quickly reorganized, opening a deep schism within that society which
has not only never healed, but which is in some ways more acute today
than it was fifty years ago.®

Effects of Reorganization

As is usually the case where patently imposed forms of govern-
ance are utilized by a colonial power to administer a subject people,
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the new Hopi tribal council rapidly learned to convert service to the
oppressor into personal profit. Leadership of the 10-15 percent seg-
ment of Hopi society which had been assimilated into non-Hopi
values via compulsory education and Mormon indoctrination—this
group represented the literal totality of Hopi voter turnout during
reorganization, and in all subsequent Hopi “elections”—hadlongbeen
the station of the Sekaquaptewa family.” The men of the family—Abbott
and Emory; later Emory, Jr. and Wayne—rapidly captured political
ascendancy within the council. Correspondingly, they garnered a
virtual monopoly on incoming U.S. government contracts and con-
cessions, business starts, and the like. The new wealth and position
were duly invested in a system of patronage among the Mormon
Hopis, and this most un-Hopi sector of Hopi society became far and
away its richest and most powerful strata. In short order, what had by
and large remained a remarkably homogeneous and egalitarian cul-
ture was thus saddled with the sorts of ideological polarization, class
structure, and elitism marking Euroamerican “civilization.”'°
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Indian Commissioner Collier was meanwhile quite concerned
that the concept of reorganization—upon which he had staked his
political future and personal credibility—would work in terms of
making IRA governments functional “successful” reflections of main-
stream corporate society. The Mormon Hopis were only too happy to
oblige in moving Collier’s grand scheme along, serving as something
of a showpiece in exchange for a quid pro quo arrangement by which
they became the only Hopi entity with which the U.S. would deal
directly. The ability of the Kikmongwe to fulfill its traditional role of
conducting Hopi affairs was correspondingly undermined drastically.
By 1940, the Sekaquaptewas and their followers had converted their
alignment with the federal government into control, not only of all
Hopi political offices, appointed positions, and the budgets that went
with them, but also of the sole Hopi newspaper (Qua Toqti), grazing
interests, and externally generated cash flow as well. However, they
had still bigger plans.

These had emerged clearly by 1943, when the council, in collabo-
ration with the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) and over the strenuous
objections of the Kikmongwe, successfully consummated a lobbying
effort for the creation of “Grazing District 6,” a 650,013-acre area
surrounding the main Hopi villages and marked off for “exclusive
Hopi use and occupancy.” Insofar as nothing within the traditional
Hopi lifeways had changed to cause them to disperse across the land,
the only beneficiaries were the Sekaquaptewa clique. Their grazing
activities and revenues were considerably expanded as a result of the
establishment of the district. Meanwhile, some 100 Diné families who
had lived on the newly defined District 6 land for generations were
forced to relocate beyond its boundaries into the remainder of the 1882
Executive Order Area."

Enter John Boyden

By the early 1950s, with their gains of the "40s consolidated and
digested, the Sekaquaptewas were once again casting about for ways
to expand their clout and income. Following the consolidation of
Grazing District 6, they had allowed their council activities to lapse
for several years while they pursued personal business enterprises. In
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1951, however, they appear to have determined that reconstitution of
the IRA government would be an expedient means through which to
advance their interests. Devout Mormons, it was perhaps natural that
they should retain the services of a well-connected Salt Lake City
Mormon lawyer named John Boyden to pursue this end in the name
of Hopi self-governance.’” Undoubtedly sensing a potential for im-
mense profitability both for himself and for his church in the move,
Boyden accepted the position of Hopi Tribal Attorney. At the top of
hislist of priorities indoing so, by agreement with the Sekaquaptewas,
was an initiative to claim all of the 1882 Executive Order Area in the
name of the Hopi IRA government. This he pursued through a
strategy of first authoring legislation allowing him to do so, and
then pursuing lawsuits such as the Healing v. Jones cases.”

What was at issue was no longer merely the land, concomitant
grazing rights, and the like. By 1955, the mineral assets of the Four
Corners region were being realized by the U.S. government and
corporations.'* Anaconda, Kerr-McGee, and otherenergy conglomer-
ates were buying leases and opening mining/ milling operations feed-
ing the guaranteed market established by the ore-buying program of
the Atomic Energy Commission. Standard, Phillips, Gulf, and Mobil
(among others) were moving in on oil and natural gas properties.15
The “worthless desert” into which the U.S. had shoved the Indians
was suddenly appearing to be a resource mecca, and it was felt that
the 1882 Executive Order Area might be a particularly rich locale.

Indications are that Boyden and the Sekaquaptewas originally
hoped that what might be argued in court as constituting Hopi
territory would overlie a portion of the Grants Uranium Belt. This did
not pan out, however, and royalties (and contamination) from the
uranium boom continued to accrue only to neighboring peoples such
as the Navajo and Laguna Pueblo (see “Native North America: The
Political Economy of Radioactive Colonialism,” in this volume). Still,
oil exploration proved a more lucrative proposition, and Boyden
opened sealed bidding for leasing rights with District 6 during the fall
of 1964. The proceeds came to $2.2 million, of which a flat one million
in fees and bonuses was paid to Boyden’s Salt Lake City law firm.'é
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With his own coffers brimming, the attorney turned to the service
of his church as well as his Hopi and corporate clientele. Enlisting the
assistance of a pair of regional politicos—Secretary of Interior Stewart
Udall (a fellow Mormon) and Colorado Representative Wayne Aspi-
nall—both of whom professed that energy development would be
“good for the West,” he was able to negotiate a triangular coal leasing
arrangement between the federally approved Navajo and Hopi coun-
cils, on the one hand, and the Peabody Coal Company (which he
represented, along with the Hopi council), on the other. Kayenta,
location of the Peabody mine, on Black Mesa in the northern extreme
of the 1882 Executive Order Area, sits astride what has turned out to
be perhaps the richest low-sulfur coal vein ever discovered in North
America. Not coincidentally, a controlling interest in Peabody was
held at that time by the Mormon Church, for which Boyden was also
serving as legal counsel during the lease negotiations. Overall, the
attorney’s take on the deal is said to have again run into seven
figures.” For him, things were moving right along.

The Nature of the “Land Dispute”

With a long-term moneymaker functioning at Black Mesa, Boy-
den returned his attentions to his real agenda: securing the entirety of
the Executive Order Area, and the fossil fuels underlying it, on behalf
of the Sekaquaptewa faction. While opening moves in this gambit had
been made during the 1950s, the serious campaign really got off the
ground during the early 1970s. In a major suit, Hamilton v. Nakai,
Boyden argued that an earlier judicial determination—advanced in
the second Healing v. Jones case—that both the Hopi and Diné were
entitled to “equal use and benefit” from the 1882 Executive Order Area
outside of Grazing District 6 meant that the Diné had no right to keep
livestock in numbers exceeding “their half” of the federally estab-
lished “carrying capacity” of the land. This held true, he said, even if
no Hopis were keeping livestock there. Boyden was thereby able to
obtain court orders requiring a 90 percent reduction in the number of
Diné livestock within the Joint Use Area (]UA).18 Any such reduction
being tantamount to starvation for a people like the traditional Diné,
dependent for subsistence upon a sheep economy, Boyden and the



114 FROM A NATIVE SON

Sekaquaptewas anticipated this courtroom victory would literally
drive their opponents out of the JUA, into the Navajo Nation proper.
With virtually no Diné living in the contested territory, arguments
concerning the exclusivity of Hopi interests and prerogatives therein
would be much more plausible than had previously been the case.

On the judicial front, however, the Boyden/Sekaquaptewa com-
bine had apparently not calculated on the fact that the targeted Diné
really had no place to go (the land base of the Navajo Nation already
being saturated with sheep). The Diné had no alternative but to refuse
to comply, a situation which forced Boyden into a whole series of
related suits, each of which generated additional judicial decrees
against them—a freeze was placed upon their ability to build new
homes, corrals, or other structures within the JUA, for example—but
none of which in themselves translated into the desired result of
forcing the Diné out of the 1882 area. ' Federal authorities could find
no interest of sufficient magnitude in the JUA issue to motivate them
to deploy the level of force necessary to implement their courts’
various decisions.

The situation changed again with the arrival of the “energy
crisis” of the 1970s. Overnight, “energy self-sufficiency” became a
national obsession. Shale oil, coal gasification, and other esoteric
terminology became household matters of discussion. Congress sat
down to do a quick inventory of its known energy assets, and sud-
denly the Black Mesa coal, which had barely elicited a “ho-hum”
response from legislators a few months before, became a focus of
attention. Arizona superhawks such as Barry Goldwater and Repre-
sentative Sam Steiger in particular saw a way to put their state on the
energy map of “national interest” by consummating plans already
laid by powerful economic entities such as Western Energy Supply
and Transmission (WEST) Associates.?’

There was only one hitch to the program: it was/is impossible to
strip-mine the land so long as Diné people were/are living on it. The
solution, of course, for the federal government as well as the Hopi
council and the energy corporations, was to remove the people.
Hence, as early as 1971, Boyden offered his services in drafting a bill
to be introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives calling for the
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formal division of the JUA into halves. The draft called for all Hopis
living on the Diné side of the partition line to be compulsorily relo-
cated into Hopi territory and vice versa. Given that virtually no Hopis
actually lived in the JUA, the law would serve the purpose of empty-
ing half of the desired acreage of population and thereby open it up
for mining.?' Several scientific studies already suggested that once
strip-mining and slurry operations commenced in so substantial a
portion of Black Mesa, the adjoining areas would be rendered unin-
habitable in short order, forcing the Diné off even their remaining
portion of the 1882 area.”? The Boyden /Steiger plan was thus clearly
to use the appearance of an “equitable resolution” to a property rights
question as a means to totally dispossess the JUA Diné, accomplishing
what the Mormon Hopis had been trying to do all along.

Steiger dutifully introduced his draft legislation in 1972, but it met
with certain PR problems. After all, the mass forced relocation of
indigenous people was something which had notbeen done in North
America sincethe nineteenth century. While it squeaked through the
House by a narrow margin, it stalled in the Senate.” The congressional
fear seems to have been that, energy crisis notwithstanding, the
American public might balk at such a policy; this seemed especially
true in the immediate context of the civil rights, anti-war, and Black
Power movements. Democratic Party presidential nominee George
McGovern came out against theidea of partition and relocation in the
JUA, and even Goldwater, the arch-conservative, expressed doubts
about the wisdom of the plan under such circumstances.** A plausible
“humanitarian cover” was needed, under which to effect the legisla-
tion necessary to clear the population from much of the JUA.

Here, Boyden once again proved his mettle. Retaining David
Evans & Associates—yet another Mormon-controlled Salt Lake City
firm—to handle the “publicimage of the Hopi Tribe,” he oversaw the
creation of something called “the Navajo-Hopi range dispute.” Within
this scenario, which the Evans PR people packaged rather sensation-
ally and then fed to the press in massive doses, the Hopis and Diné
occupying the JUA were at irreconcilable odds over ownership of the
land. The result of this was a virtual “shooting war” between the two
indigenous peoples, fueled not only by the property rights dispute
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but also by “deep historical and intercultural animosities.” No men-
tion was made of mineral interests, or that Evans was simultaneously
representing WEST Associates, voracious as that consortium was in
its desire to mine and burn JUAcoal. As Washington Post reporter Mark
Panitch recounted in 1974:

The relationship between the Hopi council and the power companies
became almost symbiotic. On the one hand, [Hopi Tribal Chair
Clarence] Hamilton speeches written by Evans would be distributed
through the public relations machinery of 23 major Western utilities
[comprising the WEST group]. On the other hand, these utilities
would tell their customers, often through local media contacts, that
the Hopis were “good Indians” who wouldn’t shut off the juice which
ran their air conditioners...Because of the efforts by representatives of
the Hopi to present the [IRA government’s] viewpoint, the Hopi
rapidly took on the aura of the underdog who just wanted to help his
white brother. Some of the Navajo, on the other hand, were saying
threatening things about closing down polluting power plants and
requiring expensive reclamation of strip-mined land.®

The image of “range war type violence” was reinforced by Evans
photographers’ snapshots of out-buildings and junk vehiclesabandoned
at various locations in the JUA. These were subsequently used for target
practice by teenaged “plinkers” (a common enough practice throughout
rural America), and were therefore often riddled with bullet holes. The
Evans group presented their photos to the media asevidence of periodic
“firefights” between Hopis and Dinés. As Panitch put it:

During 1971-72, few newspapers escaped a Sunday feature onthe“range

war” about to break out between two hostile tribes. Photos of burned

corrals and shot up stock tanks and wells were printed ...By calling

Evans and Associates, a TV crew could arrange a roundup of trespassing

Navajo stock. Occasionally, when a roundup was in progress, South-

western newsmen would be telephoned and notified of the event.”

What real violence there was came mainly from a group of thugs,
such as a non-Indian named Elmer Randolph, put on the payroll and
designated as “Hopi Tribal Rangers” by the Mormon faction. Their
specialty was beating to a pulp and arresting for trespass any Diné
who had come to retrieve sheep that had strayed into Grazing District
6. When a group of Diné attempted to erect a fence to keep their
livestock off the Hopi land, the Sekaquaptewas first called a television
crew to the spot and then personally tore the fence down, demanding



GENOCIDE IN ARIZONA? 117

before the cameras that the Arizona National Guard be dispatched to
“restore order” within the JUA. This, too, was straight-facedly passed
off by news commentators as indication of “the level of violence
existing among the Indians.””® The federal government was morally
obligated, so the argument went, to physically separate the two
“warring groups” before there were fatalities. Predictably, Represen-
tative Steiger gave this theme official voice:

There is nothing funny about the violence which has already tran-

spired—livestock mutilations, corral burnings, fence destruction, water

tank burnings, and atleast one shooting incident. If we permit ourselves

to be seduced into some kind of legal procrastination and someone is

killed, I am sure we would assume the responsibility that is patently

ours. Let us not wait for thatkind of catalyst.”

At this juncture, Arizona Senator Barry Goldwater, one of the
more powerful political figures in the country, decided the time was
ripe to weigh in along the Boyden/Sekaquaptewa/Steiger axis. “I
have not supported the Steiger approach mostly because it involved
money [to relocate the impacted Diné],” Goldwater announced, “[but
now] I do not think we have to pay money to relocate Indians, when
in the case of the Navajo they have sixteen million acres [outside the
JUAL” He went on to assert with bold-faced falsity that the Diné had
“literally tens of thousands of acresthatare notbeingused” and which
were therefore available to absorb those displaced by the partition and
relocation proposal, ostensibly without significantly altering their
way of life.*’ John Boyden seized this opportunity to draft a new bill,
this one to be introduced by Goldwater and Arizona’s other senator,
Pat Fannin. It called for partition and the rapid, uncompensated, and
compulsory relocation of all Diné residing within the Hopi portion of
the JUA. By comparison, the Steiger draft bill, which had called for
the federal government to underwrite all costs associated with relo-
cation, including the acquisition of additional lands as needed to
resettle those affected, seemed benign.31 This, of course, did much to
attract support to the latter.

Relocation Becomes Law

The Goldwater /Fannin initiative was a ruse designed to drive
liberal Democrats into countering the draft bill’s harsh proposals with
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a “gentler” plan of their own. This assumed the form of House
Resolution 10337, yet another draft bill in which Boyden took a hand,
this one introduced by liberal Utah Representative Wayne Owens. It
called not only for compensation to the victims of the partition, as the
Steiger draft had already done, but also for a decade-long time period
during which the relocation was to be “phased in,” so that those to be
moved would not be overly traumatized. Tellingly, when Owens
placed his proposition on the table, Steiger promptly abandoned his
own draft and became an endorser of the Owens Bill. This newly
hatched liberal/conservative coalition was destined to finally pro-
duce Boyden'’s desired result.

Despite a letter sentby Arizona Representative Manuel Lujan that
passage of H.R. 10337 might result in “a bloodbath in northern Ari-
zona that would make the My Lai Massacre looklike a Sunday School
picnic,” and that it would in any event be “the most shameful act this
government has perpetrated on its citizens since Colonial days,” the
Owens/Boyden concept was approved by the House Interior Com-
mittee by voice vote in February 1974.% It was then forwarded to the
full House for passage. This was accomplished on May 29, 1974, by a
vote of 290 to 38.* On the same day, Judge Walsh issued a contempt
of court decree against Chair Peter McDonald and the Navajo tribal
government for having failed to comply with his order to reduce Diné
livestock in the JUA.34

The bill was passed by the Senate shortly thereafter, by a vote of 72
to 0 and in a somewhat different form from that which had been
approved by the House. Although this usually precipitates an ad hoc
committee meeting involving representatives of both chambers in order
to hammer out a mutually acceptable joint version of the legislation, in
this instance the House took the extraordinary step of simply approving
the Senate version without further discussion.” The statute was then
routed on an urgent basis to President Gerald R. Ford, who signed it
without reading it, while enjoying a ski vacation in Vail, Colorado.®

Enacted as Public Law 93-531, the bill required a fifty-fifty divi-
sion of the JUA, with the actual partition boundary to be established
by the federal district court in Arizona.” It established a three-mem-
ber Navajo-Hopi Relocation Commission, to be appointed by the
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Secretary of Interior. Within two years of the date the court’s partition
line was defined, the commission was charged with submitting a plan
to Congress detailing how relocation was to be accomplished. Thirty
days after Congress approved the relocation plan, a five-year period
would begin during which relocation would be carried out.

A total of $37 million was initially budgeted, both to underwrite
the relocation commission’s functioning and to pay “incentive bo-
nuses” of $5,000 to the head of each Diné family which “voluntarily”
agreed to relocate during the first operational year of the program.
Bonuses of $4,000 were slated to be paid to those who agreed to go
during the second year, $3,000 during the third, and $2,000 during the
fourth. In addition, each family of three or fewer individuals was
deemed eligible to receive up to $17,000 with which to acquire “re-
placement housing.” Families of four or more could receive up to
$25,000 for this purpose.

PL 93-531 also contained several other important provisions. It
directed the Secretary of Interior to implement Judge Walsh’s order for
Diné livestock reduction by outright impoundment. It authorized the
secretary to sell to the Navajo Nation up to 250,000 acres of land under
jurisdiction of the Bureau of Land Management at “fair market value,”
and provided Navajo authority to acquire up to 150,000 additional acres
of privately held land (this is as opposed to 911,000 acres from which the
Diné were ordered removed in the ]UA).E’8 The law also authorized
litigation to resolve Hopi claims to land surrounding the village of
Moenkopi, left out of the original Executive Order Area.”

Problems with Public Law 93-531

The first grit in PL 93-931’s gears appeared almost immediately,
when it was discovered that virtually none of the targeted people were
likely to relocate on anything resembling a voluntary basis. The
second followed shortly thereafter, when it was found that the size of
the Diné population to be affected had been dramatically underesti-
mated. This was due to language in the act which stipulated that the
partition would “include the higher density population areas of each
tribe within the portion of the lands partitioned to each tribe to
minimize and avoid undue social, economic, and cultural disruption
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insofaraspossible.” Congress had apparently accepted without ques-
tion an assertion made by John Boyden through Evans & Associates
that if this principle were adhered to, the number of impacted Diné
would be “about 3,500.”40 There was no reason to assume this infor-
mation was accurate.

More to the point, when the court’s partition line was ultimately
finalized on February 10, 1977, it conformed much more closely to coal
deposits than to demography.*’ Those areas Peabody preferred to
mine first, including areas of the northern JUA furthest from the Hopi
mesas but adjoining the Kayenta mining sites, were included within
the Hopi territory (see map). Consequently, estimates of the number
of Diné to be relocated were quickly raised to 9,525 by 1980,*” and are
now calculated to have involved 17,500 people overall.* Only 109
Hopis were affected, and their relocation was completed in 1976.4

Correspondingly, the costs associated with the relocation pro-
gram escalated wildly. Whilein 1974 the Congress estimated the entire
effort could beunderwritten through allocation of $28 million in direct
costs and another $9 million in “administrative overhead,” by 1985
the relocation alone was consuming $4 million per year (having by
then expended nearly $21 million in all). With a Diné population
vastly larger (and more resistant) than originally projected, direct
costs were by 1985 being estimated at a level of “at least $500 mil-
lion.”*® Inflation and other factors have, since then, driven even this
enormous amount considerably higher. Similarly, the original
timespan conceived as being required for relocation to be fully imple-
mented—which placed the completion of the program in 1982—
quickly proved impractical. Revised several times, the completion
date was by 1985 being projected into 19934

Predictably, Barry Goldwater’s assertion that the Navajo Nation
had “tens of thousands” of idle acres outside the JUA onto which
relocatees could move and continue their traditional lifeways proved
absolutely false. Leaving aside the spiritual significance of specific
JUA geography to its Diné residents, it was well known that the
entirety of the reservation, consisting of arid and semi-arid terrain,
had been saturated with sheep (and thus with traditional people)
since at least as early as the mid-"30s.” Meanwhile, the 400,000 acres
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of “replacement lands” authorized under PL 93-531 for acquisition by
the Navajo Nation as a means of absorbing “surplus” relocatees were
blocked by a combination of conflicting congressional interests, a
requirement in the law that such land be within 18 miles of the
reservation’s boundaries, non-Indian lobbying, and avarice on the
part of the Navajo tribal government itself.*® The result was that the
relocatees were left with no place to go other than to urban areas which
represented the very antithesis of their way of life.

Belatedly, Congress also began to “discover” the falsity of the
“range war” thesis, and that the Hopis were hardly unified in their
desire to see the Diné pushed from half the JUA. There was no
excuse for this. As early as the beginning of 1972, Kikmongwe Mina
Lansa had come before the House Interior Committee, while the
Steiger Bill was being considered, and made it clear that the tradi-
tional Hopi majority wished to see the Diné remain on the land,
insofar as this represented a barrier to strip-mining in the JUA. She
further informed the legislators that:

The [IRA] council of people, Clarence Hamilton and others, say all Hopis

are supporting this bill through the newspapers and publicizing to the

world that both Hopi and Navajo are going to fight each other. These

things are not true, and it makes us very ashamed to see that some of

our young people who claim to represent us created much publicity in

this way while in this capital lately.*

In 1975, Lansa took the unprecedented step (for a Kikmongwe) of
openly participating in a largely non-Indian coalition seeking to re-
peal PL 93-531. “We should all work together against Washington to
revoke this bill,” she said. “The Hopi council favors this bill. But as a
Hopi chief, I say no. The Hopis and Navajos can live right where they
are.””® She withdrew her support of the non-Indian group when one
of its leaders, Bill Morrall, called for the abolition of both the Hopi and
Navajo reservations, per se.”’ However, her opposition to the Hopi IRA
government and the relocation law, and her support of the JUA Diné,
remained outspoken and unswerving. In 1975 and 1976, she and other
Hopi spiritual leaders such as David Monongye and Thomas Ban-
yacya supported suits intended to challenge federal authority to
implement policy on the say-so of the Hopi IRA govemment.sz
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The double standard of determining “equity” inherent to U.S.
legal treatment of indigenous peoples also became increasingly ap-
parent within the rationalizations through which the relocation act
had been passed. The issue goes to the fact that, where the federal
government or its non-Indian citizenry has been shown to have
illegally acquired Indianland, the victims have never been allowed to
recover their property. U.S. judicial doctrine has instead held that they
are entitled only to “just compensation,” in the form of money, and in
an amount determined to be “fair” by those who stole the property in
the first place.”® No white population in North America has ever been
relocated in order to satisfy an indigenous land right. Attorney Rich-
ard Schifter framed the question plainly and succinctly before the
Senate Interior Committee in September 1972:

Could it be, may I ask, that where the settlers are white, we pay the

original owners off in cash; but where the settlers are Indian, we find

expulsion and removal an acceptable alternative? Can such a racially
discriminatory approach be considered as meeting the constitutional
requirement for due process?**

Representative Sam Steiger made what appears to be the de facto
governmental response when he said, “I would simply tell the gentle-
man that the distinction between that situation and this one is that in
those instances we were dealing with non-Indians occupying and
believing they have a right in the lands. Here we are dealing with two
Indian tribes. That is the distinction.”

Under the circumstances, it had become obvious by 1977 that the
sort of minimal negative social, economic, and cultural impact upon
relocatees so blithely called for under PL 93-531 was simply impossi-
ble. Again, there was no excuse for the tardy realization. Aside from
an abundance of Diné testimony to the likely consequences of reloca-
tion which was entered during the congressional deliberation process,
anthropologist David Aberle had reported on May 15, 1973, to the
House Subcommittee on Indian Affairs that the outcome would be
sociocultural disintegration among the target population:

Remove the sheepherder to a place where he cannot raise stock, remove

the herd, and you have removed the foundation on which the family is

vested. Demoralization and social disorganization are the inevitable
consequences, and theyoungerpeople, no longer beneficiaries of a stable
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home life, become just another addition to the problems of maladjust-
ment and alienation in our society.*

Yet the relocation program moved forward.

Impact Upon the Diné

Aberle was hardly the only expert warning that the consequences
of PL93-531 would be dire. As early as 1963, sociologists such as Marc
Fried had been articulating the high costs of imposed relocation upon
various populations.”” By 1973, anthropologists like Thayer Scudder
had also published in-depth studies specifically focusing upon the
consequences of forcibly relocating land-based indigenous peoples
from rural to urban environments.’® And, of course, there were the
predictions of the Diné themselves. Such information was coming, not
only from the traditionals out on the land, but also from younger,
college-educated Navajos.” As for the traditionals, they had never
been less than unequivocal in their assessment. For instance, Kather-
ine Smith, an elder from the Big Mountain area of the northern JUA,
told Senate investigators in 1972 that:

I'will never leave theland, this sacred place. The land is part of me, and

I will one day be part of the land. I could never leave. My people are

here, and have been here forever. My sheep are here. All that has meaning

is here. I live here and I will die here. That is the way it is, and the way

it must be. Otherwise, the people will die, the sheep will die, the land

will die. There would be no meaning to life if this happened.®

As the relocation program began to come alive, such warnings
began to be borne out. The impact was exacerbated by the tactics used
to convince the Diné to “voluntarily” sign up for relocation. High on
the list of these was the impoundment of sheep. The day after Judge
Walsh signed the order declaring the Simkin partition line official,
Hopi Tribal Chairman Abbott Sekaquaptewa (who replaced Clarence
Hamilton in that position during 1976) ordered a group of his rangers
into the Hopi portion of the JUA to begin seizing every head of Diné
livestock they could lay hands on. Sekaquaptewa had no legal author-
ity to undertake such action,” but a special force of forty SWAT-
trained and equipped BIA police were immediately sent in to back
him up.®? This precipitated a crisis in which Walsh formally enjoined
the Hopis from going ahead with their stock impoundment pro-
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gram.®® Sekaquaptewa, seeming “almost eager for a shootout,” defied
the order, and demanded the government “get the army and some
machine guns out here, because that’s all the Navajos understand.”**

Rather than arresting Sekaquaptewa for inciting violence and
blatant contempt of court, BIA’s operational director in the JUA, Bill
Benjamin (Chippewa), attempted to placate him with a plan whereby
the Bureau would buy up Diné sheep within the Hopi partition area
at 150 percent of market rate. This, he argued, would remove many of
the offending animals peacefully, while—in theory, at least—provid-
ing the Diné with funds to underwrite their move to “their own side
of the line.” Under provisions of the law, Benjamin had five years in
which to complete his stock reduction program; using the buy-out
scheme, he was able to secure 67,000 of the estimated 120,000 sheep
being herded by Diné on Hopi-partitioned land. At the end of the year,
however, the BIA refused to allocate the monies promised to make
good on Benjamin’s “purchases.” The people whose stock was atissue
were, of course, left destitute, while Benjamin was made to appear a
liar, destroying the element of trust which the Diné had extended to
him. As he himself put it at the time:

Those people [the Diné] are under tremendous strain. They are facing

the unknown of relocation, and as their stock is taken away they are

losing a bank account and a way of life. Traditionally, their day was

planned around the needs of the flock, and if they needed money they

could sell a sheep or two. But as things are now, we can expect a lot of

personal and family problems...All I know is that I can’t deliver on a

promise I made to people in a very difficult situation.®®

The stock impoundment effort slowed after this, but has been
continued at a steady, deliberate, and—for the Diné—socially, eco-
nomically, and psychologically debilitating pace ever since. It has not,
however, been the only coercive measure used. Judge Walsh’s order
making the Simkin line official also included an instruction renewing
his earlier freeze on Diné construction within the Hopi partition area,
other than with “a permit from the Hopi Tribe.”*® The Hopis, of
course, have issued no such permits and have used their rangers to
destroy any new structures which have appeared (as well as more
than a few older ones). Even repair of existing structures has been
attacked as a violation of the building freeze. This has caused a steady
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deterioration in the living conditions of the targeted Diné, as well as
a chronic anxiety about whether the very roofs of their hogans might
not be simply ripped off from over their heads.®” The situation has
now lasted 13 years.

At the same time, those who bowed to the unrelenting pressure
and accepted relocation were meeting a fate at least as harsh as that
being visited upon those who refused. As of March 1984, not a single
acre of rural land had been prepared to receive relocatees. For those
approximately 30 percent of all targeted families who had allowed
themselves to be moved into cities or towns,

even the Relocation Commission’s statistics revealed a problem of tre-

mendous proportions: almost forty percent of those relocated to off-res-

ervation communities no longer owned their government-provided
house. In Flagstaff, Arizona, the community which received the largest
number of relocatees, nearly half the 120 families who had moved there

nn langer awned their homes. When county and tribal legal services

offices discovered that a disproportionate [number] of the houses had

ended up in the hands of a few realtors, allegations of fraud began to
surface. Lawsuits were filed by local attorneys; investigations were
begun by the United States Attorney’s Office, the Federal Bureau of

Investigation, the Arizona Department of Real Estate, and the Relocation

Commission; and the most in-depth review of the Relocation program
which has ever been undertaken by a body of Congress was prepared.”®

A classic case of what was/is happening is that of Hosteen Nez.

In 1978, Nez, an 82-year-old relocatee, moved to Flagstaff from Sand

Springs. Within a year, Nez suffered a heart attack, could not pay his

property taxes or utility bills, lost his $60,000 ranch-style home, and

moved back to the reservation [where he also had no home, having relocated
from his old one].*’

By the mid-'80s, relocatee reports of increased physical illness, stress
and alcoholism, and family breakup were endemic.”® At least one mem-
ber of the relocation commission itself had publicly denounced the
program as being “as bad as...the concentration camps in World War
I,” and then resigned his position.”’ Area editorial writers had begun
to denounce the human consequences of PL 93-531 in the most severe
terms imaginable:

[1If the federal government proceeds with its genocidal relocation of

traditional Navajos to alien societies, [the problem] will grow a
thousandfold and more...The fact that it is a problem manufactured in
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Washington does not ease the pain and suffering—nor does it still the

anger that fills too many hearts.”

Use of the term “genocide” in this connection was by then not
uncommon. And suchlanguage wasneitherrhetorical nor inaccurate.
Thayer Scudder and others had already scientifically documented the
reality of what was being called “the deliberate, systematic, willful
destruction of a people.” 7 At least two careful studies had concluded
unequivocally that U.S. policy vis-a-vis the JUADiné violated a broad
range of international laws, including the United Nations’ 1948 Con-
vention on Punishment and Prevention of the Crime of Genocide.”*
But still the government moved forward.

Diné Resistance

Resistance to extermination—whether physical or cultural—is a
natural and predictable human response. In the case of the JUA Diné,
it was foreshadowed in a statement to Indian Commissioner Philleo
Nash by Navajo tribal council member Carl Todacheenie. The state-
ment was made in 1963, shortly after the Healing v. Jones (II) decision:

The only way the Navajo people are going to move, we know, is they

have to have another Bataan Death March. The United States govern-

ment will have to do that... We're settled outthere [in the JUA], and we’re

not going to advise our people to move, no matter who says. They

probably got to chop off our heads. That’s the only way we're going to

move out of there.””

More than a decade later, on March 3, 1977, when Arizona Repre-
sentative Dennis DeConcini (who had replaced Sam Steiger in 1976)
attended a meeting of Diné at White Cone, in the southeastern Diné
partition area, he heard exactly the same, thing. “Livestock reduction
means starvation to us,” DeConcini was told by 84-year-old Emma
Nelson. “Washington has taken ourlivestock without replacing it with
any other way of making aliving.” Another area Diné, Chester Morris,
was more graphic: “The enforcement of PL 93-531 means starvation,
homelessness, mentally disturbed [sic], alcoholism, family disloca-
tion, crime andeven death for many.” “This is very emotional,” Miller
Nez, a local resident, went on, “and at some point I think we're going
to resist any further attempt by Washington to take away our only
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source of support. I think sooner or later there will be killing of
individuals.””®

The Diné were, to be sure, already resisting, and had been for
twenty-three years, simply by their refusal to comply with the
terms of Healing v. Jones. Resistance of the sort under discussion,
however, may be said to have really begun on October 2, 1977,
when a Diné elder named Pauline Whitesinger faced down a crew
hired by the BIA to erect a barbed wire fence. When the crew
began to construct a section of fence bisecting Whitesinger’s
sheep graze, she told them to stop. When they didn’t, she drove
her pickup truck straight at them. They left, but returned the next
day and resumed work. This time, she chased them away by
throwing handfuls of dirt into their faces. Whitesinger was
shortly arrested on assorted charges, but later acquitted.”

Often during the following vear and a half, fencing crews showed
up for work in the morning only to find the wire and posts they’d
laboriously installed the day before had been torn down during the
night. During mid-summer 1979, a crew appeared on the line of elder
Katherine Smith, only to find themselves staring into the muzzle of
her .22-caliber rifle. She fired over their heads and, when they scat-
tered, she began dismantling the fence before their eyes. Smith was
arrested on serious charges, only to receive a directed verdict of
acquittal from a judge responsive to her argument that she had been
beside herself with rage in confronting a law she knew to be not only
wrong, but immoral.”®

At about the same time Smith was firing her rifle, the American
Indian Movement (AIM) was conducting its Fifth International Indian
Treaty Council (IITC) at the sacred site of Big Mountain in the Hopi-
partitioned portion of the northern JUA. Convened in that location at
the request of the Diné elders, the council was intended as a means of
garnering outside support for what the targeted population expected
to be a bitter battle for survival. During the council, the elders pre-
pared a statement which read in part:

We do hereby declare total resistance to any effort or influence to be

removed from our homes and ancestral lands. We further declare our
right to live in peace with our Hopi neighbors.”
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Traditional Hopileaders David Monongye and Thomas Banyacya
attended the council, extending unity and support from the Kik-
mongwe to the Big Mountain resistance. IITC pledged itself to take the
situation of the JUA Diné before the United Nations.** Diné AIM
leader Larry Anderson then announced his organization was estab-
lishing a permanent survival camp at the council site, located on the
property of AIMmember Bahe Kadenahe. Anderson also promised to
establish a legal defense apparatus to support the Big Mountain effort
as rapidly as possible. This was accomplished by securing the services
of Boston attorney Lew Gurwitz to head up what became known as
the Big Mountain Legal Defense/Offense Committee (BMLD/OC).
By 1982, BMLDOC, utilizing funds provided by the National Lawyers
Guild (NLG), had opened a headquarters in Flagstaff, the most proxi-
mate town of any size to the JUA.*!

Over the next two years, Gurwitz entered several suits in behalf of
individual Diné people suffering under the impact of stock reduction,
and began toassemblea legal staff composed primarily of studentinterns
underwritten by the NLG** He also began to organize an external
support network for the Big Mountain resistance which at its peak
evidenced active chapters in 26 states and several foreign countries.* On
a related front, BMLD/OC put together an independent commission to
study the international legal implications of federal relocation policy in
the JUA, and collaborated with organizations such as the Washington,
D.C.-based Indian Law Resource Center in making presentations to the
UN Working Group on Indigenous Populations.®*

As this was going on, more direct forms of physical resistance
were also continuing. For instance, in 1980, Bahe Kadenahe was
arrested along with twenty others (dubbed the “Window Rock 21”)
during a confrontation with BIA police. Charged with several of-
fenses, he was later acquitted on all counts. At about the same time,
elder Alice Benally and three of her daughters confronted a fencing
crew, were maced, arrested, and each charged with eight federal
crimes. They too were eventually acquitted on all counts. The spring
of 1981 saw a large demonstration at the Keams Canyon BIA facility
which caused Acting Commissioner of Indian Affairs Kenneth Payton
to temporarily suspend livestock impoundment operations. In 1983,
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after livestock reduction had been resumed, Big Mountain elder Mae
Tso was severely beaten while physically resisting impoundment of
her horses. Arrested and jailed, she suffered two heart attacks while
incarcerated. She was ultimately acquitted of having engaged in any
criminal offense.*

Matters reached their peak in this regard during June 1986, in
preparation for a federally established date (July 7 of that year) when
outright forced relocation was to be implemented. The scenario called
for large units of heavily armed BIA police and U.S. marshals to move
into the Hopi partition area, physically removing all Diné who had
refused to relocate in response to less drastic and immediate forms of
coercion. In the event, BMLD/OC managed to bring some 2,000 outside
supporters into the contested zone, AIM made it known that its contri-
bution to defense of the area would likely be “other than pacifistic,” and
the government backed down from the specter of what Gurwitz de-
scribed as “70-year-old Diné grandmothers publicly engaged in armed
combat with the forces of the United States of America.”*

Rather than suffer the international public relations debacle
which would undoubtedly have accompanied a resort to open war-
fare with the Diné resistance, federal authorities opted to engage in a
waiting game, utilizing the relentless pressure of stock reduction,
fencing, and the like to simply wear down the opposition. Their
strategy also seems to have encompassed the likelihood that, absent
the sort of head-on government/Indian collision implicit in the impo-
sition of an absolute deadline, the attention of non-Indian supporters
would be difficult or impossible to hold. The defense coalition
BMLD/OC had so carefully nurtured was thus virtually guaranteed
to atrophy over a relatively short term of apparent government inac-
tivity, affording authorities a much greater latitude of operational
secrecy in which to proceed than they possessed in mid-1986.

In 1988, Big Mountain defense attorney Lee Brooke Phillips, in
collaboration with attorneys Roger Finzel and Bruce Ellison, filed a
lawsuit—Manybeads v. United States—in an attempt to take the pres-
sure off the Diné by blocking relocation on the basis of the policy’s
abridgement of first amendment guarantees of religious freedom.*®
Although it initially seemed promising, the suit was dismissed by U.S.
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District Judge Earl Carroll on October 20, 1989, because of the Su-
preme Court’s adverse decision in the so-called “G-O Road Case”
concerning the rights of indigenous people in northern California to
specific geographic areas for spiritual reasons. At present, Phillips is
engaged in appeals to have the Manybeads suit reinstated, but the
outlook is not favorable.”

Resistance under these conditions adds up more than anything to
a continuingrefusal to leave theland. And so it is that by the summer
of 1990, approximately 75 percent of the Diné originally targeted for
relocation under PL 93-531 remain where they were at the outset,
stubbornly replenishing their flocks despite ongoing impoundments,
repairing hogans and corrals in defiance of the building freeze, and
conductingperiodic forays to dismantlesections of the hated partition
line fence.”® Although suffering the full range of predictable effects
stemming from the government’s fifteen-year sustained effort to push
them quietly off their land, there is currently no indication they will
alter their position or course of action.

Liberal Obfuscation

Almost from the moment that it became evident Diné resistance
would be a serious reality, the government began a campaign to mask
the implications of PL93-531 behind a more liberal and “humanitarian”
facade. The first overt attempt along this line occurred in July 1978 when
Arizona’s conservative senator, Barry Goldwater—a prime mover in the
law’s passage—responded to a challenge presented by Diné elders
Roberta Blackgoat and Violet Ashke during the culmination of AIM’s
“Longest Walk” in Washington, D.C. the same month. At theirinvitation,
he traveled to Big Mountain to meet with the resisters. Goldwater used
the occasion to try and confuse the issue, asserting that the relocation act
entailed no governmental policy “that says that [the Diné] have to move
or what [they] have to do.”*! Even the establishment press responded
negatively to such clumsy distortion.”?

Finding bold-faced lying an ineffectual tactic, Goldwater quietly
made it known that he would not oppose token gestures proposed by
congressional liberals to create the public appearance that relocation
was less harsh in its implications than was actually the case. The main
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weight of this effort fell upon Dennis DeConcini, who had replaced
Wayne Owens as an Arizona senator in 1976, and Representative
Morris Udall, who had already publicly sided with the Sekaquapte-
was.” Both lawmakers tendered proposals to amend PL 93-531 which
would provide for “life estates” allowing limited numbers of Diné
elders to remain on 90-acre parcels within the Hopi partition area until
they died. No provisions were made to allow these selected elders to
retain the familial/community context which lent meaning to their
lives, have access to sufficient grazing land to maintain their flocks,
or to pass along their holdings to their heirs. In effect, they were simply
granted the “right” to live out their lives in impoverished isolation.
Not unreasonably, the Diné began in short order torefer to the scheme
as an offering of “death estates.”

Nonetheless, a combination of the DeConcini and Udall initia-
tives was passed as PI.96-305 in 1980.”* Touted as having “corrected
the worst of the problems inherent to PL 93-531,” the new law imme-
diately became a focus for resistance in its own right. It was generally
viewed, as Diné activist Danny Blackgoat put it in 1985, as “a way to
divide the unity of the people, setting up struggles between relatives
and neighbors over who should receive an ‘estate,” and causing those
who were offered estates to abandon those who weren’t. That way, the
resistance would fall apart, and the government would be able to do
whatever it wanted.” But, as Blackgoat went on to observe, “It didn't
work. The people rejected the whole idea, and our struggle actually
increased after the 1980 law was passed.”””

As Diné resistance and outside support mounted with the ap-
proach of the government’s relocation deadline, the liberals adopted
a different strategy. Udall first engineered a February 25, 1986, memo-
randum of understanding whereby the relocation commission—
which was by that point openly admitting it could not meet its
goals—would essentially dissolve itself and pass over responsibility
for relocation to the BIA. He then secured an agreement from both
Ivan Sidney (who had replaced Abbott Sekaquaptewa as Hopi tribal
chair) and Indian Commissioner Ross Swimmer to forego forcible
relocation, pending “further legislative remedy of the situation.” He
then teamed up with then Arizona Representative (now senator) John
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McCain to introduce “compromise legislation,” House Resolution
4281, which would have allowed an exchange of land between Diné
and Hopi within the partitioned areas without disturbing the basic
premises of PL 93-531 in any way at all.”

The Udall-McCain bill was already in the process of being rejected
by the resistance—on the grounds that it accomplished nothing of
substance—when Barry Goldwater began entering hisown objections
to the effect that it was time to stop “coddling” the resisters. HR 4281
thus died without being put to a vote. This provoked New Mexico
Representative Bill Richardson to propose a bill (HR 4872) requiring
a formal moratorium on forced relocation until the matter might be
sorted out. Udall killed this initiative in his capacity as chair of the
House Interior and Insular Affairs Committee.”’” An informal stasis
was maintained until 1987, when California Senator Alan Cranston
introduced an initiative (S. 2452) calling for an 18-month moratorium
on relocation, pending “further study” and the devising of a new
resolution, “to which all parties might agree.” This effort continues in
altered form as of mid-1990—officially designated as S. 481—and is
now cosponsored by Illinois Senator Paul Simon and Colorado Sena-
tor Tim Wirth. A lower chamber version of the bill, HR 1235, is
presently cosponsored by twenty members of Corlgress.98

Meanwhile, with the help of Udall, McCain was able to push
through a draft bill (S. 1236) which became PL 100-666 in 1989. The
statute contains elements of the earlier, ineffectual, Udall-McCain
draft land exchange legislation while requiring that the relocation
commission be reactivated and that relocation go forward, to be
completed by the end of 1993. At present, no new relocation commis-
sioner has been named, although the search seems to be centering
upon a former executive of the Peabody Coal Company.”

The Present Situation

As this manuscript goes to press, the government of the United
States has done absolutely nothing to end the process of Diné cultural
destruction it began with the passage of PL 93-531 in 1974. There has
been no discussion of repealing the offending statute. Tothe contrary,
the federal government has steadfastly maintained the basic legiti-
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macy ofits policyin this regard, offering mere variations on the theme
of relocation as “alternatives.” The options offered amount, in the
words of Colorado AIM leader Glenn Morris, to “sugar coated geno-
cide.”'™ The fact that the actual physical eviction of the Diné resis-
tance has not been attempted seems to have been little more than a
tactical decision, pursuit of a war of attrition rather than a blitzkrieg.

In early 1989, the Peabody Coal Company requested that the federal
Office of Surface Mining (OSM) approve expansion of its mining activi-
ties on Black Mesa. Although Peabody had never obtained permits,
required by law since 1985, to operate at its already existing mine sites,
the OSM raised no issue with this new application. Instead, it referred
the matter for “review” within the framework of an officially commis-
sioned and supposedly objective environmental impact study released
on June 2, 1989. The study is suspect on a number of grounds, not least
of which is an assertion that post-extraction reclamation of the area to be
strip-mined can be 100 percent effective. Such a claim is not supported
by any known body of scientific literature, although it is customarily
advanced by representatives of Peabody Coal. Other defects in the study
include apparently inadequate assessments of the effects of water draw-
down for purposes of increased slurry operations, selenium accumula-
tion, atmospheric pollution, and local social and cultural impacts. “Lack
of available information” is typically cited as a reason for these deficien-
cies, despite the facts that the missing data are known to exist, and that
anumber of regional experts were never contacted for their opinions.'”!

Although the study reputedly took four years to complete, public
response time was limited by the OSM to 60 days, thus severely
limiting the type and quantity of countervailing information which
might be submitted.'” While it is true that expanded mining opera-
tions in the northern JUA have not yet commenced, all indications are
that an official sanction for such activity has already been orches-
trated. This in turn establishes the prospect that the question of Diné
resistance in the contested area may ultimately be “resolved” through
the expedient of simply digging the very ground from beneath the
resisters’ feet.

The Diné position remains unchanged. As Roberta Blackgoat, a
75-year-old Diné resistance leader, put it:
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If they come and drag us all away from the land, it will destroy our way
of life. That is genocide. If they leave me here, but take away my
community, it is still genocide. If they wait until I die and then mine the
land, the land will still be destroyed. If there is no land and no commu-
nity, I have nothing to leave my grandchildren. If I accept this, there will
be no Diné, there will be no land. That is why I will never accept it...I
can never accept it. [ will die fighting this law.'®

Beyond this, there seems nothing left to say.
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Policy Review of the Federal Government’s Relocation of Navajo Indians Under
PL. 95-531 and P.L. 96-305,” Arizona Law Review, vol. 27, no. 2 (1985), p. 14. For
example, in 1955, the BIA and University of Arizona College of Mines completed
a $500,000 joint study of mineral resources on both Diné and Hopi lands, suggest-
ing thatextensive coal stripping and concomitantelectrical power generation were
likely in “the foreseeable future.” The three-volume report specifically highlighted
Black Mesa, in the northemn portion of the JUA, as holding up to 21 billion tons of
low sulphur coal beneath an almost nonexistent overburden of soil. In 1956, an
independent study undertaken by geologist G. Kiersch for the Arizona Bureau of
Mines (Metalliferous Minerals and Mineral Fuels, Navajo-Hopi Indian Reservations)
estimated theBlack Mesa deposits at 19 billion tons. By either assessment, the area
was seen to hold a rich potential for strip-mining.

15. There was actually a total of 16 energy corporations involved at this stage; see
Petroleum Today (winter 1965).

16. Oil exploration leases for Grazing District 6 were let by sealed bid during
September and October of 1964, generating $984,256 for the top 56 parcels, $2.2
million overall. John Boyden’s bill for setting up the leasing procedure was
$780,000. The Sekaquaptewas saw to it that he received even more: a total of $1
millionin “feesand bonuses” for “services rendered.” Ironically, it turned out there
was no oil at all under Grazing District 6. See Kammer, op. cit., pp. 77-78.

17. Asamatterof record, John Boyden was a legal representative of Peabody Coal’s
attempted merger with Kennecott Copper during the very period he was negoti-
ating Peabody’s Black Mesa lease on behalf of the Hopi IRA government. The



138 FROM A NATIVE SON

35-year lease was signed in 1966, giving Peabody access to 58,000 acres sitting atop
what the Arizona Bureau of Mines estimated in 1970 was 21 billion tons of readily
accessible low sulphur coal. Peabody then opened the Kayenta Mine on the
northern edge of the JUA, a location directly impacting only Diné, not Hopis. The
agreement allowed the corporation to draw off desert groundwater in order to
slurry coal 273 miles, to Southern California Edison’s Mohave Generating Station,
near Bullhead City, Nevada. The Navajo Nation was persuaded by Representative
Aspinall, chair of the House Interior Committee and a personal friend of Boyden,
to give up rights to some 31,400 acre feet per year in upper Colorado River
water—as “compensation” for water used in the Peabody slurry operation—while
simultaneously providing right-of-way for Arizona’s Salt River Project to con-
struct a 78-mile rail line from the mine site to its Navajo Power Plant, near the town
of Page. Udall, whose job as Interior Secretary it was to protect all Indian interests
in the affair, saw to it instead that the complex of agreements were quickly and
quietly approved; his motivation may be found in the fact that the Interior
Department’s Bureau of Reclamation owned a 25 percent interest in the Navajo
Power Plant, a matter that figured into the Interior’s plan to divert some 178,000
acre feet of the Diné share of Colorado River water to its Central Arizona Project,
meeting the needs of the state’s non-Indian population. All in all, as an editorial
wrriter in the Callur (Novw Mexice) Independent wwas to sbserve on May 14, 1974, the
whole thing was “a miserable deal for the Navajo Tribe.” The Sekaquaptewas
were, of course, delighted with the transaction and reputedly paid Boyden some
$3.5 million from the Hopi share of the Peabody royalties over the years, for his
skill in “finesing” the situation to their advantage. Meanwhile, the Mormon
Church, of which both they and their attorney were members, and for which
Boyden was also acting as an attorney, owned an estimated 8 percent of Peabody’s
stock (and a substantial block of Kennecott stock, as well) in 1965. The value of
and revenue from the church’s Peabody holding nearly doubled during the three
years following Boyden'’s successful participation in the Black Mesa lease initia-
tive. For further information, see Wiley, Peter, and Robert Gottlieb, Empires in the
Sun: The Rise of the New American West (New York: G.P. Putnam'’s Sons, 1982). Also
see Josephy, Alvin, “Murder of the Southwest,” Audubon Magazine (July 1971).

18. The suit was Hamilton v. Nakai (453 F.2d 152 [9th Cir. 1972], cert. denied, 406 U.S.
945), in which Boyden introduced a 1964 BIA range use study indicating that the
maximum carrying capacity of theJUA was 22,036 “sheep units.” Under provision
of the “equal entitlement” stipulations of Healing v. Jones (II), he argued, the Diné
were entitled to graze the maximal equivalent of 11,018 sheep units in theJUA. He
thenintroduced a BIA stock enumeration showing that some 1,150 traditional Diné
families were grazing approximately 63,000 head of sheep and goats, 8,000 cattle,
and 5,000 horses—the equivalent of 120,000 sheep units—a number the court was
“compelled” to order reduced by about 90 percent. U.S. District JudgeJames Walsh
concurred and, for reasons which are unclear, established a “cap” on Diné grazing
rights even lower than 50 percent of carrying capacity: a maximum of 8,139 sheep
units.

19. These suits include Hamilton v. McDonald (503 F. 2d 1138 [9th Cir. 1974)),
Sekaquaptewa v. McDonald (544 F. 2d. 396 [9th Cir. 1976]), and Sidney v. Zah (718 F.
2d 1453 [9th Cir. 1983)). For further information, see Lapham, Neil, “Hopi Tribal
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Council: Stewardship or Fraud?” Clear Creek Journal (n.d.); available as a pamphlet
from the Big Mountain Legal Office, Flagstaff, AZ.

20. WEST Associates is a consortium of 23 regional utility companies that banded
together with the federal Bureau of Reclamation in 1964 to advance a unified
strategy for energy development and profit-making in the Southwest. Members
include Arizona Public Service Company, Central Arizona Project, El Paso (TX)
Electric, El Paso Natural Gas, Public Service of New Mexico, Southern California
Edison, Tucson (AZ) Gas and Electric, the Salt River (AZ) Project, Texas Eastern
Transmission Company, Los Angeles (CA) Water and Power, San Diego (CA) Gas
and Electric, Nevada Power Company, Utah Power and Light, Public Service
Company of Colorado, Pacific Gas & Electric. The WEST group is closely inter-
locked with the so-called “Six Companies” that have, since the 1930s, dominated
dam construction, mining and other major development undertakings in the
western U.S.; these include Bechtel, Kaiser, Utah International, Utah Construction
and Mining, MacDonald-Kahn, and Morrison-Knudson. And, of course, the rip-
ples go much further. In 1977, for example, Bechtel was a key player in a corporate
consortium—including NewmontMining, Williams Company, Boeing, Fluor, and
the Equitable Life Insurance Company—which bought Peabody Coal after John
Boyden'’s 1966 attempt to effecta merger between Peabody and Kennecott Copper
was blocked by congress on anti-trust grounds. In any event, by the late 1960s,
WEST had developed what it called “The Grand Plan” for rearranging the entirety
of the Southwest into a “power grid” involving wholesale coal stripping, dozens
of huge slurry-fed coal-fired generating plants, a complex of new dams (including
those such as Glen Canyon and Echo Canyon, which have in fact been built) for
hydroelectric generation purposes, several nuclear reactors adjoining uranium
mining/milling sites, and a fabric of high-voltage transmission lines girdling the
entireregion. Given the fact that infrastructural development costs were designed
to be largely underwritten by tax dollars, the potential profitability of the plan for
WEST members and affiliated corporations are absolutely astronomical over the
long term. See Wiley and Gottlieb, op. cit.

21. For further information on the initial draft bill, see Thompson, Gary L., The
American Indian Law Journal, no. 397 (1975). Also see Tehan, Kevin, “Of Indians,
Land and the Federal Government,” Arizona State Law Journal, no. 176 (1976).

22. Several such studies are alluded to in Ralph Nader Congress Project, The
Environmental Committees (New York: Grossman Publishers, 1975). These should
be understood in thecontext of the 1970 Arizona Bureau of Mines Bulletin No. 182
(Coal, Oil, Natural Gas, Helium and Uranium in Arizona), which articulated the range
of incentives available for massive “energy development” programs in the area.
For contextual information, see Churchill, Ward, “Letter From Big Mountain,”
Dollars and Sense (December 1985).

23. The senate did not vote the idea down. Rather, it set out to stall any decision it
might make until after the 1972 elections. This was accomplished by the house
scheduling hearings on the relocation issue in Winslow, AZ. See U.S. Congress,
Senate, Subcommittee on Indian Affairs of the Committee on Interior and Insular
Affairs, Authorizing Partition of Surface Rights of Navajo-Hopi Land: Hearings on H.R.
11128 (hereinafter referred to as Authorization Hearings), 92d Cong., 2d Sess. (Wash-
ington, D.C.: September 14-15, 1972).
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24.McGovern wrote in a letter to Navajo Tribal Chairman Peter McDonald that if
“there has been no satisfactory agreement reached [between the Hopis and Diné]
beforenextJanuary [1973], I will propose comprehensive new legislation toresolve
the problem in such a way that no family is needlessly removed from its home-
land” (quoted in the Gallup Independent, August 3, 1972). On Goldwater, see
Kammer, op. cit., pp. 97-98.

25. Panitch, Mark, “Whose Home on the Range? Coal Fuels Indian Dispute,”
Washington Post (July 21, 1974). It is worth noting that, before going freelance,
Panitch had worked as a reporter for the Arizona Star in Tucson, covering the land
dispute. In this capacity, he had been repeatedly conned into reporting false or
distorted information by the Evans PR effort. His analysis of what happened thus
offers a significant degree of firsthand authenticity and credibility.

26. Ibid. For additional information, see Conason, Joe, “Homeless on the Range:
Greed, Religion and the Hopi-Navajo Land Dispute,” Village Voice (July 29, 1986).
27. As Kammer (op. cit.) observes on p. 92, “A particularly nasty incident began
when Randolph ordered a ninety-seven-year-old Navajo named Tsinijinnie Yazzie
to get off his horse and submit to arrest for trespassing with his sheep. Yazzie did
not understand English and remained mounted, so Randolph jerked him off his
horse, injuring him seriously. Randolph [then] jailed Yazzie on charges of trespass-
ing and resisting arrest.”

28. See Panitch'’s article on the incident in the Arizona Star (March 26, 1972).

29. Authorizing Partition of Surface Rights of Navajo-Hopi Land, op. cit., p. 23. Perhaps
ironically, Navajo Tribal Chairman McDonald played directly into his opponents’
script by announcing that unless federal authorities acted to curb the Sekaquap-
tewas’ tactics, the Diné would “get their fill of this and take things into theirown
hands” (Arizona Sun, March 1, 1972).

30. Quoted in Kammer, op. cit., p. 105.

31. Fannin went on record as having cosponsored the draconian idea, not only to
“avoid violence,” but because Diné overgrazing was “killing” the JUA (Navajo
Times, September 27, 1973). That this was a rather interesting concern for a
lawmaker whose professed objective was to see the entire area strip-mined and
depleted of groundwater went unremarked at the time.

32. The Lujan language accrues from a “dear colleagues” letter he disseminated to
congress on March 16, 1974. In the alternative, Lujan had cosponsored, with
Arizona Representative John Conlan, a 1973 proposal that the Diné should be
allowed to purchase JUA land from the Hopi, or that congress might appropriate
monies for this purpose. These funds might then be used for whatever purpose
the Hopis chose, including acquisition of land south of Grazing District 6, upon
whichno Diné lived, but under which there was no coal. Mineralrights within the
JUA would continue to be shared by both peoples. The idea was that such
compensation would serve to satisfy both the “equal interest” provisions of the
Healing v. Jones (I) decision and elementary justice for the Hopis without commit-
ting the U.S. to engage in human rights violations against the Diné. New Mexico
Senator Joseph Montoya carried a version of the Lujan/Conlan initiativeinto the
senate. It is a testament to the extent to which the “land dispute” was/is really
about mining that the enlightened approach offered by the Lujan/Conlan initia-
tive met with vociferous resistance from the entirety of the Boyden/Sekaquap-



GENOCIDE IN ARIZONA? 141

tewa/Goldwater/Steiger group, as well as WEST Associate lobbyists. The only
responsive party to the proposition turns out to have been the McDonald admini-
stration at Navajo, which had been formally offering to buy out Hopi surface
interests in the JUA since 1970.

33. The lopsidedness of the house vote is partially accounted for by the fact that
influential Arizona Representative Morris “Moe” Udall, brother of former Interior
Secretary Stewart Udall, withdrew his opposition to HR. 10337. He did so, by his
own account, at the specific request of Helen Sekaquaptewa, a family friend and
fellow Mormon. Udall’s articulated position had previously been quite similar to
that of Lujan, Conlan, and Montoya (Congressional Record, May 29, 1974, p. H4517).
34. Sekaquaptewa v. McDonald, supra; it is noted that McDonald was assessed a
penalty of $250 per day for each day “excess” stock remained within the JUA.
35. A good portion of the creditfor this atypical situation seems due to the effective
and sustained lobbying of the Interior Department’s Assistant Secretary for Land
Management Harrison Loesch, an ardent advocate of mineral development on
“public lands” and early supporter of the Steiger draft legislation. It is instructive
that less than a year and a half after P.L. 93-531 was passed, Loesch was named
vice president of Peabody Coal.

36. Kammer, op. cit., pp. 128-29.

37.88 Stat. 1714 (1974), otherwise known as the “Navajo-Hopi Settlement Act.”
38. On this point, see Whitson, op. cit., pp. 379-80.

39. The litigation provision accrued from an effort by Goldwater, et al., to simply
assign ownership of 250,000 acres surrounding Moenkopi to the Hopis. An amend-
ment introduced jointly by South Dakota Senator Abourezk and New Mexico
Senator Montoyanarrowly averted this outcome, by a vote of 37-35, by authorizing
a court determination instead.

40. This Boyden/Evans myth was still being repeated as late as the beginning of
1977 by federal mediator William Simkin, charged with establishing the exact
placement of the partition line by Judge Walsh. Simkin fixed the number of Diné
to be relocated under his plan at 3,495. See Navajo Times (January 24, 1977).

41. The 1977 Simkin partition line is virtually identical to that originally proposed
by Sam Steiger in 1971. The Steiger line had been drawn by John Boyden, in
consultation with Peabody Coal. See Kammer, op. cit., p. 134.

42. Navajo-Hopi Indian Relocation Commission (NHIRC), 1981 Report and Plan
(Flagstaff, AZ: April 1981).

43.This figure isadvanced by Whitson (op. cit., p. 372), using the NHIRC Statistical
Program Report for April 1985 (Flagstaff, AZ: May 3, 1985). The commission found
that 774 Diné families had been certified and relocated from the Hopi partition
zone by that point, while 1,555 families had been certified but not yet relocated.
Another 1,707 Diné families had refused both certification and relocation. Using
the conventional commission multiplier of 4.5 persons per “family unit,” Whitson
projected a “conservative estimate of between 10,480 and 17,478 persons, 3,483 of
whom had been relocated by May 1985.”

44. NHIRC, 1981 Report and Plan, op. cit.

45. U.S. Department of Interior Surveys and Investigations Staff, A Report to the
Committee on Appropriations, U.S. House of Representatives, on the Navajo and Hopi
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Relocation Commission (hereinafter referred to as Surveys and Investigations Report)
(Washington, D.C.: January 22, 1985), p. 12.

46. Ibid,; testimony of Relocation Commission Chairman Ralph Watkins, p. 6.

47. See U.S. Congress, Senate, Relocation of Certain Hopi and Navajo Indians, 96th
Cong., 1st Sess. (Washington, D.C.: May 15, 1979).

48. The problem began in July 1975, when Navajo Chairman McDonald an-
nounced his government’s intent to purchase the full 250,000 acres in BLM
replacement lands in House Rock Valley, an area known as the “Arizona Strip”
north of the Colorado River. The idea was met first with furious resistance by
non-Indian “environmentalist” and “sporting” organizations, such as the Arizona
Wildlife Federation and the Save the Arizona Strip Committee (which advocated
abolishing Indian reservations altogether). Next, it was discovered that a dozen
Mormon families held ranching interests in the valley, and that brought Arizona’s
Mormon Representative Moe Udall into the fray. In 1979, Udall introduced legis-
lation, ultimately incorporated into P.L. 96-305, the 1980 amendment to PL. 93-531,
which placed Hard Rock Valley out-of-bounds for purposes of Diné acquisition.
The next selection was the 35,000 acre Paragon Ranch in New Mexico, apparently
chosen by the administration of Navajo Chairman Peterson Zah for its energy
development potential rather than as a viable relocation site. In 1982, Interior
Scarctary James Watt blocked this inftiative by withdrawsing the ranch from public
domain, thereby making it unavailable foracquisition (47 Fed. Reg. 9290); Zah filed
what was to prove to be an unsuccessful suit, seeking to compel theland transfer
(Zahv. Clark,Civ. No. 83-1753 BB [D.N.M.,, filed November 27, 1983]). Meanwhile,
in early 1983, the Navajo government indicated it had selected 317,000 acres of
public and private lands in western New Mexico, contiguous with the eastern
border of the Navajo Nation. The plan met with such fierce reaction from local
ranchers that it was soon abandoned (Surveys and Investigations Report, op. cit., p.
24). On June 24, 1983, Zah announced the selection had been switched to five
parcels in Arizona (Navajo Times, June 29, 1983). By May of 1985, only the Walker
Ranch, a 50,000 acre tract, had actually been acquired. There were/are serious
problems with water availability, and the ability of the land to sustain grazing
was/is subject to serious question (“Water Rights Become Issue in Acquiring Land
for Tribe,” Arizona Daily Sun, April 7, 1985). Such surface water as is available
comes mainly from the Rio Puerco, heavily contaminated by the massive July 1979
United Nuclear Corporation Churchrock uranium spill 51 miles upstream at
Sanders, AZ (see “Native North America,” in this volume; also see Mann, L.]., and
E. A. Nemecek, “Geohydrology and Water Use in Southern Apache County,”
Arizona Department of Water Resources Bulletin I [January 1983]). Nonetheless, the
first relocatees were moved onto this land in 1987 (Parlow, op. cit., p. 202). As of
1990, there has been no improvement to the situation.

49. Quoted in the Arizona Republic (February 17, 1977).

50. Quoted in the Arizona Star (August 13, 1975).

51. Morrall was quoted in the Arizona Daily Sun (July 9, 1975) as saying, “[The
Indians’] future lies in forgetting their “Separate Nation” status and become [sic]
dues paying Americans like the rest of us.”

52. Lomayatewa v. Hathaway, 52 F.2d 1324, 1327 (9th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, and
Suskena v. Kleppe, 425 U.S. 903 (1976).
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53. Examples of this principle are legion. As illustration, see the U.S. Supreme
Court’s “resolution” of the Black Hills Land Claim, 448 U.S. 907 (1982).

54. Schifter’s query appears in Authorization Hearings, op. cit., p. 208. It is possible
the Senate Committee might have been swayed by the question. Such logic was,
however, more than offset by the efficient and persistent lobbying of the commit-
tee’s staff director, Jerry Verkler, who appears to have been, among other things,
feeding inside information on the committee deliberations directly to Evans and
Associates. Shortly after PL. 93-531 was safely passed in 1974, Verkler left govern-
ment service. In January 1975, he was named manager of the Washington, D.C.
office of Texas Eastern Transmission Company, one of the WEST Associates
consortium. By 1980, he had been promoted to fill a position as the corporation’s
vice president for government affairs. See Kammer, op. cit., pp. 135-36.

55. Steiger’s statement appears in the transcript of a meeting of the House
Subcommittee on Indian Affairs, November 2, 1973, lodged in the committee files
of the National Archives, Washington, D.C,, at p. 127.

56. U.S. Congress, House, Subcommittee on Indian Affairs, Committee on Interior
and Insular Affairs, Relocation of Certain Hopi and Navajo Indians, 92d Cong., 2d Sess.
(Washington, D.C.: April 17-18, 1972), p. 35.

57. See, for example, Fried, Marc, “Grieving for a Lost Home,” in The Urban
Condition, ed. L. ]. Dunn (New York: Basic Books, 1963), pp. 151-71.

58. Scudder, Thayer, “The Human Ecology of Big Projects: River Basin Develop-
ment on Local Populations,” Annual Review of Anthropology, no. 2 (1973): pp. 45-61.
59. For example, see Gilbert, Betty Beetso, “Navajo-Hopi Land Dispute: Impact of
Forced Relocation on Navajo Families,” unpublished Master of Social Work thesis,
Arizona State University, Tempe, 1977.

60. Smith’s statement was made to anaide to Massachusetts Senator Ted Kennedy, Wendy
Moskop, during a fact-finding trip to the JUA in 1974. Quoted in a flyer distributed by
the Big Mountain Legal Defense/Offense Committee (Flagstaff, AZ: circa 1982).

61. Walsh’s February 10, 1977 order did provide for both Hopi and Navajo
jurisdiction on their respective sides of the partition line. However, it also specifi-
cally stated that livestock impoundment might proceed only under supervision
of the secretary of the interior, who was charged with assuring “the civil rights of
persons within the area are not obstructed” in the process. Sekaquaptewa’s ap-
proach simply discarded Diné civil rights as an irrelevancy.

62. According to Kammer (op. cit., p. 157), “[BIA Phoenix Area Office Director John]
Artichoker had the police supplied with enough arms to repulse a tank assault.
Weapons flow in from a special BIA arsenal in Utah included grenade launchers
and automatic rifles.”

63. Sekaquaptewa is quoted in the Gallup Independent (March 9, 1977) as saying,
regardless of the judge’s view, his rangers couldn’t have an ordinance around
without enforcing it.

64. The “eager for a shootout” description comes from Ibid. Abbot Sekaquaptewa
is quoted from the Gallup Independent (March 18, 1977).

65. The details of Benjamin’s plan, and quotation of his remarks, are taken from
Kammer, op. cit, p. 158. For analysis of the impact of the compulsory stock
reduction program upon the targeted Diné, see Wood, John J., Sheep is Life: An
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Assessment of Livestock Reduction in the Former Navajo-Hopi Joint Use Area (Flagstaff:
Department of Anthropology Monographs, Northern Arizona University, 1982).
66. The actual order is unpublished. It is quoted in part, however, in Sekaquaptewa
v. McDonald (II), op. cit.,, and Sidney v. Zah, op. cit.

67.See Whitson, op. cit., pp. 404-6, for details on the effects of the building freeze.
68. Ibid., p. 389. Whitson draws upon several sources in advancing her claims:
Memorandum, “Relocatees Sale and Nonownership of Their Replacement
Homes,” David Shaw (NHIRC staff) to Steve Goodrich (NHIRC executive direc-
tor); NHIRC Report and Plan, June 1983; Surveys and Investigations Report;
Schroeder, James, “U.S. Probing Fraud Claims in Relocation of Navajos,” Arizona
Republic (March 7, 1984); Monroev. High Country Homes, Civ. No. 84-189 PCT CLH
(D. Ariz, filed Feb. 9, 1984).

69. Ibid., p. 388.

70.See Scudder, Thayer, “Expected Impacts of Compulsory Relocation of Navajos
with Special Emphasis on Relocation from the Former Joint Use Area Required by
P.L. 93-531,” unpublished report (March 1979).

71. “Federal Commissioner says Relocation is like Nazi Concentration Camps,”
Navajo Times (May 12, 1982).

72. “Relocation is Like Nazi Concentration Camps,” Navajo Relocation Review, July
1962.

73.See Scudder, Thayer, with the assistance of David F. Aberle, Kenneth Begishe,
Elizabeth Colson, Clark Etsitty, Jennie Joe, Jerry Kammer, Mary E. D. Scudder,
Jeffrey Serena, Betty Beetso, Gilbert Tippeconnic, Roy Walters, and John William-
son, No Place To Go: Effects of Compulsory Relocation on Navajos (Philadelphia, PA:
Institute for the Study of Human Issues, 1982).

74. See Churchill, Ward, “JUA /Big Mountain: Examination and Analysis of U.S.
Policy Within the Navajo-Hopi Joint Use Area Under Provisions of International
Law,” Akwesasne Notes, vol. 17, nos. 3-4 (May-August 1985). Also see Hawley,
Lucy, Todd Howland, Ved P. Nanda, Judith Rhedin, and Sandra Shwader, Denver
Journal of International Law and Policy, no. 15 (1987).

75. Todacheenie is quoted in Kammer, op. cit., p. 79.

76. All quotes appear in the Gallup Independent (May 5, 1977).

77. See Kammer, op. cit., pp. 1-2; Parlow, op. cit., p. 200.

78. See Kammer, op. cit., pp. 209-10; Parlow, op. cit., p. 201.

79. Quoted in Parlow, op. cit., p. 201. For further information, see Lee, Pelican, Na-
vajos Resist Forced Relocation: Big Mountain and Joint Use Area Communities Fight Re-
moval, self-published pamphlet (1985); available through the Big Mountain Legal
Office, Flagstaff, AZ.

80. This effort was maintained until 1984, at which point AIM fragmented and
NITCvirtually collapsed due to the insistence of some elements of the leadership of
each organization to support Sandinistas rather than Indians in Nicaragua.
Strange as this may seem, IITC mounted what might be called a “flying tribunal,”
sending it around the country to purgeunreliable individuals guilty of expressing
an “impure politicalline” by demanding rights of genuine self-determination for
the Miskito, Sumu and Rama peoples of Nicaragua’s Atlantic Coast region.
Among those discarded was Gurwitz (in late 1986), who had served as the hub of
the BMLDOC operation. The national and international support networks he had
built up eroded very quickly, leaving the Big Mountain resistance with only a
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small and relatively ineffectual portion of the organized external support base it
had once enjoyed. As for IITC, at last count, it was down to a staff of three operat-
ing from an office in San Francisco. While no longer a functional entity, it is, to be
sure, “ideologically pure.”

81. Anderson contacted Gurwitzduring a National Lawyers Guild conference in
Santa Fe, New Mexico during the spring of 1982. Gurwitz responded immedi-
ately, opening the Flagstaff, Arizona office during the fall of the same year.

82. Perhaps most notable among the interns was Lee Brookee Phillips, who ulti-
mately succeeded Gurwitz as head of the legal defense effort. BMLDOC was
redesignated as the “Big Mountain Legal Office” (BMLO) in 1987.

83. Parlow, op. cit., p. 117. The foreign countries at issue included Switzerland,
West Germany, Austria, Italy, Canada, Great Britain, and Japan.

84. The Indian Law Resource Center intervention was presented to the Working
Group by staff attorney Joe Ryan on August 31, 1981. The independent commis-
sion, composed of Joan Price, Loughrienne Nightgoose, Omali Yeshitela and
Ward Churchill, was first convened during the annual Big Mountain Survival
Gathering, April 19-22, 1984. Its collective findings were presented to the elders
over the following year.

85. For further information on these and other aspects of the physicalresistance, see
Parlow, op. cit., especially pp. 115-51and 201-2. Also see Matthiessen, Peter, “Forced
Relocation at Big Mountain,” Cultural Survival Quarterly, vol. 12, no. 3 (1988).

86. The quote is taken from a speech made by Gurwitz at the University of Colo-
rado/Colorado Springs, February 17, 1986.

87. Thefederaljudgmentseems to have been quite sound in this regard, as should
be apparent from the events described in note 80, above. At present, organized
support for the Big Mountain resistance has fallen to less than 10 percent of 1986
levels, and continuestodecline. As of late 1989, the BMLO facility in Flagstaff, Ari-
zona, established by Gurwitz in 1982, had to be closed for lack of financial support.
88. The Manybeads suit was based, in large part, upon initially successful litigation
of the Yellowthunder case (United States v. Means, et al., Docket No. Civ. 81-5131,
Dist. [S.D., December 9, 1985]), in which attorneys Ellison, Finzel, and Larry
Leventhal argued that the entire Black Hills region is of spiritual significance to
the Lakota. The same principle was advanced on behalf of the Diné resistance with
regard to the Big Mountain area. However, the favorable decision reached by the
U.S. District Court in Yellowthunder was overturned by the 8th Circuit Court of
Appeals in the wake of the Supreme Court’s G-O Road decision. This, in turn, led
to the dismissal of Manybeads.

89. Shortly after the Manybeads suit was entered, a second suit— Attakai v. United
States—was filed, contending that specific sites within the Hopi partition area of
the JUA are of particular spiritual significance to the Diné. This case remains ac-
tive, although the only positive effect it has generated as of the summer of 1990 has
been a ruling by Judge Carroll that the federal government and/or Hopi tribal
council are required to provide seven days prior notification to both the Big
Mountain Legal Office and Navajo tribal council of the “development” of such
designated sites. In principle, this is to allow the Diné an opportunity to present
information as towhytargetedsitesshould not be physically altered. Rather obvi-
ously, however, the time-period involved is too short to allow for effective re-
sponse. For further information, see Diamond, Phil, “Big Mountain Update,”
Alavesasne Notes, vol. 21, no. 6 (midwinter 1989-90). Concerning the G-O Road
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decision, see the essay on this topic by Glenn T. Morris in the first volume of Critical
Issues in Native North America.

90. During the spring of 1990, the Big Mountain Legal Office estimated that as
many as 9,000 of the “at least 12,000” Diné subject to relocation under P.L. 93-531
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NATIVE NORTH
AMERICA

The Political Economy of
Radioactive Colonialism

with Winona LaDuke

[Olur defeat was always implicit in the history of others; our wealth has
always generated our poverty by nourishing the prosperity of others,
the empires and their native overseers...In the colonial and neocolonial
alchemy, gold changes to scrap metal and food into poison...[We] have
become painfully aware of the mortality of wealth which naturebestows
and imperialism appropriates.

—Eduardo Galeano, Open Veins of Latin America

and economics. Those who control the land are those who control
the resources within and upon it. Whether the resource at issue is oil,
natural gas, uranium or other minerals, water, or agriculture, land
ownership, social control, and all the other aggregate components of
power are fundamentally interrelated. At some levels, such a situation
seems universal, but in this hemisphere, given the peculiarities of a
contemporary socioeconomic apparatus of power which has been
literally imported in its entirety, the equation seems all the more acute.

Within North America, American Indian reservations—or “re-
serves,” as they are called in Canada—constitute a small but crucial
“piece of the rock.” Approximately one-third of all western U.S.
low-sulfur coal, 20 percent of known U.S. reserves of oil and natural
gas, and over one-half of all U.S. uranium deposits lie under the
reservations.' Other important minerals such as bauxite and zeolites
are also located there in substantial quantities, and a considerable
proportion of western U.S. water resources is subject to American
Indian priority use through various treaty stipulations. Acomparable,
if somewhat less pronounced, situation prevails in Canada.? Even
these figures are misleadingly small. Past (1890-1920) and more recent
(1930-1980) land expropriations undertaken by corporate interests
such as railroads, agribusiness, and mining concerns, as well as “land

Land has always been the issue central to North American politics
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withdrawals” from the indigenous nations orchestrated by the federal
government under the provisions of the “Allotment Act,” the “Home-
stead Act,” the “Termination Act,” and other legislation must be
considered in any rational assessment.” If the areas stripped away
from tribal ownership and control in direct violation of standing
international agreements are included, the amount of contemporary
American Indian resources is suddenly jolted to a much higherlevel
than is conventionally perceived.*

One example of this is the southern Arizona copper belt, a deposit
yielding fully two-thirds of all U.S. copper ore. The bulk of the area was
a part of the Papago reservation until the copper was discovered during
the 1920s. The ore-bearing area was subsequently removed from the
Papago domain by unilateral decree (“statute”) of the US. Congress.’
Similarly, the bulk of the massive Fort Union coal deposit of Wyoming,
Montana, and North Dakota which does not underlie current reservation
boundaries doesunderlie the territory reserved by the Lakota, Cheyenne,
and Arapaho nations under the terms of the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868.
Although some ninety percent of the original treaty area has now
“passed” from Indian control, the treaty in question remains an interna-
tionally binding document conferring ownership to the signatory indige-
nous peoples in perpetuity (see Map I).°

Aside from the mining interests which have made huge contem-
porary inroads into what amounts to unceded Indian territory, an-
other focal point of any examination of Indian resources must concern
water rights. In the arid but energy-rich western United States, water
is both prerequisite and integral to all forms of corporate develop-
ment. The preponderance of western water is legally owned (by virtue
of treaties) by various Indian nations. Hypothetically, even if a given
nation could not retain control over a portion of its territoriality, it
could still shape the nature and extent of corporate exploitation of the
land through assertion of its water rights. Of course, the federal
government has systematically acted to diminish or effectively void
most Indian exercise of water rights prerogatives.”

A final factor worthy of consideration concerns, not resource
distribution and control, but the distribution of production itself. For
instance, while Indians technically “own” only about half of U.S.
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uranium resources, production statistics relative to reservation areas
are much higher. In 1974, 100 percent of all federally controlled ura-
nium production accrued from the contemporary reservation land
base.In 1975, there were some 380 leases concerning uranium extrac-
tion onreservationlands, as compared to a total of four on both public
and acquired land. In Canada, the data are quite similar,” indicating
that while North American Indian resources are perhaps not over-
whelmingly large on a global scale, production certainly is.

The pattern of colonization prevalent in South America and noted
in the quotation from Eduardo Galeano at the outset seems appropri-
ate to conditions currently existing in the North as well. Internal
colonialism—the colonization of indigenous peoples—is a malignant,
if little discussed, fact of life within both the United States and Canada
(and Mexico as well). The centrality of theissue of colonization of such
Fourth World peoples to any reasonable strategy of global anti-impe-
rialism seems much more evident in the North than in the South, not
for moral reasons, but for pragmatic ones. North America, and the



150 FROM A NATIVE SON

United States in particular, is the seat of the most comprehensive
system of imperialism ever witnessed by humanity. Increasingly, it is
a system fueled by nuclear capabilities, fed by uranium. The relation-
ship of the reservations to that uranium is clear. Likewise, the United
States and Canada lead the world in “food production”; needless to
say, there is a huge stake in maintaining this position of dominance.
Again, therelationship of the American Indian treaty lands to primary
North American agricultural areasis readily observable. The same can
be said relative to a range of crucial resources. Suchissues, the internal
integrity and hegemony of North American imperialism, and the
colonial stranglehold over the resources of internalized sovereignties
it implies, are the subject of this essay.

Internal Colonialism

A distinction mustbe made between property in its economic and legal
aspects and property considered as a social institution. The territorial
question of American Indian peoples in the United States is fundamen-
tally an economic question, that is, as the source of livelihood, but also
involves the survival of human societies, and is, therefore, a question of
human rights, and a nationalities question. A people cannot continue as
a people without a land base, an economic base, and political inde-
pendence, as distinguished from a religious group or an ethnic minority
of fundamentally the same historical character as the majority society.

—United Nations Subcommittee on Racism, Racial
Discrimination, Apartheid and Decolonization
Final Report (1977)

American Indian nations in North America are today constrained
to occupation of approximately 2.5 percent of their original land
base.'” Nonetheless, this land if carefully managed or, in some cases,
expanded to reconcile to legally posited treaty boundaries, provides
a viable basis for national survival. The Navajo Nation, as one exam-
ple, holds a territorial base comparable to that of Belgium, the Neth-
erlands, or Denmark. It is considerably larger than such European
sovereignties as Luxembourg, Lichtenstein, or Monaco. Its natural
resource base is far greater than that of these nations combined."" The
Lakota, or “Great Sioux,” reservation of the Dakotas prior to its
patently illegal dismemberment under the Allotment and Homestead
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Acts (1890-1920), would provide an even more striking example. The
Menominees of Wisconsin were almost entirely self-sufficient despite
radical reductions of their land base, with a replenishable economy
based on timbering, when the nation was unilaterally “dissolved” by
congressional fiat under the Termination Act (1955). The peoples of
the Pacific Northwest, the “Five Civilized Tribes” (Creek, Cherokee,
Chickasaw, Choctaw, and Seminole, relocated from the Southeast to
Oklahoma by federal force during the 1830s), the Tohono O’Odam
(Papago) of Arizona, the Cheyenne and Crow of Montana—and the
list could go on and on—each possesses a treaty-sanctioned and
demonstrably viableeconomicbasis for national existence. In Canada,
the situation is much the same.

The foreign interests represented by the U.S. and Canadian na-
tional governments, however, have not been content with past land
confiscations. Throughout this century, and into the present moment,
each has proceeded with the most insidious and mercenary neocolo-
nial policies imaginable. A primary (and classic) vehicle of neocoloni-
alism was created under the so-called “Indian Reorganization Act”
(1934), whereby the United Statesimposed a system of “tribal council”
governments on each reservation, a mechanism designed to replace
traditional (and resistant) Indian governmental forms with an appa-
ratus approved by and owing its allegiance to Washington, D.C.

Recognized by the United States after 1934 as the sole governing
body of Indian reservations (and peoples), the tribal council system
rapidly circumvented or usurped the authority of traditional Indian
governmental structures such as the Councils of Chiefs. The U.S.
rationale was/is readily apparent. The new “governments” were
charged with responsibilities for “economic planning”: minerals lease
negotiations, contracting with external corporate agencies, long-term
agricultural /ranching leasing, water rights negotiations, land trans-
fers, and so on, all of which required direct approval from Bureau of
Indian Affairs representatives prior to consummation, and most of
which had long been staunchly resisted by the traditional leader-
ship.'? The “reorganization” brought about a situation through which
U.S. “developmental” policies could/can be implemented through a
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formalized agency composed of the Indians themselves. Canada followed
suit with a similar ploy during the 1930s.

With the consolidation of political power on this blatantly neo-
colonial principle, modern internal colonialism became possible in
North America. To inaugurate this fact, federal land management
authorities acted immediately (in 1934) to begin the inversion of the
extant tribal economies which had been evolved to accommodate
both traditional needs and the constrictions of reservation conditions.
Stock reduction programs were initiated to alleviate what was termed
“overgrazing” of reservation areas by individually and tribally
owned cattle. These programs rapidly became permanent—as ap-
plied against Indians, not against non-Indian ranchers leasing reser-
vation land for grazing purposes—and, since 1935, more than one-
half of all Indian livestock resources have been eliminated as a result.

The results of such a policy were predictable and immediate: the
economic infrastructure of North American indigenous nations was
dramatically undercut. On the Navajo reservation, for instance, 58
percent of the people derived a livelihood from stock raising (mostly
sheep) and agriculture (mostly gardening) in 1940. By 1958, fewer
than 10 percent were able to do so."> Correspondingly, secondary and
tertiary aspects of the tribal economy—such as the wool derived from
sheep raising, and the blankets derived from wool—were dislocated.
Concurrent to this marked and externally imposed reduction in self-
sufficiency was the systematic transfer of economic power to the
neocolonial structure lodged in the U.S./tribal council relationship:
“developmental aid” from the United States implementation of an
“educational system” geared to training for the cruder labor needs of
industrialism, employment contracts with mining and other resource
extraction concerns, “housing programs” to provide appropriate
workforce concentrations, and—eventually—actualization of coop-
tive social control mechanisms such as unemployment and welfare
for newly dependent Indian citizens.

On the Navajo reservation in 1978, approximately one-third of the
working age population was employed year round. Of those em-
ployed, 57.7 percent worked as a result of government subsidies, 29.3
percent received their salaries from private non-Navajo enterprises,



THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF RADIOACTIVE COLONIALISM 153

and only 13 percent worked in wholly Navajo operations of all types.
This, of course, left Navajo unemployment at approximately 65 per-
cent. Hence, Navajo self-sufficiency may be estimated as accommao-
dating some 4.3 percent of the working-age population, down from
100 percent in 1920." Such a single-generational transition from self-
sufficiency to destitution would seem the strongest possible testi-
mony to thenegativeeffects of U.S. internal colonialism onindigenous
populations, but it is not: At the Pine Ridge Lakota reservation in
South Dakota, to list but one example, unemployment currently hov-
ers over 90 percent and self-sufficiency is unknown."

Opverall, reservation unemployment in both the United States and
Canada runs at about 65 percent (making the Navajo example some-
whatnormal).'® Subsistence is gleaned from a sort of federal per capita
payment system which keeps the bulk of the population alive but
abjectly dependent. Two Canadian researchers, Mark Zannis and
Robert Davis, analyzed the welfare system in Canada and found that:

The welfare system is a form of pacification. Combined with political

and physical repression it keeps people alive at a subsistence level but

blunts any attempt at revolt while turning them into captive consumers

of industrial products...For the past 2-3 decades, a kind of enclosure

movement has taken place, brought on by the very nature of the welfare

system and the dictates of corporate profits.'”

Zannis and Davis go on to note that residential requirements are
prerequisite to any form of welfare—nuclear families and individuals
receive this sort of income as opposed to groups (i.e., “clans” or ex-
tended families, the traditional Indian form of social organization).
Coupled to the educational system, the result is that “without chil-
dren, adults are deprived of the essential labor to carry out traditional
economic activities. This creates the need for more welfare,” and
continues the “reorganization” of Indian societies mandated by the
Reorganization Act of 1934.

In recent years, it has become obvious that the social and eco-
nomic disruption inflicted upon many indigenous nations results
from needs peculiar to energy corporations. For example, when Pe-
abody Coal requires 400,000 acres of Indian land for a strip-mining
operation, not only is the tribal infrastructure (land use, employment,
and the like) impacted, but the physical distribution of the people as
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well. Relocation of people—as is happening at Big Mountain, Hopi,
and elsewhere—with accompanying forced transformations of famil-
ial integrity, community organization, etc., is very much at issue.'® The
process of phased destruction of tribal entities undertaken as reor-
ganization in the 1930s has greatly accelerated with the advent of the
world “energy crisis” in the 1970s.

Compounding this problem in the 1980s and on into the 90s are
the budgetary cutbacks in social service spending undertaken by the
“supply siders” of the Reagan and Bush administrations. As the
federal government defaults on the reservations, native people are
driven for bare sustenance into the arms of the very corporations with
which they are purportedly to “negotiate” over use of their land and
extraction of their resources. Clearly, prostration is a poor bargaining
position from which to proceed, but a half-century of neocolonial rule
has resulted in little else. Despite the obvious and abundant wealth of
land and resources retained by the nations mentioned above, North
American Indian populations suffer virtually the full range of condi-
tions observable in the most depressed of Third World areas. Theirs
is the highest rate of infant mortality on the continent, the shortest life
expectancy, the greatest incidence of malnutrition, the highest rate of
death by exposure, the highest unemployment rate, the lowest per
capita income, the highest rate of communicable or plague diseases,
the lowest level of formal educational attainment, and so on.”’

Since such data indicate amply that the federal government has
failed abjectly in promoting Indian well-being, as promised by the
Reorganization Act, there is a strong feeling in many quarters of Indian
Country that the turn to the corporations now being necessitated by
Reaganite policies is not such a bad idea. Despite the poor bargaining
position through which indigenous nations are securing extraction roy-
alty rates in the 2-to-5 percent (of market) range, a pittance in the world
market, internal production distribution within North America is such
that the sheer quantity of mining and other corporate activities likely to
occur overthenext20years will generate a huge cash flowintothehands
of the tribal councils.”’ It is this cash flow, real and potential, which the
feds, the tribal governments, and the corporations are all banking on
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to offset—in the short run, at least—the cumulative effects of internal
colonialism on American Indians.

Western energy resource-rich reservations in particular are thus
faced with a political and economic turning point at least as vast in its
implications as the reorganization of the 1930s or even the 19th-century
transitions to reservation status. Should they embrace and participate
in the process of industrializing the reservations after the fashion of
“developing” Third World nations, or pursue a “Fourth World” strat-
egy of attempting to disengage from dominant processes and proce-
dures altogether?”! Theresults of this decision will undoubtedly shape
the futures of American Indian peoples irrevocably. At this juncture,
even many of the tribal councils are beginning to realize the stakes of
the issue, and some are expressing consternation as a result. To date,
however, no tribal council member has been able to articulate a clear
position favoring the disengagement option as opposed to “develop-
ment.” A number have attempted to articulate plans favoring both
approaches, a stance which has proven so contradictory as to be
untenable. Whether some will ultimately break ranks with the feder-
ally promulgated vision of “progress” remains to be seen, but will no
doubt prove crucial to the number and magnitude of factional splits
within the native peoples themselves over the next decade.

The New Colonialism

Simply stated, the difference between the economics of the “old colo-
nialism,” with its reliance on territorial conquest and manpower and
the “new colonialism,” with its reliance on technologically oriented
resource extraction and transportation to the metropolitan centers, is
the expendable relationship of subject peoples to multinational corpo-
rations. This fact has implications for both the new ways in which
genocide is committed, and the new kind of dependence created.
Under the old colonialism, the economy of subject peoples was more
or less incorporated into the colonial system in a fashion which altered
the subject people as little as possible. The economic base commodities
were extracted and semiprocessed, in part, by the subject people.
These people were expected to maintain their own subsistence econ-
omy basically intact...Under new style colonialism, the subsistence
economy is not a matter of great concern to the corporations. The raw
material they wish to process is usually not organic, nor does it require
“heavy labor.” The multinational corporation today does not see any
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relationship between what they want (mineral wealth) and the local
economy (organicwealth).

—DRobert Davis and Mark Zannis,
The Genocide Machine in Canada

Spurred by the advice of the Bureau of Indian Affairs and corpo-
rate promises of jobs and royalties, the Navajo Tribal Council ap-
proved a mineral extraction agreement with Kerr-McGee in 1952. In
return for access to uranium deposits near the New Mexico town of
Shiprock on the reservation, and to fulfill risk-free contracts with the
U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, Kerr-McGee employed 100 Navajo
menin underground mining operations.?> Wages for these non-union
Navajo miners were low, averaging $1.60 per hour, or approximately
two-thirds of the then prevailing off-reservation rate.” Additionally,
the corporation cut operating costs significantly by virtue of lax
enforcement of worker safety regulations at its Shiprock site. In 1952,
a federal mine inspector found that ventilation units in the mine’s
primary shaft were not in operation.24 In 1954, the inspector discov-
ered the ventilation was still not functioning properly, with the fan
operating only during the first half of each shift. When the inspector
returned in 1955, the ventilation blower ran out of gas during his
visit.” One report, dating from 1959, noted radiation levels in the
Kerr-McGee shaft had been allowed to reach 90 times the “permissi-
ble” limit.*®

For the corporation, low wages and guaranteed labor force, privi-
leged contract status and virtually nonexistent severance taxes, and
nonexistentsafety regulation provided a great incentive to both main-
tain and expand operations on the reservation. However, by 1969
Kerr-McGee had exhausted easily recoverable uranium deposits at
Shiprock, in both geological and financial terms. Uranium extraction
technology at the time was such that further profitable recovery—un-
der any conditions—was rendered unlikely. Further, the Atomic En-
ergy Commission was in the process of phasing out its ore-buying
program, the factor which had made the entire mining gambit feasible
in the first place. The Shiprock facility was closed, for all practical
intents and purposes, in early 1980.
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For the Navajo people, Kerr-McGee’s abrupt departure shed light
upon the “diseconomies” of uranium development. First, the corpo-
rationsimply abandoned some 71 acres of “raw” uranium tailings at the
mining site. These tailings constitute waste by-products of uranium ore
refinement, but retain 85 percent of the original radioactivity of the ore.”’
This huge tailing pile begins approximately 60 feet from the San Juan
River, the only significant surface water source within the Shiprock
area.® The obvious result has been a considerable dispersal of radioactive
contamination to a number of downstream communities which, of
necessity, draw upon the river for potable water.”’

The price of Kerr-McGee’s “development” at Shiprock, in terms
of life lost in this generation, and in generations yet to come, cannot
be calculated by any financial/economic yardstick. Of the 150-odd
Navajo miners who worked underground at the Shiprock facility
during the 18 years of its operation, by 1975, 18 had died of radiation-
induced lung cancer (not the “oat cell” variety associated with ciga-
rette smoking) and another 21 were feared dying.*® By 1980, 20 of this
21 were dead, and another 95 had contracted similar respiratory
ailments and cancers.' Birth defects such as cleft palate, leukemia,
and other diseases commonly linked to increased radiation exposure
have increased dramatically both at Shiprock and in the downstream
communities of the San Juan watershed.*? Since 1970, such diseases
have come to be the greatest health concerns of the Navajo Nation.

Nonetheless, by 1980, under the leadership of Tribal Chair Peter
McDonald—a staunch advocate of energy development and founder
of the Council of Energy Resource Tribes (CERT)—the Navajo Nation
had allowed 42 uranium mines and seven uranium mills to be located
on or immediately adjacent to the reservation.”® Some 15 new ura-
nium-oriented projects were in the construction stages on Navajo
land. Additionally, four coal-stripping operations averaging approx-
imately 30,000 acres each and five coal-fired power plants have been
actualized onthereservation.Much moreis in the planning stages. As
the U.S. uranium industry undergoes a temporary depression in the
early '90s, such non-nuclear energy facilities will remain and burgeon,
continuing the development of infrastructure upon which “the new
colonialism” depends.
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The extent of infrastructural development which is to be contin-
ued is indicated by the means through whichenergy corporations are
seeking to address the chronic Navajo unemployment spawned by
reorganization. In an article entitled “Manpower Gap at the Uranium
Mines,” Business Week observed:

Currently, 3,200 miners work underground and 900 more are in open pit

operations. By 1990, theindustry will need 18,400 underground minersand

4,000above ground...[o]nce on the job, Kerr-McGee estimates that it costs
$80,000 per miner in training, salary, and benefits, as well as the costs for

the trainees who quit. Kerr-McGee is now operating a training program at

its Churchrock mine on the Navajo reservation. The $2 million program is

financed by the Labor Department (U.S.), and is expected to tum out 100

miners annually. Labor Department sponsors hope the program will help

alleviate the tribe’s chronic unemployment.*

The training program is still in effect and has been successful in
employing a number of Navajos in “practical applications” of their
new-tound skiiis. In the case of the Navajo Nation, which now has
more trained and educated persons per capita than any reservationin
North America, the form of education within financial reach clearly
does not question the desirability of reliance on energy resource
exploitation as a means to “self-sufficiency,” nor the cumulative ef-
fects of radioactive contamination. Yet there are lessons to be learned
by those who can manage to be de-educated. It seems axiomatic that
the “solution” to unemployment being offered by the energy corpo-
rations (in direct collusion with the federal government) is—as in the
case of the Shiprock miners—lethal. The consequences to the sur-
rounding habitat and inhabitants also hold with the characteristics
introduced at Shiprock. Tuba City, Arizona—another location on the
Navajo reservation—has been left with raw tailings piles quite com-
parable to those at Shiprock and with entirely similar effects.® The
Kerr-McGee mine at Churchrock currently discharges some 80,000
gallons of radioactive water from its primary shaft (“dewatering”) per
day, contamination which is introduced directly into local and down-
stream potable water supplies.*®

In July 1979, the United Nuclear uranium mill, also located at
Churchrock, was the site of an enormous accident. The adjacent mill
tailings dam broke under pressure and released more than 100 million
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gallons of highly radioactive water into the Rio Puerco River. Kerr-
McGee-style “safety” standards, similar in principle to the ventilation
system at Shiprock, were the cause. Although United Nuclear had
known of cracks within the dam structure at least two months prior
to the break, no repairs were made (or attempted), 1,700 Navajo
people wereimmediately affected, their single water source contami-
nated beyond any conceivable limit. More than 1,000 sheep and other
livestock, which ingested Rio Puerco water in the aftermath, died.”’

As a token of the “expendability” of the indigenous population
under the new colonialism referred to by Davis and Zannis, when the
Churchrock community attempted to seek compensation—including
emergency water and food supplies for directly affected community
members—United Nuclear stonewalled. Through an array of eva-
sions and obfuscations, the corporation was able to avoid any form of
redress for over a year, finally making a minimal out-of-court settle-
ment when a class action suit was filed in behalf of the town. By then,
of course, the immediate life and death situation had passed (long-
term effects being, as yet, unknown). The potential outrage of the local
citizenry is, however, a bit constrained. Between the aforementioned
Kerr-McGee plant and training program, the United Nuclear facility,
and several other energy corporations operating in the area, well over
half the jobs and nearly 80 percent of income at Churchrock are now
derived from uranium production. Dependency, in its most virulent
colonial manifestation, has effectively converted Churchrock into an
“economic hostage”—and an expendable hostage at that—of the
uranium industry.

But Churchrock and Shiprock are only sample cases of the radio-
active colonization prevailing across the face of the Navajo Nation (the
full extent of the situation is perhaps best revealed by Map I). Nor
should the Navajo Nation be considered as unique in its experience
of radioactive colonization. To the north, within what, in 1977, the
Supreme Court of the United States ruled was rightly the land base of
the Lakota people, some 40 energy corporations are currently vying
for position within an extremely rich “resource belt.”*® Central to the
Lakota territory legally defined by the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868 is
the Black Hills region. As of August, 1979, some 5,163 uranium claims
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were held in the Black Hills National Forest alone (a claim generally
accommodates about 20 acres); 218,747 acres of “private” land in the
area are also under mining leases.*

In addition to uranium, coal is a major factor within Lakota
territory. The huge Fort Union coal deposit underlies approximately
half the land, including the whole of both the current Crow and
Northern Cheyenne reservations in Montana, the Fort Berthold reser-
vation in North Dakota, and substantial portions of the Standing Rock
and Cheyenne River Lakota reservations near the North Da-
kota/South Dakota state line. According to Harvey Wasserman:

Overall, the plans for industrializing the Black Hills are staggering. They

include a gigantic energy park featuring more than a score of 10,000-

megawatt coal-fired plants, a dozen nuclear reactors, huge coal slurry

pipelines designed to use millions of gallons of water to move crushed

coal thousands of miles, and at least 14 major uranium mines.*

Waier 1ay be the st inunediaiely cudial issue. The plans for
just one mine, Burdock, call for the “depressurization” of aquifers
prior to commencement of mining per se. This would entail the pump-
ing of some 675 gallons per minute from the area’s quite limited
ground water resources. As depressurization must be maintained for
the duration of mining activities—projected over a full decade in the
case of Burdock—the quantity of water at issue is not trivial. Com-
pounded by the number of mines anticipated as being operational
during the same period, the quantity becomes truly astronomical. The
reason for the ten-year limitation on Burdock projections has little to
do with depletion of mineral resources, but with the anticipated total
exhaustion of regional ground water supplies by the end of the first
decade (i.e., by 1995). The pumped-off water is slated to be used in
operations such as the Energy Transportation Systems, Inc. (ETSI)
pipeline, which is intended to provide a fluid coal transportation
system from the Dakotas to the southeastern United States.

Although development and consolidation of the uranium indus-
try within the Lakota territory are not as pronounced as on Navajo
reservations, the sorts of environmental phenomena occurring there
are similar. On June 11, 1962, 200 tons of radioactive mill tailings
washed into the Cheyenne River, an indirect source of potable water
for the Pine Ridge reservation.*! In June 1980, the Indian Health
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Service announced that well water at the reservation community of
Slim Buttes contained gross alpha levels at least three times the
national safety standard.*?> A new well at Slim Buttes, however, tested
at 70 picocuries (pCi) per liter. This is fourteen times the standard.
Similarly, subsurface water on Pine Ridge’s Red Shirt Table tested at
several times “acceptable” limits of radioactivity, and tests conducted
at the towns of Manderson and Oglala revealed comparable results.
The distribution of these locations is such as to indicate that the water
sources for the entire reservation have been affected.*?

Stanley Looking Elk, then Tribal President, requested that
$175,000 of the $200,000 federal allocation for reservation water man-
agement be committed to securing emergency (uncontaminated)
water supplies. In a response strikingly similar to that of United
Nuclear at Churchrock (in its implications of the “expendability” of
the indigenous population), the Bureau of Indian Affairs stipulated
that such alternative water supplies could be secured on Pine Ridge,
but only for consumption by cattle.** Perhaps the reason underlying the
government’s stonewalling on the issue of radioactive contamination
on Pine Ridge is that much worse is yet to come. Not the least cause
of this could be the circumstance brought out in a situation report
carried in Akwesasne Notes:

The Air Force retained an area near which residents have sighted large

containers being flown in by helicopter. These reports have raised strong

suspicions that the Gunnery Range was being used as a dump for
high-level military nuclear waste, which may be leaking radioactivity

into the Lakota Aquifer. In the same area, the rate of stillborn or deformed

calves has skyrocketed. Northeast of this area are 12 nuclear missile sites

whose radioactive effects are unknown.*®

The “Gunnery Range” is an area within the northwestern quad-
rant of the Pine Ridge reservation “borrowed” from the Oglala Lako-
tas in 1942 for use in training Army Air Corps gunners. It was to be
returned upon the conclusion of World War II, but never was. In 1975,
in “secret negotiations,” former Tribal Chair Dick Wilson assigned
legal title over the area to the federal government (after 33 years of
boldfaced expropriation by the federal government), ostensibly so
that it could become a formal part of the Badlands National Monu-
ment.*® Area residents have felt all along that the area was being used
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as a convenient dumping ground for virulently toxic nuclear waste,
away from large concentrations of “mainstream” U.S. citizens."

Whether or not the government is engaged in such a classified
operation, it is known that earlier uranium mining and milling activi-
ties at the former army ordnance depot at Igloo, South Dakota, left
something on the order of 3.5 million tons of exposed tailings lining
the banks of the Cheyenne River and Cottonwood Creek, one of the
rivers tributaries, in the downtown area of nearby Edgemont.*® While
it is known that wind and erosion are carrying significant quantities
of this radioactive contaminant into these sources of potable water, it
is considered “cost prohibitive” to clear up the wastes.*’ To the con-
trary, during the period 1987-89, the government purportedly “fixed”
the tailings problem at Edgemont by digging up the wastes piled all
through the center of Edgemont and redumping them in an open area
a few miles outside the village limits. This new “disposal site” is
protected by nothing more than signs adorning a chain-link fence, as
accompanying maps reveal.

Meanwhile, the same governmental/corporate entities which pro-
claimed that the commencement of uranium mining at Edgemont, circa
1955, carried with it “no public health hazard” are now proclaiming the
area so thoroughly contaminated by radiation that there is nothing for it
but to use the site as a national nuclear waste dump.” The cancer death
rate among longtime Edgemont residents is currently skyrocketing but
government/ corporate spokespersonshave recently proclaimed that the
situation of the dump site in the southern Black Hills area presents “no
health danger” to surrounding communities.”’ South Dakota governor
William Janklow, who campaigned on a platform plank of not allowing
dump sites within the state, has apparently reversed his view, now
advocating location of the dump in Edgemont as a boon to the momen-
tarily depressed uranium industry.

What is not stated publicly by either federal or corporate officials
is that such a site, and Black Hills uranium production in general, all
but inevitably causes radioactive leaching into the Madison Forma-
tion, the primary ground water source of the region (and the same
water which it is proposed will be transported to the American
Southeast via coal slurries). The U.S. Department of the Interior itself
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quietly summed up this problem in a 1979 report cited in Akwesasne
Notes and concerning uranium tailing ponds:

Contamination is well beyond the safe limit for animals. Escape by

infiltration into the water table or by breakout to stream drainages could

cause contamination by dangerous levels of radioactivity. Stock or hu-
mans using water from wells down gradient from tailing ponds would

be exposed. Plants and animals encountering contaminated flows or

contaminated sediments deposited in drainage channels would be ex-

posed. Increasing the danger is the nondegradable and accumulative
nature of this type of contamination.*

The same, of course, would pertain, in quantum fashion, to the
types of material commonly disposed of in nuclear dumping opera-
tions. What the government report does not bring out is that, not only
could this happen but, in all probability, it already has—as is testified
to both by the earlier cited 1962 “spill” at Edgemont, and by reported
ground water radiation levels at Pine Ridge. Correspondingly, a ten-
tative study conducted by Women of All Red Nations on Pine Ridge
indicates a marked increase in such radiation-associated phenomena
as stillbirths, infant deformations such as cleft palate, and cancer
deaths among reservation residents since 1970.>> The relationship
between this situation and the disaster at Edgemont seems clear
enough, and underscores the cynicism of government/ corporate con-
tentions that a continued development of the uranium industry holds
no ill effects for area communities. The Greater Sioux Nation, like the
Navajo Nation, has become effectively another radioactive colony
within the schema of the new colonialism.>* Again, the data presented
are but a narrow sample of the prevailing situation within the aggre-
gate Lakota treaty territory. A fairer portrait is offered by Map II (see
next page).

A more candid (and accurate) appraisal of the situation at Navajo
and the Sioux Nation, in view both of current circumstances and of
developmental projections, came from the Nixon administration in
1972. At that time, in conjunction with studies of U.S. energy devel-
opment needs and planning undertaken by the Trilateral Commis-
sion, thefederal government termed and sought to designate both the
Four Corners region and the impacted region of the Dakotas, Wyo-
ming, and Montana as “National Sacrifice Areas.” That is, areas
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rendered literally uninhabitable through the deliberate elimination of
the total water supplies for industrial purposes (the aquifers are
estimated to take from 5,000 to 50,000 years to effectively replenish
themselves) and proliferation of nuclear contamination (much of
which carries alethal half-life of from a quarter to a half-million years).
In other words, the destruction anticipated is effectively permanent.>

Needless to say, consummation of such plans would immediately
eradicate Navajo and the so-called “Sioux Complex” as reservations.
The largest block of landholdings remaining to American Indians
within the United States would thus be lost utterly and irrevocably.
The same situation would of course pertain to smaller reservations
such as Hopi and'most other Pueblos, Northern Cheyenne, Crow, and
possibly Wind River, which lie within the “sacrifice areas.” The great
likelihood is that the peoples involved, to the extent that they are not
physically expended within the immediately projected extraction
processes, would cease to function as peoples, once severed from their
land base. Like the Klamath people who were “terminated” in the
1950s and never recovered their Oregon homeland, these newly lan-
dless nations would in all probability disintegrate rapidly, dissolving
into the mists of history. By conventional English definition, such a
prospect and such a process can only be termed genocide.”®

Nor is the situation in Canada appreciably different, in spirit if not
in quantity and intensity. The James Bay power project undertaken
through conjoint governmental and corporate efforts, for example,
threatens to utterly demolish the habitat, lifeways, and self-sufficiency of
the Cree people in that area.”’” Comparable sorts of activity in virtually
every province of Canada harbor the same results for various indigenous
peoples.”® The native peoples of the entire northern half of the Americas
stand inimminent danger of being swallowed up and eliminated entirely
by the broader societies which have engulfed their land.

For American Indians to opt toward the very processes sketched
as being at work within this section, to embrace transient extractive
“industrialism” as a “solution” to the sorts of problems they now
confront, problems brought into being and fostered by the repre-
sentative institutions of industrial control and consolidation itself,
seems at best to be a self-defeating strategy. More likely, it promises
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participation in a route to self-liquidation or, to borrow a phrase from
certain analysts of the recent holocaust in Kampuchea and to place it
within a rather more accurate framework, to engage in “auto-geno-
cide.”® Whatever the short-run benefits in terms of diminishing the,
by now, all but perpetual cycle of American Indian disease, malnutri-
tion, and despair generated by neocolonialism, the looming longer-
term costs vastly outweigh them. In the next section, however, we
shall examine whether even the short-term benefits perceived by such
agencies of American Indian “progress” as CERT and many tribal
councils as roads to prosperity and self-determination are more real

or illusory in their immediate potentials.

Radioactive Colonialism

When years before they had first come to the people living on the
Ceboleta land grant they had not said what kind of mineral it was. They
said they were driving U.S. Government cars, and they paid the land
grant association five thousand dollars not to ask questions about the
test holes they were drilling...Early in the Spring of 1943, the mine began
to flood with water from the subterranean springs. They hauled in big
pumps and compressors from Albuquerque...But later in the summer
the mine flooded again, and this time no pumps or compressors were
sent. They had enough of what they needed, and the mine was closed,
but the barbed wire fence and guards remained until August 1945. By
then they had other sources of uranium, and it was not top secret
anymore...He had been so close to it, caught up in it for so long that its
simplicity struck him deep inside his chest; Trinity site, where they had
exploded the first atomic bomb, was only three hundred miles to the
southeast, at White Sands. And the top-secret laboratories where the
bomb had been created were deep in the Jemez mountains on land the
Government took from the Cochiti Pueblo: Los Alamos, only a hundred
miles Northeast of him now, still surrounded by high electric
fences...There was no end to it; it knew no boundaries; and he arrived
at the point of convergence where the fate of all living things, and even
the earth had been laid. From the jungles of his dreaming he recognized
why the Japanese voices merged with the Laguna voices...converging
in the middle of witchery’s final ceremonial sand painting. From that
time on, human beings were one clan again, united by the fate the
destroyers had planned for all of them, for all living things; united by a
circle of death that devoured people in cities twelve thousand miles
away, victims who had never known these mesas, never seenthe delicate
colors of the rocks that had boiled up their slaughter.

—Leslie Marmon Silko, Ceremony
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Economic and labor analysts have argued on numerous occasions
thatimproved labor relations and altered mineral development poli-
cies could, or would, tip the cost/benefit balance to the favorableside
ofthescalefor American Indians. The careful examination of Lorraine
Turner Ruffing in relation to such contentions (“A Mineral Develop-
ment Policy for the Navajo Nation”), and information available
through the Oil, Chemical, and Atomic Workers Union (Denver, Colo-
rado) combine with any fundamental understanding of the general
. environment in uranium-producing regions to dispute notions that
adjusting or “tuning” the production scenario will do much of any-
thing to offset negative factors over either the long or short terms.

The circumstances correlated to the Navajo experience at Ship-
rock, Churchrock, Tuba City, and elsewhere and, in a slightly different
sense, the experiences of the Lakota to the north are not anomalies.
There is, and can be, no “safe” uranium mining, processing, or waste
disposal, either now or in the foreseeable future. Such facts can be
denied, they can be argued upon debater’s points or the exclusivity
of narrow ranges of technical “expertise,” but they cannot be made to
go away in the real world where people and environments become
contaminated, sicken, and die.

We have already seen how the energy corporations and the gov-
ernment use local Indian workforces at the lowest possible wage,
paying little if any heed to community safety, avoiding bothseverance
taxes to cover the community costs incurred by their presence and
land reclamation costs to cover even the most lethal of their damages
upon departure, and paying the absolute minimum rate in royalties
for the milled ore they ship. Equally, we have seen that the nature of
the destruction they anticipate creating, and do create, as an integral
aspect of their “productive process” is such that there can be no further
tribal development, post mining. It is unlikely that much beyond the
level of amoeba will be able to survive in a National Sacrifice Area,
once sacrificed.

In other words, long-term consequences foreclose upon short-
term advantages where the uranium production process is concerned.
Of course, the “right” Indian negotiator might be able to bargain the
royalty rates to a higher, more “acceptable” level; say two, or five, or
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ten times the going rate in Indian country. But, to what avail? This
short-run “gain” is a mirage. No matter what magnitude of cash flow
is generated from suchresourcesales by tribal managerial elites, it can
only be “invested” in ahomeland which is soon to be uninhabitable,
a people soon to be extinguished. Cash can never be sufficient to
replace either the homeland or the people. Adjustments to the rate of
exchange are thus ultimately irrelevant to the issue at hand, whether
over the next two decades, or the next twenty.

The only possibility of even short-term benefits, then, lies in the
improbable possibility that a preponderance of tribal members, peo-
ple who, despite personal confusions of identity and a grinding
poverty lasting for generations, have clung steadfastly to overall
notions of Indianness and maintained a firm embrace of their home-
lands, are somehow now prepared to abandon these things for the
external reality of the dominant culture. In order for even this dubious
prospect to be more than mere illusion, however, the uranium devel-
opment option (and other energy development options as well) must
both be survivable to participants (which includes, from an Indian
perspective, the ability to bear healthy children, the “unborn genera-
tions” leading to familial / tribal survival), and offer them not only a
cash reserve, but also the skills and employment situation through
which to successfully enter the “mainstream.”

The question thus becomes whether in fact there are means avail-
able through which such short-run considerations might be met,
assuming thatIndians desired them. In this connection, it would seem
that unionization might provide a key to success. The Oil, Chemical,
and Atomic Workers Union (OCAW) is the largest and most influen-
tial workers’ force within the uranium industry. Although not all
miners are unionized within the Grants Uranium Belt of the South-
west, the OCAW has been successful in pressuring the overall ura-
nium industry to a degree. To begin with, the union has essentially
achieved standardization of conditions for all miners within the
area—union or non-union—brown, red, black, or white.

As a result, conditions such as those prevailing in the Shiprock
mine during the 1950s are now uncommon, even exceptional. Yet the
industry, by OCAW estimation, remains one of the most dangerousin
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every phase.®’ Primary union concerns, and actions, have been de-
voted to increasing worker safety conditions within the mines. In one
year, 1967,525 men wereseriously injured in the mines of New Mexico
alone; seven of them died. But these are problems which prevail across
the mining industry as a whole. The more insidious hazards associ-
ated with uranium mining—and the ones which claim the heaviest
toll—are those involving chemical and radiation contamination.

In this regard, the OCAW has been active in opposing the “bonus
system,” the practiceby which corporations reward miners financially
for operating in “hot spots” and/or working higher grade ore than is
normally handled. In essence, the union argues that such sustained
exposure as is expected of miners performingunder the bonus system
virtually guarantees contamination (and an early death), and that the
corporations are intentionally down-playing the risks involved. The
OCAW has also held that “worker rotation systems” for working hot
spots and super-rich ore—often without the benefits of extra pay—fail
to solve the contamination problem, serving instead to spread poten-
tially lethal concentrations of radiation—on the order of 6.5 times
maximum “safe” dosages—throughout the entire workforce.!

In some respects, then, OCAW might be viewed as affording a
means by which initial steps have been taken to provide tangible
worker safety. In addition, the union has proven quite successful in
attaining real wage increases for miners across the board, whether or
not they belong to OCAW. But, in fairness, it must be said that the
union has ultimately succeeded in eliminating the most extreme forms
of abuseroutinely conducted by management (such as operating deep
shafts without ventilation), while merely exposingrather than correct-
ing the more generic varieties. In this sense, whileit is certainly a more
humane and progressive entity than the corporations it confronts, it
represents no solution to the problems with which it deals. Addition-
ally, many of the strategies through which the union has proposed to
force wage increases and improved safety standards are much better
suited to the usual, highly mobile mine labor force than to “reserva-
tion bound” Indian miners.

Similarly, a number of improvements attained by the OCAW in
behalf of its miner constituency have, perversely, worked to the det-
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riment of the Indian miners’ home communities. Consider the matter
of mine ventilation: the uniform installation of proper ventilating
blowers within mineshaftsis unquestionably a major gain for miners.
For transient miners, thisis essentially theend of the story: a gain. But,
for those whose intention it is to live out their lives within the mining
community, and to have their children and their children’s children
live out their lives in the community as well, the question of what
becomes of radioactive dust blown from the mine shafts assumes a
critical importance.

The answer, of course, is, into the air of the community, from
which it settles upon the community. Hence, the gain to the Indian
miner in terms of increased workplace safety for him/herself is in-
curred at the direct expense of his/her permanent community. The
Gulf-operated Mt. Taylor mine located in San Mateo, New Mexico, is
a significant site of such problems. It is but one of many. The town of
Questa, New Mexico, has its elementary school built upon a dry
tailing pond, at the foot of a tailing pile, situated near shaft ventilators.
The OCAW maintains, perhaps rightly, that such matters are beyond
its purview. But this leaves the concept of unionization voided in a
very important respect for Indian miners and their communities.

Short-run considerations of the ultimate survivability of uranium
production would thus seem heavily skewed to the negative, both for
participating miners and for participating communities. In view of
this fact, concerns with short-term income (wage) benefits seem rather
beside the point. There would obviously seem little advantage to be
gained from achieving a short-term economic “security” from an
occupation which was directly and rapidly killing not only you, but
your family and future offspring as well. Given the remote possibility
that things are somehow not as they seem, either in the overall or in
some particular sense or locale, the short-term economic implica-
tions—with an emphasis on individuals—will also be examined.

All uranium-producing American Indian nations, and the indi-
viduals who comprise them, are in the position typified by the
Navajo’s Churchrock community: they are economic hostages of the
new colonialism. For example, approximately 7,000 acres of the
418,000-acre Laguna Pueblo landholding is leased to the Anaconda
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Corporation. The tribal posture in entering into the leasing agreement
was to secure royalty revenues for the group, and jobs/income for
individuals within the group. In effect, the land has passed under
Anaconda’s eminent domain. Anaconda operated uranium stripping
operations at Laguna from 1952 until 1981, when, as in the case of
Kerr-McGee’s Shiprock mine, profitably extractible ore played out.
During the operating years, the Laguna Tribal Council negotiated an
agreement with the corporation whereby tribal applicants would
receive priority hiring to work in the reservation mine. The practice
was quite successful, with some 93 percent of the Anaconda labor
force ultimately accruing from the pueblo. As the mining operation
expanded over the years, so did the workforce, from 350 in 1952 to a
peak of 650 in 1979.%

Wages to miners, relative to average per capita incomes on reser-
vations, are quite high, and the high concentration of miners within
the tiny Laguna population established it as one of the “richer”
all-round tribal groups in the country by the early to-mid-1960s.%
Throughout the 1970s, unemployment within the tribal membership
averaged approximately 25 percent, quite high by non-Indian stand-
ards, but less than half the prevailing average reservation rate nation-
ally. Further, royalty payments and other mechanisms allowed the
Lagunas to symbolically break certain important aspects of the typical
reorganization-fostered dependency upon the federal government.
By 1979, former Laguna governor Floyd Correa was able to state in an
interview that, of the tribal unemployed, only twelve were collecting
unemployment benefits (as compared to the estimated 20 percent of
the total labor force collecting benefits on most reservations at any
given moment). Upon superficial examination, the Lagunas seemed
well on the road to recovering the self-sufficiency which had long
since passed from the grasp of most North American indigenous
nations.

The bubble burst when Anaconda abruptly pulled up stakes and
left thehusk of their mining operation: a gaping crater and, of course,
piles of virulently radioactive slag. Over the years, Laguna’s negoti-
ating position had steadily deteriorated as the absolute centrality of
the Anaconda operation became apparent to the people—and to the
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corporation. Consequently very little provision was built into lease
renewals which would have accommodated clean-up and land recla-
mation upon conclusion of mining activities. It will likely cost the
pueblo more to repair environmental havoc wrought by the corpora-
tion thanitearned during thelife of the mining contract.** And, unlike
Anaconda, the Laguna people as a whole cannot simply move away,
leaving the mess behind; nor can individual workers. The abrupt
departure of Anaconda left the majority of the reservation’s income-
earners suddenly jobless. Here, a cruel lesson was to be learned. The
skills imparted through training and employment in uranium mining
are notreadily translatable to other forms of employment, nor are they
particularly transferable without dissolution of the tribal group itself
(i.e., miners and their families moving away from the pueblo in order
to secure employment elsewhere). Meanwhile, the steady 30-year
gravitation of the Laguna population toward mining as a livelihood
caused a correspondingly steady atrophy of theskillsand occupations
enabling the pueblo to remain essentially self-sufficient for centuries.

Whether or not the former Anaconda employees can “adjust” to
their new circumstances and make a sort of reverse transition to more
traditional occupations and/or secure adequate alternative employ-
ment proximate to the reservation may be in some respects a moot
point. While not as pronounced as in the deep shaft mining areas of
the Navajo Nation, the pattern of increasing early deaths from respi-
ratory cancer and similar ailments—as well as congenital birth de-
fects—has been becoming steadily more apparent on the reserva-
tion.® Most of the afflicted no longer retain the health insurance
coverage, once a part of the corporate employment package, through
which to offset the costs of their illnesses (and those suffered by
relatives within the extended family structures by which the pueblo
is organized). Thus, the ghost of Anaconda is eating the personal as
well as tribal savings accruing from the mining experience.

It seems safe enough to observe that the short-term benefits
perceived at Laguna were more illusory than real. Although a tempo-
rary sense of economic security was imparted by the presence of a
regular payroll, and the “stability” of a “big time” employer, there was
never time to consolidate the apparent gains. Costs swiftly overtook
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gains, although the tribal government was not necessarily immedi-
ately privy to the change of circumstances. In the final analysis, the
people may well end up much more destitute, and in an infinitely
worse environmental position, than was ever the case in the past. As
if to underscore the point, water has become a major problem at
Laguna, one which may eventually outweigh all the others brought
about by its relatively brief relationship with Anaconda. The Rio
Paguate River, which once provided the basis for irrigation and a
potentially thriving local agriculture, now runs through the unre-
claimed ruins of corporate flight. As early as 1973, the federal Envi-
ronmental Protection Agency (EPA) discovered that the strip-mining
operation was contaminating the Laguna water supply.*®

With agricultural and cattle-raising production withering under
the glare of higher paying and more “glamorous” work in the mine,
the pueblo converted to ground water in meeting all, rather than a
portion, of its potable needs. In 1975, however, the EPA returned to
find widespread ground water contamination throughout the Grants
Mineral Belt, including that under Laguna.”’ In 1978, the EPAwas back
again, this time to reassure tribal members that all of their available
water sources were dangerously contaminated by radioactivity, and
that the tribal council building, community center, and newly con-
structed Jackpile Housing—paid for in substantial proportion by
royalty monies—were all radioactive as well.®® Additionally, Ana-
conda had used low-grade uraniumore to “improve”the road system
leading to the mine and village.”

Hence, even were the Lagunas able to reclaim the land directly
associated with what was once the world’s largest open pit uranium
mine (preceding Namibia’s Rossing Mine for this dubious distinc-
tion), no small feat in itself, and even if they were somehow able to
avert the seemingly impending carcinogenic and genetic crises, re-
store an adequate measure of employment and tribal income, and
clear up at least the direct sources of contamination to the Rio Paguate,
they would still be faced with the insurmountable problem of con-
taminated ground water (which can accrue from quite far-flung loca-
tions). And, if they have had enough of such “progress” and wish to
attempt areturnto theagriculture and animal husbandry which stood



174 FROM A NATIVE SON

them in such good stead for generations? Then they will still have to
contend with the factor of disrupted ore bodies which persist in
leaching out into otherwise reclaimed soil.

When such leaching occurs, radioactive contaminants are drawn
into the roots of plants. Animals, whether human or otherwise, con-
suming contaminated plants likewise become contaminated. This too
may well be an insurmountable problem. It seems likely that the
damage is done and irreparable, that the way of life the Lagunas have
known, and with which they identify and represent themselves as a
people, is gone forever. And in exchange? Nothing. At least, nothing
of value, unless one wishes to place a value on radioactive community
centers and road repairs; or unless one wishes to consider as valuable
the bitter legacy and lessons learned as an example from which to base
future plans and future actions.

Laguna isnotuniquein the nature of its experience. The examples
drawn earlier from the NavajoNation and the Lakota territory should
be sufficient to demonstrate that. Dozens, scores, even hundreds of
additional examples might be cited from Hopi, from Zuni, Acoma,
Isleta, Crow, Northern Cheyenne, and elsewhere in the United States,
and from the Cree, Métis, Athabasca, and other territories of Canada,
through which to illustrate the point. One other example within the
United States might be drawnupon to nail things down. This concerns
the Department of Energy’s nuclear facility at Hanford, on the bound-
ary of the Yakima Nationin central Washington state. Designed on the
same pattern as the ill-fated Soviet plant at Chernobyl, Hanford was
used for 40 years to produce weapons-grade fissionable material.
Finally closed down in 1987, when officials became concerned that a
Chernobyl-style disaster might occur there, Hanford was still de-
scribed by the federal government (in response to growing local
concerns about health hazards inherent to the plant) as having func-
tioned in a “safe and essentially accident-free fashion” throughout its
operational existence. Finally, in July of 1990, government spokesper-
sons admitted that the weapons facility had been since the early 1950s
secretly dumping radioactive wastes into the environment at a level
at least 2,000 times greater than those officially deemed “safe.””
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Ayear later, in April 1991, this was spelled out as meaning that 444
billion gallons of water laced with plutonium, strontium, tritium, ruthe-
nium, cesium, and assorted “rare earth elements” had been simply
poured into a holein the ground over the years. It was admitted that these
materials had long since seeped into local ground water sources, and
estimated that the contamination will reach the Columbia River by the
end of the decade (the local populace needn’t worry about health haz-
ards, however; “progressive” legislators have managed to prohibit ciga-
rette smoking in all the buildings located above the dump site asa means
of sparing health-conscious eitizens the hazards of breathing such “air
pollution”).”" In sum, the residents of Yakima and the surrounding area
have been exposed to greater concentrations of radiation—as a matter of
course—than were those Soviet citizens living in or near Chernobyl
during the near meltdown of the reactor there. Further, they, unlike their
covmterparts in the TISSR, had been unknowingly exposed to the con-
tamination for decades.

It should by now be plain that thereis neither short- norlong-term
advantage to be gained by indigenous nations in entering into energy
resource extraction agreements. Advantage accrues only to the corpo-
rate and governmental representatives of a colonizing and dominant
industrial culture. Occasionally it accrues momentarily, and in limited
fashion, to the “Vichy” tribal governments they have reorganized into
doing their bidding. For the people, there is only expendability, de-
struction, and grief under this new colonization. Ironically, the situ-
ation was spelled out in the clearest possible terms by Los Alamos
Scientific Laboratory, the site of the birth of “controlled” nuclear
fission, in its February 1978 Mini-Report:

Perhaps the solution totheradon emission problem is tozonethe land into

uranium mining and milling districts so as to forbid human habitation.

Viewed in this light, the choices for uranium-rich, land-locked
reservation populations are clearly defined. For some, there is cause
for immediate retreat from engagement in the uranium extraction
process. For others, it is a matter of avoiding a problem not yet begun.
In either case, such a choice will necessitate an activeresistance to the
demands and impositions of the new colonizers.
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It seems certain that those who would claim “their” uranium to
fuel the engines of empire, both at home and abroad, will be unlikely
to accept a polite (if firm) “no” in response to their desires. Strategies
must be found through which this “no” may be enforced. Perhaps, in
the end, it will be as Leslie Silko put it, that “human beings will be one
clan again” united finally by “the circle of death” which ultimately
confronts us all, united in putting an end to such insanity. Until that
time, however, American Indians, those who have been selected by
the dynamics of radioactive colonization to be the first 20th-century
national sacrifice peoples, must stand alone, or with their immediate
allies, for a commonsurvival. It is a gamble, no doubt, but a gamble
which is clearly warranted. The alternative is virtual species suicide.
There are bright spots within what has otherwise been painted as a
bleak portrait of contemporary Indian Country. It is to these, the
representations of the gamble, and what must be hoped are the
rudiments of an emerging strategy of resistance, to which we turn in
our next and final section.

Conclusion

It is genocide to mine the uranium in ourland, no more, no less.

— Russell Means, 1980

Non-Indian America, Euroamerica in particular, has a long and
sorry history of blaming the victims of its criminal abuse for the
existence of that abuse. Perfectly sincere young professors at Mid-
western universities are wont to stand and observe in all seriousness
that “the Indians fought each other before the white man came,” in a
context implying that there is really nothing differentiating traditions
of counting coup on the one hand, and wars of annihilation on the
other. We are, after all, the same. Others smugly point out that Indians
killed the buffalo, often in large numbers, before the advent of profes-
sional buffalo hunters. Implication? The extermination of an entire
species, in the end as a military tactic, is no different in kind than
subsistence hunting. The Indian, it is presumed, will be stifled from
complaint by the “fact” of having set an example of butchery for his
wanton western brothers.”?
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Again, serious scholars pronounce that dispossession of the Lak-
ota—for example—from their land is little basis for complaint, “given
that the Sioux ran the Crows off their land, too.” Never mind that the
Lakota action resulted from the fact that Anishinabes, well-armed
with muskets gleaned from the fur trade, had—when being shoved
west by encroaching whites—in turn pushed the Lakota, who lacked
comparable weaponry, westward into Crow country.”> Never mind,
too, that the Crows, who fought with the U.S. Army rather than
against it, and whom no one claims did much dispossessing of any-
one, were as readily stripped of their land as were the Lakota. The fate
of the Lakota was sealed—through some process of cosmic justice—in
the “nature of their own traditions” according to the conventions of
liberal Euroamerican academe.” Today, the American Indian suffers
from the infliction of radioactive colonization. To be sure, it may be
rightly contended that Indians have participated, often willingly, in
that process. The question which occurs as a result of this obviousness
is whether, once again, a form of logical convolution will be applied
thereby through which to blame the Indian for his/her fate. And, if
such distortive blame is applied, will it be used, as it usually has been,
to fabricate a justification for and sanction of the status quo?

In political terms, such an attitude, whether overtly or subtly
expressed, has generally led to the assumption that—defects of our
own cultures somehow having brought us to our contemporary
pass—Indians inherently require, and deserve, non-Indian ideology
and leadership. To put it another way, Indians have proven “weak” in
a Darwinian sense, have through such weakness been overrun and
left prostrate by the “stronger” cultures of Europe, and must now be
subsumed as a small butintegral component of European conceptions
of revolution currently employed against the equally Eurospecific
notions of imperialism which generate Indians’ (and everyone else’s)
oppression. For all its “liberatory” veneer, such an outlook is funda-
mentally similar to that of the current oppressor; it preserves, essen-
tially intact, the prevailing and entirely objectionable status quo of
American Indian subordination to an external and dominant cultural
reality, both at the conceptual and at the physical levels.”
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The pattern of victim-blaming mentality underpinning the ideol-
ogy of mostimported “cultures of resistance” within this hemisphere
has also led to certain highly distortive strategic assumptions on the
part of those purporting to combat North American imperialism from
within.”® Concern with economies of scale has led non-Indian dissi-
dents to ignore or dismiss the Indians of North America as a critical
element (real or potential) of anti-imperialist struggle, primarily be-
cause of their small numbers. Discounting the fact of Indian existence
necessarily leads to the missing of their colonial status and the contem-
porary existence of territorially defined colonies within the physical
confines of the North American imperial powers.” This, to be sure, is
no small oversight.

If Indian reality is effectively voided at the intellectual level of
avowed anti-imperialists, the result is the view which seems most
commonly held among non-Indians: that of the United States and
Canada as possessing an essentially seamless (except for class con-
flicts) internal integrity and hegemony through which their imperial-
ism is uniformly exported to other, usually Third World, nations.
Preoccupation with the effects of colonialism, and with indigenous
efforts to offset it, thus centers on North America’s satellites, seldom
upon the continent itself. Such an erroneous view generates a cum-
bersome method of countering imperial policy, slashing as it does
always at the tentacles, never at the heart.”8

This essay has attempted to show why colonies exist within the
countries of North America. Further, it has sought to explain the
absolutely crucial nature of the existence of these colonies, by virtue
of resource distribution and production, to the maintenance and
expansion of North American imperialism. Finally, it has tried to
provide a criticalinsightinto theinternal colonial methods employed,
and the impact of those methods upon the populations most imme-
diately and directly affected by them: the resident populations of the
colonies themselves, American Indians. It is to be hoped that within
such an articulation lie the seeds of an analysis pointing to an anti-im-
perialist mode of action which transcends the victim-blaming and
misorientation marking past practice.
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Within the structural properties and physical characteristics of
North American internal colonialism lie the levers with which a
properly focused anti-imperialist effort can begin to pry apart the
skeletal components of the imperial nations themselves. The applica-
tion of the broadest possible support to the internationally acceptable
(among Third World nations, for example) principle of the sanctity
and sovereignty of Indian treaty territories would carry a considerable
challenge of and jeopardy to the physical integrity of both the United
States and Canada. Perhaps even more crucial is that the specific areas
most in question in this regard are such that both nations would find
themselves denied ease of access to a major proportion of their stra-
tegic reserves of vital raw materials. Similarly, any exertion of real
tribal sovereignty over the treaty territories would serve to curtail an
array of both nations’ internal production capabilities, both in terms
of denying conveniently “remote” locations, and in denying the water
upon which many—if not most—industrial processes depend.

Clearly, such a turn of events would prove crippling to imperialism
in ways which confronting its presence within the satellite colonies
abroad never has, and in all probability never can. Not that facing the
facts of the matter provides a panacea, a magic act through which such
conditions can be actualized at a stroke. The treaties and other factors at
issue have existed all along, and are well known to both corporate and
governmental managers. For what must be obvious reasons, such man-
agershavesystematically declined tohonorthetreaties, torespect Ameri-
can Indian ownership of much of the contemporary basis of North
American power. Implementation of treaty terms and provisions, with
all that this implies, will necessarily entail a considerable and sustained
struggle on the broadest possible popular basis.

The question thus emerges as to who is to lead such a struggle, to
provide it form and direction in its day-to-day development. Here, an
utter inversion of the principle of blaming the victim and its accom-
panying orthodoxy of Euro-derived movements is indicated. Cur-
rently, representative leaders and movements know little of treaties,
their implications and practical potentials in the global arena. Nor is
the extent of American Indian territoriality, water rights, resource
holdings, and the like—both current and potential (by virtue of treaty
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rights)—particularly well understood outside the circles of Indian
activism. Nor has the background and experience of most non-Indian
anti-imperialists especially suited them for direct interaction with and
grassroots organization of the internal colonial populations. All of this
combines to present a rather poor case for American Indians being led
by non-Indians in any struggle to dismantle the North American
internal colonial structure. To the contrary, it points very plainly to the
prospect that-a real and highly visible Indian leadership component
of any North American anti-imperialist movement must be accepted
as a prerequisite to success.

Native people have, after all, been forced to live in the very front
lines of the colonial process, through no choice of their own, for
generations. They, among all the people of America, have been im-
bued with a comprehensive understanding of that process at the most
practical level. Inadvertently, this knowledge, and their geographical
disposition, has placed them in a position at the very cutting edge of
any emergent contestation of North American political economy,
regardless of the numerical status of their population and other
factors. Hence, the recent actualization of certain American Indian (or
Indian led) activist formations and the undertaking of certain actions
by these formations should be viewed with hope, as bright spots in
what is otherwise a deadening panorama of horror.

The first, and perhaps most obvious, of these has been the found-
ing and continuation of the American Indian Movement (AIM) and,
for a time, its subordinate diplomatic component, the International
Indian Treaty Council. Another AIM spinoff, and one which should
be carefully studied by non-Indian and Indian activists alike, was the
Black Hills Alliance. Within this coalition of various regional organi-
zations, native people held a very strong but hardly exclusive leader-
ship position. The formal board of directors was composed not only
of AIM members, but also of miners, clergy, area ranchers, and at least
one former John Birch Society member (who professes to have shot at
AIM people only a few years before). Using treaty rights and the
environment as first points of contention, this amalgamation was able
to successfully articulate a practical program of anti-imperialism
within its area which stressed the commonality of issues between
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Indians and non-Indians.” By adopting such a posture, the Alliance was
able to assume a position in the very forefront of local resistance to
wholesale mining, uranium production, water diversion, land expropria-
tion (from ranchers and Indians alike), and so forth. It was also able to
mount the 1979 and 1980 Black Hills International Survival Gatherings,
which formulated a strategy wherein Indian treaty rights were viewed as
the key to countering governmental/corporate processes detrimental to
the population as a whole, and drew unprecedented numbers of non-area
activists to the Black Hills region.* Having successfully opposed nuclear
dumping at Edgemont and the ETSI initiative, the Alliance essentially
dissolved, its membership going on toserveascadrein otherlocal, regional,
or national organizations.

While a number of other events and circumstances across the face
of Indian Country could be cited to underscore the point being made,
the preceding examples should be sufficient to render credible the
observation that the rudiments of a serious, seasoned, and effective
internal anti-imperialist movement currently exist within AIM and
conceptually affiliated organizations. That such a movement must
expand tremendously in scale before it can hope to attain its ultimate
goals is undeniable. That such expansion can occur within North
America only through the attraction of non-Indian allies is equally
unquestionable. Here, both the model offered by the Black Hills
Alliance, and the earlier mentioned inversion of the usual non-Indian
agendas and priorities become crucial.

The struggle currently shouldered by AIM and related native organi-
zations is not merely “for Indians.” It is for everyone. To resolve the issue
of the colonization of the American Indian would be, at least in part, to
resolve matters threatening to the whole of humanity. In altering the
relations of internal colonialism in North America, “the AIM idea” would
vastly reduce the capability of the major nations there to extend their
imperial web into Central and South America, as well as Africa, Asia, and
the Pacific Basin. In denying access to the sources of uranium to the
industrial powers, American Indians could take a quantum leap toward
solving the problem of nuclear proliferation. In denying access to certain
other resources, they could do much to force conversion to renewable,
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nonpolluting alternative energy sources such as solar and wind
power. The list could be extended at length.

Ultimately, the Lagunas, the Shiprocks, Churchrocks, Tuba Cities,
Edgemonts, and Pine Ridges which litter the American landscapeare
not primarily a moral concern for non-Indian movements (although
they should be that, as well). Rather, they are pragmatic examples,
precursors of situations and conditions which, within the not-so-dis-
tant future, will engulf other population sectors; which, from place to
place, have already begun to actively encroach in a more limited
fashion. Circumstance has made the American Indian the first to bear
the full brunt of the new colonialism in North America. The only
appropriate response is to see to it that they are also the last. The new
colonialism knows no limits. Expendable populations will be ex-
pended. National sacrifice areas will be sacrificed. New populations
and new areas will then be targeted, expended, and sacrificed. There
is no sanctuary. The new colonialism is radioactive; what it does can
never be undone. Left to its own dynamics, to run its course, it will
spread across the planet like the literal cancer it is. It can never be
someone else’s problem; regardless of its immediate location at the
moment, it has become the problem and peril of everyone alive, and
who will be alive. The place to end it is where it has now taken root
and disclosed its inner nature. The time to end it is now.
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LIKE SAND IN THE WIND
The Malzing of an American
Indian Diaspora in the United
States

They are going away! With a visible reluctance which nothing has
overcome but the stern necessity they feel impelling them, they have
looked their last upon the graves of their sires—the scenes of their youth,
and have taken up the slow toilsome march with their household goods
among them to their new homes in a strange land. They leave names to
many of our rivers, towns, and counties, and so long as our State remains
the Choctaws who once owned most of her soil will be remembered.

—Vicksburg Daily Sentinel, February 25, 1832

We told them that we would rather die than leave our lands; but we
could not heln ourselves They tnok us down, Many died on the road.
Two of my children died. After we reached the new land, all my horses
died. The water was very bad. All our cattle died; not one was left. I
stayed till one hundred and fifty-eight of my people had died. Then I
ran away.

—Standing Bear, January 1876

ithin the arena of Diaspora Studies, the question of whether the

field’s analytical techniques might be usefully applied to the
indigenous population of the United States is seldom raised. In large
part, thisappears to be due to an unstated presumption on the part of
diaspora scholars that because the vast bulk of the native people of
t e United States remain inside the borders of that nation-state, no
population dispersal comparable to that experienced by African
Americans, Asian Americans, Latinos—or, forthat matter, Euroameri-
cans—is at issue. Upon even minimal reflection, however, the fallacy
imbedded at the core of any such premise is quickly revealed.

To say that a Cherokee remains essentially “at home” so long as
s/heresides within the continental territoriality claimed by the United
States is equivalent to arguing that a Swede displaced to Italy, or a
Vietnamese refugee in Korea, would be at home simply because they
remain in Europe or Asia. Native Americans, no less than other
peoples, can and should be understood as identified with the specific

191
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peoples. Mohawks are native to the upstate New York/southern
Quebec region, not Florida or California. Chiricahua Apaches are
indigenous to southern Arizona and northern Sonora, not Oklahoma
or Oregon. The matter is not only cultural, although the dimension of
culture is crucially important, but political and economic as well.

Struggles by native peoples to retain use and occupancy rights
over their traditional territories, and Euroamerican efforts to supplant
them, comprise the virtual entirety of U.S./Indian relations since the
inception of the republic. All 40 of the so-called “Indian Wars” re-
corded by the federal government were fought over land.! On more
than 370 separate occasions between 1778 and 1871, the Senate of the
United States ratified treaties with one or more indigenous peoples
by which the latter ceded portions of their land base to the United
States. In every instance, a fundamental quid pro quo was arrived at:
each indigenous nation formally recognized as such through a treaty
ratification was simultaneously acknowledged as retaining a clearly
demarcated national homeland within which it might maintain its
sociopolitical cohesion and from which it could draw perpetual sus-
tenance, both spiritually and materially.?

At least five succeeding generations of American Indians fought,
suffered, and died to preserve their peoples’ residency in the portions
of North America which had been theirs since “time immemorial.” In
this sense, the fundamental importance they attached to continuing
their linkages to these areas seems unquestionable. By the same token,
the extent to which their descendants have been dislocated from these
defined, or definable, land bases is the extent to which it can be
observed that the conditions of diaspora have beenimposed upon the
population of Native North America. In this respect, the situation is
so unequivocal that a mere sample of statistics deriving from recent
census data will be sufficient to tell the tale: '

» By 1980, nearly half of all federally recognized American Indians
lived in off-reservation locales, mostly cities. The largest concentra-
tion of indigenous people in the country—90,689—was in the Los
Angeles Metro Area’ By 1990, the proportion of urban-based Indians
is estimated to have swelled to approximately 55 percent.4
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¢ All federally unrecognized Indians—a figure which may run several
times that of the approximately 1.6 million the United States officially
admits still exist within its borders—are effectively landless and
scattered everywhere across the country.5

e Texas, the coast of which was once one of the more populous locales
for indigenous people, reported a reservation-based Native Ameri-
can population of 859 in 1980.° The total Indian population of Texas
was reported as being 39,7407 Even if this number included only
members of peoples native to the area (which it does not), it would
still represent a reduction from about 1.5 million at the point of first
contact with Europeans.8

e A veritable vacuum in terms of American Indian reservations and
population is now evidenced in most of the area east of the Missis-
sippi River, another region once densely populated by indigenous
people. Delaware, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Maryland, New
Harnpshire, INew jersey, Uh1o, Pennsylvania, Khode Island, Tennes-
see, Vermont, Virginia, West Virginia show no reservations at all’ The
total Indian population reported in Vermont in 1980 was 968. In New
Hampshire, the figure was 1,297. In Delaware, it was 1,307; in West
Virginia, 1,555. Thereality is that a greater number of persons indige-
nous to the North American mainland now live in Hawai‘i, far out
in the Pacific Ocean, than in any of these easterly states.®

The ways in which such deformities in the distribution of indige-
nous population in the United States have come to pass wereanything
but natural. To the contrary, the major causative factors have consis-
tently derived from a series of official policies implemented over more
than two centuries by the federal government of the United States.
These have ranged from forced removal during the 1830s, to concen-
tration and compulsory assimilation during the 1880s, to coerced
relocation beginning in the late 1940s. Interspersed through it all have
been periods of outright liquidation and dissolution, continuing into
the present moment. The purpose of this essay is to explore these
policies and their effects on the peoples targeted for such exercises in
“social engineering.”



194 FROM A NATIVE SON

The Postrevolutionary Period

During the period immediately following the American Revolu-
tion, the newly formed United States was in a “desperate financial
plight...[and] saw its salvation in the sale to settlers and land compa-
nies of western lands” lyingoutside the original 13 colonies."" Indeed,
the revolution had been fought in significant part in order to negate
George II's Proclamation of 1763, an edict restricting land acquisition
by British subjects to the area east of the Appalachian Mountains and
thereby voiding certain speculative real estate interests held by the
U.S. founding fathers. During the war, loyalty of rank-and-file sol-
diers, as well as major creditors, had been maintained through war-
rants advanced by the Continental Congress with the promise that
rebel debts would be retired through issuance of deeds to parcels of
Indian land, once the revolution had succeeded.'? A substantial prob-
lem for the fledgling republic was that in the immediate aftermath, it
possessed neither the legal nor the physical means to carry through
on such commitments.

In the Treaty of Paris, signed on September 3, 1783, England quit-
claimed its rights to all present U.S. territory east of the Mississippi.
Contrary to subsequent Americana, this action conveyed no bonafide title
to any of the Indian lands lying within the area.'® Rather, it opened the
way for the United States toreplace Great Britain as the sole entity entitled
under prevailing international law to acquire Indian land in the region
through negotiation and purchase.”® The United States—already an
outlaw state by virtue of its armed rejection of lawful Crown authority—
appears to have been emotionally prepared to seize native property
through main force, thereby continuing its initial posture of gross illegal-
ity Confronted by the incipient indigenous alliance espoused by
Tecumseh in the Ohio River Valley (known at the time as the “Northwest
Territory”) and to the south by the powerful Creek and Cherokee con-
federations, however, the United States found itself militarily stalemated
all along its western frontier.'®

The Indian position was considerably reinforced when England
went back on certain provisions of the Treaty of Paris, refusing to
abandon aline of military installations along the Ohio until the United
States showed itself willing to comply with minimum standards of
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international legalism, “acknowledging the Indian right in the soil” long
since recognized under the Doctrine of Discovery."” To the south, Spanish
Florida also aligned itself with native nations as a means of holding the
rapacious settler population of neighboring Georgia in check."® Frus-
trated, federal authorities had to content themselves with the final dis-
possession and banishment of such peoples as the Huron (Wyandot) and
Delaware (Lenni Lanape)—whose homelands fell within the original
colonies, and who had been much weakened by more than a century of
warfare—to points beyond the 1763 demarcation line. There, these early
elements of a U. S.-precipitated indigenous diaspora were taken in by
stronger nations such as the Ottawa and Shawnee.”

Meanwhile, George Washington’s initial vision of a rapid and
wholesale expulsion of all Indians east of the Mississippi, expressed
in June 1783, was tempered to reflect a more sophisticated process
of gradual encroachment explained by General Philip Schuyler of
New York in a letter to Congress the following month:

As our settlements approach their country, [the Indians] must, from the

scarcity of game, which that approach will induce, retire farther back,

and dispose of their lands, unless they dwindle to nothing, as all savagés

have done...when compelled to live in the vicinity of civilized people,

and thus leave us the country without the expense of purchase, trifling

as that will probably be.?!

As Washington himself was to put it a short time later, “[Plolicy
and economy point very strongly to the expediency of being on good
terms with the Indians, and the propriety of purchasing their Lands
in preference to attempting to drive them by force of arms out of their
Country...The gradual extension of our Settlements will certainly
cause the Savage as the Wolf to retire...In a word there is nothing to
be gained by an Indian War but the Soil they live on and this can be
had by purchase at less expense.”** By 1787, the strategy had become
so well-accepted that the United States was prepared to enact the
Northwest Ordinance (1 Stat. 50), codifying a formal renunciation of
whatithad been calling its “Rights of Conquest” with respect tonative
peoples: “The utmost good faith shall always be observed towards the
Indian; their land shall never be taken from them without their
consent; and in their property, rights, and liberty, they shall never be
invaded or disturbed—but laws founded in justice and humanity
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shall from time to time be made, for wrongs done to them, and for
preserving peace and friendship with them.”?*

Tl'xe Era Of Removal

By the early years of the 19th century, the balance of power in
North America had begun to shift. To a certain extent, this was due to
a burgeoning of the Angloamerican population, a circumstance ac-
tively fostered by government policy. In other respects, it was because
of an increasing consolidation of the U.S. state and a generation-long
erosion of indigenous strength resulting from the factors delineated
in Schuyler’s policy of gradual expansion.”* By 1810, the government
was ready to resume what Congress described as the “speedy provi-
sion of the extension of the territories of the United States” through
means of outright force.”” Already, in 1803, provision had been made
through the Louisiana Purchase for the massive displacement of all
eastern Indian nations into what was perceived as the “vast waste-
land” west of the Mississippi.”® Thejuridical groundwork was laid by
the Supreme Court with Chief Justice John Marshall’s opinion in
Fletcher v. Peck (10 U.S. 87), a decision holding that the title of U.S.
citizens to parcels of Indian property might be considered valid even
though no Indian consent to cede the land had been obtained.”

With the defeat of Great Britain in the War of 1812, the subsequent
defeat of Tecumseh’s confederation in 1813, and General Andrew Jack-
son’s defeat of the Creek Red Sticks in 1814, the “clearing” of the East
beganin earnest.”® By 1819, the United States had wrested eastern Florida
from Spain, consummating a process begun in 1810 with assaults upon
the western (“panhandle”) portion of the territory.” Simultaneously, the
first of a pair of “Seminole Wars” was begun on the Florida peninsula to
subdue an amalgamation of resident Miccosukees, “recalcitrant” Creek
refugees, and runaway chattel slaves naturalized as free citizens of the
indigenous nations.* In 1823, John Marshall reinforced the embryonic
position articulated in Peck with Johnson v. Mclntosh (21 U.S. 98 Wheat.
543), an opinion inverting conventional understandings of indigenous
status in international law by holding that U.S. sovereignty superseded
that of native nations, even within their own territories. During the same
year, President James Monroe promulgated his doctrine professing a
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unilateral U.S. “right” to circumscribe the sovereignty of all other
nations in the hemisphere.?!

In this environment, a tentative policy of Indian “removal” was
already underway by 1824, although not codified as law until the
Indian Removal Act (ch. 148, 4 Stat. 411) was passed in 1830. This was
followed by John Marshall’s opinions, rendered in Cherokee v. Georgia
(30 U.S. (5 Pet.) 1 (1831)) and Worcester v. Georgia (31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 551
(1832)), that Indians comprised “domestic dependent nations,” the
sovereignty of which was subject to the “higher authority” of the
federal government.>? At that point, the federal program of physically
relocating entire nations of people from their eastern homelands to
what was then called the “Permanent Indian Territory of Oklahoma”
west of the Mississippi became full-fledged and forcible.® The pri-
mary targets were the prosperous “Five Civilized Tribes” of the South-
east: the Cherokee. Creek. Chickasaw. Choctaw. and Seminole nations.
They were rounded up and interned by troops, then concentrated in
camps until their numbers were sufficient to make efficient their being
force-marched at bayonet-point, typically without adequate food,
shelter, or medical attention, often in the dead of winter, as many as
1,500 miles to their new “homelands.”?*

There were, of course, still those who attempted to mount a
military resistance to what was happening. Some, like the Sac and Fox
nations of Illinois, who fought what has come to be known as the
“Black Hawk War” against those dispossessing them in 1832, were
simply slaughtered en masse.>® Others, such as the “hard core” of
Seminoles who mounted the second war bearing their name in 1835,
were forced from the terrain associated with their normal way of life.
Once ensconced in forbidding locales like the Everglades, they be-
came for all practical intents and purposes invincible—one group
refused to make peace with the United States until the early 1960s—
but progressively smaller and more diffuse in their demography.*® In
any event, by 1840, removal had been mostly accomplished (although
it lingered as a policy until 1855), with only “the smallest, least
offensive, and most thoroughly integrated tribes escaping the pres-
sure to clear the eastern half of the continent from its original inhabi-
tants.”>” The results of the policy were always catastrophic for the
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victims. For instance, of the approximately 17,000 Cherokees subjected
to the removal process, about 8,000 died of disease, exposure, and
malnutrition along what they called the “Trail of Tears.””* In addition:

The Choctaws aresaid tohavelost fifteen percent of their population, 6,000

out of 40,000; and theChickasaw...surely suffered severe losses as well. By

contrast the Creeks and Seminoles are said to have suffered about 50

percent mortality. For the Creeks, this came primarily in the period imme-

diately after removal: for example, “of the 10,000 or more who were

resettled in 1836-37...an incredible 3,500 died of ‘bilious fevers.”” ¥

Nor was this the only cost. Like the Seminoles, portions of each
of the targeted peoples managed through various means to avoid
removal, remaining in their original territories until their existence
was once again recognized by the United States during the 20th
century. One consequence was a permanent sociocultural and geo-
graphic fragmentation of formerly cohesive groups; while the bulk of
the identified populations of these nations now live in and around
Oklahoma, smaller segments reside on the tiny “Eastern Cherokee”
reservation in North Carolina (1980 population 4,844); the “Missis-
sippi Choctaw” reservation in Mississippi (pop. 2,756); the Micco-
sukee and “Big Cypress,” “Hollywood” and “Brighton” Seminole
reservations in Florida (pops. 213, 351, 416, and 323, respec:tively).40

Anunknown but significantnumber of Cherokees also went beyond
Oklahoma, following theirleader, Sequoia, into Mexico in order toescape
the reach of the United States altogether.*' This established something of
a precedent for other peoples such as the Kickapoos, a small Mexican
“colony” of whom persists to this day.42 Such dispersal was compounded
by the fact that throughout the removal process varying numbers of
Indians escaped at various points along the route of march, blending into
the surrounding territory and later intermarrying with the incoming
settler population. By and large, these people have simply slipped from
the historical record, their descendants today inhabiting a long arc of
mixed-blood communities extending from northern Georgia and Ala-
bama, through Tennessee and Kentucky, and into the southernmost areas
of Illinois and Missouri.*’

Worse was yet to come. At the outset of the removal era proper,
Andrew Jackson—a leading proponent of the policy, who had ridden
into the White House on the public acclaim deriving from his role as
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commander of the 1814 massacre of the Red Sticks at Horseshoe Bend
and a subsequent slaughter of noncombatants during the First Semi-
nole War—offered a carrot as well as the stick he used to compel tribal
“cooperation.”* In 1829, he promised the Creeks that:

Your father has provided a country large enough for all of you, and he

advises you to remove to it. There your white brothers will not trouble

you; they will have no claim to the land, and you can live uponit, you

and all your children, as long as the grass grows or the water runs, in

peace and plenty. It will be yours forever.®

Jackson was, to put it bluntly, lying through his teeth. Even as he
spoke, Jackson was aware that the Mississippi, that ostensible border
between the United States and Permanent Indian Territory pro-
claimed by Thomas Jefferson and others, had already been breached
by the rapidly consolidating states of Louisiana, Arkansas, and Mis-
souri in the south, lowa, Wisconsin, and Minnesota in the north.*® Nor
could Jackson have been unknowing that his close friend, Senator
Thomas Hart Benton of Missouri, had stipulated as early as 1825 that
the Rocky Mountains rather than the Mississippi should serve as an
“everlasting boundary” of the United States.*” By the time the bulk of
removal was completed a decade later, Angloamerican settlement was
reaching well into Kansas. Their cousins who had infiltrated the
Mexican province of Texas had revolted, proclaimed themselves an
independent republic, and were negotiating for statehood. The eyes
of empire had also settled on all of Mexico north of the Rio Grande,
and the British portion of Oregon as well.*®

Peoples such as the Shawnee and Potawatomi, Lenni Lanape and
Wyandot, Peoria, Sac, Fox, and Kickapoo, already removed from their
eastern homelands, were again compulsorily relocated as the western
Indian Territory was steadily reduced in size.*” This time, they were
mostly shifted southward into an area eventually conforming to the
boundaries of the present state of Oklahoma. Ultimately, 67 separate
nations (or parts of nations), only six of them truly indigenous to the
land at issue, were forced into this relatively small dumping ground 2
When Oklahoma, too, became a state in 1907, most of the territorial
compartments reserved for the various Indian groups were simply
dissolved. Today, although Oklahoma continues to report the second
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largest native population of any state, only the Osage retain a reserved
land base which is nominally their own.”!

Subjugation in the West

The U.S. “Winning of the West” which began around 1850—that is,
immediately after the northern half of Mexico was taken in a brief war
of conquest—was, if anything, morebrutal that the clearing of the East.”?
Most of the U.S. wars against native people were waged during the
following 35 years under what has been termed an official “rhetoric of
extermination.”® The means employed in militarily subjugating the
indigenous nations of California and southern Oregon, the Great Plains,
Great Basin, and northern region of the Sonora Desert devolved upon a
lengthy series of wholesale massacres. Representative of these were the
slaughter of about 150 Lakotas at Blue River (Nebraska) in 1854, some
500 Shoshones at Bear River (Idaho) in 1863, as many as 250 Cheyennes
and Arapahos at Sand Creek (Colorado) in 1864, perhaps 300 Cheyennes
on the Washita River (Oklahoma) in 1868, 175 Piegan noncombatants at
the Marias River (Montana) in 1870, and at least 100 Cheyennes at Camp
Robinson (Nebraska) in 1878. The parade of official atrocities was capped
off by the butchery of another 300 unarmed Lakotas at Wounded Knee
(South Dakota) in 1890.>*

Other means employed by the government to reduce its native
opponents to a state of what it hoped would be abject subordination
included the four-year internment of the entire Navajo (Diné) Nation
in a concentration camp at the Bosque Redondo, outside Fort Sumner,
New Mexico, beginning in 1864. The Diné, who had been force-
marched in what they called the “Long Walk,” a 400-mile trek from
their Arizona homeland, were then held under abysmal conditions,
with neither adequate food nor shelter, and died like flies. Approxi-
mately half had perished beforetheirrelease in 1868.” Similarly, if less
dramatically, food supplies were cut off to the Lakota Nation in
1877 —militarily defeated the year before, the Lakotas werebeing held
under army guard at the time—until starvation compelled its leaders
to “cede” the Black Hills area to the United States.’® The assassination
of resistance leaders such as the Lakotas Crazy Horse (1877) and
Sitting Bull (1890) was also a commonly used technique.57 Other
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recalcitrant figures like Geronimo (Chiricahua) and Satanta (Kiowa)
were separated from their people by being imprisoned in remote
facilities like Fort Marion, Florida.®®

In addition to these official actions, which the U.S. Census Bureau
acknowledged in an 1894 summary as having caused a minimum of
45,000 native deaths, there was an even greater attrition resulting from
what were described as “individual affairs.”> These took the form of
Angloamerican citizens at large killing Indians, often systematically,
under a variety of quasi-official circumstances. In Dakota Territory, for
example, a $200 bounty for Indian scalps was paid in the territorial
capitol of Yankton during the 1860s; the local military commander,
General Alfred Sully, is known to have privately contracted for a pair
of Lakota skulls with which to adorn the city.”” In Texas, first as a
republic and then as a state, authorities also “placed a bounty upon
the scalp of any Indian brought in to a government office—man.
woman, or child, no matter what ‘tribe’—no questions asked.”®! In
California and Oregon, “the enormous decrease [in the native popu-
lation of 1800] from about a quarter-million to less than 20,000 [in 1870
was] due chiefly to the cruelties and wholesale massacres perpetrated
by the miners and early settlers.”®

Much of the killing in California and southern Oregon Territory
resulted, directly and indirectly, from the discovery of gold in 1848
and thesubsequent influx of miners and settlers. Newspaper accounts
document the atrocities, as do oral histories of the California Indians
today. It was not uncommon for small groups or villages to be attacked
by immigrants and virtually wiped out ovemight.63

It has been estimated that Indian deaths resulting from this sort
of direct violence may have run as high as a half-million by 1890.%* All
told, the indigenous population of the continental United States,
which may still have been as great as two million when the country
was founded, had been reduced to well under 250,000 by 1900.%> As
the noted demographer Sherburne F. Cook has observed, “The record
speaks for itself. No further commentary is necessary.”®

Under these conditions, the United States was able to shuffle
native peoples around at will. The Northern Cheyennes and closely
allied Arapahos, for instance, were shipped from their traditional
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territory in Montana’s Powder River watershed to the reservation of
their southern cousins in Oklahoma in 1877. After the Cheyenne
remnants, more than a third of whom had died in barely a year of malaria
and other diseases endemic to this alien environment, made a desperate
attempt to return home in 1878, they were granted a reservation in the
north country, but not before the bulk of them had been killed by army
troops. Moreover, they were permanently separated from the Arapahos,
who were “temporarily” assigned to the Wind River reservation of their
hereditary enemies, the Shoshone, in Wyomin g.67

Afaction of the Chiricahua Apaches who showed signs of contin-
ued “hostility” to U.S. domination by the 1880s were yanked from
their habitat in southern Arizona and “resettled” around Fort Sill,
Oklahoma.®® Hinmaton Yalatkit (Chief Joseph) of the Nez Percé and
other leaders of that people’s legendary attempt to escape the army
and flee to Canada were also deposited in Oklahoma, far from the
Idaho valley they’d fought to retain.®’ Most of the Santee Dakotas of
Minnesota’s woodlands ended up on the wind-swept plains of Ne-
braska, while a handful of their relatives remained behind on tiny
plots which are now called the “Upper” and “Lower Sioux” reserva-
tions.”” A portion of the Oneidas, who had fought on the side of the
rebels during the revolution, were moved to a small reservation near
Green Bay, Wisconsin.”' An evensmaller reserve was provided in the
same area for residual elements of Connecticut’s Mahegans, Mo-
hegans, and other peoples, all of them lumped together under the
heading “Stockbridge-Munsee Indians.””? On and on, it went.

Allotment and Assimilation

With the native ability to militarily resist U.S. territorial ambitions
finally quelled, the government moved first to structurally negate any
meaningful residue of national status on the part of indigenous peo-
ples, and then to dissolve them altogether. The opening round of this
drive came in 1871, with the attachment of a rider to the annual
congressional appropriations act (ch. 120, 16 Stat. 544, 566) suspend-
ing any further treaty-making with Indians. This was followed, in
1885, with passage of the Major Crimes Act (ch. 341, 24 Stat. 362, 385),
extending U.S. jurisdiction directly over reserved Indian territories for
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the first time. Beginning with seven felonies delineated in the initial
statutory language, and combined with the Supreme Court’s opinion
in U.S. v. Kagama (118 U.S. 375 (1886)) that Congress possessed a
unilateral and “incontrovertible right” to exercise its authority over
Indians as it saw fit, the 1885 act opened the door to subsequent
enactment of the more than 5,000 federal laws presently regulating
every aspect of reservation life and affairs.”

In 1887, Congress passed the General Allotment Act (ch. 119, 24
Stat. 388), a measure designed expressly to destroy what was left of
the basic indigenous socioeconomic cohesion by eradicating tradi-
tional systems of collective land holding. Under provision of the
statute, each Indian identified as such by demonstrating “one-half or
more degree of Indian blood” was to be issued an individual deed to
a specific parcel of land—160 acres per family head, 80 acres per
orphan or single person over 18 vears of age, and 40 acres per depend-
ent child—within existing reservation boundaries. Each Indian was
required to accept U.S. citizenship in order to receive his or her
allotment. Those who refused, such as a substantial segment of the
Cherokee “full-blood” population, were left landless.”

Generally speaking, those of mixed ancestry whose “blood quan-
tum” fell below the required level were summarily excluded from receiv-
ing allotments. In many cases, the requirement was construed by officials
asmeaning that an applicant’s “blood” had to have accrued from asingle
people; persons whose cumulative blood quantum derived from inter-
marriage between several native peoples were thus often excluded as
well. In other instances, arbitrary geographic criteria were also em-
ployed; all Cherokees, Creeks, and Choctaws living in Arkansas, for
example, were not only excluded from allotment, but permanently
denied recognition as members of their respective nations as well.”” Once
all eligible Indians had been assigned their allotments within a given
reservation—all of them from the worst land available therein—the
remainder of the reserved territory was declared “surplus” and opened
to non-Indian homesteaders, corporate acquisition, and conversion into
federal or state parks and forests.”®

Under the various allotment programs, the most valuable land
was the first to go. Settlers went after therich grasslands of Kansas,
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Nebraska, and the Dakotas; the dense black-soil forests of Minnesota
and Wisconsin; and the wealthy oil and gas lands of Oklahoma. In
1887, for example, the Sisseton Sioux of South Dakota owned 918,000
acres of rich virginland on their reservation. But since there were only
2,000 of them, allotment left more than 600,000 acres for Euroamerican
settlers. The Chippewas of Minnesota lost their rich timber lands; once
each member had claimed their land, the government leased the rest
to timber corporations. The Colvilles of northeastern Washington lost
their lands to cattlemen, who fraudulently claimed mineral rights
there. In Montana and Wyoming the Crows lost more than two million
acres, and the Nez Percés had to cede communal grazing ranges in
Idaho. All 67 of the tribes in Indian Territory underwent allotment. On
the Flathead reservation in Montana—which included Flatheads,
Pend Oreilles, Kutenais, and Spokanes—the federal government
opened 1.1 million acres to settlers. A similar story prevailed through-
out the country.77

By the time the allotment process had run its course in 1930, the
residue of native land holdings in the United States had been reduced
from approximately 150 million acres to fewer than 50 million.” Of this,
more than two-thirds consisted of arid or semi-arid terrain deemed
useless for agriculture, grazing, or other productive purposes. The re-
maining one-third had been leased at extraordinarily low rates to non-
Indian farmers and ranchers by local Indian agents exercising “almost
dictatorial powers” over remaining reservation property.”

Indians across the country were left in a state of extreme destitu-
tion as a result of allotment and attendant leasing practices. Worse,
the situation was guaranteed to be exacerbated over succeeding gen-
erations insofar as what was left of the reservation land base, already
insufficient to support its occupants at a level of mere subsistence,
could be foreseen to become steadily more so as the native population
recovered from the genocide perpetrated against it during the 19th
century.*® A concomitant of allotment was thus an absolute certainty
that ever-increasing numbers of Indians would be forced from what
remained nominally their own land during the 20th century, dis-
persed into the vastly more numerous American society-at-large.
There, it was predictable (and often predicted) that they would be
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“digested,” disappearing once and for all as anything distinctly In-
dian in terms of sociocultural, political, or even racial identity. The
record shows that such outcomes were anything but unintentional.

The purpose of all this was “assimilation,” as federal policymakers
described their purpose, or—to put the matter more unabashedly—to
bring about the destruction and disappearance of American Indian
peoples as such. In the words of Francis E. Leupp, Commissioner of
Indian Affairs from 1905 through 1909, the Allotment Act in particular
should be viewed as a “mighty pulverizing engine for breaking up the
tribal mass” which stood in the way of complete Euroamerican hegem-
ony in North America. Or, to quote Indian Commissioner Charles Burke
a decade later, “[I]tis not desirable or consistent with the general welfare
to promote tribal characteristics and organization.”S]

The official stance was consecrated in the Supreme Court’s deter-
mination in the 1903 Lonewolf v. Hitchcock decision (187 U.S. 553)—ex-
tended from John Marshall’s “domestic dependent nation” thesis of
the early 1830s—that the United States possessed “plenary” (full)
power over all matters involving Indian affairs. In part, thismeant the
federal government was unilaterally assigning itself perpetual “trust”
prerogatives to administer or dispose of native assets, whether these
were vested in land, minerals, cash, or any other medium, regardless
of Indian needs or desires.* Congress then consolidated its position
with passage of the 1906 Burke Act (34 Stat. 182), designating the
Secretary of Interior as permanent trustee over Indian Country. In
1924, a number of loose ends were cleaned up with passage of the
Indian Citizenship Act (ch. 233, 43 Stat. 25) imposing U.S. citizenship
upon all native people who had not otherwise been naturalized. The
law was applied across the board to all Indians, whether they desired
citizenship or not, and thus included those who had foregone allot-
ments rather than accept it.%

Meanwhile, the more physical dimensions of assimilationist pol-
icy were coupled to a process of ideological conditioning designed to
render native children susceptible to dislocation and absorption by
the dominant society. In the main, this assumed the form of a compul-
sory boarding school system administered by the Interior Depart-
ment’s Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), wherein large numbers of
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indigenous children were taken, often forcibly, to facilities remote from
their families and communities. Once there, the youngsters were pre-
vented from speaking theirlanguages, practicing their religions, wearing
their customary clothing or wearing their hair in traditional fashion, or
in any other way overtly associating themselves with their own cultures
and traditions. Instead, they were indoctrinated—typically for a decade
or more—in Christian doctrine and European values such as the “work
ethic.” During the summers, they were frequently “farmed out” to
Euroamerican “foster homes” where they were further steeped in the
dominant society’s views of their peoples and themselves.*®

Attendance was made compulsory [for all native children, aged five to
eighteen] and the agent was made responsible for keeping the schools
filled, by persuasion if possible, by withholding rations and annuities
from the parents, and by other means if necessary...[Students] who were
guilty of misbehavior might either receive corporal punishment or be
imprisoned in the guardhouse [a special “reform school” was estab-
lished to handle “incorrigible” students who clung to their tradi-
tions]...A sincere effort was made to develop the type of school that
would destroy tribal ways.®*

The intention of this was, according to federal policymakers and
many of its victims alike, to create generations of American Indian
youth who functioned intellectually as “little white people,” facilitat-
ing the rapid dissolution of traditional native cultures desired by
federal policymakers.®® In combination with a program in which
native children were put out for wholesale adoption by Euroamerican
families, the effect upon indigenous peoples was devastating.®® This
systematic transfer of children not only served to accelerate the out-
flow of Indians from reservation and reservation-adjacent settings,
but the return of individuals mentally conditioned to conduct them-
selvesas non-Indiansescalatedtherate at which many nativesocieties
unraveled within the reservation contexts themselves.”

The effects of the government’s allotment and assimilation pro-
grams are reflected in the demographic shifts evidenced throughout
Indian Country from 1910 through 1950. In the former year, only 0.4
percent of all identified Indians lived in urban locales. By 1930, the
total had grown to 9.9 percent. As of 1950, the total had grown to 13.4
percent. Simultaneously, the displacement of native people from res-
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ervations to off-reservation rural areas was continuing apace.®® In 1900,
this involved only about 3.5 percent of all Indians. By 1930, thetotal had
swelled to around 12.5 percent, and, by 1950, it had reached nearly 18
percent.® Hence, in the latter year, nearly one-third of the federally
recognized Indians in the United States had been dispersed to locales
other than those the government had defined as being “theirs.”

Reorganization and Colonization

It is likely, all things being equal, that the Indian policies with
which the United States ushered in the 20th century would have led
inexorably to a complete eradication of the reservation system and
corresponding disappearance of American Indians asdistinct peoples
by some point around 1950. There can be no question but that such a
final consolidation of its internal land base would have comple-
mented the phase of transoceanic expansionism into which the United
States entered quite unabashedly during the 1890s.” That things did
not follow this course seems mainly due to a pair of ironies, one
geological and the other unwittingly imbedded in the bizarre status
of “quasi-sovereignty” increasingly imposed upon native nations by
federal jurists and policymakers over the preceding hundred years.

As regards the first of these twin twists of fate, authorities were
becoming increasingly aware by the late 1920s that the “worthless”
residue of territory to which indigenous people had been consigned
was turning out to be extraordinarily endowed with mineral wealth.
Already, in 1921, an exploratory team from Standard Oil had come
upon what it took to be substantial fossil fuel deposits on the Navajo
reservation.”! During the next three decades, it would be discovered
just how great a proportion of U.S. “domestic” resources lay within
American Indian reservations. For example:

Western reservations in particular...possess vast amounts of coal, oil,

shale oil, natural gas, timber, and uranium. More than 40 percent of the

national reserves of low sulfur, strippable coal, 80 percent of the nation’s
uraniumreserves, and billions of barrels of shale oil exist on reservation
land. Onthe 15-million-acre Navajo reservation, there are approximately

100 million barrels of oil, 25 trillion cubic feet of natural gas, 80 million

pounds of uranium, and 50 billion tons of coal. The 440,000-acre North-

ern Cheyenne reservation in Montana sits atop a 60-foot-thick layer of
coal. In New Mexico, geologists estimate that the Jicarilla Apache reser-
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vation possesses 2 trillion cubic feet of natural gas and as much as 154

million barrels of 0il.”?

This led directly to the second quirk. The more sophisticated
federal officials, even then experiencing the results of opening up
Oklahoma’s lush oil fields to unrestrained corporate competition,
realized the extent of the disequilibriums and inefficiencies involved
in this line of action when weighed against the longer-term needs of
U.S. industrial development.” Only by retaining its “trust authority”
over reservation assets would the government be in a continuing
position to dictate which resources would be exploited, in what
quantities, by whom, at what cost, and for what purpose, allowing the
North American political economy to evolve in ways preferred by the
country’s financial elite.”* Consequently, it was quickly perceived as
necessary that both Indians and Indian Country be preserved, at least
to some extent, as a facade behind which the “socialistic” process of
central economic planning might occur.

For the scenario to work in practice, it was vital that the reserva-
tions be made to appear “self-governing” enough to exempt itself
from the usual requirements of the U.S. “free market” system when-
ever this might be convenient to its federal “guardians.” On the other
hand, the reservations could never become independent or autono-
mous enough to assume control over their own economic destinies,
asserting demands that equitable royalty rates be paid for the extrac-
tion of their ores, for example, or that profiting corporations under-
write the expense of environmental clean-up once mining operations
had been concluded.” In effect, the idea was that many indigenous
nations should be maintained as outright internal colonies of the
United States rather than being liquidated out-of-hand.’® All that was
needed to accomplish this was the creation of a mechanism through
which the illusion of limited Indian self-rule might be extended.

The vehicle for this purpose materialized in 1934, with passage of
the Indian Reorganization Act (ch. 576, 48 Stat. 948), or “IRA,” as it is
commonly known. Under provision of this statute, the traditional gov-
ermning bodies of most indigenous nations were supplanted by “Tribal
Councils,” the structures of which were devised in Washington, D.C,,
functioning within parameters of formal constitutions written by BIA
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officials.” A democratic veneer was maintained by staging a referen-
dum on each reservation prior to its being reorganized, but federal
authorities simply manipulated the outcomes to achieve the desired
results.”® The newly installed IRA councils were patterned much more
closely upon the model of corporate boards than of governments, and
possessed little power other than to sign off on business agreements.
Even at that, they were completely and “voluntarily” subordinated to
U.S. interests: “All decisions of any consequence (in thirty-three sepa-
rate areas of consideration) rendered by these ‘tribal councils’ were
made ‘subject to the approval of the Secretary of Interior or his
delegate,” the Commissioner of Indian Affairs.” %

One entirely predictable result of this arrangement has been that an
inordinate amount of mining, particularly that related to “energy devel-
opment,” has occurred on Indian reservations since the mid-to-late 1940s.
Alluranium mining and milling during thelife of the U.S. Atomic Energy
Commission’s (AEC’s) ore-buying program (1954-1981) occurred on
reservation land; Anaconda’s Jackpile Mine, located at the Laguna
Pueblo in New Mexico, was the largest open pit uranium extraction
operation in the world until it was phased out in 1979.'® Every year,
enough power is generated by Arizona’s Four Corners Power Plant
alone—every bit of it from coal mined at Black Mesa, on the Navajo
reservation—to light the lights of Tucson and Phoenix for two decades,
and present plans include a four-fold expansion of Navajo coal produc-
tion.'”! Throughout the West, the story is the same.

On the face of it, the sheer volume of resource “development” in
Indian Country over the past half-century should—even under dis-
advantageous terms—have translated into some sort of “material
improvement” in the lot of indigenous people. Yet the mining leases
offered to selected corporations by the BIA “in behalf of” their native
“wards”—and duly endorsed by the IRA councils—have consistently
paid such a meager fraction of prevailing market royalty rates that no
such advancement has been discernible. Probably the best terms were
those obtained by the Navajo Nation in 1976, a contract paying a
royalty of 55 cents per ton for coal; this amounted to 8 percent of
marketprice at a time when Interior Secretary Cecil Andrus admitted
the minimum rate paid for coal mined in off-reservation settings was
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12.5 percent (more typically, it was upwards of 15 pera:ent).102 Simulta-
neously, a 17.5 cents per tonroyalty was being paid for coal on the Crow
reservation in Montana, a figure which was raised to 40 cents—less than
half the market rate—only after years of haggling.'®® What are at issue
here arenot profits, but thesort of “super-profits” usually associated with
U.S. domination of economies elsewhere in the world.'**

Nor has the federally coordinated corporate exploitation of the
reservations translated into wage income for Indians. As of 1989, the
government’s own data indicated that reservation unemployment
nationwide still hovered in the mid-60th percentile, with some locales
running persistently in the 19th."® Most steady jobs involved admin-
istering or enforcing the federal order, reservation by reservation.
Such “business-related” employment as existed tended to be tempo-
rary, menial, and paid the minimum wage, a matter quite reflective of
the sort of transient, extractive industry —which brings its cadre of
permanent, skilled labor with it—the BIA had encouraged to set up
shop in Indian Country.'® Additionally, the impact of extensive min-
ing and associated activities had done much to disrupt the basis for
possible continuation of traditional self-sufficiency occupations, de-
stroying considerable acreage which held potential as grazing or
subsistence garden plots.'” In this sense, U.S. governmental and
corporate activities have “underdeveloped” Native North America in
classic fashion.'’®

Overall, according to a federal study completed in 1988, reserva-
tion-based Indians experienced every index of extreme empoverish-
ment: by far the lowest annual and lifetime incomes of any North
American population group, highest rate of infant mortality (7.5 times
the national average), highest rates of death from plague disease,
malnutrition, and exposure, highest rate of teen suicide, and so on.
The average life expectancy of reservation-based Native American
males is 44.6 years, that of females fewer than three years longer.'?
The situation is much more indicative of a Third World context than
of rural areas in a country that claims to be the world’s “most ad-
vanced industrial state.” Indeed, the poignant observation of many
Latinos regarding their relationship to the United States, that “your
wealth is our poverty,” is as appropriate to the archipelago of Indian
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reservations in North America itself as it is to the South American
continent. By any estimation, the “open veins of Native America”
created by the IRA have been an incalculable boon to the maturation
of the U.S. economy, while Indians continue to pay the price by living
in the most grinding sort of poverty.'

And there is worse. One of the means used by the government to
maximize corporate profits in Indian Country over the years—again
rubber-stamped by the IRA councils—has been to omit clauses requiring
corporate reclamation of mined lands from leasing instruments. Simi-
larly, the cost of doing business on reservations has been pared to the
bone (and profitability driven up) by simply waiving environmental
protection standards in most instances."" Such practices have spawned
ecological catastrophe in many locales. Astheimpact of the Four Corners
plant, one of a dozen coal-fired electrical generation facilities currently
“on-line” on the Navajo reservation, has been described elsewhere:

The five units of the 2,075 megawatt power plant have been churning

out city-bound electricity and local pollution since 1969. The plant burns

ten tons of coal per minute—five million tons per year—spewing three

hundred tons of fly ash and other waste particulates into the air each

day. The black cloud hangs over ten thousand acres of the once-pristine

San Juan River Valley. The deadly plume was the only visible evidence

of human enterprise as seen from the Gemini-12 satellite which photo-

graphed the earth from 150 miles in space. Less visible, but equally

devastating is the fact that since 1968 the coal mining operations and
power plant requirements have been extracting 2,700 gallons from the

Black Mesa water table each minute—60 million gallons per year—caus-

ing extreme desertification of the area, and even the sinking of some

ground by as much as twelve feet.'

Corporations engaged in uranium mining and milling on the
Navajo reservation and at Laguna were also absolved by the BIA of
responsibility for cleaning-up upon completion of their endeavors,
with theresult thathundreds of tailings piles were simply abandoned
during the 1970s and ‘80s."™ A fine sand retaining about 75 percent of
the radioactive content of the original ore, the tailings constitute a
massive source of wind-blown carcinogenic/mutogenic contami-
nants affecting all persons and livestock residing within a wide radius
of each pile.""* Both ground and surface water has also been heavily
contaminated with radioactive by-products throughout the Four Cor-
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ners region.115 In the Black Hills region, the situation is much the
same."® At its Hanford Nuclear Weapons Facility, located on the
Yakima reservation in Washington state, the AEC itself secretly dis-
charged some 440 billion gallons of plutonium, strontium, cesium,
tritium, and other high-level radioactive contaminants into the local
aquifer between 1955 and 1989."”

Given that the half-life of the substances involved is as long as
125,000 years, the magnitude of the disaster inflicted upon Native
North America by IRA colonialism should notbe underestimated. The
Los Alamos National Scientific laboratory observed in its February
1978 Mini-Report that the only “solution” its staff could conceive to
the problems presented by wind-blown radioactive contaminants
would be “to zone the land into uranium mining and milling districts
so as to forbid human habitation.” Similarly:

A National Academy of Sciences (NAS) report states bluntly that [rec-

lamation after any sort of mining] cannot be done in areas with less than

10 inches of rainfall a year; the rainfall over most of the Navajo Nation

[and many other western reservations] ranges from six to ten inches a

year. The NAS suggests that such areas be spared development or

honestly labeled “national sacrifice areas.”™

Tellingly, the two areas considered most appropriate by the NAS
for designation as “national sacrifices”—the Four Corners and Black
Hills regions—are those containing the Navajo and “Sioux Complex”
of reservations, the largest remaining blocks of acknowledged Indian
land and concentrations of land-based indigenous population in the
United States. For this reason, many American Indian activists have
denounced both the NAS scheme, and the process of environmental
destruction whichled up toit, asinvolving not only National Sacrifice
Areas, but “National Sacrifice Peoples” as well.'” At the very least,
having the last of their territory zoned “so as to forbid human habita-
tion” would precipitate an ultimate dispersal of each impacted peo-
ple, causing its disappearance as a “human group” per se.”’ As
American Indian Movement leader Russell Means has put it, “It’s
genocide...no more, no less.” !

Regardless of whether a policy of national sacrifice is ever imple-
mented in the manner envisioned by the NAS, it seems fair to observe
that the conditions of dire poverty and environmental degradation
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fostered on Indian reservations by IRA colonialism have contributed
heavily to the making of the contemporary native diaspora in the
United States. In combination with the constriction of the indigenous
land base brought about through earlier policies of removal, concen-
tration, allotment, and assimilation, these conditions have created a
strong and ever-increasing pressure upon reservation residents to
“cooperate” with other modern federal programs meant to facilitate
the outflow and dispersal of Indians from their residual land base.
Chief among-these havebeen termination and relocation.

Termination and Relocation

As the IRA method of administering Indian Country took hold, the
government returned to such tasks as “trimming the fat” from federal
expenditures allocated to support Indians, largely through manipulation
of the size and disposition of the recognized indigenous population

By 1940, the system of colonial governance on American Indian
reservations was largely in place. Only the outbreak of World War II
slowed the pace of corporate exploitation, a matter that retarded initia-
tion of maximal “development” activities until the early 1950s. By then,
the questions concerning federal and corporate planners had become
somewhat technical: what to do with those indigenous nations which
had refused reorganization? How to remove the portion of Indian popu-
lation on even the reorganized reservations whose sheer physical pres-
ence served as a barrier to wholesale strip-mining and other profitable
enterprises anticipated by the U.S. business community?'?

The first means to this end was found in a partial resumption of
19th-century assimilationist policies, focused this time on specific
peoples, or parts of peoples, rather than upon Indians as a whole. On
August 1, 1953, Congress approved House Resolution 108, a measure
by which the federal legislature empowered itself to enact statutes
“terminating” (i.e., withdrawing recognition from, and thus unilater-
ally dissolving) selected native peoples, typically those which had
rejected reorganization, or who lacked the kind of resources necessi-
tating their maintenance under the IRA.'?

Among the [nations] involved were the comparatively large and
wealthy Menominee of Wisconsin and the Klamath of Oregon—both
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owners of extensive timber resources. Also passed were acts to termi-

nate...the Indians of western Oregon, small Paiute bands in Utah, and

the mixed-bloods of the Uintah and Ouray reservations. Approved, too,

was legislation to transfer administrative responsibility for the Alabama

and Coushatta Indians to thestate of Texas...Early in the first session of

the Eighty-Fourth Congress, bills were submitted to [terminate the]

Wyandotte, Ottawa, and Peoria [nations] of Oklahoma. These were

enacted early in August of 1956, a month after passage of legislation

directing the Colville Confederated Tribes of Washington to come up
with a termination plan of their own...During the second administration

of President Dwight D. Eisenhower, Congressenacted three termination

bills relating to...the Choctaw of Oklahoma, for whom the termination

process was never completed, the Catawba of South Carolina, and the

Indians of the southern California rancherias.’**

It is instructive that the man chosen to implement the policy was
Dillon S. Myer, an Indian Commissioner whose only apparent “job
qualification” was in having headed up the internment program
targeting Japanese Americans during World War L' In total, 109
indigenous nations encompassing more than 35,000 people were
terminated before the liquidation process had run its course during
the early 1960s.'2° Only a handful, like the Menominee and the Siletz
of Oregon, were ever “reinstated.”'?” Suddenly landless, mostly poor,
and largely unemployed, those who were not “reinstated” mostly
scattered like sand inthe wind.'*® Even as they went, they werejoined
by a rapidly swelling exodus of people from unterminated reserva-
tions, a circumstance fostered by yet another federal program.

Passed in 1956, the “Relocation Act” (PL 959) was extended in the
face of a steady diminishment throughout the first half of the decade
in federal allocations to provide assistance to people living on reser-
vations. The statute provided funding to underwrite the expenses of
any Indian agreeing to move to an urban area, establish a residence,
and undergo a brief period of job training. The quid pro quo was that
each person applying for such relocation was required to sign an
agreement that s/he would never return to his or her reservation to
live. It was also specified that all federal support would be withdrawn
after relocatees had spent a short period —often no more than six
weeks—"adjusting” to city life.'” Under the conditions of near-star-
vation on many reservations, there were many takers; nearly 35,000
people signed up to move to places like Los Angeles, Minneapolis,
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San Francisco, Chicago, Denver, Phoenix, Seattle, and Boston during
the period 1957-1959 alone.”

Although there was ample early indication that relocation was
bearing disastrous fruit for those who underwent it—all that was hap-
pening was that relocatees were exchanging the familiar squalor of
reservation life for that of the alien Indian ghettos that shortly emerged
in most major cities—the government accelerated the program during
the 1960s. Under the impact of termination and relocation during the
1950s, the proportion of native people who had been “urbanized” rose
dramatically, from 13.5 percent at the beginning of the decade to 27.9
percent at the end. During the ‘60s, relocation alone drove the figure
upwards to 44.5 percent. During the 1970s, as the program began to be
phased out, the rate of Indian urbanization decreased sharply, with the
result that the proportion had risen to “only” 49 percent by 1980."*! Even
without a formal federal relocation effort on a national scale, the momen-
iwn of what had been set m motion over an entire generation carried the
number into the mid-50th percentile by 1990, and there is no firm
indication the trend is abating,'**

Despite much protestation to the contrary, those who “migrated” to
the cities under the auspices of termination and relocation have already
begun to join thelegions of others, no longer recognized as Indians even
by other Indians, who were previously discarded and forgotten along
the tortuous route from 1776 to the present."® Cut off irrevocably from
the centers of their sociocultural existence, they have increasingly
adopted arbitrary and abstract methods to signify their “Indianness.”
Federally sanctioned “Certificates of Tribal Enrollment” have come to
replace tangible participation in the political life of their nations as
emblems of membership. Federally issued “Certificates of Degree of
Indian Blood” have replaced discernible commitment to Indian interests
as the ultimate determinant of identity."** In the end, by embracing such
“standards,” Indians are left knowing no more of being Indian than do
non-Indians. The process is a cultural form of what, in thephysical arena,
has been termed “autogenocide.”"*
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Looking Ahead

The Indian policies undertaken by the United States during the
two centuries since its inception appear on the surface to have been
varied, even at times contradictory. Openly genocidal at times, they
have more oftenbeen garbed, however thinly, in the attire of “humani-
tarianism.” In fact, as the matter was put by Alexis de Tocqueville, the
great French commentator on the early American experience, it would
occasionally have been “impossible to destroy men with more respect
to the laws of humanity.”m Always, however, there was an underly-
ing consistency in the sentiments which begat policy: to bring about
the total dispossession and disappearance of North America’s indige-
nous population. It was this fundamental coherence in U.S. aims,
invariably denied by responsible scholars and officials alike, which
caused Adolf Hitler to ground his own notions of lebensraumpolitik
(“politics of living space”) in the U.S. example."”’

Neither Spainnor Britain should be the models of German expan-
sion, but the Nordics of North America, who had ruthlessly pushed
aside an “inferior” race to win for themselves soil and territory for the
future. To undertake this essential task, sometimes difficult, always
cruel—this was Hitler’s version of the White Man’s Burden.'*®

As early as 1784, A British observer remarked that the intent of
the fledgling United States with regard to American Indians was that
of “extirpating them totally from the face of the earth, men, women,
and children.”’*® In 1825, Secretary of State Henry Clay opined that
U.S. Indian policy should be predicated in a presumption that the
“Indian race” was “destined to extinction” in the face of persistent
expansion by “superior” Anglo-Saxon “civilization.”**® During the
1870s, General of the Army Phil Sheridan is known to have called
repeatedly for the “complete extermination” of targeted native groups
as a means of making the West safe for repopulation by Euroameri-
cans.™! Subsequent assimilationists demanded the disappearance of
any survivors through cultural and genetic absorption by their con-
querors.'*? Well into the 20th century, Euroamerica as a whole typi-
cally referred—often hopefully—to indigenous people as “the vanish-
ing race,” decimated and ultimately subsumed by the far greater
number of invaders who had moved in upon their land."*?
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Many of the worst U.S. practices associated with these sensibili-
ties have long since been suspended (arguably, because their goals
were accomplished). Yet, large-scale and deliberate dislocation of
native people from their land is anything but an historical relic.
Probably the most prominent current example is that of the Big
Mountain Diné, perhaps the largest remaining enclave of traditionally
oriented Indians in the United States. Situated astride an estimated 24
billion tons of the most accessible low-sulfur coal in North America,
the entire 13,000-person population of the Big Mountain area are even
now being forcibly expelled to make way for the Peabody corpora-
tion’s massive shovels. There being no place left on the remainder of
the Navajo reservation in which to accommodate their sheep-herding
way of life, the refugees, many of them elderly, are being “resettled”
in off-reservation towns like Flagstaff, Arizona."** Some have been
sent to Phoenix, Denver, and Los Angeles. All suffer extreme trauma
and other maladies resulting from the destruction of their community
and consequent “transition.”'*

Another salient illustration is that of the Western Shoshone.
Mostly resident on a vast expanse of the Nevada desert secured by
their ancestors in the 1863 Treaty of Ruby Valley, the Shoshones have
suffered the fate of becoming the “most bombed nation on earth” by
virtue of the United States’ having located the majority of its nuclear
weapons testing facilities in the southern portion of their homeland
since 1950. During the late "70s, despite its being unable to demon-
strate thatithad ever acquired valid title to the territory the Shoshones
call Newe Segobia, the U.S. government began to move into the
northern area as well, stating an intent to construct the MX missile
system there. While the MX plan has by now been dropped, the
Shoshones are still being pushed off their land, “freeing” it for use in
such endeavors as nuclear waste dumps like the one scheduled to be
built at Yucca Mountain over the next few years.146

In Alaska, where nearly 200 indigenous peoples were instantly
converted into “village corporations” by the 1971 Alaska Native
Claims Settlement Act (85 Stat. 688), there is a distinct possibility that
the entire native population of about 22,000 will be displaced by the
demands of tourism, North Slope oil development, and other “devel-
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opmental” enterprises by some point early in the next century. Already,
their land base has been constricted to a complex of tiny “townships”
and their traditional economy mostly eradicated by the impacts of
commercial fishing, whaling, and sealing, as well as the effects of increas-
ing Arctic industrialization on regional caribou herds and other game
animals."” Moreover, there is a plan—apparently conceived in all seri-
ousness—to divert the waterflow of the Yukon River southward all the
way to the Rio Grande, an expedient for supporting continued non-In-
dian population growth in the arid regions of the “lower forty-eight”
states and creating the agribusiness complex in the northern Mexican
provinces of Sonora and Chihuahua envisioned in a “free trade agree-
ment” recently proposed by the Bush administration.'*® It seems certain
thatno traditional indigenous society can be expected to stand up against
such an environmental onslaught.

Eventually, if such processes are allowed to run their course, the
probability is that a “Final Solution of the Indian Question” will be
achieved. The key to this will rest, not in an official return to the
pattern of 19th-century massacres or the emergence of some Ausch-
witz-style extermination center, but in the erosion of sociocultural
integrity and confusion of identity afflicting any people subjected to
conditions of diaspora. Like water flowing from a leaking bucket, the
last self-consciously Indian people will pass into oblivion silently,
unnoticed and unremarked. The deaths of cultures destroyed by such
means usually occur in this fashion, with a faint whimper rather than
resistance and screams of agony.

There are, perhaps, glimmers of hope flickering upon the horizon.
One of the more promising is the incipient International Convention
on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. Drafted over the past decade by
the United Nations Working Group on Indigenous Populations, the
instrument is due for submission to the General Assembly during the
summer of 1992. When itis ratified by the latter body in October—the
500th anniversary of the Columbian expedition which unleashed the
forces discussed herein—the Convention will at last extend to native
peoples the essential international legal protections enjoyed by their
colonizers the world over."*® Should it be adhered to by this “nation
of laws,” the instrument will effectively bar the United States from
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completing its quietly ongoing drive to obliterate the remains of
Native North America. If not—and the United States has historically
demonstrated a truly remarkable tendency to simply ignore those
elements of international legality it finds inconvenient—the future of
American Indians looks exceedingly grim."
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UNITED STATES

COerSSiOl’lS 0{ a Government

Terrorist

The reality is a continuum which connects Indian flesh sizzling over
Puritan fires and Vietnamese flesh roasting under American napalm. The
reality is the compulsion of a sick society to rid itself of men like Nat
Turner and Crazy Horse, George Jackson and Richard Oaks, whose
defiance uncovers the hypocrisy of a declaration affirming everyone’s
right to liberty and life. The reality is an overwhelming greed which
began with the theft of a continent and continues with the merciless
looting of every country on the face of the earth which lacks thestrength
to defend itself.

— Richard Lundstrom

uring the first half of the 1970s, the American Indian Movement

(AIM) came to the forefront of a drive to realize the rights of
treaty-guaranteed national sovereignty on behalf of North America’s
indigenous peoples. For the government and major corporate inter-
ests of the United States, this liberatory challenge represented a con-
siderable threat, given on the one hand that Indians possess clear legal
and moral rights to the full exercise of self-determination and, on the
other hand, that their reserved land base contains substantial quanti-
ties of critical mineral resources. Upwards of half of all known “do-
mestic” U.S. uranium reserves lie within the boundaries of present-
day Indian reservations, as do as much as a quarter of the high-grade
low-sulfur coal, a fifth of the oil and natural gas, and major deposits
of copper and other metals." Loss of internal colonial control over
these items would confront U.S. elites with significant strategic and
economic problems.

Predictably, the government set out to liquidate AIM’s political
effectiveness as a means of maintaining and reinforcing the federal
system of administering Indian Country. For a number of reasons, the
crux of the conflict came to be situated on the Pine Ridge Sioux
Reservation, home of the Oglala Lakota people, in what is now the
state of South Dakota. Throughout the mid-'70s, what amounted to
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low-intensity warfare was conducted against AIM in this remote locale
by the FBI and a surrogate organization calling itself Guardians of the
Oglala Nation (GOONS).2 The Bureau and its various apologists—often
“scholarly experts” like Athan Theoharis and Alan Dershowitz—have
consistently denied not only that a defacto counterinsurgency effort was
mounted onPine Ridge, but also any direct relationship between the FBI
and the GOONSs. Those uttering claims to the contrary have been publicly
dubbed “left wing McCarthyites,” accused of engaging in “innuendo”
and attributing “guilt by association.”?

Writer Peter Matthiessen, one of the more comprehensive and
careful analysts of the “AIM/GOON Wars,” has also been the target
of two frivolous but massive and prolonged lawsuits, designed to
suppress his 1983 book on the topic, In the Spirit of Crazy Horse.
Matthiessen’s sins were allegedly a “defaming of the characters” of
David Price, an agent heavily involved in the repression of AIM, and
William “Wild Bill” Janklow, former attorney general and then gov-
ernor of the State of South Dakota, who headed one of the many white
vigilante groups operating in the Pine Ridge area during the mid-'70s.
Both Price and Janklow, it appears, received substantial support from
governmental and corporate quarters—as well as financing from such
overtly right wing entities as the Heritage Foundation—in keeping
the Matthiessen study off the shelves for nearly a decade.! As a
consequence, it was not until the spring of 1991 that the American
public was accorded an opportunity to read what this much cele-
brated author has to say about the events in question.

A major chink in the stone wall of official and quasiofficial
“plausible deniability” has now appeared. This assumes the form of
Duane Brewer, former second in command of the Bureau of Indian
Affairs (BIA) police and eventual head of the Highway Safety Pro-
gram on Pine Ridge. Along with his superior in the constabulary,
Delmar Eastman, Brewer served by his own admission as a primary
commander of the reservation GOON squads and participated di-
rectly in many of the organization’s most virulent anti-AIM actions.
In a previously undisclosed interview, undertaken by independent
filmmakers Michel Dubois and Kevin Barry McKiernan in 1987 and
televised in part through a 1990 PBS television documentary, Brewer
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does much to nail down exactly how the GOONs were utilized by the
FBI within a wider campaign to destroy AIM and “Indian militancy”
more generally.” His statements should go far in establishing that the
federal government has resorted to employment of outright death
squads within the borders as anintegral aspect ofits programs of domestic
political and social repression.

The Pine Ridge Bloodbath

During the three-year period running from roughly mid-1973
through mid-1976, at least 69 members and supporters of AIM died
violently on Pine Ridge (see accompanying list, “AIM Casualties on Pine
Ridge, 1973-76” on pp. 256-260). Nearly 350 others suffered serious
physical assaults, including gunshot wounds and stabbings, beatings
administered with baseball bats and tire irons, having theircars rammed
and run off the road at high speed, and their homestorched asthey slept ®
Researchers Bruce Johansen and Roberto Maestas have determined that
the politically motivated death toll on Pine Ridge made the murder rate
for the reservation 170 per 100,000 during the crucial period.”

By comparison, Detroit, the reputed “murder capital of the United

States,” had a rate of 20.2 per 100,000 in 1974. The U.S. average rate was

9.7 per 100,000, with the average for large cities as follows: Chicago, 15.9;

New York City, 16.3; Washington, D.C., 13.4; Los Angeles, 12.9; Seattle,

5.6; and Boston, 56. An estimated 20,000 persons were murdered in the

United States in 1974. In a nation of 200 million persons, a murder rate

comparable with that of Pine Ridge between 1973 and 1976 would have

left 340,000 persons dead for political reasons in one year; 1.32 million

in three. A similar rate for a city of 500,000 would have produced 850

political murders in a year; 2,550 in three. For a metropolis of 5 million,

the figures would have been 8,500 in one year and 25,500 in three.®

As Johansen and Maestas go on to point out, their figures do not
include the “typical” high rate of fatalities experienced on Pine Ridge
and most other American Indian reservations. Rather, the “murder
rate of 170 per 100,000—almost nine times that of Detroit—takes into
account only deaths caused by the physical repression of Indian resis-
tance.”” Nowhere in North America has there been a comparable rate
of homicide during the twentieth century. To find counterparts, one
must turn to contexts of U.S.-sponsored political repression in the
Third World.
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The political murder rate at Pine Ridge...was almost equivalent to that

in Chile during the three years after a military coup supported by the

United States deposed and killed President Salvador Allende...Based on

Chile’s population of 10 million, the estimated fifty thousand persons

killed in the three years of political repressionin Chile at about the same

time (1973-1976) roughly paralleled the murder rate at Pine Ridge."’

Under provision of the Major Crimes Act (18 U.S.C.A. § 1153),
murder on an Indian reservation is an offense falling under jurisdic-
tion of “federal authorities.” Since at least as early as 1953, this has
specifically meant the FBL" Not one of the murders of AIM people on
Pine Ridge during themid-"70s was ever solved by the Bureau, despite
the fact thatin a number of instances the assailants wereidentified by
one or more eyewitnesses. In many cases, investigations were never
opened. When queried with regard to this apparent inactivity on the
part of his personnel, George O’Clock, Assistant Special Agent in
Charge (ASAC) of the FBI's Rapid City Resident Agency (under which
jurisdiction Pine Ridge falls) until mid-1975, pleaded “lack of man-
power” as the reason.' At the very moment he spoke, O’Clock was
overseeing the highest ratio of agents to citizens over a sustained
period enjoyed by any residentagency in the history of the Bureau.”
As he himself later put it, the normal complement of personnel for
Rapid City was four agents, three investigators, plus the ASAC.
During the anti-AIM campaign, however, things were different:

Most of the time before the 1970s, there were just four agents assigned

to this resident agency and we covered the western half of South Da-

kota...whichincluded theRosebud and Pine Ridge Indian Reservations.

Then, from 1972-73 to the time of my retirement, the resident agency

almost tripled in size insofar as agents and FBI personnel were con-

cerned...[Actually, by the summer of 1975, the resident agency had more
than quadrupled]; there were probably eighteen agents assigned there.

[After that], there were many, many more, at different times, thirty to

forty agents working...."*

All told, O’Clock admits, between January of 1973 and the end of
1975, “there were at least 2,500 different Bureau personnel temporar-
ily assigned to [his office].” A peak number of “probably 350” was
reached during July of 1975, with an average of “about 200 to 250"
maintained for the six months beginning on July 1 and ending on
December 31, 1975. Far from there being a “lack,” O’Clock now
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acknowledges there were in fact “too many agentsin the area [emphasis
added]” to be effective, or even to be kept track of by administrators.
Consequently, by August of 1975, Norman Zigrossi, who succeeded
O’Clock as Rapid City ASAC, was actively reducing a 100-agent
surplus in his roster.”” In other words, the Rapid City office was
consistently overstaffed throughout the crucial three-year period, and
at times the entire western South Dakota region was absolutely satu-
rated with FBI personnel. It is also readily apparent that these person-
nel engaged in a virtual orgy of investigative and other activities while
posted to the Pine Ridge locale.

For instance, while professing to be too shorthanded to assign
agents to look into the killing and maiming of AIM members and
supporters, O’Clock managed to find ample resources to investigate
the victims. Some 316,000 separate investigative file classifications
were amassed by the Rapid City FBI office with regard to AIM
activities during the 1973 siege of Wounded Knee alone.'® This enor-
mous expenditure of investigative energy made possible the filing of
562 federal charges against various AIM members during the second
half of 1973.7 The result, after more than two years of trials, was a
paltry 15 convictions—far and away the lowest yield of guilty verdicts
to investigative hours invested and charges filed in FBI history—all
of them on such trivial matters as “interference with a postal inspector
in performance of his lawful duty.”'®

Nonetheless, O’Clock’s effort cannot be assessed as a failure. The
method inherent to his endeavor was perhaps best explained in 1974
by Colonel Volney Warner, a counterinsurgency warfare specialist and
military advisor to the FBI on Pine Ridge, when he observed that
convictions weren’t the point. By virtue of simply causing charges,
however spurious, to be filed, Warner said, the Bureau was able to
keep “many of AIM’s most militant leaders and followers under
indictment, in jail or [with] warrants out for their arrest.” Concomi-
tantly, the movement’s financial resources were necessarily diverted
to legal defense efforts. By pursuing such tactics, Warner argued, AIM
could be effectively neutralized as a political force: “The government
can win, even if no one goes to [prison].”19 Meanwhile, what the U.S.
Commission on Civil Rights described as “a reign of terror” on Pine
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Ridge continued, unimpeded by interference from the FBL? Indeed,
all indications are that the Bureau not only encouraged, but actively
aided and abetted it.

The GOONSs and the FBI

A number of studies have concluded the GOONSs were responsi-
ble for the bulk of the AIM fatalities on Pine Ridge. In those cases in
which witnesses identified the murderers, the culprits were invariably
known members of the reservation GOON squad. Yet, in most in-
stances, no formal FBI investigation resulted.

On the afternoon of March 21, 1975, Edith Eagle Hawk, her
four-month-old daughter, and three-year-old grandson were killed
when their car was forced into a deep ditch alongside Highway 44,
between Scenic (South Dakota) and Rapid City. Edith Eagle Hawk was
a defense (alibi) witness for AIM member Jerry Bear Shield, who was
at the time accused of killing a GOON, William Jack Steele, on March
9 (charges against Bear Shield were later dropped when it was re-
vealed Steele had probably died at the hands of GOON associates).
The driver of the car which struck the Eagle Hawk vehicle—Albert
Coomes, a white on-reservation rancher who was allowed by the
Wilsonites to serve as an active GOON—also lost control of his car,
went into the ditch and was killed. Eugene Eagle Hawk, who was
badly injured but survived the crash, identified a second occupant of
the Coomes car as being Mark Clifford, a prominent GOON. BIA and
FBI reports on the matter fail to make mention of Clifford (who had
survived and escaped the scene).”!

On other occasions, the victims themselves, or their associates,
were investigated and sometimes charged—with attendant publicity
to establish the “violence prone” characteristics of their organiza-
tion—with having perpetrated the violence directed against them.

On June 19, 1973, brothers (and AIM supporters) Clarence and Vernal

Cross were sitting in their car by the side of the road near Pine Ridge

[village] when they began receiving rifle fire. Clarence died of gunshot

wounds. Vernal, severely injured [by a bullet through the throat] but

alive, was charged by Delmar Eastman with the murder of his brother

(charges were later dropped). Nine-year-old Mary Ann Little Bear, who
was riding past the Cross car in a vehicle driven by her father at the time
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of the shooting, was struck in the face by a stray round, suffering a
wound which cost her an eye. Witnesses named three GOONs—Francis
Randall, John Hussman and Woody Richards—as the gunmen involved

[but no investigation resulted].”

The tally in these two incidents alone stands at five fatalities, three
serious injuries, one blatantly false charge filed by the BIA police, and no
subsequent FBI investigations. And, to be sure, there are many compa-
rableincidents. The question, of course, is why such a patternmightexist.
That the GOONSs had a tangible relationship to the federal government
has all along been clear, given that the group was formed in late 1972
through a BIA grant of $62,000 to then Pine Ridge Tribal President Dick
Wilson for purposes of establishing a “Tribal Ranger Group.”® From
1973 onward, funding of GOON payrolls seems to have accrued from
the Wilson administration’s misappropriation of block-granted federal
highway improvement monies (the “Rangers” were officially expanded
toinclude a “Highway Safcty Program” for this purpose).”* Most federai
housing funds allocated to Pine Ridge during the two terms of Wilson'’s
presidency also appear to have been devoted to rewarding members of
the GOON squad for services rendered.” Many of Wilson'’s relatives® as
well as perhaps one-third of the BIA police force on the reservation were
quickly rostered as GOON: el

The quid pro quo seems originally to have been that Wilson would
receivequietfederal support in running Pine Ridge as a personal fiefdom
in exchange for his cooperation in casting an appearance of legitimacy
upon an illegal transfer of the Sheep Mountain Gunnery Range—ap-
proximately one-eighth of the total reservation area—from Indian to
federal ownership. Although it was a matter of official secrecy at the time,
the motivation for this federal maneuver concerned discovery of rich
molybdenum and uranium deposits within the Gunnery Range; both are
considered critical strategic minerals by the Pentagon, and access to them
a matter of “National Security.””® The GOONSs were necessary to quell
resistance among traditional grassroots Oglalas to any such transaction.”
When AIM moved in at the request of the traditionals, the ante went up
appreciably, and the GOONSs shifted from intimidation tactics to outright
death squad activities, thus pursuing not only their original objective but
the broader federal goal of eliminating AIM as a viable political force
as well.
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On the face of it, the FBI's main complicity in the bloodbath which
ensued was to conscientiously look the other way as the GOONs went
about their grisly work. This would be bad enough. However, there
has always been ample indication that the Bureau’s role was much
more substantial. For instance, when, during the siege of Wounded
Knee, U.S. marshals on the scene attempted to dismantle a GOON
roadblock (at whichan FBIlagent was continuously posted, according
to Brewer)—the occupants of which Chief U.S. Marshal Wayne Col-
burn had decided were uncontrollable and a menace to his own
men—head of the FBI Internal Security Section Richard G. Held flew
to the site by helicopter to “straighten things out.” Held, assigned to
thereservation as a“consultant,” informed the chief marshal that “the
highest authority” had instructed that the GOON position would
remain in place. Similarly, when several GOONs were arrested by
Colburn’s deputies after pointing weapons at both the chief marshal
and U.S. Justice Department Solicitor General Kent Frizzell, the FBI
again intervened, causing the men to be released prior to booking.*

More importantly, toward the end of the Wounded Knee siege—a
period when Colburn was actively disarming the GOONSs after it ap-
peared possible that one of his men had been seriously wounded by a
round fired by the Wilsonites—those who were relieved of the hunting
rifles and shotguns which until then had comprised their typical weap-
onry suddenly began to sport fully automatic, government-issue M-16
assault rifles®! A much improved inventory of explosive devices and an
abundance of ammunition also made appearances among the GOONs
during this period. At about the same time, the Wilsonites experienced a
marked upgrade in the quality of their communications gear, acquiring
scanners and other electronic paraphernalia which allowed them to
monitor federal police frequencies. To top it off, it began to appear as if
the GOONs’ operational intelligence had undergone considerable im-
provement during the 71 days of the siege.

It has been substantiated that the U.S. military provided no ord-
nance or other equipment directly to nonfederal agencies during the
siege of Wounded Knee. It is also clear that the U.S. marshals, for
reasons of their own, were genuinely attempting toreduce rather than
enhance GOON weaponry while the siege was going on. In any event,
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Colburn withdrew his personnel as rapidly as possible from Pine
Ridge in the aftermath of Wounded Knee, leaving the FBI as the only
federal force on the reservation until mid-1975. And, in the months
following the siege—the period when the Wilsonites’ activities be-
came increasingly lethal—both the quantity and the quality of GOON
firepower increased steadily. All things considered, it is widely be-
lieved among reservation residents—and several researchers have
also concluded, by process of elimination, ifnothing else—that the FBI
not only equipped, but also provided field intelligence and other
support to the death squads operating on Pine Ridge from 1973
through 1976.%

The Brewer Revelations

Although much which might have been covered is not addressed
in the existing interview with Duane Brewer, what isincluded is often
quite explicit. For instance, he readily confirms the oft-leveled accu-
sation that in order to be employed on Pine Ridge during the Wilson
era, especially in the Tribal Rangers or Highway Safety Program, one
was virtually required to serve simultaneously as a GOON: if “you
were a GOON and supported Dick Wilson and hated AIM, you had a
pretty good chance of getting a job” underwritten with federal funds.
“[W]e had people from all over,” he says. “Some of them you never
had to ask to do anything, you know, like for Dick, you know. They
were ready to do anything.”

Alotof them liked Dick Wilson and his ideas. And they thought that was

pretty nice,a GOON squad. Hell, you don’tseethatvery oftenin thisworld.

Of course, it is going on all over the nation now, and different presidents

and leaders have their crew of people. And, you know, I guess that'’s all,

that’s politics. You have your certain followers. But, in them days, you had

real dedicated people. They would hurt somebody for their leader if they

had to. And if anybody tried to hurt him or anything, then [they] were too

outnumbered to go messing around. A lot of dedication.

The GOONSs were organized on a community-by-community
basis, according to Brewer, into “crews” of about a dozen men apiece,
each headed up by one or another of “ten to fifteen pretty hard core
individuals” such as Chuck and Emile “Woody” Richards, and Wil-
son’s eldest son, Manny (Richard Jr.).*> Brewer’s own crew—of which
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BIA police SWAT team commander Marvin Stolt, Manny Wilson, and
John Hussmanserved as operational lieutenants, and which atitshigh
point in 1975 rostered at least 22 other individuals—functioned more-
or-less exclusively on the western side of Pine Ridge. Chuck Richards’
group covered the northeastern quadrant of the reservation, and
Woody Richards’ the southeastern area. Essentially ad hoc units were
formed from time to time. Combined operations between standing
units occurred in all areas, as needed.

The result of such organization was a relatively constant reserva-
tion-wide fireforce of “about 100 men,” sometimes expanded to twice
that number, throughout the critical period. The GOONSs themselves
were augmented, not only by the BIA police, but also by non-Indian
vigilante groups such as the “Bennett County Citizens’ Committee,”
“Charles Mix County Rangers,” “Faith Chapter of the John Birch
Society,” and other Birch-oriented “ranchers’ associations” in South
Dakota, Wyoming, and Nebraska. At present, “maybe ten or so” of
the hardest-core GOON squad members have buried much of their
best weaponry, as well as ample stocks of ammunitionand explosives,
around the reservation. They stand ready, in Brewer’s view, to resume
theirroleas a nucleus of GOON leadership “in case that’severneeded
again.” They are motivated, he says, “by a lot of hatred.”

Relationsl'xip of the GOON:s to the FBI

With regard to how he and his underlings got along with the
agents on Pine Ridge during the GOONSs’ formative period, Brewer’s
estimation is that “wehad a pretty good working relationshipinthose
days.” Part of this emerged, he believes, because his own BIA police
cum GOON unit served as a sort of regional roving patrol, dispensing
abareknuckled “law and order” against AIM on various reservations.

During the time I was an officer, we traveled all over the country
following the Movement. We went to the Treaty Convention up at Fort
Yates. We spent a lot of time in Rosebud. We went to Fort Totten when
they [AIM] took the jail over. It was always Pine Ridge’s little crew that
went. So, we kind of had a reputation...[U]sually when they [the FBI]
send you off like that, they tell you, you know, you don't cut them any
slack. So, you know, you bust a few heads. It don't really take, you don’t
take any shit...You haul’em in. You show them authority because there
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is no law and order.. I got to travel quite a bit when I was an officer. I

enjoyed all of it.**

The choice to use Brewer’s unit as an inter-reservation fire brigade
against AIM was not merely the result of their attitudes towards
“radicalism” and the appropriateness of suppressing it through lib-
eral applications of gratuitous violence, but also because of a con-
scious federal policy—based on recognition of those attitudes—of
equipping them for this purpose.

[After a while] we had all the weaponry. We had fifteen AR-15s. We had

long-range projectile smoke, I mean gas guns. We had a [tear gas] fogger.

Wehad everything. So, it was our squad that usually went. And you get

there, and youhear people say, “The Pine Ridgers are here.” So, of course,

a number of times we went to places, some officers busted heads...We

had some pretty cocky guys, I guess you might say. Tough guys, is what

you’d say. They're fighters from around [Pine Ridge].

He affirms that “the FBI was with the GOONs” because “we was
fighting in the same thing—we wasn’t supporting AIM. And Iimagine
it’s because we got a lot of jobs that, you know, like kicking the hell
out of some of these different [AIM] people, giving them trouble.”
Asked whether this meant the FBI “looked the other way” when
GOONSs engaged in physical assaults upon AIM members, he replied
somewhat disingenuously that “we never, ever done anything with
them [agents] around, but they probably would have...So anything
we could get away with, we would.”*

I had a good relationship with them [the FBI] because I helped them a
lot...They probably thought I was a funny guy, you know. (laugh) Have
all these weapons and stand out as much as we did in them days. And
all the situations we was involved in. Yeah, we wasn'’t afraid [of being
arrested]...I probably have maybe four or five FBI agents who are real
good friends. They tried to get me into the FBI Academy, tried to help
me out, to get me out of this place.

Intelligence with which to conduct his more extracurricular anti-
AIM operations was no particular problem because “the agents would
come to my house” and “give [us] all kinds of information and
things...they were probably giving [the GOONSs] a lot more than they
were supposed to. Whichis good, hell, every little bit helps.” Basically,
“we could get information from them” whenever it was needed.
Queried as to whether this meant the FBI thought it was “okay to
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roughup AIM supporters,” Brewer responded, “Iimagine they did...I
think they did...They never did investigate any of them incidents [of
GOON violence], you know.” At another point, in response to a
similar question, he replied that when the FBI brought information to
his house, it was because “they wanted to see us go out and educate”
AIM members and supporters; “I got the feeling they was hoping that
I'd kick the shit out of somebody. Or have a war.”

General GOON \7iolence

Asked to explain the term “educate” in the context in which he
was using it, and thus the sort of activities the FBI had at least tacitly
endorsed, Brewer offered the concept of “butt kickin’. Good word. We
would educate them, like I said, we would kick their butt. Then they
ain’t going to come around and bug you any more.” He went on to
explain that the intended result of an “educational butt kickin"” was
for the victim to “know that any time they move any part of their body
it hurts ‘em, [and] it could have been worse. I've educated a few who
will never forget me, you know, or have never forgotten.”

I think [“education” occurs] when you, you give them a severe beating

and, like I said, you don’t cut no slack. You beat their face, you beat their

arms and legs, and work them over good. So, like I said, when they wake

up the next day, every time they move they're going to think about you

and decide whether they want to come back and mess with you again.

Or just let you go. And, you know, you do it good enough and they’re

not going to be thinking about coming back for more of the pain. They're

going to forget about it.

The Wilsonites’ repertoire of “educational” techniques was often
even more extreme. At one point, Brewer recounts how a GOON
named Sonny Dion “beat this [AIM] guy up so bad and then he used
a saw and was trying to saw this guy up.” Other GOONSs, apparently
shocked at the extent to which Dion was “getting out of hand,”
intervened to prevent consummation of this macabre act. Brewer goes
on to note that Dion was eventually “shipped out”—that is, he was
charged by the BIA police and eventually sent to federal prison—not
for his murderous assault upon the AIM member, but for turning his
brutal attentions upon another GOON, Chauncey Folsom, shooting
him six times in the back with a .22-caliber revolver (the victim lived).
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For his part, Brewer points out, Folsom was a key player in a
notorious event occurring on February 27, 1975, at the Pine Ridge
airport. In this incident, some 15 carloads of GOONs headed by Dick
Wilson himself surrounded an automobile occupied by Bernard Es-
camilla, an AIM member charged with several offenses during the
Wounded Knee siege, his legal counsel, National Lawyers Guild
attorney Roger Finzel, and two paralegal assistants, Eva Gordon and
Kathi James.* Wilson ordered the GOONs to “stomp” their quarry.
Thereupon, Brewer admits, he personally led the charge, smashing
the car’s windshield. Other GOONs, whom Brewer does not identify,
sliced open the top of the car (it was a convertible), dragged Finzel
and Escamilla out, and, according to a Rapid City Journal article pub-
lished the following day, “stomped, kicked and pummeled [them] to
the ground. [GOONSs] took turns kicking and stomping, while one
slashed Finzel's face with a knife, [also] cutting Eva Gordon’s hand as
she attempted to shield him.” Folsom, who, as Brewer put it, “was a
really huge guy,” proceeded to “educate” Escamilla, a much smaller
man, “beat him up real bad, and then just sort of dumped him in a
ditch full of water. Things kind of got out of hand, I guess.”

No federal charges were ever filed against Wilson or any of his
GOON:ss in this matter, although Finzel and Gordon provided detailed
and mutually supporting depositions, naming several of their assail-
ants.” Instead, the FBI busied itself administering polygraph exami-
nations to the victims (which they passed with flying colors). Wilson,
meanwhile, had conducted a press conference in which he claimed to
know nothing about the incident other than that the violence was
supposed to have been caused by “Russell Means and a large group
of followers, last seen heading east out of Pine Ridge” village.*® When
they were nonetheless indicted by a federal grand jury, Wilson and his
men quickly pleaded guilty to a misdemeanor charge in tribal court
(the judges of which Wilson himself had appointed) and were as-
sessed $10 fines. Assistant U.S. Attorney Bill Clayton thereupon an-
nounced thatno federal prosecutions would be initiated because any
felony charges brought by his office would constitute “double jeop-
ardy.” When asked by interviewers whether the whole thing hadn’t
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been whitewashed, as critics havelong contended, Brewer replied: “Yeah,
I guess maybe it was.””

At one point the former GOON leader denies having personally
killed anyone: “No, I never did. I never did kill anybody. Like I said,
I might have smoked them up pretty bad where they thought they
were gonna die. But I never did really kill them.” However, he also
says, “I've come close, I think, you know. I've beat some people with
clubs that I was worried wouldn’t live,” and “I worried the few times
that I did kill somebody [emphasis added].” Further, he readily admits
that the GOONSs as a whole did regularly commit homicide: “Some,
let’s say different incidents.”*’ Certain of these “incidents” concern
the much-rumored murder of at least 13 individuals engaged in
transporting supplies through GOON and federal lines during the
1973 siege of Wounded Knee.

Tdon’t know if they killed them on the spot. Because. like I said, there
would be witnesses. More likely, they took them off by themselves, if
they did this. Like I say, I don’t know! (laugh)...They probably, they
might have done it. I know that there was one group of guys [Woody
Richards’ crew] that had that roadblock that, uh, done a guy in pretty
bad just beatin’ him with a weapon...[Tlhey ended up really pistol
whippin” him and usin’ weapons on him, you know?...More, I've never
heard of them ever taking a guy to the hospital as bad as he was beat
up...He was probably killed somewhere.*!

A customary GOON squad practice was to conduct driveby
shootings of the homes of movement people: “You know, if there was
too many AIM members there, or something, maybe [the GOONs5]
would take a cruise by and shoot them up.” Often, Brewer recalls “we
would set it up” so that drivebys “would be blamed on AIM.” During
the course of his interview, he drove reporters through the Cherry Hill
Housing Project, where “a lot of AIM people used to live,” pointing
out specific dwellings which had been shot up and/or firebombed by
GOON patrols.

I know it was done quite a bit. Any time [AIM] gathered up...[the

GOONEs hit] the AIM people. Alot of times we had alittle war. Somebody

would go by and they would open up. I guess the housing that was really

the one that was shot up the most was probably Cherry Hills. There was
a lot of ‘em. That's where AIM, the majority of them lived there at one
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time, the supporters of AIM. So it was shot up a lot. Them houses are a

real mess.

Nor was Cherry Hill the only such target: “I know [the GOONSs]
firebombed a house in Crazy Horse [housing project] once because one
of the guys that lived there was an AIM supporter.” Brewer also acknow-
ledges that it was GOONs who, on March 3, 1973, firebombed the home
of journalist Aaron DeSersa and his wife, Betty, in order to “send a
message” that they should suspend publication of an anti-Wilson tabloid
based in the reservation village of Manderson. Betty DeSersa was badly
burmed in the ensuing blaze. Among other targets of GOON fire-
bombings were the home of elderly traditional Oglala Lakota Chief
Frank Fools Crow on March 5, 1975, and that of his assistant, Matthew
King, on March 3. The home of AIM member Severt Young Bear, near the
reservation hamlet of Porcupine, was shot up on at least six occasions
and firebombed twice in little more than a year.*?

In another of many more noteworthy incidents, this one occurring
on November 17,1975, BIA police officer/GOON Jesse Trueblood shot
up an “AIM house” belonging to Chester and Bernice Stone in Oglala,
another reservation village. He seriously wounded all five occupants
and permanently maimed two of them, an adult named Louis Tyon
and three-year-old Johnny Mousseau. Trueblood himself was found
dead in his patrol car shortly thereafter, shot in the back of the head
with his own service revolver. The FBI, incredibly, listed the cause of
death as “suicide.” Brewer concurs that the federal finding was ab-
surd—"Jesse had a disability which prevented him from lifting his
arms in such a way that he could’ve shot himself like that”—but says
he has “no idea” who did the killing. It is commonly accepted around
Oglala that Trueblood was murdered by a prominent GOON leader
(not Brewer), whoavailed himself of the opportunity presented by the
confusion attending the driveby to settle a romantic dispute with his
erstwhile colleague.

GOON Weaponry

Asked about the source of the increasingly sophisticated weap-
onry the GOONs came to possess, Brewer alludes repeatedly to the
idea that the FBI armed his group—both directly and through indirect
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conduits—with items such as Thompson submachine guns and M-
16s: “Some of it was given, like I told you, in a little [undecipherable]
in Rapid City where they would give you some weapons and in
another location where they would tell you to come up with this
amount of money and we’ll turn all this over to you...We had M-16s,”
he says, “.30 caliber carbines, a lot of...military stuff.” Supplies of
ammunition for such hardware werelavish: “There’s sometimes that
you, like at one time I probably had five bandoliers full of [.223 caliber
rounds for an M-16 rifle]. And boxes and boxes of ammo for this, the
9 m.m. [a type of pistol preferred by Brewer]...It looked like it was
probably police stuff, [and] it was always cheap when we got it.”

“All this” included more than ammunition and automatic weap-
ons. Brewer itemizes provision of “Plastic explosives, det[onation]
cord, [and] fragmentation grenades,” as well as dynamite and blasting
caps, to the GOONSs. He contends that certain of the less exotic—but
nonetheless expensive—weapons used by the GOONSs, such as .300
Weatherby rifles (ideal for sniping purposes), were provided at little
or no charge by white vigilante groups. Some of the M-16s, he says,
accrued from BIA police inventories provided by the federal govern-
ment. Most of the rest of the hard-to-get gear came in clandestine
fashion from FBI personnel and/or “black drug-gun dealers”in Rapid
City motel rooms, usually at the local Holiday Inn.

[Y]ou’d go to their room with this big suitcase and [they’d] show you a

bunch of weapons, grenades, det cord, blasting caps, whatever, and give

you some. “Here, take this.” A couple guys I know of walked around

with blasting, you know, blasting caps in their shirt pockets.

In those instances where the “black gun dealers” effected transfer
of weapons and explosives, agents were in the motel, monitoring the
activity.*> When asked whether the agents were aware the GOONs
were in possession of such illegal paraphernalia, Brewer responded,
“Sure.” As an illustration, he recounted an occasion when, with FBI
agents in adjoining rooms, a GOON “playing” with a newly acquired
weapon accidentally discharged it in the Holiday Inn, blowing a hole
in the floor. No investigation was made, nor was any other action
taken by the Bureau. Brewer also mentions repeatedly that agents
visiting his home were routinely shown illegal weapons in his per-
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sonal possession, and often informed of how he planned to use them.
Such matters failed to evoke a negative response—never mind an
arrest—from the agents. To the contrary, they customarily advised
him to “be careful” as he went about his business.

Atanother point Brewer explains thatas areward for his engaging
in a fist fight with AIM leader Russell Means, he was given “a .357
magnum, 6-inch barrel...[worth] three hundred and some bucks,
brand new. Real nice. I carried that a long time.”** He also states
categorically that the FBI supplied the GOONs with special types of
“armor piercing ammunition,” which was “real expensive” and “re-
stricted to law enforcement personnel,” so the gunmen could hit their
AlM targets even if “they were in a brick building or something.” This
led to a question concerning “the best way to hit a house,” to which
the GOON leader responded:

Best way to hit it is probably just to, like I say, have your lookouts and

when there is nobody around and it’s nice and quiet, have your, like I

said, your assault car with all the weapons in it. And do it from the road.

Don'’t cruise up to the house because then you got return fire. Then you

got a war. Most of the point of shooting up a house is just to prove that

we didn’tapprove of [AIM] gathering, you know, and we want them to

know that we're on our toes and watching them.

When asked why the Bureau might provide—or arrange provi-
sion of—so much costly ordnance to an irregular force like the
GOONs, Brewer was unequivocal: “They just didn’t want them [AIM]
people to survive. I thought that maybe they was, I think they was
hoping that we would just kill them all, you know?”

GOON Murders

The former “Head GOON” offers considerable perspective upon
the FBI’s “inability to cope” with the wave of violent deaths on Pine
Ridge. Take, for example, one of the more mysterious homicides
involved inthe entirereign of terror on the reservation, that of Jeanette
Bissonette—a not especially prominent activist—at about 1:00 a.m. on
the morning of March 27, 1975. Careful observers have all along
suspected the victim was mistakenly killed by a GOON sniper who
confused her car with a similar one driven by traditionalist leader and
AIM supporter Ellen Moves Camp. The FBI, for reasons it has never
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adequately explained, insisted the killing “must” have been done by
“militants” and expended an appreciable quantity of investigative
energy attempting to link Northwest AIM leader Leonard Peltier to
the crime. However, Brewer frames the matter a bit differently:

I know there was [innocent] people killed during that time, like that

Bissonette lady down in, near Oglala. We didn’t do that type of stuff

[ordinarily]. That was, must havebeen, a freak accident. They must have

mistaken her for somebody else. I, I think that’s what happened. But,

you know, the weapon we used to kill that woman was also a weapon

[provided by the FBI].

He also extends an interesting interpretation of what the FBI
described as the “justifiable homicide” of AIM supporter Pedro Bis-
sonette (brother of Jeanette) at a police roadblock near Pine Ridge
village on the night of October 17, 1973. Brewer suggests the killer, BIA
police officer/GOON Joe Clifford, may have been not so much politi-
caily motivaied as iie was euraged by ilie {act that Bissonette had
undergone a stormy marriage to his (Clifford’s) sister: “They had a
real fiery romance, I guess. And it didn’t end well. So maybe there was
enough hatred [on the part of] this officer to, enough to end the guy’s
life...Maybe [Clifford] was worried that [Bissonette] was coming back
to raise hell with his sister or something.” In either event, whether it
was motivated politically or on the basis of a personal grudge, the
killing plainly added up to murder rather than the “self-defense”
explanation officially registered by the FBI, and confirmed by govern-
ment contract coroner W.O. Brown.*®

Concerning the murder of AIM supporter Byron DeSersa near the
reservation hamlet of Wanblee on January 30, 1976, Brewer states that
he did not participate directly, since the locale was outside his normal
area of operations. On the other hand, he candidly acknowledges
providing “some of the weapons” used by GOON leader Chuck
Richards, Dick Wilson’s younger son, Billy, and others in committing
the crime. Still, he holds his silence about the implications of two FBI
agents arriving on the scene shortly after the murder, being informed
by witnesses as to the identity of the killers (who werestill assembled
close at hand), and then making no arrests. Similarly, he stands mute
withregard to the significance of Delmar Eastman’s subsequent dis-
patch of a BIA police unit, not to arrest DeSersa’s murderers, but to
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remove them safely from Wanblee when it became apparent area
residents might retaliate.*®

On the matter of the execution-style slaying of AIM activist Anna
Mae Aquash, whose body was found in a ravine near Wanblee on
February 24, 1976, Brewer admits there is strong evidence pointing to
BIA police investigator (and GOON affiliate) Paul Herman. But, as
Brewer puts it, the FBI couldn’t “tie him in” to the Aquash murder
because the nature of her death failed to conform to Herman’s peculiar
mode of killing.

[Herman] got sent off [to prison] shortly after that. He, uh, he killed a

young girl, burmnt her with cigarette butts, just done a whole bunch of

things. Anna Mae Aquash, she wasn’t done like that. She was shot...if

this guy was a maniac and burnt his victims with a cigarette and done

things, why didn’t he do it to [Aquash]?...She wasn’t you know, sex-

ual(ly] tortured, none of it, none of that stuff. Just a clean death.

The problem with such reasoning is striking. Although govern-
ment contract coroner W.O. Brown—whose conclusions in this con-
nection Brewer apparently wished his interviewers to accept—failed
to find evidence that Aquash had been tortured or sexually abused,
he also “determined” thatshehad died of “exposure.”*” Independent
pathologist Garry Peterson, retained by the victim’s family to per-
form a second autopsy, concluded immediately that her death had
been caused by a “lead slug consistent with being from a .32 or .38
caliber handgun.. fired pointblank into the base of the brain.” Peter-
son also observed that the victim appeared to have been “beaten”
and that there was “evidence of sexual contact” shortly before she
was murdered. This says much to Brewer’s contention that the
Aquash murder was “out of character” with Paul Herman’s lethal
style. By implication, it says even more about the FBI’s continuing
insistence—announced even before its conclusion in the Herman
investigation was officially reached—that the victim was “probably”
killed by her “AIM associates,” ostensibly because she was “sus-
pected of being a government informant.”*®

At present, the FBI's investigation of AIM’s possible involvement in
the murder of Anna Mae Pictou Aquash is officially ongoing, a circum-
stance which exempts the Bureau from legal requirements that it disclose
relevant documents to researchers. Meanwhile, by its own admission, it
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never got around to interviewing coroner Brown as to how he arrived
at his novel cause of death finding.*’ Nor has it bothered to question
two of its agents, Tom Green and William Wood, as to why they decided
it was necessary to sever the vicim’s hands and ship them to the FBI
fingerprint lab for post mortem identification purposes. In the alternative,
they might have instructed Dr. Brown to conduct a much more conven-
tional cranial x-ray, for purposes of identification by dental chart com-
parison (but, of course, this would have instantly disclosed the bullet
lodged in the victim’s skull).” Finally, the Bureau’s sleuths have failed to
interrogate agent David Price, who, by several accounts, had threat-
ened Aquash’s life during a 1975 interrogation session.”!

The Oglala Fire{:ight

By the spring of 1975, thelevel of GOON violence on Pine Ridgewas
so pronounced—and the lack of FBT response so conspicuous—that local
traditionals requested that AIM undertake a policy of armed self-defense
in order that opposition to Wilson might continue. AIM responded by
establishing defensiveencampments on properties owned by tradition-
als at various points around the reservation. Substantial evidence de-
rived from FBI internal documents suggests the Bureau seized upon this
situation as affording the opportunity to provoke an incident spectacular
enough tobring about public acceptance of another massive paramilitary
invasion of Pine Ridge.”> Deployment of literally hundreds of agents in
an extremely aggressive capacity, it was thought, would prove sufficient
to finally break the backs of AIM and its supporters, already weakened
by the war of attrition waged against them during the two years since
Wounded Knee.

In the event, a camp set up by the Northwest AIM Group on the
Jumping Bull family property, near Oglala, was selected as the target
at which the catalyzing confrontation would occur. Two agents, Ron
Williams and Jack Coler, were sent there during the late morning of
June 26, 1975, and opened fire on several of the Indians they encoun-
tered. Almost immediately, the lead elements of a large and already-
assembled force of more than a hundred agents, BIASWAT personnel,
and GOONs attempted to force their way onto the property. From
there, things seem to have gone somewhat awry from the Bureau
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point of view. Many more AIM members were present than antici-
pated, and the government reinforcements beat a hasty retreat to the
cover of roadside ditches while Coler and Williams were cut off from
their expected support. In the extended firefight which followed, both
agents were killed, as was an AIM member named Joe Stuntz
Killsright. Despite the presence of perhaps 200 police personnel,
GOONs, and white vigilantes by midafternoon, the remaining AIM
members escaped.”

Despite this undoubtedly unanticipated outcome, the Oglala fire-
fight served its intended purpose for the FBL Public endorsement of
the sort of “crushing blow” desired by Bureau strategists was inherent
to the situation, especially after it had been “packaged” by Bureau
propagandists. Hence, before nightfall on June 26, counterintelligence
expert Richard G. Held—detached from his normal duties before the
firefight and standing by in Minneapolis, ready to assume command
of the Pine Ridge operation—was on site.>* With him, he brought a
young counterintelligence protégé, Norman Zigrossi, his son, Richard
Wallace Held, head of the FBI's COINTELPRO (Counterintelligence
Program) Section in Los Angeles, and a number of other specialists in
“political work.”*> They “hit the ground running,” to borrow a phrase
from the vernacular of their trade.

By the momning of June 27, SWAT teams imported from Chicago,
Minneapolis, Milwaukee, and Quantico, Virginia, were on the reserva-
tion, giving the Bureau a military-style presence—complete with ar-
mored personnel carriers, Bell “Huey” helicopters, and other Vietnam-
type equipage—of some 250 agents (as O’Clock mentioned above, this
number had swelled to 350 by mid-July). For the next several months,
this huge force conducted sweeps back and forth across Pine Ridge,
abruptly kicking in doors to perform warrantless searches, making
arbitrary arress, and engaging in air assaults upon assorted “centers of
AlIM resistance,” all in the process of conducting what the FBI called its
“RESMURS (for Reservation Murders) Investigation.”*® Subjected to
these sorts of official tactics, the AIM leadership reversed its position,
quietly withdrawing from the reservation as an expedient to relieve the
pressure imposed upon their traditional allies.
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The firefight ultimately served much broader purposes as well.
“Under the volatile circumstances caused by the deaths of Agents
Coler and Williams,” the Senate Select Committee on Goverriment
Operations (the so-called “Church Committee”), which had already
issued the first subpoenas for a scheduled probe into the sorts of
activities encompassed by the FBI's anti-AIM campaign, especially
those on Pine Ridge, agreed to an “indefinite postponement” of its
hearings.”” In actuality, this exploration of the Bureau'’s repressive
behavior in what has been called its “post-COINTELPRO era” was
simply and permanently shelved by the committee (or, in any event,
we are still waiting for it to start, 21 years later). And, of course, a few
days after the firefight, the U.S. Department of Interior felt the time
was “appropriate” for Dick Wilson to finally sign the instrument
transferring title over the Sheep Mountain Gunnery Range to the
National Forest Service.”®

The Bureau and its supporters have always contended that no
government plan to provoke a confrontation existed. The presence of
large numbers of GOONSs and BIA police in close proximity to the
remote location in which the firefight occurred was, they say, the
sheerest of coincidences, a matter which proves nothing at all.. AIM,
FBI media liaison Tom Coll initially claimed, was “the group with the
plan,” having “lured” the agents into a “carefully prepared ambush”
where they were “fired upon with automatic weapons” from a “so-
phisticated bunker complex,” “riddled with fifteen to twenty bullets”
apiece, “dragged from their cars” and “stripped” and—in one ver-
sion—"scalped.” Coll was even thoughtful enough to quote Williams’
last words, having the dead agent plead for his life, begging his
“cold-blooded executioners” to “please remember my wife and chil-
dren before you do this.”*’

After FBI Director Clarence M. Kelley finally admitted that none
of this was true, the Bureau switched to the story that it maintains to
this day: Coler and Williams were merely attempting to serve a
“routine warrant” on a 19-year-old AIM member named Jimmy Eagle
and ended up being brutally murdered for their trouble.”’ Duane
Brewer tells a rather different story.
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The thing that we was to do was use CB radios, have people placed,
positioned in different places, on hills and things. And we was going to
have an assault vehicle go to about three houses that we figured they was
at,and shoot them up...We would do the shooting, shoot the place up and
make our runand go to Rapid City. Stay up over night, party around and
then come back the next day, you know. Not be in the area when it
happened. But, like I said, we had three or four different plans that we was
going to use...[Blut our intentions never were, was to go right down into

that place. That was just one of the places that we was going to hit. We

could have hit them from the road, you know [emphasis added].

A second variation of the planning was for Brewer’s GOONSs to
shoot up some of the Jumping Bull houses, precipitating a return of
fire from the few AIM members expected to be gathered there. A force
of FBI agents and a BIA SWAT team would then use this as a pretext
to arrest everyone on the property, “and we [the GOONSs] could cover
for them on the way back. We had three different plans, I guess. We sat
down there at the creek I don’t know how many times and went over
that [emphasis added].” As it happened, however, Coler and Williams
were sent in to get things rolling, but “we neverreally knew they had
this, the Jumping Bull Hall, the Jumping Bull place with all these
warriors down there. And that’s when they killed them agents.”
Asked why he and his men hadn’t responded to Williams’ radioed
pleas, once the firefight had begun in earnest, for someone to “get on
the high ground” adjacent to the Jumping Bull property and provide
covering fire while he and his partner withdrew, Brewer responded:

If we could have got ourselves into that position where we went to the

top of that hill, they [AIM] would have had us before we got out of the,

got to the highway, the way they were set up. That would have been a

losing battle there.

In the end, little more than this need be said about the circum-
stances in which Northwest AIM leader Leonard Peltier was brought
to trial in 1977 and convicted of two counts of first-degree murder in
the deaths of Williams and Coler. This, after an all-whitejury in Cedar
Rapids, Iowa, had acquitted his codefendants, Bob Robideau and
Darelle “Dino” Butler, both of whom openly acknowledged at the trial
having shot at the agents, by reason of their having plainly acted in
self-defense.” Tellingly, Judge Gerald Heaney, head of the three-mem-
ber panel of the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals which last reviewed
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Peltier’s case, appeared on national television in 1989 to admit he was
“deeply troubled” during his own investigation of the matter. The
reason for the judge’s discomfort? In his own words, “It became
increasingly apparent to me thatthe FBI was atleast as much to blame
for what happened as Peltier.”*> More lately, Heaney has joined Ha-
waii Senator Daniel Inouye and other members of Congress in signing
a petition to George Bush requesting that Peltier be pardoned.®

Death Squads in the United States

Atonepointtoward theend of hisinterview, Brewer was asked how
he justified the sorts of things he’d beeninvolved in asa GOON. Almost
pensively, he acknowledged that, “Well, you really can’t. There really
isn’t nojustification for it. ..It’s just what we done at the time, and there’s
no way you can go back and change what's already done.” Exactly. And
no number of cvasions, withheld documeaents, dendals, or other lies on the
part of the FBI and its friends will make the truth of what the Bureau did
to AIM and its supporters any less true. The Federal Bureau of Investi-
gation played much thesamerole on Pine Ridge during the mid-"70s that
the CIA has played vis-a-vis Roberto D’Aubisson’s hit teams in El Salva-
dor throughout the 1980s. The GOONss, for their part, fulfilled exactly
the same requirements on the reservation that other death squads have
played throughout Latin America over the past four decades and more.
Structurally, the forms and functions assumed by all parties to such
comparisons are essentially the same.**

The FBI's employment of outright death squads to accomplish the
repression of AIM may be the the most extreme example of its kind in
modern U.S. history. It is nonetheless hardly isolated or unique in
principle. To the contrary, ample evidence exists that the Bureau has
been experimenting with and perfecting this technique of domestic
counterinsurgency for nearly thirty years. There can be little question
at this point that the Ku Klux Klan, riddled with FBl agents provocateurs
such as Gary Thomas Rowe and overlapped as it was with local police
forces in the Deep South, was used by the FBI during the early 1960s
against the civil rights movement in much the same fashion as the
GOON s were later used against AIM.%® The same circumstances are
at issue with regard to the Klan, in alliance with other neonazis,
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murdering five members of the Communist Workers Party in Greens-
boro, North Carolina, during November 1979.%¢

Certainly, the special unit of State’s Attorney’s Police which assas-
sinated Black Panther Party leaders Fred Hampton and Mark Clark
in Chicago on December 4, 1969, was functioning as a death squad
under the Bureau’s at least nominal control.”” Similarly, the Windy
City was afflicted with a neonazi/police/FBI/military intelligence
amalgamation known as the “Legion of Justice” during the first half
of the 1970s.% No less striking is the combination, evident during the
late 1960s and described at length by provocateur Louis Tackwood in
The Glass House Tapes, of state and local police red squads with the
Bureau’s Los Angeles COINTELPRO Section and area vigilante
groups, for purposes of physically destroying the “California Left.”
As Tackwood and other Bureau-sponsored infiltrators of dissident
organizations have stated, often and categorically, assassination of
“key activists” is a standard part of the tactical methodology utilized
by America’s political police.%”

Bearing this out, there was the Secret Army Organization (SAO),
developed under the aegis of the FBI in southern California during
the early "70s; its express purpose, among other things, was to liqui-
date “radical leaders.””’ On another front, there was the death squad
formed by the Portland, Maine, police (with apparent cooperation
from thelocal FBIresidentagency) during the same period as a means
of “coming to grips” with the area’s antiwar and prison rights move-
ments. Then again, there is the example of the consortium in Puerto
Rico—consisting of a special police unit tightly interlocked with the
island’s FBI field office, the CIA, U.S. military intelligence units, and
right wing Cuban exile groups—which was responsible for scores of
bombings and beatings over the years. Also attributable to this entity
are, at the very least, the execution-style murders of labor leader Juan
Caballero in the island’s El Yunque rain forest in 1977, and of inde-
pendentista activists Arnaldo Dario Rosado and Carlos Soto Arrivi near
the mountain village of Cerro Maravilla on July 25, 1978.”!

Comparable illustrations might be recited at length, but the pat-
tern will by now be clear to anyone willing to face facts. And it should
be coupled to the fact that not one FBI agent has ever served so much
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as a minute of jail time because of the conduct involved in these
atrocities. These realities must serve to inform and temper the under-
standings of activists and scholars alike, the former in terms of their
appreciation of what they are up against as they struggle to achieve
positive social change in the United States, the latter in terms of the
paradigmsby which they attempt to shed light on the nature of power
dynamics in America. In either case, it is plain enough that there is no
longer any real excuse for continuation of the generalized self-delu-
sion among American progressives that such things are “anomalous”
within the context of the contemporary United States. True death
squads are not only possible in the United States; they have been a
relatively common phenomenon for some time. It is already well past
the point where we should have gotten the government’s message,
and begun to conduct ourselves accordingly.

AIM Casualties on Pine Ridge, 1973-1976
with Jim Vander Wall

In our books, Agents of Repression (South End Press, 1988) and The
COINTELPRO Papers (South End Press, 1990) Jim Vander Wall and I
have used the figure 69 as the minimum number of AIM members and
supporters murdered on the Pine Ridge Reservation from mid-1973
through mid-1976. This has provoked claims on the parts of various
FBI apologists that we “exaggerate” the gravity of the situation. Our
first response to such critics is that it ultimately matterslittle in terms
of the implications at issue whether the number of AIM casualties was
in the upper forties—as the Bureau itself has admitted—the upper
sixties, as we contend. Our second response is the following itemized
list of casualties, including the names of the victims, the dates and
causes of their deaths (where known), and, so far as is possible, the
status of FBI investigations (if any) into their murders. Our third
response is that, as we've said all along, even this itemization is
undoubtedly incomplete. We therefore request any individuals having
knowledge of murders other than those listed—or who are aware of
the names of any of the individuals killed while packing supplies into
Wounded Knee—to contact us with this information.
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04/17/73

04/23/73

04/27/73

06/19/73

07/14/73
07/30/73
09/23/73
09/22/73
10/05/73
10/10/73

10/17/73

11/20/73

01/17/74

Frank Clearwater—AIM member killed by heavy machine
gun round at Wounded Knee. No investigation.

Between 8 and 12 individuals (names unknown) packing
supplies into Wounded Knee were intercepted by GOONs
and vigilantes. None were ever heard from again. Former
Rosebud Tribal President Robert Burnette and U.S. Justice
Department Solicitor General Kent Frizzell conducted
unsuccessful search for a mass grave after the Wounded
Knee siege. No further investigation.

Buddy Lamont—AIM member hit by M-16 fire at
Wounded Knee. Bled to death while pinned down by fire.
No investigation.

Clarence Cross—AIM supporter shot to death in ambush
by GOONS. Although assailants were identified by
eyewitnesses, brother Vernal Cross—wounded in
ambush—was briefly charged with crime. No further
investigation.

Priscilla White Plume—AIM supporter killed at Manderson
by GOONS. No investigation.

Julius Bad Heart Bull—AIM supporter killed at Oglala by
“person or persons unknown.” No investigation.

Philip Black Elk—AIM supporter killed when his house
exploded. No investigation.

Melvin Spider—AIM member killed at Porcupine, S.D. No
investigation.

Aloysius Long Soldier—AIM member killed at Kyle, S.D. by
GOONS. No investigation.

Phillip Little Crow—AIM supporter beaten to death by
GOON:s s at Pine Ridge. No investigation.

Pedro Bissonette—Oglala Sioux Civil Rights Organization
(OSCRO) organizer and AIM supporter assassinated by
BIA Police/GOONSs. Body removed from Pine Ridge
jurisdiction prior to autopsy by government contract
coroner. No further investigation.

Allison Fast Horse—AIM supporter shot to death near Pine
Ridge by “unknown assailants.” No investigation.

Edward Means, [r—AIM member found dead in Pine
Ridge alley, beaten. No investigation.
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02/18/74

02/27/74

04/19/74

09/07/74

09/11/74

09/16/74

11/16/74

11/30/74

12/25/74

12/28/74

01/05/75

03/01/75

03/20/75

03/21/75

03/27/75

Edward Standing Soldier—AIM member killed near Pine
Ridge by “party or parties unknown.” No investigation.
Lorinda Red Paint— AIM supporter killed at Oglala by
“unknown assailants.” No investigation.

Roxeine Roark—AIM supporter killed at Porcupine by
“unknown assailants.” Investigation opened, still
“pending.”

Dennis LeCompte—AIM member killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. No investigation.

Jackson Washington Cutt—AIM member killed at Parmalee
by unknown individuals.” Investigation still “ongoing.”
Robert Reddy—AIM member killed at Kyle by gunshot. No
investigation.

Delphine Crow Dog—sister of AIM spiritual leader
Leonard Crow Dog. Beaten by BIA police and left lying in
a field. Died from “exposure.” No investigation.

Elaine Wagner—AIM supporter killed at I'ine Ridge by
“person or persons unknown.” No investigation.

Floyd S. Binias—AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. No investigation.

Yuette Lorraine Lone Hill—AIM supporter killed at Kyle by
“unknown party or parties.” No investigation.

Leon L. Swift Bird—AIM member killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. Investigation still “ongoing.”

Martin Montileaux—Xkilled in a Scenic, S.D. bar. AIM
leader Richard Marshall later framed for his murder.
Russell Means also charged and acquitted.

Stacy Cottie—shot to death in an ambush at Manderson.
No investigation.

Edith Eagle Hawk and her two children—AIM supporter
killed in automobile accident after being run off the road
by a white vigilante, Albert Coomes. Coomes was also
killed in the accident. GOON Mark Clifford identified as
having also been in Coomes car, escaped. Investigation
closed without questioning of Clifford.

Jeanette Bissonette—AIM supporter killed by sniper in Pine
Ridge. Unsuccessful attempt to link AIM members to
murder; no other investigation.
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03/30/75

04/04/75

04/04/75

05/20/75

06/01/75

06/15/75

06/26/75

07/12/75

07/25/75

08/25/75
09/09/75
09/10/75
10/26/75
10/26/75
10/27/75
12/06/75
12/06/75

02/??/76

Richard Eagle—grandson of AIM supporter Gladys
Bissonette killed while playing with loaded gun kept in
the house as protection from GOON attacks.

Hilda R. Good Buffalo—AIM supporter stabbed to death at
Pine Ridge by GOONS. No investigation.

Jancita Eagle Deer— AIM member beaten and run over
with automobile. Last seen in the company of FBI agent
provocateur Douglass Durham. No investigation.

Ben Sitting Up— AIM member killed at Wanblee by
“unknown assailants.” No investigation.

Kenneth Little—AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. Investigation still “pending.”

Leah Spotted Elk—AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. No investigation.

Joseph Stuntz Killsright— AIM member killed by FBI sniper
during Oglala firefight. No investigation.

James Brings Yellow—heart attack caused by FBI air assault
on his home. No investigation.

Andrew Paul Stewart—nephew of AIM spiritual leader,
Leonard Crow Dog, killed by GOONSs on Pine Ridge. No
investigation.

Randy Hunter—AIM supporter killed at Kyle by “party or
parties unknown.” Investigation still “ongoing. ”

Howard Blue Bird—AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. No investigation.

Jim Little—AIM supporter stomped to death by GOONSs in
Oglala. No investigation.

Olivia Binias—AIM supporter killed in Porcupine by
“person or persons unknown.” Investigation still “open.”
Janice Black Bear—AIM supporter killed at Manderson by
GOONS. No investigation.

Michelle Tobacco—AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by
“unknown assailants.” Investigation still “ongoing.”

Carl Plenty Arrows, Sr. — AIM supporter killed at Pine
Ridge by “unknown persons." No investigation.

Frank LaPointe—AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. No investigation.

Anna Mae Pictou Aquash—AIM organizer assassinated on
Pine Ridge. FBI involved in attempt to conceal cause of
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01/05/76

01/30/76

02/06/76

03/01/76

03/26/76
04/28/76
05/06/76
05/09/76
05/24/76
06/04/76
07/03/76
07/31/76

Note:

death. Ongoing attempt to establish “AIM involvement”
in murder. Key FBI personnel never deposed. Coroner
never deposed. Actual date of death is unknown.

Lydia Cut Grass—AIM member killed at Wounded Knee
by GOONS. No investigation.

Byron DeSersa—OSCRO organizer and AIM supporter
assassinated by GOONs in Wanblee. Arrests by local
authorities result in two GOONs—Dale Janis and Charlie
Winters—serving two years of five year state sentences
for “manslaughter.” Charges dropped against two GOON
leaders, Manny Wilson and Chuck Richards, on the basis
of “self-defense” despite DeSersa having been unarmed
when shot to death.

Lena R. Slow Bear—AIM supporter killed at Oglala by
GOONS. No investigation.

Hobart Horse—AIM member beaten, shot and repeatedly
tuttover wiil automwobile ai Shaip’s Comers. No
investigation.

Cleveland Reddest—AIM member killed at Kyle by “person
or persons unknown.” No investigation.

Betty Jo Dubray—AIM supporter beaten to death at
Martin, S.D. No investigation.

Marvin Two Two—AIM supporter shot to death at Pine
Ridge. No investigation.

Julia Pretty Hips—AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridgeby
“unknown assailants.” No investigation.

Sam Afraid of Bear—AIM supporter shot to death at Pine
Ridge. Investigation “ongoing.”

Kevin Hill—AIM supporter killed at Oglala by “party or
parties unknown.” Investigation still “open.”

Betty Means—AIM member killed at Pine Ridge by
GOONS. No investigation.

Sandra Wounded Foot— AIM supporter killed at Sharp’s
Comers by “unknown assailants.” No investigation.

The authors would like to express appreciation to Candy
Hamilton, Bruce Ellison and Ken Tilson for their various
assistance in assembling this detailed chronology.
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Notes

1. See U.S. Senate, Select Committee on Indian Affairs, Indian Mineral Development
(Washington, D.C.: 97th Cong,, 2d Sess., U.S. Government Printing Office, 1982).
2. As to the accuracy and appropriateness of the term “low intensity warfare” in
this connection, see Kitson, Frank, Low Intensity Operations: Subversion, Insurgency
and Peace-Keeping (Harrisburg, PA: Stackpole Books, 1971). It should be noted that
the FBI, in its internal documents of the mid-'70s, referred to AIM not as “mili-
tants,” “radicals,” or “political extremists,” but as “insurgents”; see, for example,
thememorandum from SAC Portland to the Director, FBI, dated February 6, 1976,
and reproduced at p. 264 of Churchill, Ward, and Jim Vander Wall, The COINTEL-
PRO Papers: Documents from the FBI's Secret Wars Against Dissent in the United States
(Boston, MA: South End Press, 1990). It should also be noted that a former
operational commander of the FBI forces on Pine Ridge, Norman Zigrossi, in a
1990 interview with filmmaker Michael Apted, repeatedly described his agents’
mission on the reservation during the critical period not as “investigation” or “law
enforcement,” but as “peace-keeping” (copy on file).

3.Fora sample of the Bureau’s official denials, see excerpts from an interview with
an FBI Public Information Officer, contained in Lan Brookees Ritz’ documentary
film, Annie Mae: A Brave Hearted Woman (Los Angeles: Brown Bird Productions,
1979). Concerning the “experts,” see Theoharis, Athan, “Building a File: The Case
Against the FBI,” Washington Post (October 30, 1988); and Dershowitz, Alan, “Can
Leonard Peltier be the Andrei Sakharov of America?”, Denver Post (October 21,
1984). An interesting example of a “progressive” commentator regurgitating es-
sentially the same reactionary views will be found in Gordon, Diana, “Doing Edgar
Proud,” The Nation (November 13, 1989).

4. On the suits against Matthiessen and his publisher, Viking Press, see Churchill,
Ward, “GOONSs, G-Men, and AIM: At last the story will be told,” The Progressive
(April 1990).

5. The documentary, entitled The Spirit of Crazy Horse, was produced by Michel
Dubois and Kevin McKiernan, and first aired on December 18, 1990. The author
is in possession of a 125-page transcription of the Brewer interview from which
the televised excerpts were drawn.

6. These are minimum figures, derived from reports collected by researcher Candy
Hamilton, whoresided on Pine Ridge throughout the period at issue as an unpaid
paralegal volunteer for the Wounded Knee Legal Offense/Defense Committee
(WKLDOC).

7. Johansen, Bruce, and Roberto Maestas, Wasi'chu: The Continuing Indian Wars
(New York: Monthly Review Press, 1979), p. 83."

8. Ibid. The authors are relying on data from the FBI Uniform Crime Report (Wash-
ington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1975).

9. Johansen and Maestas, op. cit., p. 84.

10. Ibid.

11. For a capsule history of FBI jurisdiction on Indian reservations, see American
Indian Policy Review Commission, Final Report, Task Force Nine: Law Consolidation,
Revision and Codification (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office,
1977), pp. 173-74. Also see U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Indian Tribes: A
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Continuing Quest for Survival (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office,
1981), p. 145.

12. This is incorporated into official findings: “[ W]hen Indians complain about the
lack of investigation and prosecution on reservation crime, they are usually told
theFederal government does not have the resources to handle the work.” See U.S.
Department of Justice, Report of the Task Force on Indian Matters (Washington, D.C.:
U.S. Government Printing Office, 1975), pp. 42-43.

13. Ibid. , pp. 42-43.

14. Interview of retired Rapid City ASAC George O’Clock by Michel DuBois and
Kevin Barry McKiernan, 1987; transcript copy on file.

15. Zigrossi is the FBI official who explained to investigative journalist David Weir
and Lowell Bergman in 1978 that, in his view, the proper function of the Bureau on
Indian reservations is to serveas a “colonial police force.” See Weir, David, and Lowell
Bergman, “The Killing of Anna Mae Aquash,” Rolling Stone (April 7, 1977): p. 5.

16. U.S. Senate, Committee on the Judiciary, Subcommittee on Internal Security,
Revolutionary Activities Within the United States: The American Indian Movement
(Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1975), p. 61.

17. U.S. v. Consolidated Wounded Knee Cases, CR. 73-5019, U.S. District Court for
Nebraska, Lincoln, 1974.

18. U.S. Ilouse of Repiesentiatives, ifcarings Bcfurc ine Suvcornmiiiee on Cioil und
Constitutional Rights, 97th Congress, 1st Session on FBI Authorization, March 19, 24,
25; April 2 and 8, 1981 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1981).
19. Quoted from audiotape in Churchill, Ward, and Jim Vander Wall, Agents of
Repression: The FBI's Secret Wars Against the Black Panther Party and the American
Indian Movement (Boston, MA: South End Press, 1988), p. 329. Warner appears to
be borrowing from the thinking of British counterinsurgency expert (and consult-
ant to the US. government) Robin Evelegh, who explains the operant concept
rather well in his Peace-Keeping in a Democratic Society: The Lessons of Northern
Ireland (London: C. Hurst and Company, 1978).

20. Witt, Shirley Hill, and William Muldrow, Monitoring of Events Related to the
Shootings of Two FBI Agents on the Pine Ridge Reservation (Denver, CO: U.S. Com-
mission on Hueman Rights, Rocky Mountain Regional Office, July 9, 1975).

21. Churchill and Vander Wall, op. cit., pp. 186-87.

22.1bid., p. 185. This is hardly the only incident in which innocent bystanders were
on the receiving end of GOON bullets. For instance, on February 7, 1974, a round
fired by an unidentified GOON at AIM member Milo Goings in the reservation-
adjacent hamlet of Whiteclay, Nebraska missed and struck nine-year-old Harold
Weasel Bear in the face, blinding him in one eye. No FBI investigation was opened.
23. Theamount is from Wilson'’s testimony during congressional hearings on Pine
Ridge violence excerpted in Saul Landau’sdocumentaryfilm, Voices From Wounded
Knee (Washington, D.C.: Institute for Policy Studies, 1974). Why a ranger unit was
needed on Pine Ridge when the BIA police already had sufficient numbers has
never been adequately explained by federal authorities. Wilson’s version is that
the GOONs were to serve as “an auxiliary police force...to handle people like
Russell Means and other radicals.”

24. A1974 GAO audit determined that the Wilson administration kept virtually no
books on its expenditures of federal funds and that there were clear implications of
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financial malfeasance. See Brand, Johanna, The Life and Death of Anna Mae Aquash
(Toronto: James Lorimar Publishers, 1978), p. 62. Also see Muldrow, William, Report
of Investigation: Oglala Sioux Tribe, General Election, 1974 (Denver: U.S. Commission on
Civil Rights, Rocky Mountain Regional Office, October 1974), and Matthiessen, Peter,
In the Spirit of Crazy Horse (New York: Viking Press, [second edition] 1992), p. 62.

25. It is estimated that at least $200,000 in tribal housing funds were expended in
1973 and 74 in acquiring house trailers utilized exclusively by members of the
GOON squad and their families. See Brand, op. cit.

26. The per capita annual income on Pine Ridge during this period was a littleover
$1,000. Wilson assigned himself a pay increase from $5,500 to $15,500 per year, as
well as-a $30,000 annual “consultancy” with the tribe, within six months of taking
office. His wife was hired as director of the Pine Ridge Head Start Program (which
she shortly bankrupted) at $22,500 per year, his brother Jim as director of tribal
planning (where he was able to identify and earmark funds for expenditure on the
GOON:s) at $25,000 per year plus a $15,000 consultancy, and his brother George as
director of the tribal water works, where he seems to have functioned mainly as a
GOON recruiter at $23,000 per year. Wilson’s son Manny as well as several cousins
and nephews were placed on more covert sorts of retainers, serving as GOON
“soldiers” pureand simple.Seeeditors, Voices From Wounded Knee, 1973, Akwesasne
Notes (1974): p. 21; McCall, Cheryl, “Life on Pine Ridge Bleak,” Colorado Daily (May
16, 1975); and New York Times (April 22, 1975).

27. The percentage of BIA police who actually moonlighted as GOONSs in the
classic fashion of the Latin American death squads is somewhat nebulous. Specu-
lations have ranged from 25 to 50 percent.

28. The area, located in the northwestern quadrant of Pine Ridge, got its name
when it was “borrowed” by the U.S. Army Air Corps in 1942 as a practice site for
dive bombers and aerial gunners. By agreement, the government was to return the
land to Oglala control at the end of World War II, but never did. Agitation among
Oglala traditionals to recover the gunnery range had become pronounced by 1972,
but unbeknownst to any of the Indians involved, a secret cooperative venture
undertaken by NASA and the National Uranium Research and Evaluation Insti-
tute in 1970-71 had revealed through specialized satellite photography that the
area contained a rich uranium deposit, intermingled with molybdenum; see Greis,
J. P, Status of Mineral Resource Information on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation, S.D.
(Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Interior, BIA Report No. 12, 1976). The title
transfer at issue was/is illegal under provision of the still-binding 1868 Fort
Laramie Treaty, a stipulation requiring three-quarters express consent of all adult
male Lakotas before any lawful land cession may take place.

29. The traditionals had formed the Oglala Sioux Civil Rights Organization
(OSCRO), headed by Pedro Bissonette, in 1972 as a means to pursue recovery of
the gunnery range, continue broader land claims under the 1868 treaty, and resolve
heirship problems effecting reservation property owned by Pine Ridge residents,
but administered “in trust” by the BIA. OSCRO naturally opposed the Wilson
agenda and became the primary initial target of GOON terrorism. The traditionals
then attempted to exercise their legal right of impeachment. The BIA responded
by naming Wilson to head up his own impeachment proceedings and requested
a 60-member Special Operations Group of SWAT-trained U.S. Marshals—com-
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plete with flak vests and M-60 machine guns that they set up in sandbagged
positions atop tribal buildings—to “maintain order” during the travesty. Immedi-
ately after continuing himself in office, Wilson proclaimed a reservation-wide ban
on meetings of more than three people. It was at this point that AIM was called in
to provide support and assistance.

30. The altercation at “The Residents’ Roadblock” (as Wilson called it), Held’s part
init, and the FBI's intervention to obtain the GOONSs’ release is described in Voices
From Wounded Knee, 1973, op. cit., p. 123. Colburn’s motive for attempting to
dismantle the roadblock is explained in a 1989 interview of former Solicitor
General Kent Frizzell by NPR reporter Scott Schlagle; Frizzell states that he was
riding in Colburn’s car on April 23,1973 when they stopped at the GOON position.
A Wilsonite, apparently incensed at the Justice Department’s efforts to negotiate
a cease-fire with AIM rather than unleashing the force necessary to kill the
“militants” outright, proceeded to shove the muzzle of his weapon under Frizzell’s
chinand threatened to blow his head off. Colburn was forced to get out of the car
and level his own weapon at the GOON, telling him to “go ahead and shoot
Frizzell, and then I'm going to kill you,” before the GOON backed off. Colburn
then drove back to his command post in Pine Ridge village, assembled as many
deputies as he could muster, and retumed to the roadblock in a fury. In his own
interview, Duane Brewer refers to a relative, BIA police officer/GOON Brian Brewer,
leveling a weapon at Colburn himself during the subsequent confrontation.

31. The marshal, Lloyd Grimm, was apparently hit in the lower back by a round
that permanently paralyzed him from the waist down while facing the AIM
perimeter at Wounded Knee. The bullet that struck him was not federal issue. This
combination of factors has caused considerable speculation that he may havebeen
hit by a round fired by a GOON from a position behind the federal lines.
Concerning M-16s in the possession of GOONs during the Wounded Knee siege,
consider the following excerpt from federal radio monitoring of radio traffic on
the night of April 23, 1973: “Tribal Government [a euphemism for the GOONs]
Roadblock to Tribal Roving Patrol: How many M-16s you guys got? Where are the
other guys? Tribal Patrol to Tribal Roadblock: We got eight M-16s and some men
coming up on horseback...”

32. For researchers’ conclusions, see Johansen and Maestas, op. cit.; Matthiessen,
op. cit.; Agents of Repression, op. cit.; The COINTELPRO Papers, op. cit.; and Brand,
op. cit. Also see Weyler, Rex, Blood of the Land: The Governmental and Corporate War
Against the American Indian Movement (Philadelphia, PA: New Society Publishers,
[second edition] 1992), and Messerschmidt, Jim, The Trial of Leonard Peltier (Boston,
MA: South End Press, 1983).

33. Chuck Richards is the eldest son in a clan so grotesquely violent it is collectively
referred to on Pine Ridge as the “Manson Family.” Chuck, predictably, is known
as “Charlie Manson.” He was also Dick Wilson’s son-in-law, before being sent to
prison in 1978, presumably for holding a shotgun to the head of a tribal police
officer during a post-GOON era altercation on the reservation. While incarcerated
at the minimum security federal facility at Lompoc, California under an alias, he
is believed tohave been involved in an assassination plot against Northwest AIM
leader Leonard Peltier, who had suddenly and unaccountably been transferred
there directly from the “super-maximum” prison at Marion, Illinois. Richards’
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younger brother Bennie,alsoa GOON, had by then become head of the BIA police
on the Duck Valley Shoshoni Reservation, on the Nevada/Idaho border. He is
suspected of involvement in the mass murder of AIM President John Trudell’s
entire family—wife Tina, daughters Ricarda Star (age five) and Sunshine Karma
(age three), son Eli Changing Sun (age one), and mother-in-law Leah Hicks
Manning—on the night of February 12, 1979.

34. Brewer's reference to a “Treaty Convention up at Fort Yates,” on the Standing
Rock Sioux Reservation, concerns the founding conference of the International
Indian Treaty Council, AIM’s diplomatic arm, in June 1974. “Pine Ridge’s little
crew” was alsoonhand at Standing Rock on June 8, 1975, when AIM leader Russell
Means was shot in the back and nearly killed by BIA police.

35. In fact, FBI were “around,” at least on some occasions. For example, on
February 26, 1973, AIM leader Russell Means, accompanied by reservation resi-
dents Milo Goings and Pedro Bissonette, attempted to meet with Dick Wilson in
alast ditch effort to avert the confrontation that became the siege of Wounded Knee
only 24 hours later. For their trouble, they were assaulted in the parking lot of the
tribal office building by five GOONs headed by Duane Brewer. At least two FBI
agents were on hand as “observers.” No further action was taken by the Bureau.
36. Finzel, Gordon and James were members of the Wounded Knee Legal De-
fense/Offense Committee (WKLD/OC), a National Lawyers Guild project initi-
ated during the 1973 Wounded Knee siege to provide legal counsel to AIM
members and supporters.

37. Aside from Dick Wilson, the victims identified GOONs Duane, Brian and
Vincent Brewer, Chuck, Cliff, Bennie and Woody Richards, Mark and Greg Clif-
ford, Lloyd and Toby Eagle Bull, Robert Ecoffey, Johnson Holy Rock, Bennett
“Tuffy” Sierra, John Hussman, Glenn Little Bird, Marvin Stolt, Glenn Three Stars,
James Wedell, Michael Weston, Dale Janis, Charlie Winters, Salty Twiss, Manny
and Billy Wilson, Fred Two Bulls, and Francis Randall as being among their 50-odd
attackers.

38. Quoted in the Rapid City Journal (February 28, 1975).

39. A further perspective has been offered in an interview by former WKLD/OC
coordinator Ken Tilsen: “Somebody had to tell Dick Wilson how to go about
beating the rap on this one. He wasn’t smart enough to figure out the double
jeopardy ploy all by himself. And you can bet that ‘somebody’ was in the U.S.
Attorney’s office or the FBL.”

40. For instance, AIM supporter Phillip Little Crow was beaten to death as part of
a GOON “educational seminar” on November 10, 1973; AIM supporter Jim Little
was stomped to death by four GOONs on September 10, 1975; AIM member
Hobart Horse was beaten, shot and run over repeatedly by a car onMarch 1, 1976.
No one went to trial for any of these murders.

41. The late Robert Burnette, at the time tribal president of the Rosebud Sioux, has
recounted how, immediately after the Wounded Knee siege ended, “[Solicitor
General] Kent Frizzell.. .called me to request that I come to Wounded Knee with
two FBI agents in an attempt to find eight graves that were around the perimeter.
The activists who spoke of these graves believed they contained the bodies of
Indians murdered by white ranchers or Wilson’s men [or both]”; see Burnette,
Robert, with John Koster, The Road to Wounded Knee (New York: Bantam Books,
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1974), p. 248. The Akwesasne Notes book, Voices From Wounded Knee, 1973 (op. cit.,
p. 193) also contains an excerpt from the verbatim transcription of U.S. Marshal
radio logs for the night in which it is reported that a GOON “roving patrol” had
captured a group of 13 “hippies” attempting to backpack supplies into Wounded
Knee. ABIApolice unit dispatched by the marshals to take custody of the prisoners
was fired uponby the GOONs and retreated. None of the prisoners were ever seen
again. All told, the cumulative number of individuals believed by AIM to be
missing as a result of their attempts to move in or out of Wounded Knee during
the siege exceeds 40.
42. In late 1974, Young Bear requested that an AIM security unit be placed on his
property in much the same fashion as the Northwest AIM group subsequently
established its defensive encampment at the request of the Jumping Bull family,
near Oglala. As a result, GOON violence directed at Young Bear’s home “dropped
off real fast,” as he remembers it.
43. It is worth noting that there were no Afro-American gun dealers in Rapid
City—or anywhere elsein western South Dakota or adjoining areas of Wyoming
and Nebraska—in those days, and still aren’t. The individuals in question were
therefore necessarily “imported” from some considerable distance in order to
conduct their clandestine commerce. If the whole thing were a profit-making
venture on their part, this might be understandable. But Brewer says repeatedly
thatthey provided weapons and munitions to the GOON:Ss either free of charge or
at extremely low cost. So, the question of why a group of black men might
undertake considerable effort and expense for no potential return in order to
provide one group of Indians the means to slaughter another remains inexplicable
on its face. This remains true unless one considers the probability that they were
serving as go-betweens for someone else—say, a federal agency—and were com-
pensated accordingly. The scenario fits well with the remainder of Brewer’s
commentary on arms transactions, and with the known means by which the
Bureauarmed the Secret Army Organizationinsouthern California ataboutthesame
time. See Parenti, Michael, Democracy for the Few (New York: St. Martin’s Press, 1982),
.24.
-’-Il)4. This concerns the altercation outside the tribal office building in Pine Ridge
village on February 26, 1973.
45. The cause of death listed in both the police report and coroner’s report in the
Pedro Bissonette slaying is also suspect. The time of the shooting reported by
Clifford is 9:48 p.m., the time of thebody’s arrival by ambulance at the Pine Ridge
hospital (a few minutes distance from the shooting scene) is 10:10, making it
appear that the victim died more or less instantly from gunshot wounds. Several
eyewitnesses who happened on the roadblock, however, contend that Bissonette
was shot at approximately 9 p.m. This would mean the victim was left on the
ground for nearly an hour before an ambulance was called, and likely bled to
death. Such a possibility may explain why Delmar Eastman, acting on instructions
from AUSA Bill Clayton, ordered the body secretly removed from the Pine Ridge
morgue at 3 a.m. on the morning after the killing, and taken to Scottsbluff,
Nebraska, where the autopsy was performed by Brown. See Agents of Repression,
op. cit., pp. 200-3, 206-11.
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46. DeSersa was hit in the left thigh by a bullet fired from one of four carloads of
GOONs pursuing his own vehicle in a high speed chase outside Wanblee. It
severed the femoral artery and he bled to death in a ditch while the GOONs
pursued his passengers through open fields. Charlie Winters, one of the assailants,
was subsequently arrested for the crime by local police in nearby Martin, South
Dakota. This led to a state (not federal) case in which not only Winters, but Chuck
Richards, Billy Wilson, and Dale Janis were charged. Despite the fact that DeSersa
and his companions had been unarmed, charges were dismissed against Richards
and Wilson on the basis of theirhaving acted in “self-defense.” Winters and Janis
were then allowed to plea bargain to second degree manslaughter and eventually
served two years apiece. Neither the FBInor the BIA police played any constructive
role in obtaining even this minimal outcome.

47. Inexplicably, the FBI lab notes concerning Aquash (one of whichis reproduced
in The COINTELPRO Papers, op. cit., p. 293) refer to the cause of death as neither
“natural” nor “homicide,” but as “possible manslaughter.”

48. Indeed, the Bureau caused an article, headlined “FBI denies AIM implication
that Aquash was informant,” to appear in the March 11, 1976 edition of the Rapid
City Journal. No one in AIM had implied that she was. Hence, the appearance is
that the Bureau was deliberately attempting to create a public impression of its
own. Bob Robideau, a member of the Northwest AIM Group, of which Aquash
was also a part, states categorically that she was neitheraninformernor suspected
of being one. Rumors had been raised to that effect by FBIinfiltrator/provocateur
Douglass Durham nearly a year earlier. These had, according to Robideau, been
“checked out” by AIM Security, and she had been immediately “cleared.” Former
AIM leaders John Trudell and Dennis Banks concur with Robideau’s assessment
of the situation. On Durham, see Giese, Paula, “Profile of an Informer,” Covert
Action Information Bulletin, no. 24 (summer 1985).

49. FBI representative James Frier was grilled by California Representative Don
Edwards on this topic during appropriation hearings in 1980. Frier’s responses
were deemed “less than satisfactory” by this former FBI agent turned legislator.
See U.S. House of Representatives, Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Civil and
Constitutional Rights of the Committee of the Judiciary: First Session on FBI Authoriza-
tion, 1981 (Washington, D.C.: 97th Cong., 1st Sess., US. Government Printing
Office, 1980), p. 666.

50. See analysis by Aquash’s attorney, Bruce Ellison, and former AIM leader John
Trudell in Annie Mae: A Brave-Hearted Woman, op. cit. For excerpts from an inde-
pendent researcher’s interview with Brown, see Brand, op. cit., pp. 21-22.

51. Price was one of the agents who atypically gathered to view Aquash’s “uniden-
tified” body in situ. He then, even more atypically, accompanied the body more
than 100 miles to the morgue at the Pine Ridge hospital, and professed to be unable
to recognize the victim in either location. Morgue photos of the body, observed by
the author (who never met her), are clearly identifiable as being of Anna Mae
Aquash. As Congress subsequently putit: “SAPricehad had personal contact with
Ms. Aquash in the past and assisted in photographing the body at thePHSmorgue
on February 25, 1976...SA Price’s previous contacts with Ms. Aquash occurred
when he interviewed her in connection with an FBI investigation in the early
spring of 1975 and again in September 1975...[On the latter occasion] she was
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arrested...by agents of the FBI, one of whom was S A Price” (see First Session on
FBI Authorization, 1981, op. cit., p. 278). Concerning death threats, see McKiernan,
Kevin, “Indian woman'’s death raises many troubling questions,” Minneapolis
Tribune (May 30, 1976), especially quotations from WKLD/OC researcher Candy
Hamilton. Also see Churchill, Ward, “Who Killed Anna Mae?” Z Magazine (De-
cember 1988).

52. There is, for example, a report entitled “Law Enforcement on the Pine Ridge
Indian Reservation,” dated June 6, 1975, which calls for “massive military assault
forces.” Alater memorandum, excerpted into a press release entitled “RESMURS
Press Coverage Clarification” (July 8, 1975), calls for “automatic and semiauto-
matic weapons” deployment among the assault forces, as well as “heavy equip-
ment such as armored personnel carriers.”

53. These events are covered extremely well in Matthiessen, op. cit.

54. Concerning Held’s prepositioning in Minneapolis, see June 27,1975 memoran-
dum, Gebhart to O’Connell, reproduced at p. 267 of The COINTELPRO Papers, op.
cit.

55. Concemning Richard Wallace Held’s involvement in the RESMURS operation
from its first moments, and his eventual presence on Pine Ridge—both of which
he and the Bureau have denied—see the documents reproduced at pp. 268-70 of
The COINTELFRU Fapers, op. cit.

56. One result of these tactics was the death of an elderly man named James Brings
Yellow, who was startled into a fatal heart attack when a team of agents headed
by J. Gary Adams suddenly kicked in his door on July 10, 1975. Air assaults
included a raid on the property of AIM member Selo Black Crow, near Wanblee,
on July 8 (50 agentsinvolved), and another on the property of AIM spiritual leader
Leonard Crow Dog on September 5, 1975 (100 agents involved).

57. The Senate Select Committee had issued a subpoena toFBI agent provocateur
Douglass Durham, to begin hearings as of mid-July 1975. The proceedings were
called off on July 3 by a letter from committee staff member Patrick Shae to
Attorney General Edward S. Levi, stating in part: “[W]e will hold in abeyance any
action...in view of the killing of the Agents at Pine Ridge Reservation, South
Dakota.”

58. The preliminary document was signed by Wilson on June 29, 1975. Another
improved version was signed on January 2, 1976, shortly before Wilson left office.
Congress then duly consecrated the arrangement as Public Law 90-468. When the
legitimacy of this measure was subsequently challenged on the basis of treaty
requirements, PL. 90-468 was amended so that surface rights might revert to the
Lakotas at any time they determined by referendum to recover them (thus neatly
reversing the treaty stipulation), but leaving subsurface (i.e., mineral) rights under
permanent federal ownership. See Huber, Jacqueline, et al., The Gunnery Range
Report (Pine Ridge, SD: Oglala Sioux Tribe, Office of the President, 1981).

59. For analysis, see Weisman, Joel D., “About that ‘Ambush” at Wounded Knee,”
Columbia Journalism Review (September-October 1975). Also see Churchill, Ward,
“Renegades, Terrorists and Revolutionaries: The Government’s Propaganda War
Against the American Indian Movement,” Propaganda Review, no. 4 (April 1989).
60. FBI Director Kelley “corrected misimpressions” at a press conference con-
ducted at the Century Plaza Hotel in Los Angeles on July 1, 1975, an event timed
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to coincide with the funerals of Williams and Coler. The major problems with the
Bureau’s replacement story are that the warrant allegedly being served on Jimmy
Eagle is dated July 7, nearly two weeks after the firefight (and, for that matter, a
week after Kelley’s press conference), and is for the petty theft of a pair of used
cowboy boots rather than “kidnapping and assault,” as the Bureau originally
informed the press. Even taken at face value, the scenario places the FBI in a
posture of assigning fwo agents the weighty task of pursuing a teenaged member
of AIM accused of stealing some old boots at a time when the Bureau was
professing to be too shorthanded to investigate the murders (by that point) of
abouttwo-score AIM members. More, the Bureau’s case was so weak against Eagle
that he was eventually acquitted of any wrongdoing in “the cowboy boot caper.”
61. The differences in evidentiary rulings extended by the judges presiding over
the Peltier and Butler/Robideau cases account for the different outcomes of the
two trials, and are analyzed quite well in Messerschmidt, op. cit. Suffice it here to
note that the three-judge Eight Circuit Court panel that reviewed Peltier’s first
appeal found 23 reversible errors in the conduct of his trial, most of them associ-
ated with FBI misconduct. The court nonetheless allowed Peltier’s conviction to
stand. Interestingly, by the time the panel’s opinion was rendered, its head,
William Webster, had departed the bench to assume a new career. Webster had
accepted a positionas director of the FBI. For theCircuit Court’s opinion, see United
States v. Leonard Peltier, 858 F.2d 314, 335 (8th Cir. 1978), cert denied, 440 U.S. 945
(1979).

62. Judge Heaney made his remarks on the CBS news program West 57th Street in
1989. The reason for his consternation is apparent in the opinion rendered by the
three-judge panel of the Eighth Circuit Court, headed by himself, which reviewed
Peltier’s second appeal. After first acknowledging that the original circumstantial
ballistics case presented against the defendant was flawed beyond redemption,
and could thus not really support the murder convictions, the panel went on to
rebut prosecutoral arguments that Peltier was actually convicted of simply aiding
and abetting in the alleged murders (recall that the Butler/Robideau jury had
concluded for all intents and purposes that no murders had, in fact, occurred). The
panel still allowed Peltier’s conviction to stand—although they plainly could not
say exactly what it is he was convicted of—because: “We recognize there is
evidence in this record of improper conduct on the part of some FBI agents, but
we are reluctant to impute even further improprieties to them.” See United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, “Appeal from the United States District
Court for the District of North Dakota, United States v. Peltier,” No. 95-5192
(September 12, 1986), p. 16.

63. A portion of the impetus behind this move may derive from the fact that the
individual who actually shot Coler and Williams has now gone on record to this
effect, explaining exactly what happened during the firefight, and why. See
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WHITE STUDIES
The Intellectual Imperialism of
U.S. Higher Education

Education should be adapted to the mentality, attitudes, occupation, and
traditions of various peoples, conserving as far as possible all the sound
and healthy elements in the fabric of their social life.

—David Abernathy, The Dilemma of Popular Education

Since schooling was brought to non-Europeans as a part of empire.. it was
integrated into the effort to bring indigenous peoples into imperial /colo-
nialstructures... After all, did not the European teacher and the school built
ontheEuropeancapitalistmodel transmit European values and normsand
begin to transform traditional societies into “modem” ones?

—Martin Carnoy, Education as Cultural Imperialism

Over the past decade, the nature and adequacy of educational
content have been matters for increasingly vociferous debate
among everyone from academics to policymakers to lay preachers in
the United States. The American educational system as a whole has
been amply demonstrated to be locked firmly into a paradigm of
Eurocentrism, not only in terms of its focus, but also in its discernible
heritage, methodologies, and conceptual structure. Among people of
non-European cultural derivation, the kind of “learning” inculcated
through such a model is broadly seen as insulting, degrading, and
functionally subordinative. More and more, these themes have found
echoes among the more enlightened and progressive sectors of the
dominant Euroamerican society itself. '

Such sentiments are born of an ever-widening cognition that,
within any multicultural setting , this sort of monolithic pedagogical
reliance upon asingle cultural tradition constitutes a rather transpar-
ent form of intellectual domination, achievable only within the con-
text of parallel forms of domination. This is meant in precisely the
sense intended by David Landes when he observed, “It seems to me
that one has to look at imperialism as a multifarious response to a
common opportunity that consists simply as a disparity of power."?

271
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In this connection, it is often pointed out that, while education in
America has existed for some time, by law, as a “common opportu-
nity,” its shape has all along been defined exclusively via the “dispar-
ity of power” exercised by members of the ruling Euroamerican elite.?

Responses to this circumstance have, to date, concentrated pri-
marily upon what might be best described as a “contributionist”
approach to remedy. This is to say, they seek to bring about the
inclusion of non-Europeans and/or non-European achievements in
canonical subject matters, while leaving the methodological and con-
ceptual parameters of the canon itself essentially intact.* The present
essay represents an attempt to go a bit further, sketching out to some
degree the preliminary requisites for challenging methods and con-
cepts as well. It should be noted before proceeding that while my own
grounding in American Indian Studies leads me to anchor my various
alternatives in that particular perspective, the principles postulated
should prove readily adaptable to other “minority” venues.

White Studies

As currently established, the university system in the United
States offers little more than the presentation of “White Studies” to
students, “general population,” and minority alike.” The curriculum
is virtually totalizing in its emphasis, not simply upon an imagined
superiority of Western endeavors and accomplishments, but also
upon the notion that the-currents of European thinking comprise the
only really “natural”—or at least truly useful—formation of knowl-
edge/means of perceiving reality. In the vast bulk of curriculum
content, Europe is not only the subject (in its conceptual mode, the
very process of “learning to think”), but the object (subject matter) of
investigation as well.

Consider a typical introductory level philosophy course. Students
will in all probability explore the works of the ancient Greek philoso-
phers,® the fundamentals of Cartesian logic and Spinoza, stop off for
a visit with Thomas Hobbes, David Hume, and John Locke, cover a
chapter or two of Kant’s aesthetics, dabble a bit in Hegelian dialectics,
and review Nietzsche’s assorted rantings. A good leftist professor may
add adash of Marx’s famous “inversion” of Hegel and, on a good day,
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his commentaries on the frailties of Feuerbach. In an exemplary class,
things will end up in the 20th century with discussions of Schopen-
hauer, Heidegger and Husserl, Bertrand Russell and Alfred North
Whitehead, perhaps an “adventurous” summarization of the existen-
tialism of Sartre and Camus.

Advanced undergraduate courses typically delve into the same
topics, with additive instruction in matters such as “Late Medieval
Philosophy,” “Monism,” “Rousseau and Revolution,” “The Morality
of John Stuart Mill,” “Einstein and the Generations of Science,” “The
Phenomenology of Merleau-Ponty,” “Popper’s Philosophy of Sci-
ence,” “Benjamin, Adorno and the Frankfurt School,” “Meaning and
Marcuse,” “Structuralism /Post-Structuralism,” even “The Critical
Theory of Jiirgen Habermas.”” Graduate work usually consists of
effecting a coherent synthesis of some combination of these elements.

Thus, from first-semester surveys through the Ph.D., philosophy
majors—and non-majors fulfilling elective requirements, for that mat-
ter—are fed a consistent stream of data defining and presumably
reproducing Western thought at its highest level of refinement, as well
as inculcating insight into what is packaged as its historical evolution
and line(s) of probable future development. Note that this is con-
strued, for all practical intents and purposes, as being representative
of philosophy in toto rather than of western European thought per se.

It seems reasonable to pose the question as to what consideration
is typically accorded the non-European remainder of the human
species in such a format. The answer is often that coursework does in
fact exist, most usually in the form of upper-division undergraduate
“broadening” curriculum: surveys of “Oriental Philosophy” are not
unpopular,® “The Philosophy of Black Africa” exists as a catalogue
entry at a number of institutions,’ even “Native American Philosophi-
cal Traditions” (more casually titled “Black Elk Speaks,” from time to
time) makes its appearance here and there."’ But nothing remotely
approaching the depth and comprehensiveness with which Western
thought is treated can be located in any quarter.

Clearly, the student who graduates, at whatever level, from a
philosophy program constructed in this fashion—and all of them
are—walks away with a concentrated knowledge of the European
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intellectual schema rather than any genuine appreciation of the philo-
sophical attainments of humanity. Yet, equally clearly, a degree in
“philosophy” implies, or at least should imply, the latter.

Nor is the phenomenon in any way restricted to the study of
philosophy. One may search the catalogues of every college and
university in the country, and undoubtedly the search will be in vain,
for the department of history which accords the elaborate oral/picto-
rial “prehistories” of American Indians anything approximating the
weight given to the semiliterate efforts at self-justification scrawled
by early European colonists in this hemisphere."’ Even the rich codi-
graphic records of cultures like the Mayas, Incas, and Mexicanos
(Aztecs) are uniformly ignored by the “historical mainstream.” Such
matters are more properly the purview of anthropology than of
history, or so it is said by those representing “responsible”scholarship
in the United States.'?

As a result, most intro courses on “American History” still begin for
all practical intents and purposes in 1492, with only the most perfunctory
acknowledgement that people existed in the Americas in precolumbian
times. Predictably, any consideration accorded to precolumbian times
typically revolves around anthropological rather than historical preoc-
cupations, such as the point at which people were supposed to have first
migrated across the Beringian Land Bridge to populate the hemisphere,13
or whether native horticulturalists ever managed to discover fertilizer.'*
Another major classroom topic centers in the extent towhich cannibalism
may have prevailed among the proliferation of “nomadic Stone Age
tribes” presumed to have wandered about America’s endless reaches,
perpetually hunting and gathering their way to the margin of raw
subsistence.”® Then again, there are the countless expositions on how few
indigenous people there really were in North America prior to 1500,
and why genocide is an “inappropriate” term by which to explain why
there were almost none by 1900.”7

From there, many things begin to fall into place. Nowhere in
modern American academe will one find the math course acknow-
ledging, along with the importance of Archimedes and Pythagoras,
the truly marvelous qualities of precolumbian mathematics: that
which allowed the Mayas to invent the concept of zero, for example,
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and, absent computers, to work with multidigit prime numbers.'® Nor
is there mention of the Mexicano mathematics which allowed that
culture to develop a calendrical system several decimal places more
accurate than that commonly used today.'” And again, the rich mathe-
matical understandings which went into Mesoamerica’s development
of what may well have been the world’s most advanced system of
astronomy are typically ignored by mainstream mathematicians and
astronomers alike.

Similarly, departments of architecture and engineering do not
teach that the Incas invented the suspension bridge, or that their
2,500-mile Royal Road—paved, leveled, graded, guttered, and com-
plete with rest areas—was perhaps the world’s first genuine super-
highway, or that portions of it are still used for motorized transportin
Peru.”! No mention is made of the passive solar temperature control
characteristics carefully designed by the Anasazi into the apartment
complexes of their cities at Chaco Canyon, Mesa Verde, and else-
where.? Nor are students drawn to examine the incorporation of
thermal massinto Mandan and Hidatsa construction techniques,23 the
vast north Sonoran irrigation systems built by the Hohokam,** or the
implications of the fact that, at the time of Cortez’s arrival, Tenochti-
tlin (now Mexico City) accommodated a population of 350,000, a
number making it one of the largest cities on earth, at least five times
the size of London or Seville.””

In political science, readers are invited—no, defied—to locate the
course acknowledging, as John Adams, Benjamin Franklin, and others
among the U.S. “founding fathers” did, that the form of the American
Republic and the framing of its constitution were heavily influenced
by the preexisting model of the Haudenosaunee (Six Nations Iroquois
Confederacy of present-day New York, Québec and Ontario).? Nor is
mention made of the influence exerted by the workings of the “Iro-
quois League” in shaping the thinking of theorists such as Karl Marx
and Friedrich Engels.27 Even less discussion can be found on the
comparably sophisticated political systems conceived and established
by other indigenous peoples—the Creek Confederation, for example,
or the Cherokees or Yaquis—long before the first European invader

ever set foot on American soil.?
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Where agriculture or the botanical sciences are concerned, one
will not find the conventional department which wishes to “make
anything special” of the fact that fully two-thirds of the vegetal
foodstuffs now commonly consumed by all of humanity were under
cultivation in the Americas, and nowhere else, in 1492.% Also unmen-
tioned is the hybridization by Incan scientists of more than 3,000
varieties of potato,e'0 or the vast herbal cornucopia discovered and
deployed by native pharmacologists long before that.>' In biology,
pre-med, and medicine, nothing is said of the American Indian inven-
tion of surgical tubing and the syringe, or the fact that the Incas were
successfully practicing brain surgery at a time when European physi-
cians were still seeking to cure their patients by applying leeches to
“draw off bad blood.”*?

To the contrary, from matters of governance, where the Greek and
Roman democracies are habitually cited as being sole antecedents of
“the American experiment,”33 to agriculture, with its “Irish” potatoes,
“Swiss” chocolate, “Italian” tomatoes, “French” vanilla, and “Eng-
lish” walnuts,34 the accomplishments of American Indian cultures are
quite simply expropriated and recast in the curriculum as if they had
been European in origin.35 Concomitantly, the native traditions which
produced such things are themselves deculturated and negated, con-
signed to the status of being “people without history.”>

Such grotesque distortion is, of course, fed to indigenous students
right along with Euroamericans,* and by supposedly radical profes-
sors as readily as by more conservative ones.*® Moreover, as was noted
above, essentially the same set of circumstances prevails with regard
to the traditions and attainments of all non-Western cultures.* Over-
all, the situation virtually demands to be viewed from a perspective
best articulated by Albert Memmi:

In order for the colonizer to be a complete master, it is not enough for

him to be so in actual fact, but he must also believe in [the colonial

system’s] legitimacy. In order for that legitimacy to be complete, it is not

enough for the colonized to be a slave; he must also accept his role. The
bond between colonizer and colonized is thus destructive and creative.

It destroys and recreates the two partners in colonization into colonizer

and colonized. Oneis disfigured into an oppressor, a partial, unpatriotic
and treacherous being, worrying only about his privileges and their
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defense; the other into an oppressed creature, whose development is

broken and who compromises by his defeat.*’

In effect, the intellectual sophistry which goes into arguing the
“radical” and “conservative” content options available within the
prevailing monocultural paradigm, a paradigm which predictably
corresponds to the culture of the colonizer, amounts to little more than
a diversionary mechanism through which power relations are rein-
forced, the status quo maintained.*’ The monolithic White Studies
configuration of U.S. higher education—a content heading which,
unlike American Indian, African American, Asian American and Chi-
cano Studies, has yet to find its way into a single college or university
catalogue—thus serves to underpin the hegemony of white suprema-
cism in its other, more literal manifestations: economic, political,
military, and so on.*?

Those of non-European background are integral to such a system.
While consciousness of their own heritages is obliterated through
falsehood and omission, they are indoctrinated to believe that legiti-
macy itself is something derived from European tradition, a tradition
which can never be truly shared by non-Westerners, despite—or
perhaps because of —their assimilation into Eurocentrism’s doctrinal
value structure. By and large, the “educated” American Indian or
Black thereby becomes the aspect of “broken development” who
“compromises [through the] defeat” of his or her people, aspiring only
to serve the interests of the order he or she has been trained to see as
his or her “natural” master.*

As Frantz Fanon and others have observed long-since, such psy-
chological jujitsu can never be directly admitted, much less articu-
lated, by its principal victims. Instead, they are compelled by illusions
of sanity to deny their circumstance and the process which induced
it. Their condition sublimated, they function as colonialism’s covert
hedge against the necessity of perpetual engagement in more overt
and costly sorts of repression against its colonial subjects.** Put an-
other way, the purpose of White Studies in this connection is to trick
the colonized into materially supporting her/his colonization
through the mechanisms of his/her own thought processes.*’



278 FROM A NATIVE SON

Therecanbe no reasonable or “value neutral” explanation for this
situation. Those, regardless of race or ethnicity, who endeavor to
apologize for or defend its prevalence in institutions of higher educa-
tion on “scholarly” grounds do so without a shred of honesty or
academic integrity.*® Rather, whatever their intentions, they define
themselves as accepting of the colonial order. In Memmi's terms, they
accept the role of colonizer, which means “agreeing to be a...usurper.
To be sure, a usurper claims his place and, if need be, will defend it
with every means at his disposal...He endeavors to falsify history, he
rewrites laws, he would extinguish memories—anything to succeed
in transforming his usurpation into legitimacy.”47 They are, to borrow
and slightly modify a term, “intellectual imperialists.”*®

An Indigenist Alternative

From the preceding observations as to what White Studies is, the
extraordinary pervasiveness and corresponding secrecy of its prac-
tice, and the reasons underlying its existence, certain questions neces-
sarily arise. For instance, the query might be posed as to whether a
simple expansion of curriculum content to include material on non-
Western contexts might be sufficient to redress matters. It follows that
we should ask whether something beyond data or content is funda-
mentally at issue. Finally, there are structural considerations concern-
ing how any genuinely corrective and liberatory curriculum or peda-
gogy might actually be inducted into academia. The first two
questions dovetail rather nicely, and will be addressed in a single
response. The third will be dealt with in the following section.

In response to the first question, the answer must be an unequivo-
cal “no.” Content is, of course, highly important, but, in and of itself,
cannever besufficient to offset the cumulative effects of White Studies
indoctrination. Non-Western content injected into the White Studies
format can be—and, historically, has been—filtered through the lens
of Eurocentric conceptualization, taking on meanings entirely alien to
itself along the way.*” The result is inevitably the reinforcement rather
than the diminishment of colonialist hegemony. As Vine Deloria, Jr.,
has noted relative to just one aspect of this process:
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Therein lies the meaning of the white’s fantasy about Indians—the

problem of the Indian image. Underneath all the conflicting images of

the Indian one fundamental truth emerges—the white man knows that

he is an alien and he knows that North America is Indian—and he will

never let go of the Indian image because he thinks that by some clever

manipulation he can achieve an authenticity that cannot ever be his.*

Plainly, more is needed than the simple introduction of raw data for
handling within the parameters of Eurocentric acceptability. The concep-
tual mode of intellectuality itself must be called into question. Perhaps a
bit of “pictographic” communication will prove helpful in clarifying
what is meant in this respect. The following schematic represents the
manner in which two areas of inquiry, science and religion (spirituality),
have been approached in the European tradition.

Reality _

\

Science — Speculative Philosophy ————— Religion

In this model, “knowledge” is divided into discrete content areas
arranged in a linear structure. This division is permanent and cultur-
ally enforced; witness the Spanish Inquisition and “Scopes Monkey
Trial” as but two historical illustrations.”® In the cases of science and
religion (as theology), the mutual opposition of their core assump-
tions has givenrise to a third category, speculative philosophy, which
is informed by both, and, in turn, informs them. Speculative philoso-
phy, in this sense at least, serves to mediate and sometimes synthesize
the linearly isolated components, science and religion, allowing them
to communicate and “progress.” Speculative philosophy is not, in
itself, intended to apprehend reality, but rather to create an abstract
reality in its place. Both religion and science, on the other hand, are,
each according to its owninternal dynamics, meant to effecta concrete
understanding of and action upon “the real world.”*?

Such compartmentalization of knowledge is replicated in the
departmentalization of the Eurocentric education itself. Sociology,
theology, psychology, physiology, kinesiology, biology, cartography,
anthropology, archaeology, geology, pharmacology, astronomy,
agronomy, historiography, geography, demography—the whole vast
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proliferation of Western “ologies,” “onomies,” and “ographies”—are
necessarily viewed as separate or at least separable areas of inquiry
within the university. Indeed, the Western social structure both echoes
and is echoed by the same sort of linear fragmentation, dividing itself
into discrete organizational spheres: church, state, business, family,
education, art, and so forth.>® The structure involved readily lends
itself to—perhaps demands—the sort of hierarchical ordering of
things, both intellectually and physically, which is most clearly mani-
fested in racism, militarism and colonial domination, class and gender
oppression, and the systematic ravaging of the natural world>*

The obvious problems involved are greatly amplified when our
schematic of the Eurocentric intellectual paradigm is contrasted toone
of non-Western, in this case Native American, origin.

S<:1ence «\
Reallty é

Philosophy
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Within such a conceptual model, there is really no tangible deline-
ation of compartmentalized “spheres of knowledge.” All components
or categories of intellectuality (by Eurocentric definition) tend to be
mutually and perpetually informing. All tend to constantly concretize
the human experience of reality (nature) while all are simultaneously
and continuously informed by that reality. This is the “Hoop” or
“Wheel” or “Circle” of Life—an organic rather than synthesizing or
synthetic view, holding that all things are equally and indispensably
interrelated—which forms the core of the native worldview.> Here,
reality is not something “above” the human mind or being, but an
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integral aspect of the living/knowing process itself. The mode
through whichnative thought devolves is thus inherently anti-hierar-
chical, incapable of manifesting the extreme forms of domination so
pervasively evident in Eurocentric tradition.”®

The crux of the White Studies problem, then, cannot be located
amidst the mere omission or distortion of matters of fact, no matter
how blatantly ignorant or culturally chauvinistic these omissions and
distortions may be. Far more importantly, the system of Eurosupre-
macistdomination depends forits continued maintenance and expan-
sion, even its survival, upon the reproduction of its own intellectual
paradigm—its approved way of thinking, seeing, understanding, and
being—to the ultimate exclusion of all others. Consequently, White
Studies simply cannot admit to the existence of viable conceptual
structures other than its own.”’

To introduce the facts of pre-colonial American Indian civiliza-
tions into the curriculum is to open the door to confronting the utterly
different ways of knowing which caused such facts to be actualized
in the first place.58 It is thoroughly appreciated in ruling circles that
any widespread and genuine understanding of such alternatives to
the intrinsic oppressiveness of Eurocentrism could well unleash a
liberatory dynamic among the oppressed resulting in the evaporation
of Eurosupremacist hegemony and a corresponding collapse of the
entire structure of domination and elite privilege which attends it.*
The academic “battle lines” have therefore been drawn, not so much
across the tactical terrain of fact and data as along the strategic high
ground of Western versus non-Western conceptualization. It follows
that if the latter is what proponents of the White Studies status quo
find it most imperative to bar from academic inclusion, then it is
precisely that area upon which those committed to liberatory educa-
tion must place our greatest emphasis.

A Strategy to Win

Given the scope and depth of the formal problem outlined in the
preceding section, the question of the means through which to address
it takes on a crucial importance. If the objective in grappling with
White Studies is to bring about conceptual—as opposed to merely
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contentual—inclusion of non-Western traditions in academia, then ap-
propriate and effective methods must be employed. As wasnoted earlier,
resort to inappropriate “remedies” leads only to cooptation and a rein-
forcement of White Studies as the prevailing educational norm.

One such false direction has concerned attempts to establish,
essentially from scratch, whole new educational institutions, even
systems, while leaving the institutional structure of the status quo
very muchintact.?’ Although sometimes evidencing a strong showing
at the outset, these perpetually underfunded, understaffed, and un-
accredited, “community-based”—often actually separatist—schools
have almost universally ended up drifting and floundering before
going out of existence altogether.®’ Alternately, more than a few have
abandoned their original reason for being, accommodating them-
selves to the “standards” and other requirements of the mainstream
svstem as an expedient for survival.®?
been a considerable bolstering of the carefully nurtured public im-
pression that “the system works” while alternatives don't.

A variation on this theme has been to establish separatist centers
or programs, even whole departments, within existing colleges and
universities. While this approach has alleviated to some extent
(though not entirely) difficulties in securing funding, faculty, and
accreditation, it has accomplished little if anything in terms of altering
the delivery of White Studies instruction in the broader institutional
context.® Instead, intentionally self-contained “Ethnic Studies” ef-
forts have ended up “ghettoized”—that is, marginalized to the point
ofisolation and léft talking only to themselves and the few majors they
are able to attract—bitter, frustrated, and stalemated.®* Worse, they
serve to reinforce the perception, so desired by the status quo, that
White Studies is valid and important while non-Western subject mat-
ters are invalid and irrelevant.

To effect the sort of transformation of institutional realities envi-
sioned in this essay, it is necessary not to seek to create parallel
structures as such, but instead to penetrate and subvert the existing
structures themselves, both pedagogically and canonically. The strat-
egy is one which was once described quite aptly by Rudi Dutschke,
the German activist/ theorist, as amounting to a “long march through

Fither way the outcome has
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the institutions.”® In this view, Ethnic Studies entities, rather than
constituting ends in themselves, serve as “enclaves” or “staging ar-
eas” from which forays into the mainstream arena can be launched
with ever increasing frequency and vitality, and to which non-Western
academic guerrillas can withdraw when needed to rest and regroup
among themselves.®

As with any campaign of guerrilla warfare, however metaphori-
cal, it is important to concentrate initially upon the opponent’s
point(s) of greatest vulnerability. Here, three prospects for action come
immediatel); tomind, thebasis for each of which already exists within
most university settings in a form readily lending itself to utilization
in undermining the rigid curricular compartmentalization and peda-
gogical constraints inherent in White Studies institutions. The key is
to recognize and seize such tools, and then to apply them properly.

1) While tenure-track faculty must almost invariably be “creden-
tialed”—i.e., hold the Ph.D. in a Western discipline, have a few pub-
lications in the “right” journals, etc.—to be hired into the academy, the
same isn’t necessarily true for guest professors, lecturers, and the
like.”” Every effort can and should be expended by the regular fac-
ulty—"cadre,” if you will—of Ethnic Studies units to bring in guest
instructors lacking in Western academic pedigree (the more conspicu-
ously, the better), but who are in some way exemplary of non-Western
intellectual traditions (especially oral forms). The initial purpose is to
enhance cadre articulations with practical demonstrations of intellec-
tual alternatives by consistently exposing students to “the real thing.”
Goals further on down the line should include incorporation of such
individuals directly into the core faculty, and, eventually, challenging
the current notion of academic credentialing in its entirety.*®

2) There has been a good deal of interest over the past 20 years in
what has come to be loosely termed “Interdisciplinary Studies.” Inso-
far as there is a mainstream correspondent to the way in which
American Indians and other non-Westerners conceive of and relate to
the world, this is it. Ethnic Studies practitioners would do well to push
hard in the Interdisciplinary Studies arena, expanding it whenever
and wherever possible at the direct expense of customary Western
disciplinary boundaries. The object, of course, is to steep students in
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the knowledge that nothing can be understood other than in its relation-
ship to everything else; that economics, for example, can never really
make sense if arbitrarily divorced from history, politics, sociology, and
geography. Eventually, the goal should be to dissolve the orthodox
parameters of disciplines altogether, replacing them with something
more akin to “areas of interest, inclination, and emphasis.”69

3) For a variety of reasons, virtually all colleges and universities
award tenure to certain faculty members in more than one discipline
or department. Ethnic Studies cadres should insist that this be the case
with them. Restricting their tenure and rostering exclusively to Ethnic
Studies is not only a certain recipe for leaving them in a “last hired,
first fired” situation during times of budget exigency, it is a standard
institutional maneuver to preserve the sanctity of White Studies in-
struction elsewhere on campus. The fact is that an Ethnic Studies
professor teaching American Indian or African American history is
just as much an historian as a specialistin 19th-century British history;
the Indian and the Black should therefore be rostered to and tenured
in History, as well as in Ethnic Studies. This “foot in the door” is
important, not only in terms of cadre longevity and the institutional
dignity such appointments signify vis-4-vis Ethnic Studies, but it offers
important advantages by way of allowing cadres to reach a greater
breadth of students, participate in departmental policy formation and
hiring decisions, claim additional resources, and so forth. On balance,
success in this area can only enhance efforts in the two above.”

The objective is to begin to develop a critical mass, first in given
spheres of campuses where opportunities present themselves—later
throughout the academy as a whole—which is eventually capable of
discrediting and supplanting the hegemony of White Studies. In this,
the process can be accelerated, perhaps greatly, by identifying and
allying with sectors of the professorate with whom a genuine affinity
and commonality of interests may be said to exist at somelevel. These
might include those from the environmental sciences who have
achieved, or begun to achieve, a degree of serious ecological under-
standing.”! It might include occasional mavericks from other fields,
various applied anthropologists,72 for instance, and certain of the
better and more engaged literary and artistic deconstructionists,” as
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well as the anarchists like Murray Bookchin who pop up more or less
randomly in a number of disciplines.”*

By and large, however, it may well be that the largest reservoir of
potential allies will be found among the relatively many faculty who
profess to consider themselves, “philosophically” at least, to be marx-
ian in their orientation. This is not said because marxists tend habitu-
ally to see themselves as being in opposition to the existing order
(fascists express the same view of themselves, after all, and for equally
valid reasons).”” Nor is it because, where it has succeeded in over-
throwing capitalism, marxism has amassed an especially sterling
record whereindigenous peoples are concerned.” In fact, it has been
argued with some cogency that, in the latter connection, marxist
practice has proven even more virulently Eurocentric than has capi-
talism in many cases.”’

Nonetheless, one is drawn to conclude that there may still be a
basis for constructive alliance, given Marx’s positing of dialectics—a
truly nonlinear and relational mode of analysis and understanding—
as his central methodology. That he himself consistently violated his
professed method,”® and that subsequent generations of his adherents
have proven themselves increasingly unable to distinguish between
dialectics and such strictly linear propositions as cause / effect progres-
sions,”’ does not inherently invalidate the whole of his project or its
premises. If some significant proportion of today’s self-proclaimed
marxian intelligentsia can be convinced to actually learn and apply
dialectical method, it stands to reason that they will finally think their
way into a posture not unlike that elaborated herein (that they will